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Financial Highlights 

<Table> 
<Caption> 

(Millions of Dollars, Except Per Share Amounts) 

<S> <C> 
Sunaiary of Operations (a) 

Operating Revenue 

Operating Expense 
Productivity/Restructuring Charg*(•) 

1996 

»10,536 

9,014 

1995(Li 

$10,304 

8,921 
257 

1994(c) 

$ 9,409 

8,227 

1993(d) 

$ 8,766 

7,792 
93 

1992 

S 8,549 

7,(3« 
699 

Total Operating Expense 

Operating Income 

Net Earning* 

9,014 

$ 1,522 

S 855 

9,178 

« 1,126 

$ 61B 

8,227 

$ 1,182 

$ 652 

8,335 

$ 214 

S 20 

Per Common Share(f) 
Net Earnings 
Cash Dividends 
Market Price—High 

—Lov 

4.00 
1.04 

53.13 
42.25 

t 2.94 
$ .92 
$ 46.13 
t 34.63 

3.12 
.88 

46.19 
31.57 33.19 

$ .10 
S .76 
$ 36.82 
t 27.25 



Percentage Change from Prior Year(a) 
Operating Revenue 
Operating Expense 
Operating Expense, Excluding 

Productivity/Restructuring Charg* 
Cash Dividends Per Comon Share 

2.3 % 
(1.8)% 

1.0 t 
13.0 % 

9.5% 
11.6% 

8.4% 
4.5% 

7.M 
4.9* 

S.(% 
11.4% 

2.5 % 
(5.4)% 

2.0 % 
3.9 % 

1.6 % 
(.7)% 

— % 
6.3 % 

Summary of Financial Position 
Cash, Cash Equivalents and 
Short-Tom Investments 

Working Capital (Deficit) 
Total Assets 
Long-Term Debt 
Shareholders' Equity 
Book Value Per Common Share(f) 

682 
(685) 

16,965 
4,331 
4,995 
23.04 

S 660 
$(1,056) 
$14,282 
$ 2,222 
$ 4,242 
$ 20.15 

535 
(840) 

13,724 
2,618 
3,731 
17.81 

530 
(859) 

13,049 
3, 245 
2,975 
14.37 

Employee Count(g) 
Rail 
Other 

28,559 
18,755 

29,537 
18,428 

29,729 
17,974 

30,'ol 
17,1,47 

30,916 
16,681 

Total 47,314 

</Table> 

See accoopanying Notes to Coneolidated Financial Statements. 

47,965 47,703 48,308 47,597 

In 1996, the company changed i t s earnings presentation to 
exclude non-transportation a c t i v i t i e s from operating revenue and 
expense. These ac t i v i t i e s , principally real estate and resort operations, 
are now included in other incoo* in t h * consolidated statement of earnings. 
Prior-year amount* have been restated to confonn to the 1996 preaentation. 

In 1995, the company recognized a net investment gain of $77 million, 
$51 million after tax, 24 cents per share, on the issuance of an equity 
interest in a Sea-Land terminal and related operations in Asia and th* 
write-down of variou* investments. 

In 1994, the state of Florida elected to s a t i r f y i t s remaining 
unfunded obligation issued in 1968 to consummate the purchase of 80 miles 
of track and right of way. The transaction resulted in an accelerated 
pretax gam of $69 million and increased net earnings by $42 million, 20 
cents per share. 

The company revised i t s estimated annual effective tax rate in 1993 
to reflect the change in the federal statutory income tax rate from 34 
to 35 percent. The effect of this change was to increase incomt tax 
expense for 1993 by $56 million, 26 cents per share. Of this amount, $51 
million, 24 centt per share, related to applying the newly enacted 
statutory income tax rate to deterred tax balances as of Jan. 1, 1993. 

In 1995, the company recorded a $257 million pretax charge to recognize 
the estimated costs of i n i t i a t i v e s to revise, restructure and 
consolidate specific operations and administrative functions at 
i t s r a i l and container-shipping units. The restructuring charge 
reduced net earnings by $160 million, 76 cents per share. In 1993, the 
company recorded a $93 million pretax charge to recognize the estimated 
costs of restructuring certain operations and functions at i t s 
container-shipping unit. The restructuring charge reduced net earnings by 
$61 million, 30 cents per shire. In 1992, the company recorded a charge 
to recognize the estimated costs of buying out certain trip-based 
compensation elements paid to t r a i n crtws. The pretax charge amounted 
to $699 million and reduced net earnings for 1992 hy $450 million, $2.19 
per share. 

If) Amounts per common share for 1992 through 1995 have been restated to 
reflect the 2-for-l common stock s p i l t distributed to shareholders in 
December 1995. 

(g) Employee counts based on annual averages. 

1 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

<PAaE> 
Chairman's Message 

1996 was a momentous year for CSX. 
He achieved recora financial pertormance. 
He also took ground-breaking steps to 
•nhance the compa.ny's conipetitiveness. 



satisfy customer requirements, develop 
long-term growth prospects, and provide 

superior shareholder value. 

1 Photo) 

Before discussing th* company's financial results and the performance of our 
respective transportation units, l e t me review the proposes CSX/Conrail merger 
- the event that made 1996 the most important year since the company's creation 
in 1980 from the merger of the Chessie and Seaboard r a i l systems. To better 
understand the rationale for our strategic merger agreement, i t ' s important to 
consider che impact consolidatior. has had on the r a i l industry in recent years. 

Over the last two decades, deregulation and consolidation of the nation's 
railroads into strong, effi'rient networks has nurtured a r a i l renaissance that 
has greatly benefited customers, shareholders and the broader public interest in 
efficient transportation. More recently, that process accelerated, with the 1995 
merger of the Burlington Nort).ern and Santa Fe railroads, and last year's merger 
of the Union Pacific a.id Southern Pacific systems. Thus, the number of major 
r a i l carriers serving the Western half of the country went from four to two in 
lebs than a year. 

These mergers unavoidably set in motion efforts to consolidate the three 
major Eastern r a i l systems - CSX, Norfolk Southern and Conrail - into two 
networks. Naturally, each of the Eastern carriers was concerned i t might be l e f t 
without a partner should transcontinental mergers occur. Well aware that Norfolk 
Southern had attempted to acquire Conrail in i t s entirety on several occasions 
in recent years and was determined to do so again, CSX moved decisively to 
protect i t s v i t a l interests. On Oct. 14, 1996, we entered into a strategic 
merger agreement with Conrail that called fcr CSX to acquire a l l outstanding 
shares of Conrail stock in a combined cash-stock transaction. 

He knew that Norfolk Southern would fight the merger. He also recognized that 
conc*ssions would have tc be made joccause of Conrail's unique market position in 
the Northeast, a situation created by the government out of necessii/ more than 
20 years ago. Nevertheless, the logic for joining forces with Conrail was 
compelling. 

Conrail and CSX have complementary r a i l networks and business mixes. CSX 
routes, located mainly in the Southeast and Midwest, complement Conrail's 
routes in the Midwest and Northeast. 
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Chairman's Message 

Consolidating the two r a i l systems would create a more efficient r a i l network, 
enabling the combined company to improve service quality, reduce costs and 
attract new business. Expanded r a i l operations also would benefit other 
CSX business units that exchange t r a f f i c with the railroad, just as the broad 
scope of CSX's multimodal transportation services would strengthen our 
expanded r a i l operations and open up new markets to : a i l c-stomers. 

As expected, Norfolk Southern vigorously contested the merger agreement and 
initi a t e d a hostile, competing bid for Conrail. I n i t i a l efforts to reach a 
compromise with Norfolk Southern were unsuccessful. By mid-January 1997, we wer* 
at a virtual stalemate - with CSX having acquired just under 20% of Conrail 
stock and Norfolk Southern purchasing just under 10% of the company. Further 
complicating matters, Conrail shareholders had rejected a proposal necessary to 
put the proposed merger with CSX into effect. 

Search for Resolution 

Tlien, in late-January, Surface Tr«n*portatton Board (STB) Chairwoman Linda 
Morgan made public statements noting the regulatory board's preference for a 
negotiated and balanced settlement of competitiv* issues in r a i l mergsrs. On 
Jan. 31, CSX, Conrail and Norfolk Southern Jsegan discussions aimed at preserving 
and enhancing competition and best serving the public interest. Norfolk Southern 
th*n s*nt CSX and Conr?iil a proposal that would in essence equally divide 
Conrail between Norfolk Southern and CSX. 

On March i , CSX and Conrail amended their merger agreement to increase the 
price CSX w i l l pay for each remaining share of Conrail to $115, payable in cash 
to Conrail shareholders by June 2, 1997. The amended agreement also allowed 
CSX to enter into negotiations with Norfolk Southern to craft a corapromi**. 
He expect ti.->se discussions w i l l lead to an agreement between CSX and 
Norfolk Southern for a joint purchase of Conrail and a roughly even division 
of i t s routes and assets. This would enable CSX and Norfolk Southern to 
f i l e a joi.-it application before the STB, with the ultimate goal being two 
exceptional r a i l systems in the East. 

This l i k e l y outcome is one we have long sought and is consistent with our 
own position since the mid-1980's when we successfully opposed t h * 



acqjisition of Conrail by Norfolk Southern. It will r*«ult In a *trong*r, 
more coaprehcnsiv* and cooipctitlv* CSX rai l sy«t*a that will produce tr«wndOtt* 
advantages for all of CSX's constituenci**. 

Oat customers will b*n*fit from f»st*r, nor* r*llabl* ssrric*, mor* dir*ct 
single-line routings, an improved cost structure, and b*tt*T *quiFm*nt supply 
and utilization. Our employees will benefit from greater utploymtnt and 
advancement opportunities that flow from a stronger, growing *nt*rpri*«. Our 
shareholders will benefit from ownership of an expanded international 
transportation company with a seal* and *ffici*ncy to comp*t* aor* affsctlvaly 
at heme and abroad. Th* public and the cunnunitie* w* **rv* also will b*n*fit 
from lower transj>ortation costs, r*duc*d r*lianc* on truck-clogg*d local and 
interstate highways, and an overall improvement in the safety, efficiency and 
reliability of the U.S. transportation sy*t*n. In addition, restoring 
competitive )6alance to th* Northeast will h*lp to *n*ur« that th* r*gulatory 
reform* that we a l l worked »o dillig*ntly to accomplish in th* 1980* u l l l b* 
preserved. 

As this process unfolds, I want to assur* you that w* ramaln coamitt*d to two 
abaolute objectives. First, wc will make every effort to protect your lnv*stiMnt 
and generate superior returns ov*t th* long t*rm. Stcond, w* will contlnu* to 
aggr*ssiv*ly pursue our long-term *trat*gy to maxlaiz* th* p*rfora*nc* of each 
of our busin*ss units, in t*ms of op*rating incom*, r*turn on inv*(t*d capital 
and fr*e cash flow. 

Record 1996 R*fult* 

All of CSX's major transportation i>nits turned in strong p*rfor«anc*s in 
1996, resulting in record consolidated results for operating r*v«nu*, operating 
incom* and net earnings. CSX *arn*d $855 million, or $4.00 p*r ahar*, in 
1996, compared witli $6ie million, or $2.94 par shara, laat y**r. Excluding 
a rastructuring charg* and one-tia* gain r*cora*d in 1995, *arnings p*r shar* 
rose nearly 16% in 1996 from 1995'* pro forma figure of $3.46. Uncertainty 
aurrounding th* CSX/Conrail merger agreement and the comp*ting bid from Norfolk 
Southern took its toll on the performance of CSX stock in 1996. After reaching a 
new high of 53 1/8 in May, CSX stock closed the year at 42 1/4, down 7.4% from 
last year's cloa*. Hhil* di*appoint*d by th* stock's performance in 1996, w* 
are al.,-eady seeing iaprovuMnt a* th* Conrail (ituation is becoming cl*ar*r. 
H* *>p*ct CSX stock, over tio*, will ator* accur*t*ly r*fl*ct th* caaq>any's 
cnhancad cor* earning power. He remain committed to cur pr*viously stat*d goal 
of doubling the markat value of CSX stock ov*r the fire-year parlod that bagan 
in 1995. 

Pro Forma N*t Earning* 

(Millions of Dollars, Except fmt Shar* Amount**) 

1996 1995 1994 

Per 
Description (All Aft«r Taxi 

Net Earnings 
as Reported 

Net Gains From 
Investment 
Transactions 

Restructuring Charg* 

P*r 

151) 

160 

(.24) 

.76 

P*r 
Aat. Shar* Amt. Shar* tmt. Shar* 

$855 $4.00 $618 $2.94 $652 $3.12 

(42) (.20) 

Pro Forma 
Net Earnings $̂ SS $4.00 $727 $3.46 $610 $2.92 

1995. * Far-ahar* amount* for 1995 and 1994 r*fl*ct stoclc split In 

3 
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Chairman'* M*s**g* 

Rail Results 

Our rai l unit, CSX Transportation Inc. (CSXT), turnad in •noth*r *xc*ll*nn 
year, achieving record financial results and reducing its operating ratio by 
nearly a full point. 

CSXT stepped up th* pac* of its campaign to boost **rvic* r*liability by 
intensifying its efforts in thr*e key areas: terminal iaprovaaent*, 
industrial switching and network operations. Progress in all three area* 1* 
critical to the railroad's coosDltment to achlev* operational 
exc*ll*nc*, which in turn will allow CSXT to aggressively pursue growth 
opportunities. Th* s*rvice reliability procass produc*d raasrkable r**ults in 



1996. For example, the terminal improvement plan i n i t i a l l y called for upgrading 
the performance of one terminal in 1996, but the results were so iapressiv* that 
the process was rolled out to 30 terminals by year-end. 

Shippers are recognizing the railroad's service r e l i a b i l i t y improvements, and 
prospects for profitable growth are brighter today than ever. Without in any way 
diminishing i t s intensive focus on reducing costs, CSXT w i l l continue to improve 
i t s operational performance and service levels in 1997, while seeking to 
maximize revenue growth and p r o f i t a b i l i t y . These efforts put CSXT on track 
for another record year in 1997. 

I am pleased to report that CSXT and the other major U.S. freight railroads 
successfully negotiated five-year labor agreements in 1996. Th* landmark labor 
contracts were reached without work stoppage or government intervention, a 
departure from recent national bargaining rounds and an encouragi .g sign of 
improved lat>or-management relations throughout the r a i l industry. 

Safety continues to be a top p r i o r i t y at the railroad. In 1996, CSXT 
continued to reduce i t s t r a i n accident rate, and the latest figures from the 
Federal Railroad Administration place CSXT as the safest Class I railroad in the 
nation in terms of train accidents. Desoite dramatic improvements in safety over 
the past seven years, the railroad recognizes that much work remains to be don* 
to furth*r r*duc* accid*nts and amploy** l n j u r i * s . 

Co.-itain*r-shipping Results 

Out container-shipping unit, Sea-Land Service Inc. (Sea-Land), produced 
record results despite rate weakness in key trade lanes and higher fuel costs. 
Sea-Land capitalized on strong demand fur containerized cargo and increased i t s 
market share in every major trade lane whils holding the line o-i expenses. As a 
result, the company increased operating income 34% to $318 million, excluding 
the 1995 restructuring charge. 

During 1996, Sea-Land and Maersk Lines made considerable progress 
implementing their global alliance, which w i l l be f u l l y operational by the end 
of this ye»r. The alliance optimizes the resources of two of the world's largest 
and most respected shipping lines, allowing both companies to reduce costs and 
improve service across their global network. 

After years of debate, the U.S. Congress passed legislation that bolsters the 
U.S. merchant marine. The Maritime Security Act establishes a program to provide 
participating carriers operating assistance to p a r t i a l l y offset the higher costs 
of operating under the U.S. flag. Sea-Land has enrolled 15 vessels in the 
program and w i l l receive $2.1 milliop a year for each participating vessel. 

Chairman s Message 

The outlook for the container-shipping industry is improving, with further 
consolidation and government deregulation providing encouraging signs that the 
business is responding more directly to rational market forces. We believe the 
over-capacity that eroded the industry's p r o f i t a b i l i t y durinv 1996 w i l l peak 
in 1997, and we see the business fundamentals improving thereafter. 

We are encouraged by Sea-Land's 1996 results, because they demonstrate th* 
company's a b i l i t y to incraaae e*rnl.ngs substantially, «v*n in a d i f f i c u l t rat* 
envirorjB*nt. S«a-Land came through this tough year with flying colors, showing 
the company stands at the pinnacle of i t s industry, as the low-cost carrier and 
leader in innovative technology and customer service. We are eager to show the 
kind of break-out results Sea-Land can produce in a more favorable environment. 

Other Transportation Results 

American Commercial Lines Inc. (ACL), CSX's barge unit, turned in another 
strong performance in 1996. The unit produced record operating income, up 6% 
from last year's excellent perfi-rmance, reflecting the increased size of ACL's 
barge fleet and robust demand for export grain and other bulk commodities. 
Higher demand for steel products and expanded operations in South Airerica also 
contribute! to the strong performance. 

CSX Intermodal Inc. (CSXI) responded aggressively to s t i f f truck competition 
that has exerted downward pressure on intermodal rates since 1995. The company 
consolidated i t s headquarters in Jacksonville, Fla., and reduced administrative 
and overhead costs significantly. CSXI also redesigned i t s service network, 
concentrating i t s efforts and resources in markets that produc* the best returns 
and growth opportunities, while reducing or eliminating service in lower-margin 
freight lanes. These steps enabled CSXI to increase operating income 17% over 
last year's rts u l t s and helped position the company to achieve significant 
service improvements and highor profi t s in 1997. 



Customized Transportation Inc. (CTI), our fast-growing contract logistics 
management company, continued to diversify i t s customer base, both in the United 
States and abroad. Building upon i t s already strong reputation as a leading 
provider of supply-chain luanagement for the automotive industry, CTI expanded 
i t s presence in non-automotive markets, including the electronics, r e t a i l and 
cheaacal industrief. Operating revenues rose 32% and operating income rose 36%, 
both to record levels. 

Looking to th* Futur* 

In 1997, each of CSX's transportation units axpcct* to build upon i t s solid 
1996 performance, and the result should be another record year for the 
corporation. He expect a continuation of the favorable economic environment we 
experienced last year—with modest econo«»ic growth and robust demand for 
transportation services. 

As global commerce continues to evolve, we believe the increasingly complex 
distribution requirements of our customers w i l l create significant 
opportunities for CSX. Our transportation units, while continuing to focus on 
improving the fundamentals of their business, are working together to identify 
segments of the transportation market where our collective capabilities can 
produce exceptional value for our customers and attractive returns for cur 
shareholders. The results we achieved in 1996 by integrating services for 
certain global customers are encouraging. We w i l l expand this integrated account 
approach in 1997, positioning CSX to ...eet the widest possible range of 
customers' global transportation service needs. 

We are co."fldent about the outlook for our businasi,. We remain focused on 
controlling costs, maximizing returns on invested capital and generating 
strong free cash flow. At the same time, we w i l l pursue creative strategies ro 
enhance CSX's a b i l i t y to meet customer requirements and achieve profitable 
growth. As always, our afforts »re guided by our overriding coamitaent 
to produce superior shareholder value ov*r the long term. 

Sincerely, 

/ s / John W. Snow 

John W. Snow 
Chairman and Chlaf Cxacutlv* Offlc*r 
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Public Policy Stat*a*nt 

Th* n**d for busin*ss and 
govarnment to become more 

ef f i c i e n t as w* prepare for 
the 21st century was a 

key factor in public policy 
debates in 1996. While we 

expect th*se considerations 
to remain in 1997, w* also 

anticipat* renewed challenge* 
to d*cisions favorable to 
buain*ss and aconomic 

opportunity. 

In 1996 th*re were two events ot ma^ol significance to the transportation 
enterpriaes of CSX. The Congress and the Administration sgreed on a bipartisan 
basis to create a p.»blic-private partnership that w i l l maintain and strengthen a 
neet of merchant Ships operating under U.S. flag with U.S. crews. To maintain 
strateaic s e a l i f t capability, ships enrolled in the Maritime Security 
Progr^ «il"«cnve"n .nn.aal payment that w i l l enable th«. to compete with 
for2i^-flagged ships. Sea-Land has 15 ships signed up for the Progr«. and w i l l 
receive annual payments of $31.5 million for making i t s highly •"ici«« 
maritime logistics network available to the U.S. government in times of 
emergency. 

The Surface Transportation Board, the successor to the Interstat* Commerce 
Co»»I«ion Mhde" a landmark decision in the 
P ^ f i c merger case, whose principles made i t possible for CSX and Conztil to 
enter i r t o agreement on a strategic, friendly merger. The Board's decision 
a!f!med th^ goSls cf the Staggers Rail Act of 1980, which sought to free t h . 
r i i l ^ ! d s f ^^'the stranglehold of regulation and to oP*"" " f ! ^ : ' 
do. This matter is discussed more extensively in the Chairman s messsge. 

Th* relation of government to tne maritime industry w i l l be a central 
transportauon issue in the 105th Congress. In 1995, an important step toward 
e"s «gu!«ton of ocean shipping was taken when the f "<=i«^^,^°"; 
Guard to reduce regulations that today place American carriers at a competitive 
diMdvantlg. to foriign carriers. With this new authority, the Coast Guard w i l l 



be able to conform U.S.-vessel standards to the same international standards by 
which the vessels of other nations are evaluated. 

CSX and Sea-Land have supported a staged reduction in the economic 
regulation of U.S. container-shipping lines and pressed for reform of the 
Shipping Act of 1984. While Congress is expected to take up these needed 
changes again, they have aroused strong opposition from some ports, foreign 
shipping lines and labor unions. At the same time, advocates for foreign 
carriers may use the goal of "deregulation" to further their efforts to gain 
access to America's domestic waterborne ccamerce by seeking repeal of the 
Jones Act. U.S.-flag carriers, which serve U.S. ports under the terms of the 
Jones Act, should not be forced to compete with foreign carriers that enjoy 
similar protection in their coun-iries and do not have to comply with the 
basic wage, tax, safety and health laws of the United States. 

A new attempt w i l l be made in this Congress to enact legislation to carry 
out the provisions of an international agreement ending ship subsidies by 
foreign governments to their national shipyards. An important element of the 
agreement is the ending of the 50% duty U.S. ships must pay on repairs done in 
overseas shipyards. We support efforts to make U.S. shipyards compatitiv* in th* 
world marketplace and to eliminate unfair burdens on U.S. ships. 

While the central r a i l issue for CSX in 1997 w i l i obviously t>e resolving 
issues surrounding Conrail, other pressing issues w i l l affect the entire r a i l 
industry. Mergers may well be used as an excuse by shipper groups and others to 
seek new regulation of railroads and to r o l l back the regulatory freedoms that 
have brought about the renaissance of railroads. This effort may include seeking 
to require railroads to allow other carriers to operate over their lines. To 
allow railroads access to the r a i l lines of their competitors would require a 
whole new set of regulatory actions to establish the terms and conditions and 
the rates for this use. 

The safety of railroads, already t i g h t l y regulated by the federal 
government, may again become an issue when the Congress takes up the 
reauthorization of the Rail Safety Act. A series of highly publicized tra i n 
accidents at the beginning of 1996 cast a shadow over the industry's 
excellent record of improving safety. CSX continues to believe that requiring 
railroads to meet performance standards for safety brings more positive results 
than the current command and control system. The most serious safety problem for 
the r a i l industry and the public remains rail-highway grade crossings. CSX w i l l 
join with the rest of the industry in seeking the cooperation of federal, state 
and local governments to solve this persistent problem. 

As an international transportation company, CSX w i l l continue to support 
d*cisions by the Congress and the administration that w i l l fostar greater 
eco.iomic growth and greater freedom from regulation in the domestic and the 
world marketplace. He remain committed to f a i r and open trade, to a balanced 
federal budget, to a more equitable and simpler tax system and to the goal of a 
smaller, more efficient government. 
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Financial Policy 

A Message to Shareholders on CSX's Financial Principles 

The management of CSX Corporation is dedicated to reporting the company's 
financial condition and results of operations in accurate, timely and 
conservative manner in order to give shareholders a l l t h * information th«y 
n**d to make decisions about investment in the company. CSX management 
also strives to present to shareholders a clear picture of the company's 
financial objectives and the principles that guide i t s employees in achieving 
those objectives. 

In this section, financial information is presented to assist you in 
understanding the sources of earnings and financial resources of the company and 
the contributions of the major business units. In addition, certain information 
needed to meet the Securities and Exchange Commission's Form 10-K requirements 
has b**n included in the Notes to Consolidated Fina.icial Statements. 

The key objective of CSX is to increase shareholder value by improving the 
return on capital invested in i t s businesses and maximizing free cash flow. The 
company defines "free cash flow" as the amount of cash available for debt 
service and other purposes generated by operating ac t i v i t i e s after deducting 
capital expenditures, present value of new leases and cash dividends. To achieve 
these goals, managers u t i l i z e the following guidelines in conducting the 
financial activities of the company: 

Capital - CSX business units are expected to earn returns on capital in excess 
of the CSX cost of capital. Business units that do not earn above the CSX cost 
of capital and do not generate an adequate level of free cash flow over 
an appropriate period of time w i l l be evtiuited for sale or other disposition. 

Taxes - CSX w i l l pursue a l l available opportunities to pay the lowest 
federal, state and foreign taxes, consistent with applicable laws and 



regulations and the company's obligation to carry a fair share of the cost of 
government. CSX also works through the legislative process for lower tax rates. 

Debt ratings - The company will strive to maintain its investment grade 
debt ratings, which allow cost-effective access to major financial markets 
worldwide. The company will work to nanage its business operations in a 
manner consistent with meeting this objective, including monitoring its 
debt levels and the amount of fixed charges i t incurs. 

Financial instrumencs - From tim* to time the company may employ 
financial Instruments as part of its risk management program. The objective 
would be to manage specific risks and exposures and not to trade financial 
instruments actively for prcfit or loss. 

Dividends - The ';ash dividend is reviewed regularly in the context of 
inflation and competitive dividend yields. The dividend may be increased 
periodically i f cash flow projections and reinvestment opportunities show 
the higher payout levi>l will best benefit shareholders. 

The company cannot always guarantee that its goals will be met, despite its 
best efforts. For example, revenue and operating *xpens*s ar* affactad by the 
state of the economy both in g*n*ral and in th* industri** it s*rv*s, and 
changes in regulatory policy can drastically change the cost and feasibility of 
certain company operations. The impact of factors such as these, along with the 
uncertainty inherently involved in predicting future events, should be carefully 
t>orne in mind when reading company projections or other forward-looking 
statements in th'.s report. 

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

The consolidated financial stat*m*nts of CSX Corporation hav* J9**n pr*par*d 
by managament, which is responsible for their content and accuracy. The 
statements present the results of operations, cash flows and financial position 
of the company in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and, 
accordingly, includ* amounts based on management's judgments and estimates. 

CSX and its subsidiaries maintain internal controls design*d to provid* 
reasonable assurance that assets are safaguardad and that tranaaction* ar* 
prop*rly authorizad by management and recorded in confomdty with gen*rally 
accapted accounting principles. Cor -ols include accounting tests, written 
policies snd procedures and a code of i 'irporate conduct routinely communicated 
to all employees. An Internal audit staff monitora compliance with artd th* 
effectiveness of *stablish*d policies and procedure*. 

The Audit Committee ot the board of directors, which is compo**d solaly of 
outside directors, meets periodically with management, internal auditors and the 
independent auditors to review audit findings, adherence to corporate policies 
and other financial matters. The firm of Ernst 4 Young LLP, Independent 
auditors, has been engaged to audit and report on the company's consolidatad 
financial stat*ia*nts. Its audit was conductad in accordanc* with g*n*rally 
accapted auditing standards and included a review of internal accounting 
controls to the extent daaawd n*c**sary for th* purpo** of i t * r*port, which 
appears on page 42. 
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Analysis of Operations 

CSX Corporation is a l*ad*r 
in providing multimodal fraight 

transportation and contract logistics sarvlc** 
around the world. Th* company's focus, 
advanced at each of its business units, 

is on providing customers witn efficient, 
competitive transportation and related trade 

services and delivering superior value 
to CSX shareholders. 

Averag* Raturn on Equity 
(Percent) 

[GRAPH] 

•92 '93 '94 '95 96 
0.7 11.7 18.6 15.5 18.9 

•Excluding after-tax productivity/restructuring 
charges and tlie impact of the 1993 tax-rate 
increase, return on equity in 1992, 1S93 and 1995 
wcjld have Iseen 13.3%, 14.0% and 19.3%, respectively. 

CSX Transportation Inc. 



CSXT is a major eastern railroad, providing r a i l freight transportation and 
distribution services over 18,504 route miles of track in 20 states in the 
East, Midwest and South: and in Ontario, Canada. CSXT accounted for 47% 
of CSX's operating revenue, 74% of operating income and 63% of invested 
capital in 1996. 

Sea-Land Service Inc. 

Sea-Land is a worldwide leader in container-shipping transportation and 
logistics services. The carrier operates a fleet of 99 container ships and 
.ipproximarely 208,000 containers in U.S. and foreign trade and serves 120 port*. 
In addition, Sea-Land operates 28 marine terminal f a c i l i t i e s across i t s global 
network. Sea-Land accounted for 38% of CSX's operating revenue, 21% of operating 
income and 19% ot invested capital in 1996. 

American Comnercial Llne« Inc. 

ACL is the nation's leader in barge transportation, operating 137 towboats 
and more than 3,''00 barges on U.S. and South American waterways. ACL accounted 
for 6% of CSX's operating revenue, 7% of operating income and 4% of invested 
capital in 1996. 

CSX Intermodal Inc. 

CSXI provides transcontinental intermodal transportation services and operates a 
network of dedicated intermodal f a c i l i t i e s across North America. CSXI 
contributed 6% of CSX's operating revenue and 2% of operating income in 1996. 

Customized Transportation Inc. 

CTI is a provider of cont._wt logistics, distribution, warehousing, assembly and 
just-in-time delivery services. In 1996, CTI provided 3% of CSX's operating 
revenue and 1% of operating incom*. 

Non-transportation 

Resort holdings include the Mobil Five-Star and AAA Five-Diamond iiotel. The 
Greenbrier in Hhite Sjlphur Springs, H.Va., and the Grand Teton Lodge 
Company in Moran, Hyo. CSX Rsal Property Inc. is responsible for sales, leaaing 
and development of CSX-owned properties. CSX holds a majority interest i i i Yukon 
Pacific Corporation, which is promoting construction of the Trans-Alasica Gas 
System tc transport Alaska's North Slope natural gna to Valdez for *xport to 
Aaian aarkats. 
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Analysis of Operations 

Average Return on Assets 
(Percent) 

[GRAPH] 

'92 '93 '94 '95 '96 
0.2 2.7 4.6 4.4 .̂ .9 

'Excluding after-:ax prjductivlty/restructuring 
charges and the imp.ct uf tne 1993 tax-rate 
increase, return on ass'.its in 1992, 1993 and 1995 
would have been 3.6%, 3.6% and 5.6%, respectively. 

Cash Provided by Operation* 
iMlllio.is of Dollar*) 

(GRAPH] 

•92 '93 '94 '95 * 96 
$939 $962 $1,326 $1,567 $1,440 

Fixed Charge Coverage 

[GRAPH] 

•92 '93 '94 '95 '96 
1.0 2.3 3.1 3.2 4.0 

•Excluding after-tax productivity/restructuring charges, 
fixed charge coverage in 1992, 1993 and 1995 would have 
loeen 2.5x, 2.5x and 3.7x, respectively. 
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CSX had excellent resu..tS in 1996. 
The company posted enother record year 
while overcoming several challenges, 

including: severe winter conditions, which 
affected first-quarter r a i l operations; 
rate pressures in several of .Sea-Land's 

iaajor trade lanes; and higher-than-
expected fuel prices experienced by a l l 
units. Modest revenue gains, combined 
with continued cost-control efforts, 

contributed to a 10% increase in operating 
income, excluding the 1995 restructuring 

charge. The railroad controlled costs while 
benefiting from strength in several 

commodities and selective price increases. 
Sea-Land achievej record results by 

offsetting rate pressures with Cv->st-cutting 
measures and market-share gains. 

Discussion of Earnings 

Net earnings in 1996 totaled $853 million, $4.00 p*r share, compared with 
S618 million. $2.94 per share, in 1995, and f652 million, $3.12 per share, in 
1994. 

The 1995 net earnings included the effect of a second-quarter restructuring 
charge to recognize CSXT's write-down of obsolete telecommunications assets and 
related employee-separation costs. The charge also included the cost of 
reflagging five Sea-Land vessels and the consolidation of i t s corporate and 
divisional headquarters In Charlotte, N.C. The 1995 results included a gain from 
th^ issuance of an equity interest in a Sea-Land terminal and related operations 
in Asia. Earnings for 1994 included the accelerated recognition of the remaining 
gain cn a 1988 sale of track in south Florida. 

Consolidated operating revenue increased $232 million, 2% above 1995. CSXT 
contributed $90 million of the additional revenue, largely resulting from 
strong performances by i t s coal and auto business units. Sea-Land generated $43 
million of the revenue increase, due to hi'jher volumes in major trade lanes. 
ACL produced S68 mil l i o n in additional revenue, primarily due to continued 
strong demand for export grain and the ecquisition of Conti-Carriers ( 
Terminals Inc. 

In 1995, operating revenue increas.id $895 mi i l i c n , or 10%, over 1994 's 
results. Sea-Land contributed $516 million of the additional revenue, resulting 
from higher volumes in i t s major trade lanes and moderate rate increases. JSXT 
generated S194 mil l i o n of the revenue increase, due to improved pricing and 
merchandise t r a f f i c mix. ACL produced $105 million in additional revenue, 
capitalizing on strong international demand for U.S. grain. 

A l l 1995 and 1994 per-share amounts in the text have been adjusted to reflect 
the 2-for-l stock s p l i t that occured in the fourth quarter of 1995. 

Analysis of Operations 

In 1996, a l l CSX units continued their efforts to control costs through 
performance improvement i n i t i a t i v e s . Consolidated operating expense in 1996 
decreased $164 million from 199s, which included the $257 B i l l i o n pretax 
restructuring charge incurred by CSXT and Sea-Land. Operating expense in 1995 
was $9fil million higher than tne 1994 level, primarily due to the restructuring 
charge and higher volumes. 

Consolidated operating Income for 1996 was $1.5 b i l l i o n , compared with $1.1 
b i l l i o n in 1995 ani; SI.2 b i l l i o n i n 1994 . Absent the restructurim charge, 1995 
operating income would have been $1.4 b i l l i o n . 

Other income totaled $43 million, compared with $118 million in 1995 and 
$105 million in 1994. In 1995, other income included a $77 million pretax 
net investment gain, primarily from the issuance of an equity interest i r a 
Sea-Laud terminal f a c i l i t y and related operations iri Asia. In 1994, other 
income included the $69 m i l l i o n accelerated pretax gain on the sale of track in 
south Florida. 

Discussion of Cash Flows 

Cash provided oy operating ac t i v i t i e s totaled $1.4 b i l l i o n in 1996, compared 
with $1.6 b i l l i o n i n 1995 and $1.3 b i l l i o n in 1994. Cash provided by operating 
activities was adequate to fund net property investments and cash dividends in 
1996, 1995 and 1994. In addition CSX funded scheduled long-term debt payments 
of $486 million, $343 mil l i o n and $447 million in 1996, 1995 and 1994, 
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respectively. 

Payments related to the 1991/92 productivity charge covering labor 
agreements providing for two-member train crews and payments provided for in the 
1995 restructuring charge affected cash provided by operations. The company has 
paid $940 million related to these productivity and restructuring charges to 
date, $88 million of which was in 1996. 

CSX continues to emphasize asset u t i l i z a t i o n and capital productivity. 
Capital investments were $1.2 b i l l i o n in 1996 and 1995, and $875 million i n 
1994. 

<Tabl*> 
<Caption> 

Operating Results 
(Millions of Dollars) 

<S> <C> 

Operating Revenue 

Operating Expense 
Labor and Fringe Benefits 
Materials, Supplies and Other(a) 
Building and Equipmant R*nt 
Inland Transportation 
Depraciation 
Fu*l 

1996 

Container I n t e r ­ Contract Ellm./ 
Total Rail Shipping modal Barge L o g i s t i c s Other 

$10,536 $4,909 $4,051 $674 $622 $316 $ (36) 

3,161 1,881 900 63 138 124 55 
2,530 867 1,126 92 242 49 154 
1,143 365 630 73 35 40 — 

995 — 750 395 — 64 (214) 
611 394 135 15 36 9 22 
574 275 192 1 59 13 34 

Total Expense 9,014 3, 782 3,733 639 510 299 51 

Oparating Income tLoss) $ 1,522 $1. 127 $ 318 $ 35 $112 S 17 $(87) 

Pro Forma Opeiating Income (Loss)(b) $ 1,522 $1. 127 $ 318 $ 35 $112 $ 17 $(87) 

Operating Ratio(b) 77.0% 92.1% 94.8% 82.0% 94.5% 

Averag* Employm*nt 28, 559 8,982 1,090 3,418 2,120 

Property Additions $ 764 $ 307 $ 24 $ 91 $ 15 

Operating Expense 
Labor and Fringe Benefits 
Materials, Supplies and Other(a) 
Building and Equipment Rent 
Inland Tranaportation 
Depreciation 
Fuel 
Restructuring Charge 

Total Expense 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Pro Forma Operating Income (Loss)(bl 

Operating Ratio(b) 

Average employment 

Property Additions 

IHS 

Total R a i l 
Container I n t e r -
Shipping modal(c) Barge 

Contract Elim./ 
L o g i s t i c * Other 

Operating Revenue $10,304 $4,819 $4,008 $707 $554 $240 $<24) 

3,133 1,847 934 85 122 92 53 
2,622 941 1, 166 94 232 46 143 
1,134 373 636 72 20 33 — 
970 — 730 411 — 41 (212 
588 367 139 14 32 6 30 
474 227 165 1 42 10 29 
257 196 61 — ~ — 

9,178 3,951 3,831 677 448 228 43 

$ 1,126 $ 868 $ 177 $ 30 $ 106 $ 12 $ (67) 

$ 1,383 $ 1,064 $ 238 $ 30 $ 106 $ 12 $ (67) 

77.9% 94.1% 95.8% 80.9% 94.7% 

29,537 9,168 1,434 2,914 1,853 

$ 765 $ 269 $ 57 $ 33 $ 8 

Op«r,'<ting Revvnu* 

1994 

Container Inter- Contract Elim./ 
Total Rail Shipping modal(c) Barge Logistic* Other 

$9,409 $4,625 $3,492 $684 $449 $182 $ (23) 
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Operating Expens* 
Labor and Fringe Benefits 3,005 1,828 859 89 104 71 54 
Materials, Supplies and Other(a) 2,311 918 919 83 191 44 156 
Building and Equipment Rent 1,087 374 6r,o 67 19 27 
Inla.nd Transportation 839 — 676 372 — 14 (223) 
Depreciation 564 352 132 11 32 6 31 
Fuel 421 224 119 1 40 10 27 
Restructuring Charge — — — — ~ — — 
Total Expens* 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Pro Forma (Operating Incooie (Lo**) (b) 

Operating Ratio(b) 

Average Employment 

Property Additions 

8,227 3,696 3,305 623 386 172 45 Total Expens* 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Pro Forma (Operating Incooie (Lo**) (b) 

Operating Ratio(b) 

Average Employment 

Property Additions 

$1,182 $ 929 $ 187 $ 61 $ 63 $ 10 $ (68) 

Total Expens* 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Pro Forma (Operating Incooie (Lo**) (b) 

Operating Ratio(b) 

Average Employment 

Property Additions 

$1,182 $ 929 $ 187 $ 61 $ 63 $ 10 $ (68) 

Total Expens* 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Pro Forma (Operating Incooie (Lo**) (b) 

Operating Ratio(b) 

Average Employment 

Property Additions 

79.9% 94.6% 91.1% 86.0% 94.5% 

Total Expens* 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Pro Forma (Operating Incooie (Lo**) (b) 

Operating Ratio(b) 

Average Employment 

Property Additions 

29,729 9,437 1,626 2,644 1,475 

Total Expens* 

Operating Income (Loss) 

Pro Forma (Operating Incooie (Lo**) (b) 

Operating Ratio(b) 

Average Employment 

Property Additions $ 641 $ 133 $ 50 $ 12 $ 7 

</Table> 

(a) A portion of intercompany interest income rec*iv*d from th* CSX 
parant company has been c l a s s i f i * d as a raduction of Matarials, Suppli** 4 
Oth*r by the container-shipping unit. This amount was $64 million, $65 
million and $64 million i n 1996, 1995 and 1994, resp*ctiv*ly, and th* 
corr*sponding charge is Included in Eliminations/Other. 

(b) Excludes restructuring charg*. 

(c) Int*rmodal results for 1995 and 1994 war* r * * t * t * d to conform 
to the 1996 presentation. Beginning in 1996, the container-shipping 
unit assumed primary responsibility for direct purchase of transportation 
from non-affiliated r a i l carriers. Prior to 1996, the Intermodal unit 
purchased t h * * * (*rTlc** for t h * container-shipping unit. 
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Analysis of Oparations 

Cash dividends per 
and 88 cents in 1994. 

-har* war* $1.04, ccmparad with 92 c*nts In 1995 

In 1997, the company *xp*cts i t s operations to continue generating 
significant cash flow t .> find working capital requirements, capital 
expenditures, debt repayment and dividendi. Cash flow for 1997 also w i l l be 
affected by t h * propc j*d '."onrail Acquisition (see right column). 

Discussion of riimiiwial Position 

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaled $682 million at 
Dec. 27, 1996, vs. $660 million at Dec. 29, 1995. 

The working capital d e f i c i t d*cr*as*d $371 million during 1996, primarily 
due to lower current maturitias of long-t*rm debt. The company had a year-end 
working capital d e f i c i t of $685 million in 1996, compared with $1.06 b i l l i o n in 
1955. 

A working capital d e f i c i t i s not unusual for CSX and do*s not indicate a 
lack of l i q u i d i t y . CSX maintains adequate reaoutces to satisfy current 
l i a b i l i t i e s when they are due and has sufficient financial capacity to manage 
It s day-to-day cash requirements. 

Long-term dabt incraaaad $2.1 b i l l i o n from 1995 to $4.3 b i l l i o n at D*c. 27, 
1996, primarily du* to borrowings to finance the company** acquisition of 
approximately 19.9% of Conrail's outstanding shares in Novaml>er. (See "Conrail 
Acquisition," right column.) 

The 1996 ratio of d*bt-to-total capitalization increased to 46% from 34% in 
1995. 

Conrail Acquisition 

CSX is negotiating the f i n a l details of a tranaaction to combine key 
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ccBfinents of the current Conrail Inc. operation* into th* CSX systam. 
Discus.Ions with Norfolk Southern Corporation are expected to lead to a roughly 
equal division of the Conrail system between the two remaining major r a i l 
carriers in the East. The broad increase in geographic scope the acquiaition 
w i l l bring w i l l be a significant advantage to CSX, creating the a b i l i t y to 
enhanc* revenues through improved service and efficiency following operational 
integration. 

The f i n a l terms of the acquisition w i l l ramaln subjact to a number of 
conditions and approvals, including approval by the Surface Transportation Board 
(STB), which has the authority to modify contract terms and impose additional 
conditions. As a result, the assumptions made In this analysis of operations 
concerning key Items such as the definitive form of the transaction, i t s l i k e l y 
timing, and the future operations of the combined syst*a a l l involv* forecasts 
and estimates about futur'! events. These forecasts and estimate)! are subject not 
only to the usual uncertainty Involved in predicting the effects of future 
economic conditions, but also the outcom* of t h * curr*nt n*gotlatlon* and 
•xt*n*iv* r*gulatory proceading*. 
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Prior to the current negotiations ''SX and Connil had agreed on Oct. 14, 
1996, to a strategic merger in which a good deal of Conrail assats would hav* 
bean r*tain*d in the combined CSX/Conrail entity, although CSX [selieveC 
conc*ssions would have to be made. This combination, not unexpectedly, was 
chall*ng*d by customers and others. Including Norfolk Southern, which announced 
a conditional all-cash offar for Conrail shara* at a pric* that *v*ntually ro** 
to $115 per share. 

As a f i r s t step toward completion of that proposed merger, CSX consummatad a 
tender offer for 19.9% of the outstanding Conrail stock on Nov. 20, 1996, for 
$110 in cash per share, or about $2 b i l l i o n . 

On Dec. 6, 1996, CSX commenced a second offer, also at $110 ca*h per shar*, 
which would have brought i t s total holding* to 40% of t h * outstanding Conrail 
*har*s. This second offer was conditioned on a vote by Conrail shareholders to 
allow Conrail to opt out of a P«nnsylvania statute that would otherwia* pr*clud* 
CSX from holding 20% or more of i t s outstanding shares. 

On Jan. 17, 1997, Conrail's shareholders voted against the opt-out, 
preventing CSX from acquiring the additional shar**. This *v*nt, along with 
public c<»nents on competi'.ion and the preferenc* for a n*gotl*ted (*ttl*m«nt of 
competitive issues from the Chairwoman of the STB, prompted CSX, Conrail and 
Norfolk Southern to commence discussions aimed at resolving those issu*s. Tho** 
discussions l*d tc the current proposed structure, in which a l l of t h * 
outstanding aharas of Conrail w i l l be acquirad for cash at $115 par •har*, with 
roughly half of the system to be shared with Norfolk Southern. This w i l l result 
in both CSX aid Norfolk Southern having v i t a l access to markets In tha 
Northeast, and w i l l achieve the go<l of maintaining a balanced competitive r a i l 
markat in the East. 

The exercise of actual control over Conrail or any of i t a r a i l oparations 
either CSX or Norfolk Southern is not legally permitted u n t i l «n order i s issue, 
by th* STB. In the meantime, the shares of Conrail w i l l be held i n a voting 
tru«t. 

CSX arrangad a flv«-year, $4.8 b i l l i o n bank credit f a c i l i t y in November 199( 
to finance the Conrail transaction and meet general working capital n**ds. Thii 
cr*dit f a c i l i t y is expected to be modified once the f i n a l form of the Conir.1 
acquisition is determined. A significant portion of the related commercial p^oar 
and other borrowings used to purchase Conrail shares in 1996 is intandao to ba 
replaced with long-term debt once the acquiaition is compl*t*d. 

At th* end of 1996, CSX held 19.9% of Conrail atock purch***d through tha 
f i r s t t*nd*r o f f * r . Und*r applicabi* accounting rulas, this minority i n t * r * * t 
was accounted for under the cost method an an investment In an unconsolidated 
subsidiary. The method of accounting applicable to CSX holdings of Conrail stock 
for futur* p*riods may d i f f a r , based on tha timing and final structure of tha 
related transactions. 

Management believes that approval and completion of th* combination w i l l 
r*sult in growth of the r a i l revenue base through expansion of si n g l e - l i n * 
service, and the company's a b i l i t y to compete more effectively on certain rout** 
along which large quantities of goods are now transported by truck. Single-lin* 
service is preferred by shippers over j o i n t - l i n e service because of lowar 
transaction costs, reduced delays, less damage from interchange operations and 
single-carrier accountability. 

Th* addition of Conrail lines to the CSX network also w i l l improve 
operational efficiency through better asset u t i l i z a t i o n . Cptialzation of tra i n 
sizes. Increased length of haul, shorter routes to many destinations and reduced 
empty movements a l l could be expected to drive cost reductions for the combined 
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r a i l networks. 

Because of the time needed to obtain needed regulatory and other approvals 
the company does not expect integrated operations of the two companies to have 
an effect on fiscal periods before 1998. The primary impact of the proposed 
transaction prior to the integration of operations Is likely to be the after-tax 
effect on both earnings and cash flows of interest on debt used to acquir* and 
hold Conrail shares, p a r t i a l l y offset by Conrail dividends. The average interest 
rate on this debt in 1996 was approximately 6%. The degree of negative Impact 
during 1997 w i l l depend on the specific timing of related transaction* 
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Other Hatters 
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ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS 

^ov '̂ ';̂ i>̂ o™"«ntal management is an important part of C.'SX'a business planning. 
CSX focuses on finding the most e f f i c i e n t , cost-effective solutions for 
dealing responsibly with waste materials generated from past and present 
business operations. The solutions range from simple recycling to sophisticated 
remediation. 

The company i s a party to numerous regulatory proceedings and private 
actions. Tnese arise from laws governing the remediation of contaminated 
property, such as the federal Superfund statute, hazardous waite and underground 
storage tank laws, and similar state and local statutes. 

Th* r«il unit has been identified, together with other parties, as a 
potentially responsible party in a number of governmental investigation.! and 
actions relating to environmentally Impaired sites. Such sites frequently 
involve other waste generators and disposal companies that may pay som* 
or a l l of such costs associated with site inve«tigation and claunup or 
from whom such costs may be recovered. 

The wide range of costs of possible remediation alternatives, changing 
cleanup technology, the length of time over which these matters develop and 
evolving governmental standards make i t impossible to estimate precisely the 
company's potential l i a b i l i t y for the costs assot.ated with the assessment and 
remediation of contaminated sites. 

The t a i l unit has identified and maintains reserves for approximately 270 
sites at which the coiopany is or may be liable for remediation costs. The 
company reviews i t s environmental reserves at least quarterly to d«t*rmln* 
wh*th*r additional provisions are necessary. Based on current information, th* 
company believes i t s reserves are adequate to meet ranedial action* and to 
comply with pressnt laws and regulations. Although CSX's financial results could 
be significantiy affected in any quarterly reporting period in which t h * comp*ny 
incurr*d substantial remedial expenses at a number of these and other si t e * , CSX 
b*li*v*s the ultimate l i a b i l i t y for these matters w i l l not materially affect i t s 
overall results of operations and financial condition. 

Total expenditures associated with protecting the environment and remedial 
environmental cleanup and monitoring efforts amounted to $44 million in 1996 
This coir.par*s with $43 million in 1995 and $39 million in 1994. During 1997, 
the company expects to incur remedial envirormental expenditures in the ranae 
of $40 to $50 million. 

The company and i t s subsidiaries are subject to a number of legal 
proceedings and potential actions in addition to those related to environm*nt*l 
issues. Based upon information currently available, these actions are not 
expected to have a materially adverse impact on results of operations or 
financial condition of the company. 

CSX employs risk management strategies to address business and financial 
market risks, but there are no significant hedging or derivative financial 
in*trum*nts used in i t s risk management program. The company may alter this 
position in response to evolving business and market conditions. 

Financial management periodically assesses the interest rat* ssnsitivity of 
i t s portfolio of investments and borrowings, and may use financial instruaiant* 
to manage the net interest exposure. 

Management monitors fuel o i l prices for v o l a t i l i t y . I t alao monitor* 
fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar in foreign exchange markets. While 
the corapiiny is not currently hedging these risks with financial instruments on 
occasion i t may do so. CSX's objective in employing such strategies would be to 
manage o^>*rating risks and exposures, not to trade fina.icial instrument* 
actively. 

Rail Results 

CSX Transportation Inc. (CSXT) posted record operating income in 1996, up 6* 
from 1995 and 21% from 1994, excluding the charge in 1995. The results ar* 
primarily due to strong performances by the coal and auto business units, 
continued selective rate increases and ongoing cost-control efforts. 

Improved pricing and volume strength combined to produce operating r*v*nu* 
of $4.9 b i l l i o n , a 2% increase over 1995 and a 6% increase over 1994. 

Shipments of coal, CSXT's major commodity, ramained strong in 1996, with 
total coal volume increasing to 163.C million tons vs. 158.5 million ton* in 
1995 and 153.7 million tons in 1994. 

RAIL OPERATING REVENUE 
(Millions of Dollars) 
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•92 
$4,434 

•93 
$4,380 

[GRAPH] 

•94 
$4,625 
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'95 
$4,819 

'96 
$4,909 

<PAac> 
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS 

Total marchandia* traffic of 2.9 million carloads ram«in*d l*vel with 1995 
and increased 4% over 1994. , „, 

Chemical traffic remained strong, due to steady demand for plastic 
production. Traffic remained steady with 1995's level and increased 6% over 
1994 

Driven by strong demand for trucks and sport utility vahirl**, th* 
automotiv* markat *xp«ri*nc*d a 3% incraaa* in carload* •nd * lik* incr**** in 
rev*iiues in 1996. ....... , 

A late harvest caused grain shipmants to be less robu*t than in th* prior 
y*ar. This r*«ult*d in a 9% d*cr*as* in carloads and a 4% decrease in revenue* 
for agricultural products. Comparad with 1994, carloads in 1996 d*cr*a«*d 3%, 
while revenue rose 2%. , i < 

Demand for pho*ph*t** •nd f*rtilizer remained solid. Carloads were level 
with 1995, while revenue decreased 1%. This compares with a 9% increase in 
carloads and a 10% increase in revenue over 1994. 
Rail Commodities by Carload 

Automobiles 
Chemicals 
Minerals 
Food 4 Consumer 
Agricultural Products 
Metals 
Forest Products 
Pnosphates 4 Fertilizer 
Coal 

Total 

Other Revenue 

TotaJ Operating Revenu* 

Carload* Revenu* 

(Thousands) (Million* of Doll*r*) 

1996 1995 1994 1996 1995 1994 

367 357 354 $ 520 $ 503 $ 493 

408 406 386 719 700 685 
42* 414 419 379 375 365 
1<7 179 176 199 207 204 
254 280 263 323 336 318 
277 301 292 290 291 285 
443 456 442 472 464 444 
511 512 470 279 282 254 

1,711 1,678 1,676 1,584 1,523 1,465 

4,566 4,583 4,480 4,765 4,681 4,513 

144 138 112 

$4,909 $4,819 '.4,625 

Throughout th* y*ar, CSXT continued i t * empha»i* on cost control, nespite 
bad weather earlier in the first quarter and a 20% rise in the average price of 
diesel fuel, rail operating expense rose only 1% over 1995, excluding th* 1995 
s*cond-qu*rt*r charge, and 2% over 1994. On that basis, the railroad lowered ita 
operating ratio (the ratio of operating expens* to oparating r*v*nu*) from 77.9% 
to 77.0% — • record for the unit. 

The ongoing efforts of the unit's Performance Improvement Teams (PITS) 
resulted in cost savings of more than $106 million. PIT initiative* also 
resulted in more cost-effective procedures for locomotive and car repair, as 
well as maintenance of way. <i as 

Labor and fringe b«n*fits *xpen»* incr*ased 2% to $1.88 billion, v». $1.BS 
billion in 1995 and $1.83 billion in 1994. Rail manag*m*nt »ucc*ssfully 
n*gotiat*d, without a strlk*, a union contract that providas for comp*titiT* 
incr*a»*» in l*bor and fring* b*n*fit* ov*r th* n*xt fiv* y*ar(. 

Rail Assats 
Owned or leased units as of Dec. 27, 1996 

Freight Cars 
Box Cars 
Open-Top Hr pers 
Covered Hooper* 
Gondolas 
Othar Cars 

Total 

Locomotivas 

Track 
Rout* M l l * s 
Track Miles 

14,872 
24,760 
18,248 
24,533 
15,379 

97,792 

2,781 

18,504 
31,365 
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Safety continues to be a top p r i o r i t y at CSXT. During 19?6, the railroad 
reducea train accidents 3% over 1995, and the l i t e s t published figures from the 
Federal Railroad Administration place CSXT as the safest Class I freight 
railroad in the nation. Employee safety performance in 1996 dipped slightly 
compared with 1995's record year. While zero injuries continues to l5e the 
ultimate goal, e-nployees have made tremendous gains by reducing personal 
Injuries by 79% over the past seven years. 

Of equal importa-ice is C."XT's emphasis on public safety. In 1996, the 
railroad co.itipued I t s Industry leadership in the area of rall-highway grade 
crossing safety, where the number of collisions dropped 23%. This dramatic 
improvement is attributed -.o two factors: public education and the elimination 
of unneeded crossings. CSXT employees delivered hundreds of presentations during 
1996 to raise the motoring public's awareness of crossing safety. 
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ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS 

RAIL OPERATING EXPENSE 
(Millions of Dollars) 

(GRAPH! 

•92 9̂3 '94 '95 '96 
$4,313 $3,634 $3,696 $3,951 $3,782 

Productivity/restructuring charges in 1992 and 1995 were $619 million and $196 
million, respectively. 

These public educaticn efforts touched thousands of lives throughout CSXT's 
20-state system, ranging from school children to school bus and commarcial truck 
drivars. In addition, mora than 500 radundant or unn**d*d crossings w*rtt 
eliminated last year. 

Greater asset u t i l i z a t i o n in 1996 enhanced CSXT's continued efforts to 
constrain capital expenditures. Rail capital additions were $764 million in 1996 
vs. $765 million in 1995 ano $641 million In 1994. In 1996, CSXT took delivery 
of 138 new fuel-efficient 4,400-horsepower AC locomotives, each of which has 
the power of two older units. CSXT became the f i r s t railroad in North Aaierica 
to place into service the new 6,000-horsepower AC model, the world's most 
powerful single-anglne locomotive. The company Is presently testing three 
AC6000S In anticipation of taking delivery of 50 more In 1997. As of year-end 
1996, CSXT's fleet of approximately ::,e00 locomotives included 255 AC units. 

CSXT expects continued earnings growth in 1997, with modest volume and 
revenue increase: across i t s major lines of business. The unit w i l l continue i t s 
focus on becoming a High Performance Organization, which Involves process 
re-engineering of core operations. In particular, the railroad w i l l continue 
improving terminal throughput to optimize asset u t i l i z a t i o n and on-time 
performance. Thirty terminals were re-engineered in 1996, and 24 are scheduled 
to be compl*-ed by mid-1997. In addition, the unit w i l l continue i t s emphasis on 
cutting costs and achieving profitable growth. 

Container-shipping Results 

Intensified rate competition in major trade lanes and short-term 
over-capacity made 1996 a challenging year for the container-shipping industry. 
In spite of a d i f f i c u l t pricing environment, Sca-'.,and Service Inc. (Sea-Land) 
capitalized on increasing global demand for containerized cargo and grew i t s 
market share in every major trade lane while improving I t s cargo mix. The 
carrier also enjoyed ,->ne of the best u t i l i z a t i o n rates in the container-
shipping industry. 

Sea-Land generated !>.)18 million of operating Income in 1996, vs. $238 
million in 1995, excluding i t s portion of the 1995 second-quarter restructuring 
charge. In 1994, Sea-Lani generated $187 million in operating income. 

Volume increased to 1.5 million loads, 7% over 1995's level, driven by 
continued strong demand and market share gains in v i r t u a l l y a l l major trade 
lanes. In 1994, volume totaled 1.3 million loads. 

Total operating revenue increased to $4.1 b i l l i o n , a 1% incraaa* ov*r 1995's 
revenue and 16% higher than in 1994. 

Average revenue per container f e l l 5%, reflecting higher capacity in major 
trade lanes, particularly Asia-Middle East-Europe and Eastbound Pacific. 
However, Sea-Land was more than able to mitigate the effects of a d i f f i c u l t 
rate environment through increased volume and effective cost-cutting 
measures. 

Sea-Land's operating expense declined to $3.7 b l l l i i . n from $3.8 b i l l i o n in 
1995, excluding that year's restructuring charge. In 1994, operating expense 
totalefi $3.3 b i l l i o n . The unit improved i t s op«r«ting ratio through i t s 
continued emphasis on cost containment and productivity improvement. 

In 1996, Sea-Land eliminated operating expenses of $136 million through the 
efforts of i t s cost-intervention teams, w.>)ich targeted improvements in terminal 
and vessel operations. Inland transportation and network management. The teams' 
recoranendatlons Include both short-term tactical considerations and long-term 
strategic goals. The intervention teams expect to achieve productivity 
Improvements of similar magnitude in 1997. 
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CONTAINER-SHIPPING 
OPERATING REVENUE 

(Millions of Dollars) 

(GRAPH] 

'92 '93 '94 '95 '96 
$3,148 $3,246 $3,492 $4,008 $4,051 

U 

ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS 

After six years of discussion and debate, the U.S. Congress passed the 
Maritime Security Act by an over "Iming margin. This shipping b i l l 
establishes a progrur to provide participating carriers with $1 b i l l i o n in 
operating assistance over 10 years to help offset the higher environmental, 
safety ano wage costs of operating as a U.S.-flag carrier. Sea-Land has 
applied to the program, and the government has accepted 15 of i t s ships. 
Sea-Land w i l l receive $2.1 million a year for each ship participating 
In the program. 

Implementation of the global alliance with the Danish shipping line Maersk 
began in the third quarter of 1996. A revised vessel network plan, incorporating 
163 vessels and 348,000 TEUs (20-foot equivalent units) of container capacity, 
provides Improved frequency and scope of service within the major sectors of 
Sea-Land^s global network. Several million dollars of cost-reduction 
benefits have been realized as a result of terminal and equipment 
rationalization programs. Other cost-reduction opportunities have been 
i d * n t i f l * d and targ*t*d for impl*mentatlon In 19)7 and beyond. 

CONTAINER-SHIPPIf'G 
LOAD VOLUME 
(Thousands) 

[GRAPH] 

•92 '93 '94 *95 •96 
1,150 1,180 1,288 1,442 1,541 

Container-shipping Assets 
Owned or leased units as of Dec. 27, 1996 

Containers 
40- and 20-foot Dry Vans 174,941 
45-foot Dry Vans 10,505 
Refrigerated Vans 18,495 
Other Specialized Equipment 4,460 

Total 208,401 

Chaaal* 70,075 
Containar Ships 99 

Tanninals 
Exclusive-Use 14 
Pr* f * r * n t i a l Barthing Rights 14 

Capital expenditures in 1996 included $252 million for new asset deployment* 
and $55 million for containers formerly leased. The new deployments Included 
vessels, terminal property and equipment and systems enhancements. The 1996 
expenditures compare with $269 million in 1995 and $133 million in 1994. 

m 1997, the growth in global traoe is expected to continue at a healthy 
rate, although a d i f f i c u l t rate environment is expected to persist. Overall 
capacity i s anticipated to increase at a pace slightly ahead of market growth. 
Within the competitive arena, i t is anticipated that a realignment of existing 
alliances between various shipping lines w i l l occur. Additional mergers within 
the industry also remain a possibility. 

Sea-Land w i l l continue meeting the challenges of a d i f f i c u l t rate 
environment with continued emphasis on controlling costs through i t s 
intervention teams and performance improvement i n i t i a t i v e s . The unit also w i l l 
continue i t s efforts to gain market share In the more profitable market segment* 
by focusing on the changing needs of shippers. Improving the mix of higher 
margin freight w i l l remain an ongoing p r i o r i t y . 

Barge Result* 

The 1996 operating income of $112 million at American Commercial Lines Inc. 
(ACL) topped last year's record by 6%. The 1996 results were 78% higher than 
1994's operating Income. Key factors for 1996's excellent performance were 
continued strong demand for export grain and other bulk commodities and the 
acquisition of the marine assets of Conti-Carriers 4 Terminals Inc. (CCTI), 
which increased ACL's fleet size by 400 barges and eight towtsoat*. 
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Total operating revenue at ACL Increased 12% to $622 million, compare<i 
with $551 million in 1995 and $449 million in 1994. Barge ton miles totaled 
55.8 b i l l i o n , an increase ol 3.6 b i l l i o n over 1995 and 4.5 b i l l i o n over 
1994 . 

Barge Oparating Revenue 
(Millions of Dollars) 

•92 

$433 

•93 

$417 

[GRAPH] 

' 94 

$449 

IC 

•95 

$554 

'96 

$622 
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Analysis of Oparations 

Barge As**t« 

Omed or leased units as of Dec. 27, 1996 

Towboats 137 

Barges 
Covered/Open-Top Hoppers 3,481 
Tankers 237 

Total 3,718 

Marine Services 
River Terminals 
Fleet Operations 
Shipyards 

11 
17 
2 

The CCTI acquisition, coiipleted in Jan ary 1996, ha* b«*n succ*ssfully 
Integrated into ACL's operatic is, delivering higher revenues to ACL and savings 
to customers. This acquisition is an excellent exampl* of a customar outsourcing 
Its barging functions, era* Ing a "wln-wln" situation for both ACL and t h * 
customer. 

Omand for non-grain cor^odlties, such as iaiport steel and raw materials for 
steel mini-mills, reriainad strong, r*sulting in b * t t * r backhaul opportunitie* 
from the Gulf of Mexico. 

Coal tonnage and revenue d*crea»*d during t h * y*ar as th* company continuvd 
to shift equipment into higher-margin markets. 

Operating expense increased 14* to $510 l i l l i o n , primarily due to additional 
volumes and higher fuel prices. Fuel price per gallon increased 24%, 
representing an additional $11 million in expense over 1995. 

ACL rema ns focused on continuous improvement to reduce operating cost* 
through th* quality improvement process. Performance Improvement Team 
inltlativas generated approximately $4 million in annualized savings in 1996 and 
have targeted additional savings for 1997. 

Safety remains a high p r i o r i t y . ACL reduced i t s incident rate by 10% 
during the year, reflecting a safer work environment overall and resulting 
in accident-related cost redi.ctio-.s of $1.5 million. 

Capital additions at ACL in 1996 totaled $91 million, compared with $33 
million in 1995 and $12 million in 1994. Spending in 1996 included $21 million 
for the acquisition of CCTI, $31 million for new domestic marine equipment 
and $26 million for expansion in South America. 

ACL enters l'j97 with a positive outlook. The 1996 f a l l harvests of corn and 
soybean crops w«re among the largest in U.S. history, indicating t r a f f i c 
levels for these commodities should be strong. Coal should remain a solid .base 
business for the barge line, although an exist.ng long-term coal contract may 
be restructured. ACL also anticipates continued strong demand for l i q u i d 
commodities and steel feedstock fcr mini-mills. 

Intermodal Results 

With the implementation of aggressive measures to counter severe competition 
from thf! truv-king industry, CSX Intermodal Inc. (CSXI) experienced a steady 
turnaround in 1996. Operating income increased 17% to $35 million in 1996 from 
$30 million in 1995. In 1994, operating income was S61 million. Revenue 
decreased 5% to $674 million, wt:ile volume totaled 980,000 traile r s and 
containers, level with 1995. In 1994, oparating revenue waa $684 million, and 
volume was 986,000 t r a l l a r * and containar*. 
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Int*raodal As**t* 
Own*d or laasad units as of Dec. 27, 1996 

Equipmant 

Domestic Container* 
Rail Trailers 

4,002 
5,124 

Facilities 
CSX Intermodal Terminal* 33 
Motor Carrier Op«r»tion* Tarminals 28 

Intarmodal Operating Revenue 
(Millions of Dollars) 

•92 

$535 

(GRAPH] 

•93 '94 

$59' $684 

•95 

$707 

•96 

$674 

CSXI ha* raaponded aggressively to the stiff comp*tition c*u£*o by •n ov«r-
c.o*city of truck*. In July, th* unit corsolidatad its h*.dquart*rs in 
Jacksonvill*, Fla., and reduced headcount by 30%. CSXI also 
imolemented comprehensive service changes throughout its nationwide network 
t7enhance service reliability, transit times .nd train capacity. The network 
rede»ign 1* aimad at achiaving b*tt*r cost control* snd productivity gains 
from CSXI's op*r*tlons whil* *xpanding 
gr*at*st growth potential. 

Capital expenditures totaled $24 million in . , , , 
$50 million In 1994. During 1996, CSXI acquirad property for • new terminal in 
Atlanta and expanded terminal facilitie* at i t * gat*w*y N*w Orl**ns tarminal. 

In 1997, CSXI will focus on containing costs and growing Its bu«in**s in k*y 
lanes. The unit expects substential improvamant In oparating incom*. 

17 

»*rvic*s in k*y market* with th* 

1996 vs. $57 million in 1995 ana 

<PAGE> 

Analy*i* of Operation* 

Contract Logistics R**ults 

Customized Transportation Inc. (CTI) achieved record revanu* »nd operating 
incom* during 1996. Rev*nu« ro«* to $316 million, 32% ov*r 1995 and 73% ovar 
1994. Op*rating income incr**s*d to $17 million, 36% over 199;> and 734 above 
1994. 

Ci-I continues as a leading logistics provider of materials -nanagemei t, 
transportation, warehousing and staging activities. In 1996, th* un.t improved 
i t * po«itlon with curr*nt customsrs snd d*velop*d bu»in*»* in n«w industri**, 
«uch •* .l.ctronic*, retail and c.>i*mical. It axecuted 46 million tran.action* 
for i t * cu»tom*r» »t *n *rror-fr** rat* of 99.9745% in 1996. 

in 1997, CTI will maintain an *iBph**i« on th* r*d*«ign and r*-*ngln**ring of 
•upply chain procas*** for its customers and will follow its customers as they 
expand internationally. Growth rates an' fina-^cial performance are anticipated 
to remain strong in th* coming y**t. 

Contract Logistic* 
Oparating Revenue 

(Millions of Dollars) 

•93 

$145 

(GRAPH] 

•94 '95 

$182 *240 

•96 

$316 

Consolidatad Outlook 

CSX .ntar, =-ji<̂ --« •?2/?<,<̂*i:ir̂ i: ?:;'î ''unit:d"st:t:2°:nS 
?:^.'1con:mif' r̂̂ °h i^'jap"^"•oU-ing a sluggish 1996 should b.gin to 
imotcve atadually. Th* price of di*»el fuel, which was unusually high in 1996, 
iT«^ct2d ?o r«urn to L r , normal l.val* as Iraqi oil r*-*nt*rs the market on 
a limited b**i*. 

Th* railroad will capitalize on anticipated steady growth in the U.S. 
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economy to improve i t * overall parfomanca, whil* maintaining i t s focus on cost 
control. Th* ccntinu*d growth in global demand for contain*riz*d cargo bodas 
wall for Sea-Land, although aom* concerns remain about r * t * pressures 
continuing, possibly u n t i l mld-yaar. 

CSX anticipate* i t * 1997 capital spending to b? less than 1996 level*, whil* 
i t w i l l continue to r*inv**t in core business assets. CSXT w i l l fund eguipment 
•nd tr^ck programs at nearly comparable levels. Including delivery of 75 
alterr.ating current locomotive*. S**-Land w i l l continue toward completion of i t s 
Champion Class vessel program <ith three v*ss*ls to ba delivered in 1997 and the 
last one in the f i r s t quarter of 1998. 

CSX units are coomittad to achieving their stretch targets, even though some 
units are subject to such unpredictable external factors as adverse weather 
conditions, work stoppages at major customar f a c i l i t i e s and shifting economic 
conditions in the United States and abroad. Continued emphasis w i l l be placed 
on controlling costs, an.hancing cor* **rning power and increasing shareholder 
returns. 
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<Table> 
<Caption> 

Con*olidatad Statmaant of Earnings 
D*c. 27, 

(Millions of Dollars, Except Par Share Mounts) 1S96 

Fiscal Yaars Ended 

D*c. 29, 
1995 

Dec. 30, 
1994 

<S> <C> 
Oparating Incom* 

Op*rating R*v*nu* tlO,S3( $10,304 $ 9,409 

Op*rating Expans* 
Raetructuring Charge 

9,014 8,921 
257 

8,227 

Total Oparating Expan** 9,014 9,178 8,227 

Op*ratlng Incoma 1,522 1,126 1,181 

Othar Income and Expense 
Other Incom* 
I n t * r * * t Expens* 

49 
249 

111 
270 

105 
281 

Earning* 
Earnings Pafor* Income Taxes 
Income Tax Expan** 

1,316 
461 

174 
SSI 

1,006 
354 

N*t Earning* $ 855 $ 618 $ 652 

far Coamon Sh*r* 
Earning* P*r Sh*r* t 4.00 $ 2.94 $ 3.12 

Av*rag* Common Shar** Outitanding (Thousand*) 213,633 210,270 209,303 

Cash DiTldand* Paid Par Common Shara * 1.04 $ .92 $ .88 

</Tabla> 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidatad Financial Statement*. 
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<TABLE> 
<CAPTION> 

Con*olidatad Statement of Caah Flow* 
Fiical Yaars Ended 

Oac. 27, 
(Million* of Dollars) 1996 

Dec. 29, 
1995 

Dec. 30, 
1994 

<S> <C> 
Oparating A c t i v i t l a * 

N*t Earning* 
Adjustm*nts to Psconcil* Net Earnings to Net Ca*h Provld*d 

$ ess $ 618 1 652 
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Daprcciation 
Deferred Income iaxas 
Restructuring Charge Provision 
Productivity/Restructuring r̂ .arge Payment* 
Oth*r Op*rating Actlvitias , ,̂ 
Ch»ng*s in Operating Assat* and Liabilitia* 
Accounts R*c*iv«ble 
Other Current Assat* 
Accounts Payabl* 
Oth*r Ci'rr*nt Liab i l i t i a * 

N*t Cash Provided by Operating Activitla* 

620 
166 

(88) 
12 

(67; 
(65) 
84 
(77) 

1,440 

•00 
(26) 
257 
(1551 
10 

(82) 
(22) 
170 
197 

1,U7 

S77 
176 

(159) 
M 

(«> 
M 
f 
55 

1,326 

Inve»ting Actlviti** 
Prop*rty Additions 
Proc**ds from Property Di*po*ltlon* 
Acquisition of Conrsil CoBOon Stock 
Purch«s*s of Long-T*rm Maikatabl* S*curitl«s 
Proce*ds from Salas of Long-T*rm Mark*t*bl* S*curitla» 
Other Inveating Activltia* 

Nat C»»h U*ad by Inva«ting Activlrla* 

Financing Activities 
Short-Term Dabt ~ Net 
Long-Term Dabt Issued 
Long-Term Debt Repaid 
Cash Dividends Paid 
Other financing Activltia* 

Net Cash Provided (U*ad) by Financing Activltia* 

Hat Increaca (Decraa**) in Cash and Ca»h EquivalaAta 

Zaah. C*»h Equivalent* and Short-T*ra Intastaanis 
Caah and Caah Equivaiants at Beginning of Year 

Cash and Caah Equivalents i t End of Year 
Short-T<»rm Investment* at End of •ear 

Cash, Cash Equivalent* and Short-Term 
Investments at End of Y**r 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information 

Interest Paid — Net of Amounts Capitaliiad 

Income Taxea Paid 

</Tabla> 
accompanying Notes t" Consolidated Financial Statasant*. 
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<Tabl*> 
<C«ption> 

(1,223) 
84 

(1,965) 
(45) 
137 
25 

(2,987) 

187 
2,118 
(486) 
(223) 

(1) 

1.595 

48 

320 

368 
314 

$682 

$ 265 

381 

(1,156) 
P7 

(114) 
97 
22 

(1,054) 

(53) 
121 
(343) 
(194) 
11 

(458) 

55 

265 

320 
340 

$ 66C 

$ 275 

$ 2r3 

(875) 
170 

(M) 
54 

(144) 

(861) 

»7 
•2 

(447) 
ri84) 

4 

(498) 

(33) 

SM 

26S 
270 

$ 535 

$ 30f 

$ 175 

Con»olidatad Statement of Financial Position 

IMilllon* of Dollar*) 
<1> <C> 
Assats 

'̂'c*»h! C*«h Equivalants and Short-Tan* Invastmant* 
Account* R*c*iv*blc 
Mat«ri*l* and Supplia* , 
Dafarred Incom* Tax** 
Oth*r Currant Aassts 

Tots'l Curr*nt As*at« 

Prop*rti*s — N*t 
Inv**tm*nt in Conr*ii 
Affiliata* and Oth*r Compania* 
Other Long-Term Assets 

Total Assat* 

Dec. 27, 
1996 

68^ 
894 
229 
139 
128 

2,072 

11,906 
1,965 

34.. 
677 

$16,965 

Dec. 29, 
1995 

i 660 
832 
230 
141 
7S 

i,?35 

il,297 

m 
TM 

$14,282 

Liabilitlas 
Curr*nt Liabilitia* 
Accounts Payable 
Labor and Fringe Benefits Payable 
Casualty, Envircr«antal and Oth*r r'*s*rv*» 
Currant Maturicia* of Long-Term Dabt 

1,189 
499 
306 
101 

1,121 
526 
291 
4M 
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Short-T*rra D*bt 
Oth*r Currant L i a b i l i t i a * 

Total Currant L i a b i l i t i e s 

Casualty, Environmental and Othar Ra**rv*s 
Long-T*rm D*bt 
Deferred Incom* Tax** 
Oth*r Long-Tarm L i a b i l i t l * * 

Total L i a b i l i t i a * 

Shareholders' Equity 
Common stock, 71 Par Value 
Other Capital 
Retained Earnings 
::lnimum i'ension L i a b i l i t y 

Tota." Shareholders' Equity 

Total L i a b i l i t i e s and Shareholder*• Equity 

</Tabl*> 

S** *ccoicp*nying Notes to Corisolidatad Financial Stataaants. 
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<Tabla> 
<Caption> 

Consolidatad Statement of Changes in Sharaholdar*• Equity 

335 
327 

(Million* of Dollars, Except Shares) 

<s> <c> 
Bal*nce Dec. 31, 1993 
Net Earning* 
Dividends — Commr-n 
Common Stock— 

Stock Purchase and Loan Plan 
Stock Canceled 
Purchase Loans — Nat 

Other Stock Issued — Nat 
Miiiifflua Pension L i a b i l i t y 
Other — Net 

Balance Dec. 20, 1994 
Net Earnings 
Dividends — Common 
Common Stock— 

Stock Purchase and Loan Plan 
Stock Canceled 
Purchaae Loans — Vst 

Othar Stock I**u*d — N*t 
Mlnimuu P*nsion L i a b i l i t y 
2-for-l Stock S p l i t 
Othar -- N*t 

Balanc* D*c. 29, 1995 
Net Earnings 
Dividends — Commcn 
Common Stock--

Stock Furchaa* anc* Loan Plan 
Stock Ksued 
Stock Canceled and Exchanged 
Purchaae Lnans — Net 

Other Stock Issued — Net 
Minimum P*naion L i a b i l i t y 
Other — Net 

Common Sh*r*a 
Out*t*nding 
(Thousand*) 

104,143 

(68) 

647 

104,722 

(155) 

716 

105,212 

210,495 

7,652 
(2,786) 

1,524 

21S,885 

Common 
Stock 

$104 

Othar 
Capital 

$1,307 

14) 

M 

105 

(1) 

1 

105 

210 

8 
(3) 

$217 Balanc* Oac. 2V, 1996 

</Tabl*> 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated financial Statement*. 
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NOTES 10 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(All Tables in Millions cf i>ollars. Except Par Shara Afcount*) 

1,368 

111) 
12 
SS 

(105) 

1,319 

35* 
(67) 

(240) 
65 

$:,433 

2,757 

715 
4,3J1 
2,720 
1,447 

31,970 

217 
1,433 
3,452 
(107) 

4,995 

$16,965 

Minimum 
Retained Paneio.. 
Earnings L i a b i l i t y 

$1,927 
652 
(184) 

(4) 

2,391 
618 
(194) 

2,822 
ess 
(223) 

(2) 

$3,452 

$(158) 

i5 

(133) 

24 

(109) 

148 
412 

2,991 

813 
2,222 
2,560 
1,454 

10,040 

210 
1,319 
2,822 

(109) 

4,242 

$14,282 

Total 

$3,180 
652 

(184) 

(4) 
9 

57 
25 
(4) 

3,731 
618 

(194) 

(12) 
12 
5C 
24 

4,242 
ess 

(223) 

364 
(70) 

(240) 
67 

2 

(2) 

$4,995 
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NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES. 

N^tur* of Operations 

CSX Corporation (CSX) is a global freight tranapcrtation company with 
principal businiss units providing r a i l , container-shipping, Intermodal, barging 
and contract logistics services. Rail transportation services are provided 
principally throughout the eastern United States and account for nearly half of 
the company's operating revenue, with coal, bulk products and manufactured 
products each contributing a relatively equal share of r a i l revenue. Coal 
shipments primarily supply domesti- u t i l i t y and export markets. 
Container-chipping services are provided in the United States and more than 80 
countries and t e r r i t o r i e s thtoughout the world and account for more than 
one-third of the companŷ .* operating revenue. Intermodal, barging and contract 
logistics services are provided principally within the United States and 
together account for the company's remaining operating r*v*nu*. 

Principles of Consolidation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements include CSX and i t . majority-owned 
subsidiaries. A l l significant intercompany accounts and transactions hav* b**n 
eliminated. Investments In companies that are not majority-owned are carried at 
either cost or equity, depending on the extent of control. 

Fiscal Year 

The company's fiscal reporting period *nde on t h * last Friday In December. 
The financial statements presented * r * for th* f i * c * l period* *nd.d D*c. 27, 
1996, Dec. 29, 1995, and Dec. 30, 1994. Each fi»c»l y**r consists of four 
13-week quarters. 

Common Stock Split 

On Oct 11, 1995, the company's board of directors declared a 2-for-l common 
stock s p l i t distributed on Dec. 21, 1995, to shareholders of record at the close 
of business on Dec. 4, 1995. In the accompanying Consolidated Statement of 
Earnings and Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, a l l references to 
shares of common stock and per share amounts for periods prior to the stock 
s p l i t have been restated. 

Cash, Caah Equivalents and Short-Term Inve*tJ«*nt* 

C*.ih in excess of current operating r*qulr*m*nts i s in/**t*d i.n various 
short-t*rm instruments carried at cost that approximates market T̂ "!! 
short- term investments having a maturity of three mo.iths or less Jt the date of 
acquisition are classified as cash equlvalentc. Cash and cash equivalents are 
net of outstanding checks that are funded daily from cash receipts and maturing 
short-term Investments. 

Accounts Receivable 

The company has sold, directly and through Trade Receivables Participation 
Certificates (Certificates), ownership interests in designated POoXa of account* 
receivable originated by CSX Transportation Inc. (CSXT), i t s r a i l un.\t 

During 1993, $20C million of Certificates were issued at 5.05%, 
du* Septer-ber 1998. The O.-rtificate* represent undivided interests In a master 
trust holding an ownership intertst in a revolving P?"^ °̂  " ^ J , . 
accounts receivable. The proceeds from the ir«u»nc* of th* C * r t i f i c * t * s w*r* 
used to reduce the amount of accounts receivable sold under a previous 
agreement. At Dac. 27, 1996, the Certificates were collateralized by $248 
million of accounts receivable held in the master trust. The ĉ ?»;̂ y ha» ^he 
ab i l i t y to issue $50 million in additional Certificates through September 1998 
at prevailinc markat term*. 

In addition, th* company has a ravolving agreaaent with a financial 
institution to s e l l with recourse on a monthly basis an undivided percentage 
o^e«hip interest in designated pools of fre^ j h t and other accounts receivable. 

agreement provides for % he sale of up to $200 million in accounts receivable 
and expires -n September 1998. 

The company has retained the P°"fi''J;i"y '".""'^^IS'DIC'' I f ^*995"' 
accounts receivable held in trust or t^old. At Dec. 27, 1996, 
accounts receivable have been reduced by $372 "HUon representing Certificate, 
and accounts receivable sold. The net costs associated with sales of 
S«tificates and receivables were $30 million, $32 million and $29 million 
in 1996, 1995 ar.d 1394, respectively. 
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(All Tables ii. Millions of Dollars, Except Per Share Amount*) 

The company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the 
expected c o l l e c t i b i l i t y of accounts receivable, including receivables 
collateralizing Certificates and receivables sold. Allowances for doubtful 
accounts of $97 million and $88 million have been applied as a reduction of 
accounts receivable at Dec. 27, 15i96, and Dec. 29, 1995, respectively. 

Materials and Supplies 

Materials and supplies consist primarily of fuel and itams for maint*n«nc* 
of property and *quipm*nt, and ar* carriad at average cost. 

Properties 

Main line crack on the r a i l system is depreciated on a group basis using a 
unit-of-property method. A l l other property and equipment is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over estimated iseful lives of three to 50 years. 

Regulations maintained by the Sui'tace Transportation Board (STB) of the U.S. 
Department of Transportation require periodic formal studies of ultimate service 
lives for a l l railroad assets. Resulting service l i f e estimates are subject to 
review and approval by the STB. Significant premature retirements for a l l 
properties, which would include major casualty losses, abandonments, sales and 
obsolescence of assets, are recorded as gains or losses at the time of their 
occurrence. Expenditures tnat significantly increase asset values or extend 
useful lives are capitalized. Repair and maintenance expenditures are charged to 
operating exjsense when the work is performed. A l l properties are stated at cost. 

Properties and other long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or business conditions indicate the carrying amount of such assets may 
not be f u l l y recovarable. I n i t i a l assessments of recoverabllity are based on 
estimates of undiscounted future net cash flows associated with an asset or a 
group of assets. Where Impairment Is indicated, the issets are evaluated for 
sale or other disposition, and their carrying amount Is reduced to f a i r value 
based on discounted net cash flows or other estimates of f a i r value. 

Revenue Recognition 

Transportation revenue is recognized proportionately as shipments move from 
origin to destination. 

Environmental Costs 

Environmental costs relating to current operations are expensed or 
capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures relating to remediating an i x i s t i n g 
condition caused by past operations, and that do not contribute to current or 
future revenue generation, are expensed. L i a b i l i t i e s are recorded when CSX's 
responsibility for environmental remedial efforts is deemed probable, and the 
costs can be reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these accrual* 
coincides with the completion of a fe a s i b i l i t y study or the company's commitment 
to a formal plan of action. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 

Derivative financial instruments may be used from time to time by the 
company in the management of i t s Interest, fore...gn currency and commodity 
exposures, and are accounted for on an accrual basis. Income and expense are 
recorded in the same category as that of the underlying asset or l i a b i l i t y , 
(^ins and losses related to hedges of existing assets or l i a b i l i t i e s are 
deferred and recognized over the expected remaining l i f e of the related asset or 
l i a b i l i t y . Gains and losses related to hedges of anticipated transactions also 
are deferred and recognized in income in the same loerlod as f-ie hedged 
transaction. There were no significant derivative financial instruawnt* 
outstanding at Dec. 27, 1996. 

Earnings Per Share 

Earnings par share are based on the weighted average of common shares 
outstanding. Dilution, which could result i f a l l outstanding common stock 
equivalents were exercised, is not significant. Weighted average shares and 
earnings per share fcr 1995 and 1994 have been restated tc reflect the 2-for-l 
common stock s p l i t distributed to shareholders in Oecaabar 1995. 
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Stock-Based Compensation 

The company records expense for stock-bas*d compensation in accordance with 
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the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" 
and related Interpretations. Disclosutes required with respect to the 
alternative f a i r value measurement and recognition methods prescribed by 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASBi Statement No. 123 "Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation" are presented in Note 11 — Stock Plan*. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires that management make estimates in 
reporting the amounts of certain revenues and expenses for each fiscal year and 
certain assets and l i a b i l i t i e s at the end of each fiscal year. Actual results 
may dif f e r from those estimates. 

data have been reclassified to conform to the 1996 

Prior-Year Data 

Certain prior-year 
presentation. 

Accounting Pronouncements 

The FASb has issued Statement No. 125 "Accounting for Transfers and 
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of L i a b i l i t i e s , " which 
establishes new guidelines for accounting and disclosure related to transfers of 
trade accounts receivable and other financial assets. In addition, the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants has issued Statement of Position No. 
96-1 "Environmental Remediation L i a b i l i t i e s , " which provides revised guidance on 
accounting and disclosure relative to environmental obligations. The company 
w i l l adopt both pronouncements in 1997 and does not expect either pronouncement 
to have a material Impact on I t s financial statements. 

NOTE 2. MERGER AGREEMENT. 

On Oct. 14, 1996, CSX entered into an agreement with Conrail, Inc, (Conrail) 
pursuant to which the companies would combine in a strategic merger transaction. 
The terms of the agreement provided for CSX to acquire 40% of the outstanding 
Conrail Comnon Stock and ESOP Preferred Stock (the Conrail shares) for cash and 
the remaining 60% in exchange for CSX common stock. Norfolk Southern Corporation 
(Norfolk Southern) challenged the CSX/Conrail merger agreement and announced an 
all-cash competing offer to acquire Conrail at a price which was ultimately 
increased to $115 per share, CSX and Conrail subsequently negotiated several 
amendments to the merger agreement, generally to provide Increased consideration 
to Conrail shareholders in exchange for their sha es. On Nov. 20, 1996, CSX 
completed an i n i t i a l cash tender offer for approximately 15.9% of the Conrail 
shares at $110 per share, acquiring approximately 17.9 million of the 
shares at a tota l cost of $1,965 b i l l i o n . The shares were placed in a voting 
trust as provided for In the merger agreement. Borrowings in connection with a 
$4.8 b i l l i o n bank credit f a c i l i t y negotiated by CSX subsequent to the 
announcement of the merger were used to finance the i n i t i a l cash tender offer. 

CSX i n i t i a t e d a second conditional cash tender offer for an additional 20.1% 
of the Conrail shares, but was prevented from completing this or subsequent 
steps of the merger transaction when a Jan. 17, 1997 /ote by Conrail 
shareholders defeated a proposal to opt out of the Pennsylvania Control 
Transaction Law (the Pennsylvania statute). A favorable vote on the opt-out 
proposal would have removed restrictions limiting CSX's ownership to less than 
20% of the Conrail shares under the terras contemplated by the merger agreement. 
The outcome of the Conrail shareholder vote coupled with public comments by the 
Chairwoman of the STB favoring a negotiated settlement of competitive issues 
surrounding the proposed merger prompted joint discussions between CSX, Conrail, 
and Norfolk Southern. These discussions, which began in late January, led to the 
negotiation of an amendment to the CSX/Conrail merger agreement on March 7, 
1997. The amended agreement provides for the acquisition of the remaining 
Conrail shares for cash at $115 per share and, among other things, allows CSX to 
unilaterally enter Into negotiations with Norfolk Soutnern. I t is anticipated 
that whan these negotiations are completed, CSX and Norfolk Southern w i l l share, 
roughly equally, the Conrail r a i l system. 
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CSX w i l l reflect t i e terms of the amended merger agreement in a revised 
tender offer. Since the revised offer provides cash consideration for a l l 
Conrail share*, i t is no longer subject to a vote by Conrail shareholders to opt 
out of the Pennsiyivania statute. The revised tender offer is expected to be 
completed no later than June 2, 1997. The transactions ultimately agreed to by 
the three comp.mies are subject to regulatory approval by the STB. The Conrail 
shares currently held by CSX and tne shares to be acquired pursuant to the 
revised merger agreement w i l l be htld in the voting trust u n t i l such time as a 
regulatory decision Is rendered. CSX's financing arrangements - i l l be 
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revised or renegotiated to accommodate th* f i n a l structure agreed to by the 
companies. 

At Dec. 27, 1996, CSX has accounted for i t s 19.9% investment in Conrail 
using the cost method. Dividends totaling $8 million received on those shares in 
1996 are reported in other income in the consolidated statement of earnings. The 
method of accounting applicable to CSX holdings of Conrail shares for future 
periods may differ, depending o.i the timing and fi n a l structure of the related 
transactions. 

NOTE 3. 1995 RESTRUĈ JRING CHARGE. 

In the .second quarter of 1995, the company recorded a $257 million pretax 
re-tructurinj charge to recognize the estimated costs of specific i n i t i a t i v e s at 
CSXT and et Sea-Land Service Inc. (Sea-Land), i t s container-shipping unit. Th* 
charge reduced 1?<<5 net earning:: by $160 million, 76 cent* par ahar*. 

CSXT Ini t i a t i v e 

CSXT recorded i t s $196 million portion of the pretax restructuring charge to 
recognize the costs associated with a contractual agreement with a major 
telecommunications vendor to replace, manage and technologically enhance i t s 
existing private telecommunications network. The i n i t i a t i v e resulted In a 
write-down of assets rendered technologically obsolete and a provision for 
separation and labor protection payments to affected employe**. 

The agreement, which originally was to expire in May 2005, provided for the 
vendor to supply and manage new technology to replace CSXT's existing 
telecommunications system, thereby rendering i t commercially obsolete. These 
assets, comprising CSXT's Internal companywldc telecommunications network 
Including existing microwave and fiber optic communications systems, have no 
alternative use and their net realizable value is not significant. As a result 
of the agreement, the net book value of the assets to be replaced was reduced by 
$163 million. 

During 1996, CSXT and the vendor amended the agreement to cha.ige 
the termination date to June 30, 1998, to Increase the payments required over 
the revised service period, and to relieve the vendor's obligations to 
replace certain technology. CSXT is currently evaluating options for 
proceeding with further telecommunications inltJativa*. 

Sea-Land Initiatives 

The restructuring i n i t i a t i v e s at Sea-Land represented $61 million of the 
total charge and Included i t * global intagration program and the reflagging of 
five U.S.-fla<j vessels to the registry of the Marshall Islands in accordance 
with approval from the Maritime Administration. Sea-Land's global integration 
program resulted in the consolidation of worldwide senior management functions, 
the relocation of the corporate headquarters to Charlotte, N.C, and the 
integration ol information technologies. The vessel reflagging I n i t i a t i v e 
primarily Involves crew separations on the five vessels. 
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Summary 

The 1995 rastructuring charge and related a c t i v i t y through Dec. 27, 
at follows: 

1996, is 

Separation Lease and 
and LalDor Facility 

Obsolete Protection Exit 
Assets Costs Costs Total 

Restructuring Charge $163 $80 $14 $257 

Amounts Utilized through Dec. 27, 1996 163 28 8 199 

Remaining Reserve as of Dec. 21, 1996 $ — $ 52 $ 6 $ 58 

The total provision for separation and labor protection payments relates to 
approximately 800 affected employees and was based on existing collective 
bargaining agreements with members of cle r i c a l , electrical, and signal crafts 
and seafarer trades. Through Dec. 27, 1996, approximately 530 employee 
separations nave oeen finalized. The company expects the remalni.ig affected 
employees to be impacted within the next four years. 

NOTE 4. OPERATING EXPENSE. 
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Labor and Fringe Benef i t s 
Mater ia l s , Supplies and Other 
Bui ld ing and Equipment Rent 
Inland Transpor ta t ion 
Depreciation 
Fuel 
Rest ructur ing Charge 

Total 

Selling, General and Administrative Expan** 
Included in Abov* Itams 

1996 1995 1994 

$3,161 $3,133 $3,005 
2,530 2,622 2,311 
1,143 1,134 1,087 

995 970 839 
611 588 564 
574 474 421 

— 257 — 

$9,014 $9,178 $8,227 

$1,297 $1,351 $1,265 
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NOTE 5. (3THER INCOME. 

1996 1995 1994 

I n t * r * s t Income $48 $ 62 $ 57 
Income from Reel Estate and Resort Operations(a) 62 54 58 
Net Gain (Loss) on Inv*stm*nt Transactions(b) (4) 77 — 
Gain on South Florida Track Sal*(c) — — 91 
N*t Costs f o r Accounts R*c*iv*ble Sold (30) (32) (29) 
Minority I n t e r e s t (42) (32) (21) 
Loss on Redemption of Debt — — (13) 
Equity Earnings (Losses) of Other A f f i l i a t e s 6 (3) (10) 
Dividand Income 9 1 1 
Miscellanaou* (6) (9) (29) 

T o t * l $43 $118 $105 

——— mmmm 

(a) Groa* revanu* from real estate and resort operations was $186 million, $178 
million and $190 r i l l i o n In 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. 

(b) In Dacaaiber 1995, the company recognized a net invesU'ent gain of 
$77 sUllion on the issuance of an equity interest in a Sea-Land ••erminal and 
related operations In Asia and the write-down of various investments. 
The equity interest portion of the transaction resulted in proceeds of 
$1C5 adllior. and a pretax gain of $93 million, $61 million after-tax, 29 
cents oer share. Sea-Land's interest in the terminal operations was 
reducad from approximately 67% to 57%. 

(c) In December 1994, the state of Florida elected to satisfy i t s 
remainirg unfunded obligition i*su*d in 1988 to consummate the purchase of 
eo miies of track and right of way. The transaction resulted in cash 
proceed* of $102 million and an accelerated pretax gain of $69 million, $42 
millior. after-tax, 20 cants per share. The scheduled payment resulted in a 
$22 million gain in 1994. 

NOTE 6. IN<XME TAXES. 

Earnings from domestic and foraign operation* »nd r*lat*d incom* tax axpcnia 
are *« follows: 

Earnings Before Income Taxes: 
— Domestic 
— Foreign 

Total 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit): 
Current — Federal 

— Foreign 
— State 

Total Current 

Deferred— Federal 
— Foreign 
— State 

1996 1995 1994 

$1,158 $765 $ 893 
158 209 113 

$1,316 $974 $1,006 

$ 250 $337 $ 144 
30 26 20 
15 19 14 

295 382 178 

166 (26) 165 
5 

mm 9 
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Total Deferred 166 

Total Expense $ 461 
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Income tax expense reconciled to the tax computed at *t*tutory rata* 
follows: 

1996 lf»S 1994 

Tax at Statutory Rates $461 35% $341 35% $352 35% 
State Income Taxes 10 1 12 1 15 1 
Prior Years' Income Taxes (27) (2) — — (10) (1) 
Other Item* 17 1 3 ; (3) 

Total Expan** $461 35% $356 37% $354 35% 
mmmm mmm mmmm mmm mmmm mmm 

Th* *lgnlficant compon*nt* of d«f*rrad tax a***t* and l i a b i l i t l * * include: 

Dac. 27, Dec. 29, 
1996 1995 

Deferred Tax Asset* 
Productivlty/R*structurlng Ch*rg*» $ 171 $ 178 
Employee Benefit Plans 434 417 
Deferred Gains and Related Rants 195 166 
Othar 252 300 

Total 1,052 1,061 

Deferred Tax Li a b i l i t i e s 
Accelerated Depraciation 3,095 3,042 
Othar 538 431 

Total 3,633 3,473 

Net Deferred Tax L i a b i l i t l a s $2,581 $2,412 

In addition to th* *nnu*l provision for d*f*rrad income t*x *xp*n**, the 
Chang* in the year-«nd nat d*f*rr*d income tax l i a b i l i t y balances included the 
income tax effect of the changes in the minimum pension l i a b i l i t y in 1996 and 
1995. 

The company has not recorded dom*stic d*f*rr*d or *ddition*l for*ign incom* 
taxes applicable to undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are 
considered to be indefinitely reinvested. Such earnings amounted to $279 million 
and $314 million at Dec. 27, 1996, and Oac. 29, 1995, respectively. These 
amounts may become taxable upon their remittance as dividends or upon the sale 
or liquidation of these foreign subsidiaries. I t is not practicabl<j to determine 
the amount of net additional income tax that may be payable i f such earnings 
were repatriated. 

The ''ompany f i l e s a consolidated federal Income tax return, which includes 
i t s principal domestic subsidiaries. Examinations of the federal income tax 
returns of CSX have been completed through 1990. Returns ;;or 1991 through 1993 
ar* currently under examination. Management believes adequate provision has been 
made for any adju*tm*nt* that might b* a******d. 

2* 
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NOTE 7. PROPERTIES. 

<Table> 
<Caption> 

Dec. 27, 1996 Dec. 29, 1995 

Accumulated Accumulated 
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Cost Depreciation N«t Cost Depreciation Net 

<s> <c> 
R a i l : 

Road 
Eguipment 

$ 9,308 
4,220 

$2,619 
1,427 

$ 6,689 
2,793 

S 9,157 
3,829 

$2,620 
1,417 

$ 6,537 
2,412 

Total Rail 13,528 4,046 9,482 12, 986 4,037 8,949 

Container-shipping 
Other 

2,437 
1,455 

1,017 
451 

1,420 
1,004 

2,175 
1,512 

906 
433 

1,269 
1,079 

Total $17,420 $5,514 $21, 906 $16,673 $5,376 $11,297 

</Table> 

NOTE S. CASUALTY, ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER RESERVES. 

Activity related to casualty, environmental and other r*serves is as 
follows: 

<Table> 
<Caption> 

</TABLE> 

(a) Balances include current portions of casualty and other, environmental and 
separation reserves, respectivaly, of $234 million, $20 million and $52 
million at Dec. 27, 1996; $241 million, $20 million and $37 million at Dec. 
29, 1995; and $234 million, $20 million and $22 million at Dec. 30, 1994. 

(b) Casualty reserves are estimated based upon the f i r s t reporting of 
an accident or personal Injury to an employee. L i a b i l i t i e s tor accidents 
ar* based upon f i e l d reports and l i a b i l i t i e s for personal injuries are based 
upon the type and severity of the Injury and the use of current trends 
and historical data. 

(c) Separation l i a b i l i t i e s include $318 million at Dac. 27, 1996, $344 
million at Dec. 29, 1995, and $376 million at Dec. 30, 1994, related to 
productivity charges recorded in 1991 and 1992 to provide for the 
estimateo costs of implementing work-force reductions, improvements in 
productivity and other cost reductions at the company's major transportation 
units. The remaining l i a b i l i t i e s are expected to be paid out over the next 
20 to 25 years. 

(d) Includes the transfer of $156 million in 1994 to a s*paration-relat*d 
pension obllgetlon, representing th* future cost of pensions for certain 
train crew employees impacted by the buyout of trip-based compensation 
provided for In th* 1992 productivity charg*. 
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NOTE 9. DEBT AND CREDIT AGREEMENTS. 

Casualty and Environmental Separation 
Other Reserves la)(b) Reserves(a) L i a b i l i t i e s ( a ) ( c ) Total 

<S> <C> 
Balance Dec. 31, 1993 $604 1131 $642 $1,377 
Charged t o Expens* and Other Addition* 247 32 — 279 
Payments and Other Reductions (272) (23) (d)(248) (543) 

Balance Dec. 30, 1994 579 140 394 1,113 
Charged to Expense and Other Additions 279 22 80 381 
Payments and Other Reduction* (288) (25) (70) (383) 

Balance Dec. 29, 1995 570 137 404 1,111 
Charged t o Expense and Other Additions 254 16 — 270 
Payments and Other Reductions (290) (36) (34) (360) 

Balance Dec. 27, 1996 $534 •117 $370 $1,021 
mmmm •II mmmm 

<Table> 
<Caption> 

Type and Maturity Dates 
Avarag* Intara*t Rat** 

«t Dec. 27, 1996 
Dac. 27, 

1996 
Dac. 29, 

1995 
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<s> <c> 
Commercial Paper and Borrowings Under Bank Credit Agreement 
Notes Payable (1999-2021) 

Debentures (2000-2022) 

Equipment Obligations (1997-2011) 
Mortgage Bonds (1998-2003) 

Other Obligations, Including Capital Leases (1957-2021) 

Total 

Less l^ebt Due Within One Year 

Total Long-Term Debt 

</Table> 

6% $2,300 $ 300 
8% 498 895 

9t. 650 »49 

8% 739 606 
4% 76 76 
7% 169 182 

7% 4,432 2,708 

101 486 

$4,331 $2,222 

To provide financing for i t s acquisition of Conrail shares and to 
accommodate working capital needs, the company entered into a $4.8 b i l l i o n bank 
credit agreement in NovemlBer 1996. Under the agreement, the company may borrow 
dir e r t l y from the participating bar.ks or u t i l i z e the credit f a c i l i t y to support 
the issuance of conmercial paper. Direct borrowings from the participating 
banks can be obtained, at the company's option, under a competitive bid 
process among the banj-s or under a revolving credit arrangement with interest 
either at LIBOR plus i . margin determined by the company's credit ratings or 
at an alternate base rate, as defined In the agreement. The terms of the 
agreement provided for $800 million to become available immediately to replace 
existing credit aqreuraents totaling $880 million, which supported the 
company's outstanding comire'-cial paper. The remeining $< b i l l i o n of credit 
under the f a c i l i t y i s available for the purchase of Conrail shares, of which 
$1,965 b i l l i o n was used tc acquire approximately 19.9% of Conrail's outstanding 
shares in Noveni)er 1996. M Dec. 27, 1996, the company had borrowings related to 
the credit f a c i l i t y of $,'..'335 b i l l i o n ($300 million direct borrowings and 
S2.335 b i l l i o n commerr.lRl paper outstanding), of which $2.3 b i l l i o n has been 
classified as long-term debt based upon the compa.ny's ab i l i t y and 
intention to maintain this debt outstanding for more than one year. The 
company pays annual fees to the participating banks that may range from .06% 
to .15% of the t o t a l commitment, depending upon i t s credit ratings. The 
credit agreement, which expires in November 2001, also includes certain 
covenants and restrictions, such as limitations on debt as a percentage of total 
capitalization and ref/trlctlons on the sale or disposition of certain assets. 

Commercial paper classified as short-term debt was $335 million at Dec. 27, 
1996, and $148 million at Dec. 29, 1995. The weighted-average interest rate for 
the short-term commercial paper outstanding at year-end was 6% for 1996 and 
1995. 

In September 1992, the company f i l e d a shelf registration statement with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission to provide for the issuance of up to $450 
million in senior debt securities, warrants to purchase debt stcurities or 
currency wsrrant*. This shelf registration included a combined prospectus 
covering amounts remaining to be Issued as debt securities under a previous 
shelf r e g i s t r f t i o n . As of Dec. 27, 1996, ar aggregate of $250 million of dabt i s 
available for issuance under the company's shelf reglstratlo- -ti'-^ent anJ 
combined prospectus. 

During 1994, the compsny r*d«*m*d $300 million of &.5%, 11.625% *nd 11.875% 
Sinking Fund Debentures. The rede-.nption premium, un«mortlzed debt discount end 
issuance costs totaling $18 million were charged to expense. 

Excluding long-term commercial paper, the company has long-term debt 
maturities for 1997 through 2001 *ggr*gatir.g $101 million, $145 million, $95 
million, $328 million and $65 million, respectively. ^ portion of the company's 
r a i l unit properti** ar* pl*dg*d a* .tacurity for variou* r a i l - r * l * t * d , long-t*rm 
debt issu*s. 
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NOTE 10. COMMON AND PREFERRED STOCK. 

The company has a s l n g l u class of c»mo- . s tock, $1 par valu* of w:iich 300 
m i l l i o n shares are a u t h o r l z t d . Each share <.s e n t i t l e d t o one vote In a l l matters; 
r e q u i r i n g a v o t e . I n December 1995, sharenolders received one add i t iona l share 
of common stock f o r each share he ld , pursuant t o a 2 - f o r - l stock s p l i t approved 
by the board o f d i r e c t c r s . At Dec. 27, 1996, comno.- shares issued and 
outstanding t o t a l e d 216,885,140. 

31 



Th* company *l*o has total authorizad preferred *tock of 25 million *har**, 
of wnich 250,000 shar*s of S*ri*^ A nave been reserved for issuance, and 3 
million shares of Series B hava been r*s*rv*d for lisuanc* under the Shareholder 
Rights Plan discussed t>elow. All preferred shares rank senior to common share* 
both *s to dividends and liquidation preference. No preferred shares were 
outstandinc! at Dec. 27, 1996. 

Pursuant to a Shareholder Rights Plan adopted by the board of director* in 
1988 and am*nd*d ir, i990, c*ch outstanding shar* of common stock also evidences 
one preferred snare purchase right ("right"). Each right antltlss sh*r*holder* 
of lecord to purchase from the company, until the earlier of June 8, 1998, or 
the redemption of the rights, one one-hundredth of a share of Series B preferred 
stock at an exercise price of $100, subject to certain adjustments or, under 
certain circumstance*, to obtain additional sharas of common stock In axchang* 
for th* rights. Th* right* ar* not *x*rcisable or transferable apart from tha 
related common shares until the earlier of 10 days following the p"bllc 
announcement that a person or affiliated group has acquired or obtained tha 
right to acquire 20% or more of th* company's outstanding common stock; or 10 
days following th* commencement or announcement of an intention to make a tender 
offer or exchange offer, the consummation of which would result In the ownership 
by a person or group of 20% or more of the outstanding common stock. The board 
of directors may redeem the rights at a price of one cent per right at any tim* 
prior to th* acquiaition by a parion or group of 20% or more of tha outatanding 
ccmmon «tock. 

NOTE 11. STOCK PLANS. 

The company maintains **v*ral stock plan* d**ign*d to ar.courag* own*r«hip cf 
its stock snd provide incentives fo.r employees to contribut* to its succ**s. 
Comp*n«ation axpcnse for stock-b***d awards under these plans is determined by 
tha awards' Intrinsic value accounted for under the ptinclples of APB Opinion 
Ho. 25 and related Interpretations, Compen**tion expense recognized for 
stock-based awards in 1996 was $36 million. Had compensation expense been 
determined based upon fair values at the date of grant for awards under these 
plan*, consist ent with the methods of FASB Statement No. 123, the company's net 
incom* and aarnings per shar* would hav* baan reduced to the pro forma asiount* 
indicated below: 

1996 1995 

Nat Income A* R*port*d $ 655 $ 618 
Pro Forma $ 832 ( 610 

Earnings Par Share A* R*port*d $4.00 $2.94 
Pro Form* $3.90 $2.90 

Th* pro forma fair valu* method of accounting wa* appliad only to 
stock-bas*d award* grantad *ft*r Dac. 30, 1994. Because a l l stock-based 
compensatio". expense tor 1996 and 1995 was not restated and because atock-b*s*d 
awards granted may vary from year to y*ar, th* r**ulting pro form* cumpansation 
cost may not b* r*pr***nt*tiv* of that to b* *xp«ct*d in futur* y**r*. 

Stock Purch*** *nd Lo*n Plan 

Th* Stock Purchase and Loan Plan provid*s for the purchas* of common stock 
•nd r*l*t*d rights by cligibla officers and k*y employ*** of th* company and 
antitl** them to obtai.i loans with r**p*ct to th* *har*s purch*(*d. Th* Pl*n, 
which originatad in 1991, is intandad to further th* long-t*rm *tability and 
financial succass of th* comp«ny by providing a mathod for aligible employee* to 
incr**se significantly their ownership of ccmmon stock. A«*ndm*nts to th* Pl*n 
w«r* *pprov*d by th* company's shar*hold*rs snd implemented in 1996, providing 
for continuetion of th* Plan through Fabruary 2006, and increaaing th* common 
stock r*serv*d for ixuance from 4.4 million to 9 million *h*r**. 
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Under the r*vis*d Pl*n, upon maturity of purchase loans Issued in 1991 and 
1992, existing participants either withdrew sharas from the Plan, appi.ed a l l or 
part of their equit> in sharea purchased in the original Plan as a down payment 
to acquire additional shares, or extended their participation at existing 'evel* 
for up to one yeer. In *ddition, *har*s w*re offered to certein employees who 
were not previously eligible to perticipate in tho Plan. In connection with the 
Plan amendments, from Aug. 1, 1996, through Dec. 2'', 1996, 72,497 shares were 
withdrawn from the Plan, 2,630, 727 shares wer* *xcha.-!g*d and c«nc*l*d, and 
7,651,970 new *h*r*s w*r« »old to participants at an averag* markat price of 
$47.52 per *h*r*. In consid«r*tion for th* shares purchased, participants have 
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provided down paymenta of not less thon 5% nor mere than 26% of the purchase 
price in the form of caah, r*cour«« not*s or •-.juity earned in the original Plan. 
The remaining purcha** pric* is in th* form of non-recoursi lo*ns s*cur*d by th* 
shares i«su*d. 

Al l non-r»cour*e loens und*r t h * Pl«i are or were subject to certain 
adjustments after a vesting period ba**d u|)on targ*t*d increases In the market 
pr,.ce of CSX common stock. The market price thresholds for loans to employees 
who extended their participation in the original plan have been met in prior 
years and, upon maturity at July 31, 1997, or earlier repayment, a l l Interest 
(less divioends applied to accrued interesi:) w i l l be forgiven and the loan 
balances w i l l be reduced by 25% of the purchase price. Loans to participants who 
exLiianged shares or entered the Plan in 1996 are due July 31, 2001, and also are 
subject to forgiveness of a portion of the principal and accrued Interest 
balances; however, at Dec. 27, 1996, none of th* r*iat*d marktt pric* thr*sholds 
had been met. 

At Dec. 27, 1996, there were 187 participants in the Plan. Transactions 
involving the Plan are as follow*: 

Outstanding at Dac. 20 1994 
Canceled or Hifidrawn 

Outstanding at Dec. 29, 1995 
Issueo 

Exchanged, Canc*l*d or Withdrawn 

Out*t*ndlng at Dec. 27, 1996 

Shares 
(OOO's) 

3,869 
(446) 

3,423 
7,652 

(2, 964) 

8,111 

Av«r«g* 
Pric*'*) 

$18.67 
$19.25 

$18.64 
$47.52 
$18.73 

«44.2< 

Down Payment (Recour**/ Loans Outstanding 
Purchase (Non-Recourse) Loans Out«t*nding 
Average Interest Rate 
Coaipenjiation Expense for t h * Y*ar 

:96 

$ 7 
$ 296 

6.64% 
13 

1995 

$ 4 
$ 60 

7.75% 
$ 26 

1994 

4 
68 

7.75% 
4 

(*) R*pr*s*nts average cost to participants, net of cumulative note forgiveness. 

Th* weightad-averagc f a i r value benefit to participants for t share issued 
in 1996 under the Stock Purchase and Loan Plan was $15.65, and was estimated as 
of the date of grant using the Black-Schol«s option pricing model with the 
following assumptions: risk-free Interest rate of 6.5%; dividend yield of 2.4%; 
v o l a t i l i t y factor of 21.5%; and an expected l i t * of 6 years. 

1987 Ixjng-Term Performance Stock Plan 

The CSX Corporation 1987 Long-Term Performance Stock Plan provides for 
awards in the form of stock options. Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs), 
Performance Share Award* (PSAs) and Incantiv* Compensation Program shares (ICPs) 
to eligible officers and employees. Awards granted under the Plan are determined 
oy the board of directors based on the financial performance of the company. 

At Dec. 27, 1996, there ware 440 current or former employees with 
outstanding grants und*r t h * Plan. A to t a l of 19,661,492 ahares were re**rv*d 
for i*su«nc*, of which 5,396,274 were available tor new grarts (7,503,922 at 
Dec. 29, 1995). The remaining *h*res * r * assigned to outstanding stock option*, 
SAî « and PSA*. 
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A l l stock options have been granted with 10-year term* *nd vctt at t h * end 
of on* y*»r of continued employment. The exercise price for options gr*nt*d 
equals the market price ot tht underlying stock on the date of grant. Options 
under recent grants become exerci**bl* basad on th* achl*v*m*nt of performance 
goal*. A auamary of the company'* *tock option activity, and r*l«tcd Information 
for th* fi s c a l yaar* ended Dec. 27, 1996, Dec. 29, 1995, ano Dec. 30, 1994, 
follows: 

<Table> 
<Captlon> 

1996 1»»S 

Shares 
(000s) 

1994 

Heighted-Avg. 
Exercise Price 

Shares 
(OOOs) 

Heighted-Avg. 
Exerci** Pric* 

Shar** 
(000*) 

W*ight*d-Avg 
Ex*tci** Pric* 
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<s> <c> 
Outstanding at Baginnlng of Year 11,881 
Granted 1,978 
Canceled or Expired (42) 
Exercised (715) 

Outstanding at End of Yaar 

Exercisable at End of Yaar 

Weighted-Average Fair Value 
of Options Granted 

13,102 

10, 139 

$ 13.78 

.76 10,206 $30.97 7,390 $26 80 

.43 2,165 $40.25 3,212 $39 99 

.69 (57) $38.95 (68) $32 81 

.08 (433) S27.18 (328) $24 92 

.82 11,881 $32.76 10,206 $30 97 

.90 8,017 $28.79 7,014 $26 85 

$31.33 

</Table> 

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding 
at Dec. 27, 1996: 

<Table-> 
<Caption> 

Option* Outstanding 

R̂ nge of Exerci** Price* 

<S> <C> 
$15 to $20 
$30 to $39 
$40 to $52 

$15 to $52 

</Tabla> 

Weighted-Avg. 
Number Remaining 

Outatandlng Contractual Life 

2,584 
5,453 
5,065 

13,102 

3.1 
CS 

I.s 
I . I 

Weighted-Avg. 
Exercise Price 

$17.40 
$35.55 
$45.51 

$35.82 

Options Exercisable 

Number 
Exercisable 

Weighted-Avg. 
Exercise Price 

2,584 
5,453 
2,102 

10,139 

$17.40 
$35.55 
$40.25 

$31.90 

The f a i r value of options granted in 1996 and 1995 was estimated as of tna 
date* of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following 
weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 1996 and 1995, respectively: 
risk-free interest rates of 6.3% and 6.8% and v o l a t i l i t y factors of 22% and 23%. 
Dividend yields of 2.4% and expected lives of 6 years were used in both years. 

The value of PSAs is contingent on the achievement of performance goals and 
completion of certain continuing t*mployment reguirements over a three-year 
period. Each PSA earned w i l l equal tne f a i r market value cf one share of CSX 
common stock on the date of payment. At Dec. 27, 1996, there were 728,600 shares 
reserved for outstanding PSAs. In 1996 and 1995, respectively, 110,600 and 
122,200 PSAs were granted to employees. The weighted-average f a i r value of those 
sharas was $44.44 for 1996 and $32.56 for 1995. 

At Dec. 27, 1996, there were 435,073 SARs outstanding with a 
weighted-average exercise price of $15.85. In 1996 and 1994, respectively, 
69,494 and 56,740 SARs were exercised at weighted-average exercise prices of 
$15.68 and $15.63; there were no exercises in 1995. There were no grants of SARs 
in 1996, 1995 or 1994. 
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Stock Award Plan 

Under the 1990 Stock Award Plan, a l l officers and employees of the company 
are e l i g i b l e to receive shares of CSX common stock as an incentive award and 
certain key employees are eligible to receive them as a deferral award. A l l 
awards of common stock are issued based on terms and conditions approved by the 
company's board of directors. At Dec. 27, 1996, there were 1,340,369 shares 
reserved for issuance under this Plan, of which 513,369 were available for new 
grants. In 1996 and 1995, respectively, 633,587 shares and 348,278 shares were 
granted under the Plan. The weighted-average fai,; value of those shares was 
$45.63 for 1996 and $35.78 for 1995. 

Stock Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plans 

Th* 1991 Employees Stock Purchase and Dividand Reinvestment Plan provides a 
method and incentive for e l i g i b l e employees to purchase shares of the company's 
common stock at market value by payroll deductions. To encourage stock 
ownership, employees receive a 17.65% matching payment on their contributions in 
the form of additional stock purchased by the company. Each matching payment of 
stock is subject to a two-year holding period. Sales of stock prior to the 
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completion of the holding period result i n forfeiture of the matching stock 
purchase. Officers and key employees, who qualify for the Stock Purchase and Loan 
Plan are not eligible to participate In this Plan. At Dec. 27, 1996, there were 
706,899 shares of common stock available for purchase under this Plan. Employees 
purchased 40,985 shares in 1996 and 46,224 shares in 1995 under the plan at 
weighted-average market prices of S47.39 and $40.31 for 1996 and 1995, 
respectively. 

The company also maintains the Employees Stock Purchase and Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan and the Shareholders Dividend Reinvestment Plan, adopted in 
1981, under which a l l employees and shareholders may purchase CSX common stock 
at the average of daily high and low sale prices for the five trading days 
ending on the day of purchase. To encourage stock ownership, employees receive a 
5% discount on a l l purchases under this program. At Dec. 27, 1996, there wer* 
5,128,605 shares reserved for issuance under these Plans. 

Stock Pian for Directors 

The Stock Plan for Directors, approved by the shareholders in 1992, governs 
m part the manner In which directors' fees and retail. oaid. A minimum of 
40% of the retainer fees must be paid in conmon stock of the company, in 
addition, each director may elect to receive up to 100% of the remaining 
retainer and fees in the form of common stock of the company. The Plan permits 
each director to elect to transfer stock into a trust that w i l l hold the snares 
until the participant's death, d i s a b i l i t y , retirement as a director, other 
cessation of services ar a director, or change in control of the company. At 
Dec. 27, 1996, there were 959,236 shares cf common stock reserved for issuance 
under this Plan. 

NOTE 12. FAIR VALUE OF FIN^CIAL INSTRUMENTS. 

Fair values of the company's financial Instruments are estimated by 
reference to quoted prices from market sources and financial Institutions, as 
well as other valuation techniques. Long-term debt and the compa.iy's investment 
in Conrail conmon stock are the only financial instruments of the company with 
fair values significantly different from their carrying amounts. At Dec. 27, 
1996, the fair value of long-term debt, including current maturities, was $4.56 
b i l l i o n , compared with a carrying amount of $4.43 b i l l i o n . At Dec. 29, 1995, the 
fair value c' long-term debt, including current maturities, was $2.94 b i l l i o n , 
compared with a carrying amount cf $2.71 b i l l i o n . The fa i r value of long-term 
debt has been estimated using discounted cash flow analyses based upon t)ie 
company's current Incrementil borrowing rates for similar types of financing 
arrangements. 

The company's In'/estment In approximately 17.9 million shares of Conrail 
common stock was acquired at a price of $110 per shari>, resulting ir. an 
aggregate carrying amount of $1,965 b i l l i o n . At Dec. 27, 1996, che closing 
market price of Conrail common stock was $100 per share, resulting in an 
aggregate market value of $1,786 b i l l i o n . As of Dec. 27, 1996, the terms of the 
voting trust agreement: under which the shares were held prohibited the company 
from selling any of the Conrail shares without Conrail's written approval prior 
to the earlier of Dec. 31, 1998, or a regulatory decision by the STB that denie* 
completion of the company's merger with Conrail under the terms contemplated at 
that date. 

The company had no significant hedging or derivative financial InatrusMnt* 
employed at Dec. 27, 1996, or Dec. 29, 1995. 
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NOTE 13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS. 

Pension Plans 

The company sponsors defined benefit pension plans, principally for 
salaried personnel. The plans provide e l i g i b l e employees with retirement 
benefits based principally on years of service and compensation rates near 
retirement. Annual contributions to the plans are sufficient to meet t h * 
minimum funding standards set forth in the Employee Retirement Income 
Security Acf of 1974, as amended. Plan assets consist primarily of common 
stocks, corporate bonds and cash and cash equivalents. Pension costs for these 
plans Include the following -nomponents: 

i m 1995 1994 

Service Cost 
Interest Cost on Projected Benefit Obligation 
Actual Return on Plan Assets 

$37 $ 28 $ 36 
93 91 89 
(89) (190) (10) 
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Net Amortization and Deferral 18 117 (45) 
Foreign Plans 4 4 4 

Pension Expense $63 $ 50 $ 74 

The funded status of the plans and the amounts reflected in the accompanying 
*t(it*m*nt of financial position at year-end are: 

<TABLE> 
<CAPTION> 

Assets Exceed Benefits 
(at Valuation Date) 

Benefits Exceed 
(at Valuation 

Assets 
Date) 

Sept. 30, Dec 
1996 

. 29, 
1995 

Sept. 30, Dec. 29, 
1996 1995 

<S> <C> 
Assets and Obligations — 

Vested Benefits $44 
Non-Vested Benefits 1 

$24 
1 

$1,161 $1,086 
59 69 

Accumulated Benefit Obligation 45 
Effect of Anticipated Future Salary Increases 1 

25 
1 

1,220 
105 

1,155 
122 

Projected Benefit Obligation 46 
Fair Value of Plan Assets 63 

26 
39 

1,325 
1,047 

1,277 
957 

Funded Status 17 
Unrecognized I n i t i a l Net Obligation (Asset) 
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost 1 
Unrecognized Net Loss 6 
Recognition of Minimum L i a b i l i t y 
Cash Contributions, Oct. 1 through Y*ar-Er.d 

13 
(3) 
2 
4 

* 

(278) 
le 
I)) 

257 
(176) 

2 

(320) 
25 
11 

27C 
(200) 

* 
Net Peneion Asi*t (Obligation) at Year-End $24 $16 $ (180) $ (208) 

</TABLE> 

* In 1996, the company changed the measurement date for pension assets and 
l i a b i l i t i e s from the end of the fiscal year to Sept. 30. The change in 
measurement oate had no effect on 1996 or prior years' pension expanse. 

31 
<PAGE> 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(All Table* In Millions of Dollars, Except Per Share Amounts) 

Pension expense is determined based upon an actuarial valuation as of the 
beginning of each year. The following actuarial assumptions were used in 
determining net pension expense and projected benefit oMigations: 

<TABLE> 
<CRPTION> 

1996 1995 1994 

<S> <C> 
Discount Rate at Valuation Date 7.50% 7.50% 
Estimated Long-Term Rate of Salary Increases at Valuation Date 5.00% 5.00% 
Expected Long-Term Rate of Return on Assets During the Period 9.50% 9.75% 

8.25% 
5.00% 
8.75% 

</TABLE> 

The aggregate minimuu pension l i a b i l i t y wa* r*duc*d #y $24 million in 1996, 
primarily due to the increase in f a i r value of plan asset*. 

Savings Plans 

Th* company maintains savings plsns f'r v i r t u a l l y a l l full-time salaried 
employees and certain employees covered by collective bargai'iing agreements. 
Eligible employees may contribute fron, 1% to 15% of their annual compensation in 
1% multiples to these plans. The company matches eligible employees' 
contributions in an amount equal .:o the lesser of 50% of each participating 
employee's contributions or 3% of their annual compensation. In addition, the 
company contributes fixed amounts for each participating employee covered by 
certain collective bargaining agreements. Expense associated with these plans 
was $23 million, $29 million and $31 B i l l i o n for 1996, 1995 and 1994, 
res)pectively. 

Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans 

In addition to the defined benefit pension plans, the company sponsors three 
plans that provide medical and l i f e insurance benefits to most full-time 
s*lari*d amploy*** upon t h * i r r*tiramant. The poit-r*tir*m*nt m*dical plan* are 
contributory, with retiree contribution* adju*t*d annually, and contain othar 
co(t-*h*rlng faaturas auch a* d*ductibl«i and coinsuranc*. Th* nat benefit 
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o b l i g a t i o n fo r medical plans a n t i c i p a t * * f u t u r e cos t - shar ing changes consistent 
w i th the company's expressed i n t e n t t o increase r e t i r e e c o n t r i b u t i o n rates 
annually i n l i n e w i t h expected medical cost i n f l a t i o n ra tes . The l i f * insurance 
plan i s non-cont r ibu tory . 

The company's cu r ren t p o l i c y i s t o fund the cost o f the post-ret irement 
medical and l i f e insurance b e n e f i t s on a pay-as-you-go basis, as i n p r i o r years. 
The amounts recorded f o r the combined plans i n the company's statement of 
f i n a n c i a l pos i t i on a t Dac. 27, 1996, and Dec. 29, 1995, are as f o l l o w s : 

<TABLE> 
<CAPTION> 

Medical 
(At Valuation Date) 

L i f e Insurance 
(At Valuation Data) 

<S> <C> 
Accumulated Post-Retirement Benefit Obligation: 

Retirees 
Fully Eligible Active Participants 
Other Actlv* Participants 

Accumulated Post-Retirament Benefit Obligation 
Unrecognized Prior Seivice Cost 
Unrecognized Net (Loss) Gain 
Claim Payment,?, Oct. 1 through Yaar-End 

Net Post-Ratiremcnt Benefit Obligation at Yaar-End 

. 30, Dec. 29, 
19£6 1995 

$214 $188 
34 30 
31 45 

211 263 
10 17 
(41) (41) 

«) * 
$242 $239 

Sept. 30, 
1996 

•«0 
3 
2 

M 
4 
1 

(1) 

$69 

Dec. 29, 
1995 

$69 
3 
3 

75 
5 

(11) 

$69 

</TABLE> 

* In 1996, the company changed the measurement date for valuing i t s 
post-retirement benefit obligation to Sept. 30. The change in measurement 
date had no effect on 1996 or prior years' net expense for post-retirement 
benefit*. 
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Net expense f o r pos t - r e t i r emen t kwnef l t s was $30 m i l l i o n , $27 m i l l i o n and 
S29 m i l l i o n f o r 1996, 1995 and 1994, r e s p e c t i v e l y . The net post-ret i rement 
benef i t o b l i g a t i o n was determined using the assumption tha t the heal th care cost 
trend rate f o r medical plans was 10% f o r 1996-1997, decreasing gradual ly t o 5.5% 
by 2005 and remaining at t h a t l e v e l t h e r e a f t e r . A 1% increase i n the assuswd 
health care cost t rend r a t e would Increase the accumulated post-ret i rement 
bene f i t o b l i g a t i o n f o r medical plans as of Dec. 27, 1996, by $21 m i l l i o n and net 
post-ret irement )3enefit expense f o r 1996 by $3 m i l l i o n . The discount rate used 
In determining the accumulated pos t - re t i rement b e n e f i t o b l i g a t i o n was 7.50% f o r 
1996 and 1995, and 8.25% f o r 1994. 

Other Plans 

Under collective bargaining agreements, the compony participates in a number 
cf union-sponsored, multiemployer benefit plans. Payments to these plans are 
made as part of aggregate assessments generally based on number of employees 
covered, hours worked, tonnage moved or a combination thereof. The 
administrators of the multiemployer plans generally allocate funds received from 
oarticipating companies to various health and welfare benefit plans and pen̂ .'̂ n 
p.'ans. Current information regarding such allocations has not been provided oy 
th,< admlnl.-ttrators. Total contributions of $224 million, $239 million and $209 
million, respectively, were made to these plan* in 1996, 1995 and 1994. 

NOTE 14. COMtlTMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES. 

Lease Commitments 

The company leas*s squipment under agreements with terms up to 21 year*. 
Non-canc*l»ble, long-tenr, l*a>*s g*nerally include options to purchase at f a i r 
valu* and to extend t h * terms. At Dec. 27, 1996, minimum building and equipment 
rentala under non-cancelable oparating leases totaled approximately $418 million 
for 1997, $390 million for 1998, $337 million for 1999, $286 million for 2000, 
$272 million for 2001 and $2.2 b i l l i o n thereafter. 

Rent expense on operating leases, including net daily rental charges on 
railroad operating equipment of $245 million, $257 million and $256 million In 
1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, amounted to $1.2 b i l l i o n in 1996 anri 1995, 
and $1.1 b i l l i o n in 1994. 

Purchase Commitments 

CSXT entered into agreements during 1993 and 1996 to purchase 380 
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locomotives. These large orders cover normal locomotive replacement needs for 
1994 through 1997 and introduced a l f r n a t i n g current traction technology to the 
locomotive fleet. CSXT has taken uelivery of 50 direct current and 255 
alternating-current locomotives through Dec. 27, 1996. Th" rer nlng 75 
alternating-current units w i l l t>e delivered in 1997. 

During 1994 and 1995, Sea-Land entered into agreements for the construction 
cf nine high-performance, fuel-efficient container vessels. Estimated capital 
expenditures for these vessels total S525 million, of whi- $312 million has 
been expended through Dec. 27, 1996, with the remaining S213 n i l l l o n expected to 
be incurred o</er the next two years. Five of the vessels i ave been delivered 
through Dec. 27, 1996. 

Other Commitments 

During 1995, CSXT entered into an agreement with a major 
telecommunications vendor to supply and manage i t s telecommunications needs 
through May 2005. As discussed in Note 3 - Restructuring Charge, the agreement 
was amended in 1996 to significantly reduce th* service period, increase 
contractual payment amounts over the revised service period, and relieve 
the vendor of obligations to replace certain telecommunications technology. 
The amended agreement provides for a revised termination date of June 30, 1998, 
and requires minimum payments totaling $56 million over the remaining service 
period. 
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Contingent L i a b i l i t i e s 

The company and i t s subsidiaries are contingently liable individually and 
j o i n t l y with others as guarantors of long-term debt and obligations principally 
relating to leased equipment, joint ventures and joint f a c i l i t i e s . These 
contingent obligations were immaterial tc the company's results of operations 
and financial position at Dec. 27, 1996. 

The company has been advised that activi.tles of a subsidiary that 
administered student loans and that was sold by the company in i992 are under 
review to determine whether, and to what extent, damages should be asserted 
against the coir.,-!any for government insurance payments on uncollected loans 
related to alleq.^d processing deficiencies or errors that may have occurred 
prior to the time the subsidiary was sold. The company believes I t has no 
material l i a b i l i t y for any claim that might be asserted, but the final outcome 
of the review and the amount of potential damages are not yet reasonably 
estimable. Based upon information currently available to the company, i t Is 
believed any adverse outcome w i l l not be material to the company's results of 
operations or financial position. 

Although the company obtains substantial amounts of commercial insurance for 
potential losses for third-party l i a b i l i t y and property damage, reasonable 
levels of risk are retained on a self-Insurance basis. A portion of the 
insurance coverage, $25 million l i m i t above $25 million per occurrence from r a i l 
and certain other operations, is provided by a company partially owned by CSX. 

CSXT Is a party to various proceedings Involving private parties and 
regulatory agencies related to environmental issues. CSXT has been identified as 
a potentially res'wnsible party (PRP) at approximately 105 environmentally 
Impaired sites th are or may be subject to remedial action under the Federal 
Superfund statute 'Superfund) or similar state statutes. A number of tnese 
proceedings are based on allegations that CSXT, or i t s predecessor raiiroads, 
sent hazardous substances to the f a c i l i t i e s in question for disposal. Such 
proceedings arising under Superfund or similar state statutes can Involve 
numerous other waste generators and disposal companies and seek to allocate or 
recover costs associated with site investigation and cleanup, which could be 
substantial. 

CSXT Is Involved in a number of administrative and judicial proceedings and 
other clean-up e f f i r t s at approximately 270 sites. Including the sites addressed 
under the Federal Superfund statute or similar state statutes, at which I t Is 
participating i n the study and/or clean-up of alleged environmental 
contamination. The assessment of the reqilred response and remedial costs 
associated with most sites Is extremely complex. Cost estimates ore based on 
information available for each site, financial v i a b i l i t y of other PRPs, where 
available, and existing technology, laws and regulations. CSXT's best estimates 
of the allocation method and percentage of l i a b i l i t y when other FRPs are 
involved are based on assessments by consultants, agreements among PRPs, or 
determinations by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency or other regulatory 
agenci es. 

At least once each quarter, CSXT reviews i t s role, i f any, with rt^spect to 
each such location, giving consideration to the nature of CSXT's alleged 
connection to t.he location (e.g., generator, owner or operator), the extent of 
CSXT's alleged connection (e.g., volume of waste sent to the location and other 
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relevant factors), the accuracy and »tr*ngth of evidence connecting CSXT to 
the locetion, and t h * numloer, connection and financial position of other named 
ano unnamed PRPs at the location. The ultimate l i a b i l i t y for remediation can 
be d i f f i c u l t to determine with certainty because of the number and 
creditworthiness of PRPs Involved. Through the assessment process, CSXT 
monitors the creditworthiness of such PRPs In determining ultimate l i a b i l i t y . 

Based upon such reviews and updates of the sites with which i t is involved, 
CSXT has recorded, and reviews at least quarterly for adequacy, reserves to 
cover estimated contingent future environmental costs with respect to such 
sites. The recorded l i a b i l i t i e s for estimated future environmental costs at Dec 
27, 1996, and Dec. 29, 1995, were $117 million and S137 million, respectively. 
These recorded l i a b i l i t i e s Include amounts representing CSXT's estimate of 
unasserted claims, which CSXT believes to be immaterial. The l i a b i l i t y has been 
accrued for future costs for a l l sites where the company's obligation Is 
probable and where such costs can be eaicnabiy estimated. The l i a b i l i t y 
Includes future costs for remediation d restoration of sites as well as any 
significant ongoing monitoring costs, :;.t excludes any anticipated insurance 
recoveries. The majority of the Dec. 27, 1996, environmental l i a b i l i t y is 
expected to bt paid out over the next five to seven years, funded by cash 
generated from operations. 

The company does not currently possess sufficient information to reasonably 
estimate the amounts of additional l i a b i l i t i e s . I f any, on some sites u n t i l 
completion of future environmental studies. In addition, latent conditions at 
any given location could result in exposure, the amount and materiality of which 
cannot presently be rel iably estimated. Based upon information currently 
available, however, the company tjelieves that i t s environmental reserves are 
adequate to accomplish remedial actions to comply with present laws and 
regulations, and that the ultimate l i a b i l i t y for these matters w i l l not 
materially affect i t s overall results of operations and financial condition. 
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Legal Proceedings 

A number of legal actions, other than environmental, are pending against CSX 
and certain subsidiaries in which claims are made in substantial amounts. While 
the ultimate results of environmental investigations, lawsuits and claims 
involving the company cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not 
currently expect that these matters w i l l have a material adverse effect on the 
consolidated financial positior,, results of operations and cash flows of the 
company. 

NOTE 15. SUMMARIZED FI;<ANC1AL DATA - SEA-LAND SERVICE INC. 

During 1987, Sea-Land entered into agreements to se l l and leaae back .by 
charter three net.- U.S.-built, U.S.-flag, D-7 class container ships. CSX has 
guaranteed the obligations of Sea-Land pursuant to the related charters which, 
along with the container ships, serve as collateral for debt securities 
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In accordance with 
SEC disclosure requirements, summarized financial information for Sea-Land and 
i t s consolidated subsidiaries Is as follows: 

Summary of Operations: 1996 1995'b) 1994(b) 

Operating Revenue $4,051 $4,008 $3,492 

Op*r»ting Expense— Public 3,648 3,755 3,279 
— A f f i l i a t e d (a) 122 107 57 

Operating Incoma $ 281 $ 146 $ 156 

Net Earning* $ 84 $ 66 $ 73 

0*c. 27, Dec. 29, 
Summary of Financial Position: 1996 1995 

Curr«nt As**t* -- Public $ 747 $ 713 
— Affili«t*d (a) 1 2 

Other Assets — Public 1,829 1,674 
— A f f i l i a t e o (a) 14 

Current L i a b i l i t i e s — Public 725 (84 
— A f f i l i a t e d (a) 115 41 
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other L i a b i l i t l * * — Public 
— A f f i l i a t a d (*) 

Equity 

7S« 
347 

646 

711 
200 

739 

(a) Amounts r*pr*s*nt activity with CSX a f f i l i a t e d companies. 

(b) Beginning in 1996, Sea-Land assumed primary responsibility for 
direct purchase of transportation from non-affiliated r a i l carriers. These 
**rvice8 were previously purchased through a CSX-affiliated company. 
Operating expense for 1995 and 1994 has been restated to report t h i * 
a c t i v i t y *s public expense. 

SL Al**ka Trade Company (SLATCO) is a special purpose, unconsolidated 
subsidiary of Sea-Land with trust-related assets of $117 million securing $106 
million of debt maturing on Oct. 1, 2005. The assets of SLATCO are not available 
to creditor* of S**-L*nd or i t s subsidl«rl*s, nor are the SLATCO notes 
guaranteed by Sea-Land or any of Its subsidiaries. 
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NOTE 16. BUSINESS SEGMENTS. 

<TAB1E> 
<CJtPTION> 

Oparating Ravanva 
Fiscal Years Ended 

Oparating Income 
Fiscal Years Ended 

Dec. 27, Dec. 29, 
1996 1995 

Dec. 30, 
1994 

Dec. 27, 
1996 

Dec. 29, 
1995 

</TABLE> 

The principal components of the business segments are: 

Transportation - Rail, container-shipping, barge, Intermodal and contract 
logistics operations. The container-shipping operation reported revenue of $4.1 
b i l l i o n for 1996, $4.0 b i l l i o n for 1995 and $3.5 b i l l i o n for 1994. Approximate 
revenue allocation by port of origin for 1996, 1995 and 1994 was: North America 
— 43%; A*i» — 32%; Europe ~ 17%; »nd Other — 8%. Foreign bu.nlness activities 
outside the container-shipping operation do not contribute materially to the 
company's financial results. 

Non-Transportation - Real estat* *ale« and rental*, r*»ort manag*m*nt and r«sort 
oparations. 

NOTE 17. QUARTERLY DATA (Unaudited) . 

1996 

Oparating Revenue 

Operating Incom* 

N*t Earning* 

Earnings Par Shara 

l e t 2nd(a) 3rd 4th 

$2,514 $2,672 $2,647 $2,703 
mmmmmm mmmmmm 

$ 296 $ 408 S 392 i 426 

——--—- ------
$ 146 $ 234 S 222 $ 253 

mmmmmm —————— 
$ .69 $ 1.11 $ 1.04 i 1.17 
mmmmmm mmmmm. — — 

Dec. 30, 
1994 

Identifiable Asset* 

D*c. 27, Dec. 29, 
1996 1995 

<S> <C> 
Tr*nsportation $10,536 $10,304 $9,409 $1,522 $1,126 $1,182 

Non-Transportation Segment $ 220 $ 200 $ 199 43 46 50 

Othar (Net) — 72 55 

Total Othar Income 43 118 105 

In t e r e s t Expanse 249 270 281 

Earnings Before Income Taxes $1,316 $ 974 $1 006 

$13,304 

$ 978 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(All Tables in Millions of Dollars, Except Per Share Amounts) 

1995 

1st 2nd(c) 3rd 4th(d) 

Operating Revenue $2,444 $2,549 $2,601 $2,710 

Operating Income $ 276 $ 84 $ 369 $ 397 

Net Earning* $ 121 $ 19 $ 202 $ 276 

Earnings Par Shara(b) $ .58 $ .09 $ .96 $ 1.31 

(a) In th* »*cond quartar of 1996, the company changed its earnings presentation 
to exclude non-transportation activities from operating revenue and expense. 
These activities, principally real estate and resort operations, are now 
included in other income in the consolidated statement of earnings. Amounts 
for prior quarters hava been -^*t*tad to conform to the new pre»*ntation. 

(b) Earning* par shar* aatounts for 1995 hav* basn r*stat*d to r*fl«ct the 
2-for-l stock split distributed to shareholders m December 1995. 

(c) The company recorded a $257 million pretax restructuring charge in the 
s*cond quartar of 1995 to recognize the estimat*d co*ts of lniti*tiv*s at 
its r * i l *nd container-ahipping unit* to r*vi**, r**tructur* *nd consolidat* 
specific operations and administrative functions. The charge Included a 
write-down of technologically obsolete telecommunications assets and 
provisions for employee separations and exit obligations. The restructuring 
charge reduced net earnings by $160 million, 76 cents per shar*. 

(d) In December 1995, the company r*cogniz*d a nat investmsnt gain of $77 
million on the issuance of an equity Interest in a Sea-Land terminal and 
related operations in Asia and the write-down of various investments. The 
equity interest portion of the transaction r*sult*d in proc**d« of $105 
million, a pr*tax gain of $93 million, and lacraa«*d n*t *arnlngs by $6". 
million, 29 cants per share. 

REPORT OF ERNST 4 YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

To the Shareholders and Board of Director.!! of CSX Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated stateme.ts of financial 
position of CSX Corporation and subsidiaries as of Decmber 27, 1996 and 
December 29, 1995, and the related consolidated statemen'.s of earnings, cash 
flows, and changes in shareholders' equity for each of the three fiscal years in 
the period ended December 27, 1996. These financi*.. statements are the 
responsibility of the company's management. Our responeibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial *tat*m*nts basad on our aud't*. 

W* conduct*d our audits in accordance with g.;nerally accepted auditing 
s'candards. Those standards require that we plan an^ perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial r.atcments are free of material 
misstateme.-it. An audit includes examining, on a cast basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosure* in th* fin*ncial stat*m*nts. An audit also includes 
*s**ssing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
managament, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audits |.rovide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opi.iion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above 
(appearing on pages 19-42) present fairly, in a l l material respect*, the 
con*olid*t*d fin*nci*l po*ition of CSX Corporation and subsidiari** at Dacambar 
27, 1996 and Dacambar 29, 1995, and the consolid*t*d r*sults of th*ir operation* 
and thair c«*h flow* for *ach of th* thr** fiscsl y**r* in th* period ended 
December 27, 1996, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principle*. 

/*/ ERNST 4 YOUNG LLP 

Em*t 4 Young LLP 

Richmond, Virgini* 
J3nu*ry 31, 1997, *xc*pt tor Net* 2, 
as to which th* d*t* i * March 7, 1997 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE OFFICERS 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Eliz«t>*th E. Bailcy(b,d) 
John C. Hower Profcesor of Public Policy and Managemant 

Th* Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pa. 

Robert L. Burrus Jr.(d,*) 
Partnar and Chairman 

McGuira, Hood*, Battl* 4 Booth*, Richmond, Va. 

Bruce C. Gottw«ld(d,e) 
Chairman and CEO 

Ethyl Corporation, Rlchmon ., Va. 

John R. HalKb.c) 
Retired Chairman and CEO 

Ashland Inc., Ashland, Ky. 

Robert D. Kunisch(a,c) 
Chairman, President and CEO 

PHH Corporation, Hunt Valley, Md. 

Hugh L. McColl Jr.(b,d) 
CEO 

r«tlon*Bank Corp., Charlotte, N.C. 

James H. McGlothlin(a,c) 
Chairman and CEO 

The United Company, Bristol, Va. 

Southwood J. Morcottia,b,d) 
Chairman and CEO 

Dana Corporation, Toledo, Ohio 

Charles E. Rice(a,b,c) 
Chairman and CEO 

Bamett Banks Inc., Jack*onvill«, Fla. 

William C. Richard*on(c,*) 
Pr*sid*nt and CEO 

W.K. Kellogg Foundation, Battl* Cr**k, Mich. 

Frank S, Royal, M-D.(c) 
Phyaician and Haalth Car^ Authority Richmond, Va. 

John H. Snow(a) 
Chairman, l'r*«id*nt and CEO 

CSX Corporation, Richmond, Va. 

Key to committees of the board 
a - Executive b - Audit c - Compensation d - Panalon 
e - Organization 4 Corporate Responsibility 

CSX CORPORATE OFFICERS 

John H. Snow, 57* Chairman, President and CEO, elected Fabruary 1991 

Mark G. Axon, 54' Executive Vice Presidant-Law and Public Affair*, *l*ct*d April 
1995(1) 

Paul R. Goodwin, 54* Executive Vice President-Finance and Chlaf Financial 
Officer, elected April 1995(2) 

Arnold I. Ha.̂ *n*, 49 Vic* Preddant-Faderal Affairs, elected February 1997 

Thomas E. Hoppin, 55 Vica Prasidant-Corporate Communications, elected July 1986 

Richard H. Klam, 52* Vice President-Corporate Strategy, elected May 1992(3) 

William F. Miller, 54 Vica President-Audit and Advisory S*rvic*«, *l*ct*d 
September 1996 

Je**« R. Mohorovic, 54* Vic* Pr**ict*nt-Exacutive Department, elected February 

1995(4) 

Jamas P. Peter, 46 Vica Prasidant-T*xc«, clsctcd Jun* 1993 

Hoodruff M. Price, 62 Vic* President-Public Policy, elected Fabru^-ry 1997 

James L. Ross, 58* Vic* Pt*»td*nt and Controll*r, tlected May 1996(5) 
Alan A. Rudnick, 49 Vic* Pr*(idcnt-G«n*r*l Coun**l and Corporate Secretary, 
elected June 1991 
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Michael J. Ruehling, 49 Vice President-State Relations, elected Janiary 1995 

James A. Searle Jr., 50 Vice President-Administration, elected April 1996 

Peter J. Shudtz, 48 General Counsel, elected September 1991 

Hilliam H. Sparrow, 53* Vice President-Financial Planning, elected February 
1996(6) 

Gregory R. Weber, 51* Vice President and Treasurer, elected May 1996(7) 
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UNIT OFFICERS 

CSX TRANSPORTATION INC. 

Alvin R. (Pete) Carpenter, 55* President and CEO, since January 1992 

John Q. Anderson, 45* Executive Vice President-Sal'-s 4 Marketing, since May 
1996(8) 

Donald D. Davis, 57* Senior Vice President-Employee Relations, -lince November 
1990 

Gerald L. Nichols, 61* Executive vice President and COO, since February 
1995(9) Michael J. Ward, 46* Executive Vice President-Finance and CFO, since 
June 1996(10) 

SEA-LAND SERVICE INC. 

John P. Clancey, 52* President and CEO, since August 1991 

Andrew B. Fogarty, 51* Senior Vice President-Finance and Plann.^ng, since June 
1996(11) 

Robert J. Grassl, 50* Senior Vice President-Atlantic, AME Services, since June 
1996(12) 

Richard E. Murphy, 52* Senior Vice President-Corporate Marketing, since June 
1996(13) 

Charles G. Raymond, 53* Senior Vice President and Chief Transportation Officer, 
since May 1995(14) 

CSX INTERMODAL INC. 
Ronald T. Sorrow, 50* Chairman, President and CEO, since January 1997(15) 

AMERICAN COMMERCIAL LINES INC. 
Michael C. Hagan, 50* President and CEO, since May 1992(16) 

CUSTOMIZED TRANSPORTATION INC. 
David G. Ku.'.ik, 48 President and CEO, since December 1994 

THE GREENBRIER 
Ted J. Kleisner, 52 President and Managing Director, since January 1989 

YUKON PACIFIC CORPORATION 
Jeff B. Lowenfels, 48 president and CEO, since Fabruary 1995 

* Executive officers of the corporation. Executive officers of CSX Corporation 
are elected by the CSX board of directors and hold office u n t i l the next 
annual election of officers. Officers of CSX business units are elected 
annually by the respective boards of directors of the business units. There 
are no family relationships or any arrangement or understanding between any 
officer an any other person pursuant to which such officer was selected. A l l 
of the executive officers listed have held their current positions for at 
least 5 years except as noted below: 

1) Prior to April 1995, Mr. Aron served as Sr. VP-Law and Public Affairs. 

2) Prior to April 1995, Mr. Goodwin served as an officer of CSXT as Exec. 
VP-Finance and Administration from February 1995 to April 1995; as Sr. 
VP-Finance from April 1992 to February 1995; and prior thereto as Sr. 
vp-Flnance. 

31 Prior to May 1992, Mr. Klem served as VP-Economic Analysis and Corporate 
Strategy. 

4) Prior to February 1995, Mr. Mohorovic served as VP-Corporate Communications, 
CSXT, from April 1994 to February 1995, and prior thereto as VP-Corporate 
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Conm'jnications, Sea-Land. 

5) Prior to May 1996, Mr. Ross served as CSX VP-Special Proj«cts from October 
1995 to May 1996, and prior thereto as a Partner with Ernit 4 Young, LLP. 

6) Prior to February 1996, Mr. Sparrow served as VP-Capital Planning and 
Budgeting from May 1994 to February 1996 and prior thereto as VP and 
Treasurer. 

7) Prior to May 1996, Mr. Webei served as VP, Controller and Treasurer, from May 
1994 to May 1996, and prior thereto as VP and Controller. 

8) Prior to May 1996, Mr. Anderson served as Sr. VP for Builington Korthern 
Santa Fe Railway from 1995 to May 1996 and prior thereto as Executive VP of 
Burlington Northern Railroad. 

9) Prior to February 1995, Mr. Nichols served as Sr. VP-Admlnlsti..tion of CSXT. 

10) Prior to June 1996, Mr. Ward served as an officer of CSXT as Sr. VP-Financ* 
from April 1995 to June 1996; Gener»l Manag*r-C40 Business Unit from 1994 to 
April 1995; and prior th*r*to «s VP-Coal. 

11) Prior to June 1996, Mr. Fogarty served as CSX VP-Audit and Advisory 
Services from March 1995 to June 1996, and prior thereto as CSX 
VP-Executive Department. 

12) Prior to June 1996, Mr. Grassl **rved •* S*a-Land Sr. VP-Finance and 
Planning. 

13) Prior to June 1996, Mr. Murphy **rv*d as S**-Land VP-Atlantic and AME 
from 1995 to June 1996; Sr. VP-Pacific S*rvic*s from 1993 to 1995; and 
prior th*r*to a* VP-Pacific Sarvlces. 

14) Prior to May 1995, Mr. Raymond nerved as Sea-Land Sr. VP-Operations and 
Inland Transportation. 

15) Prior to January 1997, Mr. Sorrow served as CSXI President and CEO 
from January 1996 to January 1997 and prior thereto as VP-Sales and 
Marketing of CSXI. 

16) Prior to May 1992, Mr. Hagan aerved as President eind COO of ACL. 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Headquarters 
One James Center 
901 East Cary Street 
Richmond, VA 23219-4031 
(804) 782-1400 
(http://www.csx.ccm) 

Market Information 

CSX's common stock is l i s t e d on the New York, London and Swiss stock 
exchanges and trades with unlisted privileges on the Midwest, Boston, 
Cincinnati, Pacific and Philadelphia stock exchanges. Tha o f f i c i a l trading 
symbol is "CSX." 

yescriptlon of Common and Pr*f*rrad Stock* 

A to t a l of 300 million *har*( of common *tock 1* *uthoriz*d, of which 
216,885,140 *har*« were out*t»nding as of D«c, 27. 1996. E»ch *h*r* is * n t i t l * d 
to on* vot* in *11 matt*r« r*quiring a vot* of »har*holrt*r*, Th*r* *r« no 
pr*-*mptiv* right*. 

A t o t a l of 25 million *har** of preferred »tock i * «uthoriz*d. S*ri** A 
consists of 250,000 shar** of $7 Cumul*tiv* Conv*rtlbl* Pr*ferr*d Stock. A l l 
outstanding sheres of S*ri** A Praf*rr*d Stock w*r* r*d**m*d «s of July 31, 
1992. 

S*ri** B consists of 3 m i l l i o n sharas of Junior P*rticip*ting Pr*f*rr*d 
Stock, non* of which h*s b**n i«*u*d. Th*»* *h*r*s w i l l b*com* is*u*bl* only «nd 
wh*n th* rights distribut*d to hold*r* of common stock und*r the Preferred Share 
Right* Plan adopted by CSX on June 8, 1988, bacome exercls*L'l*. 

Clo*ln« Price of Comnton Stock at Fi*cal Y**r-End 
(Dollar*) 

(GRAPH] 

•92 '93 '94 '95 '?6 
$34.38 $40.94 $34.82 $45.63 $42.88 



Fiscal Year 

Quarter 

Market Price 
High 
Low 

FKcal Year 

Quartar 
Harkat Pric* 

High 
Low 

Dividends Per 

Fiscal Year 

Quartar 
Market Price 

High 
Low 

Fiscal Year 

Quarter 
Market Price 

High 
Low 

Fiscal Year 

Quarter 
Market Price 

High 
Low 

P t l c * Range and Divid*nds Per 

1996 

Share 

] * t 2nd 3rd 4 t h 

Share 

$48.50 
$42.25 
$ .26 

$53.13 
$44.13 
$ .26 

$53.00 
$42.25 
$ .26 

$52.38 
$42.50 
$ .26 

1995 

l * t 2nd 3rd 4th 

hare 

$39.88 
$34.63 
$ .22 

$41.00 
$36.00 
$ .22 

$44.63 
$37.44 
$ .22 

$46.'.? 
$3'.06 
$ .26 

1994 

l»t 2nd 3rd 4th 

Share 

$46.19 
$39.94 
$ .22 

$41.63 
$35.50 
S .22 

$39.57 
$33.00 
$ .22 

$37.25 
$31.57 
$ .22 

1993 

l * t 2nd 3rd 4 th 

Share 

$39.98 
$33.57 
$ .19 

$39.07 
$33.19 
$ .19 

$40.13 
$33. •54 
$ .I'J 

$44.07 
$37.44 
$ .22 

1992 

l * t 2nd 3rd 4th 

Share 

$31.00 
$27.44 
$ .19 

$33.75 
$27.75 
$ .19 

$33.88 
$28.32 
$ .19 

$36.82 
$27.25 
$ .19 

(All data adjusted for 2-for-l split of common stock *ff*ctiv* Dac. 21, 1995.) 

Common Stock Share* Out*tanding, N-jmber of Regiatarad Sh*r*hold*r» 

•<'TABLE> 
<CAPTION> 

<S> <c> 
Numb*r of sharaholdar*: 

1996 

55,176 

1995 

55,528 

11*4 

57,355 

1913 

59,714 

1992 

62,820 

</TABLE> 

Shar** Out*t«nding «s of J«n. 24, 1997: 216,898,817 
Common Stock Shareholder* •• of J»n. 24, 1997: 55,074 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

Sh*r*hold*r S*rvica» 
Shareholders with queatlon* •bout t h * i r account* (hould cont*ct t n * transfer 

agent at the address or telephone numtwr shown below. 
General questions about CSX or information contained in company publications 

should be directed to corporate communications at the addres* or t*l*phon* 
numb*r shown below. 

Security «nalysts, portfolio managars or othar inv*»tm*nt community 
r*pr*»*nt*tiv*» *hould contact invastor r*l*tions at 
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t h * address or telephone number shown below. ( 
Transfer Agent, Registrar and 
Dividend Disbursing Agent 
Hartis Trust Company 
P.O. Box A3604 
Chicago, IL 60690 
(8CC) 521-5571 
(3::) 461-4061, in I l l i n o i * 

Sha .(ler Rela'-.ions 
Anne b. Taylor 
Admin:strator-Sharehold«r 

Seivic** 
CSX Corpor*tion 
P.O. Box 85629 
Richmond, VA 23285-5629 
(804) 782-1465 

Corporate Communications 
Elizabeth Gabrynowicz 
Director-Corporate 

Communications 
P.O. Box 85629 
Richmond, VA 23285-5629 
(804) 782-6775 

Investor Relations 
Joseph C. Wilkinson 
Director-Investor Relations 
CSX Corporation 
P.O. Box 85629 
Richmond, VA 23285-5629 
(804) 782-15.53 

Stock Held In Brokerage Accounts 
When • broker holds your stock, i t is usually registered m the broker s 

name, or "street name." He do not know the Identity of individual shareholders 
who hold stock in this manner. We know only that a broker holds a certain number 
of thares that may be for any number of customers. I f your stock is in a 
stt ^et-na-ie account, you are not eligible to participate In the company^s 
Dl- den'' :.<lnvestm*nt Plan. Also, you w i l l receive your dividend payments, 
ar • j l reports and proxy materials through your broker. You should notify your 
broker, not Harris Trust, i f you wish to eliminate unwanted, duplicate mailings 
and Improve the timeliness on the delivery of these materials and your dividend 
payments. 

Lost or Stol*n Stock Certificates 
I f your stock c*rtific»t*s are lost, *tol*n or in some way destroyad, you 

»hould notify Harris Trust in writing im.ii*dl«tely. 

Multiple Dividend Check* and Duplicate Mailings 
Some shareholders hold their strick on CSX records in similar but different 

names (e.g. John A. Smith and J.A. Smith). When this occurs, we are required to 
create separate accounts for each name. Although the mailing addresses are the 
same, we are required to mail separate dividand ch*cks to e»ch account. 
Duplicate mailings of annual reports can be eliminated i f you send the label* or 
copi** of the l*b«ls from a CSX mailing to Harris Trust. You should mark the 
lab«ls to indicate names to be kept on the mailing ll»t *nd names to be deleted. 
However, this action w i l l affect mailings of financial materials only. Dividend 
checks and proxy materials w i l l continue to b* seni to each account. 

Consolidating Accounts 
I f you want to consolidate separate accounts into one account, you should 

contact Harris Trust for the necessary form* and inatructions. Wh*n account* ara 
con*olid«ted, i t may ba r.ace*««ry to r*l*«ue the *tock c * r t i f i c * t * s . 

D i v l d * n d 8 t, 11 I , 
CSX pays quartarly dividands on i t s common stock on or sbout tne I5tn or 

March, Jun*, S*pt«mber and December, when declared by the board of directors, to 
snarehclders of record approximately three week* e * r l i * r . CSX now off*rs dir*ct 
deposit of dividend* to shareholders who request i t . I f you are interested, 
pleas* contect H*rri* Trust * t the »ddr**« or phone number shown abov*. 

Replacing Dividend Ch*cks ^ 
I f you do not receiv* your dividend check within .0 business days after th* 

paym*nt d*t* or i f your ch*ck is lost or destroyed, you should notify Hsrris 
Trust so p*ym«nt on the check c«r be stopped and a rep acement Issued. 

Dividend Reinvestment , , 
CSX provides dividend reinvestment and stock purch. se plans for shareholders 

of record and employees as a convenient method of acquii'na ••^ditlonal CSX 
«h»r*! by r*lnv*stment of dividends or by optional casi payments, or both. 

The Shareholders Dividend Rein"est»ent Plan permits automatic reinvestment 
of coamion stock dividends without payment of any brokerage commission or service 
charge. In fact, und*i th* plan, you m»y el*ct to continue receiving dividend 
payment* while making ca»h payments of up to $1,500 per month for investment In 
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additional CSX shares without any fee. 
For a prospectus or other information on the plan, write or call the Harris 

Trust Dividend Reinvestment Department at the address or telephone num)Der shown 
aloove. 
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Pursuant to 'he requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of -y34, the registrant has duly ca-Jsed this report to be signed on 
I t s behalf by the u.nderslgned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 14th day of 
March 1997. 

CSX Corporation 

By: /s/ JAMES L. ROSS 

James L. Ross 
Vice President and Controller 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Ar^ of 1934, this 
report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and In the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signatures 

John w. Snow 

Paul R. Goodwin 

Elizabeth E. Bailey 

Robert L. Burrus Jr. 

Bruce C. Ctottwald 

John R. Hall 

Robert 0. Kunisch 

Hugh McColl Jr. 

James H. McGlothlln 

Southiiood J. Morcott 

Charles E. Rice 

William C. Richardson 

Frank S. Royal, M.D. 

/S/ PETER J, SHUDTZ 

T i t l e 

Chairman of the Board, President, 
Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive Officer)* 

Executive Vice Prssldent-Flnance 
(Principal Financial Officer)* 

Director* 

Director* 

Director* 

Director* 

Director* 

Director* 

Director* 

Director* 

Director* 

Director* 

Director* 

* Peter J. Shudtz, Attorney-in-Fact 
March 14, 1997 
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CSX CORPORA' ION 
Statement of Differences 

1. The prlntea Annual Report and Form 10-K contains numerous graphs and 
photographs not Incorporated into the electronic Form 10-K. 

2. The IC-K cover shaat and index, present*d on paga* 43 and 44 of the 
printed document, have been repositioned to th* front of the electronic 
documenc. 

<PAGE> 

Description 
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Index to Exhibits 

(3.1) Articles of Incorporation (inrcjp,*-rated by reference 
as Exhibit 3 to Form 10-K dated reo. 15, 1991) 
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(3.2) Bylaws 

(10.1) CSX Stock Plan for Director** 

(10.2) Special Retirement Plan for CSX Directors* 

(10.3) Cori>orate Director Deferred Compensation Plan* 

(10.4) CSX Directors* Charitubl* Gift Plan* (incorporated by 
reference to ExhlLlt 10.4 to Form 10-K dated March 4, 1994) 

(10.5) CSX Directors^ Matching Gift Plan* 

(10.6) Form of Agreement with J.H. Snow, A.R. Carpenter, 
J.P. Clancey, P.R. Goodwin and G.L. Nichol** 
(incorpor*t*d by r*f«ranca to Exhibit 10.6 to Form lii-f 
dated March 3, 1995) 

(10.7) Fora of Amendaent to Agreement with A.R. Carpenter, 
P.R. Goodwin and G.L. Nichol** 

(10.8) Form of Aman<$a*nt to Agraamant with J.P. Clancey* 

(10.9) Form of R*t*ntion Agreement with A.R. Carpenter 
and J.P. Clancey* (incorporated by ref*r*nc* to 
Exhibit 10.3 to Form 10-K dated Feb. 28, 1992) 

(10.10) Aqraament with J.H. Snow* (incorporated by rcfaranca 

CO Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-K dated March 4, 1994) 

(10.11) Amanctaent to Aqraament with J.H. Snow* 

(10.12) AgreesMnt with J.H. Snow* 

(10.13) Loan Agreement with A.R. Carpenter* 
(incorporated by refaranc* to Exhibit 10.9 to Potm lO-K 
dated March 1, 1996) 

(10.14) Stock Purcha** and Loan Plan* (incorporated by reference to 

Exhibit 99 to form S-8 dated July 31, 1996) 

(IC.IS) 

(10.16) 

1967 lx>ng-Term Parforaanca Stock Plan* 

1985 Deferred Compensation Program for Executive* 
of CSX Corpor*tion and Affili*t*d Campani*s* 

(10.17) Supplementary Savings Plan and Incentive Award 
Deferral Plan for Eligible Executives of CMt 
Corporation and Affiliatad Companla** 

(10.18) Special r»etire»*nt Plan of CSX Corporation »',d 
Affiliatad Companla** 

(10.19) Suppl*m*ntal R*tir«mant Plan of CSX Corporation 
and Affiliatad Cnmpanlac* 

(10.20) 1994 Sanior Man̂ gem*nt Inc*ntiv* Compensation Plan* (incorpor*t*d by 
r*f*r*nc* to Exhibit 10.16 to Form 10-K dated March 3, 1995) 

(21) Subsidiari** of the R*gistrant 

(23) Onsant of Jndapandert At'ditors 

(27) Financial Data Schedule — Schedule I I 

• Managemant Contract or Co«pan»*tory Plan or Arrangamant. 
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(X) 

( ) 

FORM 10-K 
StCURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
For the fiscal year ended December 27, 1996 

OR 
TTIANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
For the transition period from to 

Cooiission file nunber 1-3359 

CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Virginia 
(State or other jurisdiction of 
incorporation or organization) 

500 Water Street. Jacksonville. FL. 
(Address of principal executive offices) 

54-6000720 
(I.R.S. Enployer 
Identification No.) 

32202 
(Zip Code) 

Registrant's telephone niaber, including area code: (904) 359-3100 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: 

Title of each class 

Hocking Valley Railroad Coopany 
First Consolidated Mortgage 4-1/2X 
Bonds, due July 1. 1999 

Louisville and Nashville Railroad 
Company First and Refunding Mortgage 
3-3/at Bonds. Series F. due April 1. 2003 

Louisville and Nashville Railroad 
Company First and Refunding Mortgage 
2-7/8* Bonds. Series G. due April 1, 2003 

Monon Railroad 6X Income Debentures, 
due January 1. 2007 

Name of each exchange on which each 
class is registered 

New York Stock Exchange 

New York Stock Exchange 

New York Stock Exchange 

New York Stock Exchange 

REGISTRANT MEETS 'iTC CONDITIONS SET FORTH IN GENERAL INSTRUCTION I (1) (a) ANO (b) OF FORM 10-K AND 
IS THEREFORE FILING THIS FORM WITH THE REDUCED DISCLOSURE FORMAT. 

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None. 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by 
Sectior. 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for 
such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject 
to such filing requirements for tha past 90 days. Yes (X) No ( ) 

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Pigulation S-K i$ 
not contained herein, and wi^l not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in 
definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K 
or any ainendnent to this Fonn 10-K. (X) 

State the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by nonaffiliates of the registrant. The 
aggregate market value of the voting stock at March 19. 1997. was $-0-. excluding the voting stock 
held by the parent of the registrant. 

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant's classes of cooaon stock, as of 
the latest practicable date. The registrjnt has 9,061.038 shares of common stock, par value $20.00. 
outstanding at March 19, 1997. 
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PART I 

Items 1. & 2. Business and Properties. 

General 

C3A Transportation. Inc. (CSXT) 1s engaged principally in the business 
of railroad transportation and operates a system comprising 18,504 miles of 
first mam line track in 20 states principally east of the Mississippi River 
(exclusive of New England), southern Ontario and the District of ColumPia. 
employing an average of 28.559 employees during its most recent fiscal year. 
It conducts railroad operations in its own name and through railroad 
subsidiaries. 

CSXT is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSX Corporation (CSX). CSX is a 
publicly-Owned Virginia corporation with headquarters at One James Center. 901 
East Cary Street. Richmond. Virginia, 23219-4031. CSX also controls other 
transportation businesses which include Sea-Land Service Inc.. an ocean 
container-shipping company; CSX Intermodal, Inc., an intermodal and trucking 
company; Aiiencan Commercial Lines. Inc., an inland barging and other 
marine-related activities business: and Customized Transportation. Inc., a 
contract logistics service supplier. CSX also has interests in real estate, 
resorts and resort management. 

For inforr'jtion concerning business conducted by CSXT during 1996, set 
"Management's Narrative Analysis and Results of Operations" on pages 32 and 33. 

Roadway 

On December 27, 1996, CSXT's consolidated system consisted of 31.365 
miles of track as follows: 

Track 
Miles 

First Ma-in 18,504 
Second Main 2.674 
Passing. Crossovers 
and Turnouts 2,369 

Way and Yard Switching 7.818 

Total 31.355 

Included above are 865 miles of leased track, 2.408 miles of track 
under trackage rights agreements with other railroads and 198 miles of track 
under operating contracts. 
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foilowing: 

Equipment 

On December 27. 1996. CSXT and subsidiaries owned or leased the 

Owned 

Locomotives 
Freight 1.874 
Switching 205 
Auxiliary Units 162 

Leased 

525 
15 
0 

Total 2.241 540 

Freight Cars 
Open Top Hoppers 14.713 
Gondolas 9,800 
Covered Hoppers 11,233 
Box Cars 9.306 
Flat Cars 684 
Other 1.479 

Totcl 47.215 

Item 3. Lecal Proceedings. 

10.047 
14.733 
7,015 
5.566 
11.946 
1.270 

50,577 

Total 

2,399 
220 
162 

2.781 

24,760 
24.533 
18,248 
14.872 
12.630 
2,749 

97.792 

A number of legal actions, other than the environmental matters 
described below, are pending against CSXT m which claims are made in 
substantial amounts. While the ultimate results of such actions cannot be 
predicted wnh certainty, management does not currently expect that these 
matters will have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows of the company. 

CSXT has been identified, together with other parties, as a 
potentially responsible party in a number of governmental investigations and 
actions relating to environmentally impaired sites. Such sites frequently 
involve other waste generators and disposal companies that may pay some or all 
of such costs associated with site investigation and cleanup or from whom such 
costs may be recovered. 

The wide range of costs of the possible remediation alternatives, 
changing cÛ anup technology, the length of time over which these matters develop 
and evo"'ving governrrental standards make i t impossible to estimate precisely the 
company's potential liability for the costs associated with the assessment and 
remediation of contaminated sites. 

CSXT has identified and maintains reserves for approximately 270 
environmental sites at whicn the company i i or may be liable for remediation 
costs CSXT reviews its environmental reserves at least quarterly to determine 
whether additional provisions jre nectcsary. Based on current information. CSXT 
believes ns reserves are adequate to meet remedial actions and to comply with 
present laws and regulations. Although CSXT's financial results could be 
sigmficantly affected in any quarterly reporting period in which CSXT incurred 
substantial remedial expenses at a number of these and other sites. CSXT 
believes the ultimate liability for these matters will not materially affect its 
overall results of operations and financial condition. 
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

Information omitted in accordance with General Instruction l(2)(c). 

PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters. 

There is no market for CSXT's common stock as CSXT is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CSX. During the years 1996, 1995 and 1994, CSXT paid 
dividends on its common stock aggregating $886 million. $158 million and 
million, respectively. 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data. 

Information omitted in accordance with General Instruction 1(2)(a). 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations. 

Information omitted in accordance with General Instruction I(2)(a). 

However, in compliance with said Instruction, see "Management's 
Narrative Analysis and Results of Operations" on pages 32 and 33. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

The consolidated financial statements of CSXT and notes thereto 
required in response to this item are included herein (refer to Inde; to 
Consolidated Financial Statements on page 9). 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and 
Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

PART III 

Item 10. Directors. Executive Officers. Promoters and Control Persons 
of ttie Registrant. 

Information omitted in accordance with General Instruction I(2)(c). 

Item 11. Executive Compensation. 

Information omitted in accordance with General Instruction I(2)(c). 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management. 
Information omitted in accordance with General Instruction I(2)(c). 
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions. 

Information omitted in accordance with General Instruction I(2)(c). 

PART IV 

Item 14. Exhibits. Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K. 

(a) 1. Financial Statements. 

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 9. 

2. Financial Statement Schedules. 

All schedules are omitted because of the absence of the 
conditions under which they are required or because the 
required information is set forth in the financial statements 
or related notes thereto. 

3. Exhibits. 

(3.1) Articles of Incorporation, as amended, incorporated herein 
by reference from Registrant's report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 29. 1995. 

(3.2) By-laws of the Registrant, as amended, incorporated herein 
by reference from Registrant's report on Form 10-K for the 
year enaed December 29, 1995. 

(27) Financial Data Schedule - Schedule II 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K. 

None. 

- 7 
55 



Signatures 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934. the Registrant has duly caused this rep'-̂ t to be signed on 
Its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on .he 19th day of 
March. 1997. 

CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. 

/s/ JAMES L. ROSS 

James L. Ross 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signatures Title 

/s/ John W. Snow Chairman of the Board and Director 

John W. Snow* 

/s/ Alvin R Carpenter President and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) and 

Alvin R. Carpenter* Director 
/s/ Gerald L Nichols Executive Vice President and Chief 

Operating Officer and Director 

Gerald L. Nichols* 

/s/ Mark G. Aron Director 

Mark G. Aron* 

/s/ Paul R. Goodwin Director 

Paul R. Goodwin* 

/s/ Michael J Ward Executive Vice President-Finance 
(Principal Finance Officer) and 

Michael J. Ward* Director 
/s/ Patricia J. Aftoora 

*Patricia J. Aftoora 
(Attorney-in-Fact) ^^^^^ ^^^^ 

8 -

56 



CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Report of Independent Auditors 
Page 

io 
CSX Transportation. I.nc. and Subsidiaries: 

Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated 
Finarcial Statements Submitted Herewith: 

Consolidated Statement of Earnings -
Fiscal Years Ended December 27. 1996 
December 29. 1995 and December 30. 1994 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows -
Fiscal Years Ended December 27, 1996, 
December 29. 1995 and December 30. 1994 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position -
December 27, 1996 and December 29. 1995 

Consolidated Statement of Retained Earnings 
Fiscal Years Ended December 27. 2996. 
December 29. 1995 and December 30. 1994 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

11 

12 

14 

15 

16 

- 9 
57 



REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP. INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

To the Shareholder and Board of Directors 
of CSX Transportation. Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of jj^^ancial 
position of CSX Transportation. Inc. and subsidianes as nf December 27. 
and December 29. 1995. and the related consolidated statr;ments of earn-ngs casn 
flows and retained earnings for each of the three years m the panod ended 
December 27. 1996. These financial statements are the responsibility ot the 
company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial sta:ements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free.' of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also inciudes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to 
above (appearing on pages 11-31) present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of CSX Transportation. Inc. and subsidiaries at 
December 27 19% and December 29. 1995. and the consolidated results of their 
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 27 1996. in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP 

Ernst & Young LLP 

Richmond. Virgini 
January 31. 1997 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS 

(Millions of Dollars) 

OPERATING REVENUE 
Merchandise 
Coal 
Other 

Total 

QOERATING EXPENSE 
Labor and Fringe Benefits 
Materials. Supplies and Other 
Equipment Rent 
Depreciation 
Fuel 

Restructuring Charge 

Total 

OPERATING INCOME 
Other Income 
Interest Expense 

EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES 

Income Tax Expense 

NET EARNINGS 

Fiscal Years Ended 

Dec. 27. Dec. 29. Dec. 30 
1996 1995 1994 

i 3.181 $ 3,158 $ 3.048 
1.584 1,523 1.465 
144 138 112 

4.909 4.819 4.625 

1.890 1.855 1.856 
1.006 1,076 1.022 
366 391 392 
413 385 371 
308 255 251 
... 196 — 

3.983 4.15B 3.892 

926 661 733 
46 37 96 
70 46 45 

902 652 784 

325 244 289 

$ 577 $ 408 $ 495 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(Millions of Dollars) 

Fiscal Years Ended 

Dec. 27. Dec. 29. Dec. 30. 
1996 1995 1994 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net Earnings $ 577 $ 408 $ 495 
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Earnings 

to Cash Provided 
Depreciation 413 385 371 
Deferred Income Taxes 198 52 171 
Restructuring Charge Provision — 196 . - . 

Productivity/Restructuring Charge Payments (77) (105) (US) 
Proceeds from Real Estate Sales 29 24 •I2 
Gain on Saie of South Florida Track — — (91) 
Gain from Disposition of Properties (20) (20) (38) 
Other Operating Activities (21) 38 66 
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities 

Accounts Receivable (37) 42 (27) 
Sale of Accounts Receivable-Net 41 25 20 
Other Current Assets (22) (7) 31 
Accounts Payable and Other Current 

Liabilities (39) 29 (15) 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1.042 1.067 896 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Property Additions (764) (765) (676) 
Proceeds from Property Dispositions 56 76 18 
Affiliated Company Activity 40 (37) (37) 
Proceeds from Sale of South Florida Track — — 130 
Other Investing Activities 10 (1) (35) 

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities (658) (727; (600) 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS. CONTINUED 

(Millions of Dollars) 

Fiscal Years Ended 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Long-Term Debt Issued 
Long-Term Debt Repaid 
Cash Dividends Paid 
Parent Company Advances Repaid 
Affiliated Company Activity 
Other Financing Activities 

Cash Used by Financing Activities 

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 

Dec. 27. Dec. 29. Dec. 30 
1996 1995 1994 

118 121 92 
(80) (114) (93) 
(886) (158) (28) 
(19) — (86) 
56 — — 

1 (8) (1) 

(810) (159) (116) 

(426) 181 180 

633 452 272 

$ 207 $ 633 $ 452 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
Interest Paid - Net of Amounts Capitalized $ 63 $ 50 $ 53 

Income Taxes Paid $ 135 $ 227 $ 192 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(Millions of Dollars) 
Dec. 27. 
1996 

Dec. 29, 
1995 

ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 207 
Accounts and Notes Receivable 62 
Materials and Supplies 121 
Deferred Income Taxes 183 
Other Current Assets 41 

Total Current Assets 614 

Properties-Net 9,750 
Affiliates and Other Companies 148 
Other Long-Term Assets 288 

Total Assets tlO.800 

LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Accounts Payable $ 547 
Labor and Fringe Benefits Payable 353 
Casualty, Environmental and Other Reserves 199 
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 77 
Due to Parent Company 25 
Due to Affiliate 90 
(Dther Current Liabilities 37 

Total Current Liabilities 1.328 

Casualty. Environmental and Other Reserves 597 
Long-Term Debt 886 
Deferred Income Taxes 2.493 
Other Long-Term Liabilities 684 

Total Liabilities 5.988 

SHAREHOLDER'S EQUIP, 
Common Stock. $20 Par Value: 
Authorized 10.000,000 Shares: 
Issued and Outstanding 9.061.038 Shares 181 

Other Capital 1.263 
Retained Earnings 3,368 

Total Shareholder's Equity 4.812 

Total Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity $10,800 

633 
66 
116 
201 
15 

1.031 

9,189 
226 
183 

$10,629 

558 
377 
194 
74 
24 

1.233 

683 
613 

2.265 
787 

5.581 

181 
1.193 
3.674 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RETAINED EARNINGS 

(Millions of Dollars) 

Beginning Balance 

Net Earmngs 

Dividends - Cottrion 

Minimum Pension Liability Adjustments 
and Other 

Ending Balance 

Dec. 27. 
1996 

$3,674 

577 

(886) 

$3,368 

Dec. 29. 
1995 

$3,424 

408 

(158) 

$3,674 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Dec. 30. 
1994 

$2,957 

495 

(28) 

$3,424 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES. 

Nature of Operations 

CSX Transportation. Inc. (CSXT) is a rail freight transportation 
company operating a system composed of 18,504 route miles of track in 20 states 
in the eastern midwestem, and southern portions of the United States and in 
Ontario Canada Coal, bulk oroducts, and manufactured products each contribute 
approximately one-third of the company's transportation revenue. Coal shipments 
primarily supply domestic utility and export markets. Shipments of bulk 
products for domestic and export markets include chesTiicals. minerals, 
agricultural products, and phosphates and fertilizer Shipments of manufactured 
products for domestic and export markets include automobiles, forest products, 
metals, and food and consumer products. 

CSXT is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSX Corporation (CSX). 

Principles of Consolidation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements include CSXT and its majority-
owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and tr=jnsactions have 
been eliminated Investments in companies that are not majority-owned are 
carried at either cost or equity, depending on the extent of control. 

Fiscal Year 

The company's fiscal reporting period ends on the last Friday "in 
December. The financial statements presented are for the fiscal periods ended 
December 27. 1996, December 29. 1995 and December 30. 1994. Each fiscal year 
consists of four 13-week quarters. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents primarily represent amounts due from CSX for 
CSXT's participation in the CSX cash management plan and are net of outstanding 
checks which are funded daily as presented for payment. 

Accounts Receivable 

CSXT has an ongoing agreement to sell without re'-ourse, on a revolving 
basis each month, an undivided percentage ownership interest in ail freight 
accounts receivable to CSX Trade Receivables Corporation (CTRC). a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of CSX. At December 27. 1996 and December 29. 1995 accounts 
receivable sold under this agreement totaled $644 million and $60J mill,on 
respectively In addition. CSXT has a revolving agreement witii a financial 
institution to sell with recourse on a monthly basis an undivided percentage 
ownership interest in all miscellaneous accounts receivable. At December i l . 
1996 and December- 29. 1995. accounts receivable sold under this agreement 
totted $46 million The sales of receivables have been reflected as reductions 
of "Accounts and Notes Receivable" in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
pLit55n The net costs associated with the sales of receivables were $55 
million in 1996, $54 million in 1995 and $45 million in 1994. 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES. Continued. 

Materials and Supplies 

Matenals and supplies consist primarily of fuel and items for 
maintenance of property and equipment, and are carried at average cost. 

Properties 

Main line track is depreciated on a group basis using a unit-of-
property method. All other property and equipment is depreciated on a straight-
line basis over estimated useful lives of three to 50 years. 

Regulations established by the former Interstate Commerce Commission 
and currently monitored by the Surface Transportation Board of the U.S. 
Department of Transportation (DOT) require periodic formal studies of ultimate 
service lives for all railroad assets. Resulting service life estimates are 
subject to review and approval by the DOT. Significant premature retirements 
for all properties, which would include major casualty losses, abandonments, 
sales and obsolescence of assets, are recorded as gams or losses at the time of 
their occurrence. Expenditures which significantly increase asset values or 
extend useful lives are capitalized. Repair and maintenance expenditures are 
charged tc operating expense when the work is performed. All properties are 
stated at cost. 

Properties and other long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or business conditions indicate the carrying amount of such 
assets may not be fully recoverable. Initial assessments of recoverability are 
based on estimates of undiscounted future net cash flows associatea with an 
asset or group of assets. Where impairment is indicated, the assets are 
evaluated for sale or other disposition, and their carrying amount is reduced to 
fair value based on discounted net cash flows or other estimates of fair value. 

The company acquired $255 million in property in 1996 which did not 
require an iimiediate outlay of cash. These property additions included the 
acquisition of $164 million in raiicars and locomotives, formerly leased from a 
CSX-affi1iated company, in exchange for the assumption of corresponding debt. 
The property additions also included the early delivery of 55 alternating 
current locomotives under an arrangement in which payment of the $91 million 
aggregate purchase price was deferred to the subsequent periods in which the 
locomotives would have originally been delivered. Under generally accepted 
accounting principles, these noncash fansactions are not reflected in the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. 

Revenue Recognition 

Transportation revenue is recognized proportionately as shipments move 
from origin to destination. 

Environmental Costs 

Environmental costs that relate to current operations are expensed or 
capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to remediating an existing 

- 17 -

65 



CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT .ACCOUNTING POLICIES. Continued. 

condition caused by past operations, and which do not contribute to current or 
future revenue generation, are expensed. Liabilities are recorded when CSXT s 
responsibility for environmental remedial efforts is deemed probable, and the 
rnsts can be reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these accruals 
coincides with the completion of a feasibility study or CSXT's commitment to a 
formal plan of action. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 

CSX may use derivative financial instruments from time to time "i" the 
management of its interest, foreign currency and commodity exposure on behalf of 
CSXT and other CSX subsidiaries. Such derivative financial instruments are 
accounted for on an accrual basis, and income and expense are recorded in the 
same category as that of the underlying asset or liability. Gains and losses 
related to hedges of existing assets or liabilities are deferred and recogmzed 
over the expected remaining life of the related asset or liability. Gams and 
losses related to hedges of anticipated transactions are also deferred and 
recognized in income in the same period as the hedged transaction. CSX had no 
significant derivative financial instruments outstanding at December 27. 1996. 

Common Stock and Other Capital 

There have been no changes in common stock during the last three 
years During 1996. CSX contributed to the company $70 million in net pension 
assets. During 1995, $146 million in capital stock of CSX Realty. Inc. and 
related subsidiaries was contributed by CSX. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles reauires that management make estimates m 
reporting the amounts of certain revenues and expenses for each fisca year ana 
certain assets and liabilities at the end cf each fiscal year. Actual results 
may differ from those estimates. 

Prior-Year Data 

Certain prior-year data have been reclassified to conform to the 1996 
presentation. 

Accounting Pronouncements 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board has issued Statement No. 125 
"Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extmguisliments 
of Liabilities." which establishes new guidelines for accounting and disclosure 
related to transfers of trade accounts receivable and other financial assets. 
In addition the Arr.erican Institute of Certified Public Accountants has issued 
Statement of Position No. 96-1 "Environmental Remediation Liabilities, which 
prov?dIs revised guidance on accounting and disclosure relative to environmental 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 1. SIGMFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES. Continued. 

obi 1 gatiens. The company w i l l aaopt both pronouncements in 1997 and does not 
expect either pronouncement to have a material impact cn i ts financial 
statements. 

NOTE 2. RESTRUCTURING CHARGE. 

In the second quarter of 1995. the company recorded a $196 mill ion 
pretax restructuring charge to recognize the costs associated with a contractual 
agreement with a major telecommunications vendor to replace, manage, and 
technologically enhance i t s existing private telecommunications network. The 
in i t ia t ive resulted in a write-down of assets rendered technologically obsolete 
and a provision for separation and labor protection payments to affected 
employees. 

The agreement, which original ly was to expire in May 2005. provided 
for the vendor to supply and manage new technology to replace CSXT's existing 
telecommunications system, thereby rendering i t commercially obsolete. These 
assets, comprising CSXT's internal companywide telecormiumcations network, 
including existing microwave and fiber optic communications systems, have no 
alternative use and thei r net realizable value is not signif icant. As a resulc 
of the agreement, the net book value of the assets to be replaced was reduced by 
$163 mi l l ion. 

During 1996. CSXT and the vendor amended the agreement to change the 
termination date to June 30, 1998. to increase the payments required over the 
revised service period, and to relieve the vendor's obligations to replace 
certain technology. CSXT is currently evaluating options for proceeding with 
further telecommunications in i t ia t i ves . 

A summary of the restructuring charge and related act iv i ty through 
December 27. 1996 is as follows. 

Separation 
and Labor 

Obsolete Protection 
Assets Costs 

Restructuring Charge 

Amounts Ut i l ized through 
December 27. 1996 

Remaining Reserve as of 
December 27. 1996 

$163 

163 

$33 

1 

$32 

Total 

$196 

164 

$ 32 

The tota l provision for separation and labor protection payments 
relates to approximately 275 effected employees and was based on existing 
collective bargaining agreements with members of c le r i ca l , e lectr ical , and 
signal crafts. Through December 27. 1996, 29 employee separations have been 
finalized. The company expects the remaining affected employees to be impacted 
within the next four years. 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. ANO SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 3 SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF EARNINGS FINANCIAL DATA. 

1996 1995 1594 

Selling. General and Administrative Expense $800 $846 $849 

NOTE 4. OTHER INCOME. 
1996 1995 1994 

Interest Income - Other $ 9 $ 17 $ 20 
Interest Income - CSX Cash Management Plan 33 34 13 
Income from Real Estate Operations (a) 51 43 47 
Loss on Investment Transactions ... ... (26) 
Gain on South Florida Track Sale (b) — — 91 
Fees Related to Accounts Receivable Sold (55) (54) (45) 
Miscellaneous 8 (3) (4) 

Total $ 46 $ 37 $ 96 

(a) Gross revenue from real estate operations was $76 millior.. $68 
million and $78 million in 1996. 1995 and 1994. respectively. 

(b) In May 1988. CSXT sold approximately 80 miles of track and right 
of way in Browaro. Dade and Palm Beach counties to the State of Florida for $264 
million subject to annual appropriations which were accounted for on an 
installment basis. In December 1994, the State of Florida elected to satisfy 
its remaining unfunded obligation issued in 1988 to consummate the purchase of 
track and right-of-way. The transaction resulted in cash proceeds of $102 
million and a pretax gain of $69 million. The scheduled payment resulted in a 
$22 million gain in 1994. 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

INCOME TAXES. 

Income tax expense information is as follows: 

Current 
Federal 
State and Foreign 

Total Current 

Deferred 
Federal 
State 

Total Deferred 

Total Expense 

1996 

$106 
21 

127 

202 
(4) 

198 

$325 

1995 

$169 
23 

192 

55 
(3) 

52 

$244 

1994 

$106 
12 

118 

164 
7 

171 

$289 

Income tax expense reconciled to the tax computed at statutory rates 
is as follows: 

1996 1995 1994 

Ta," at Statutory Rates 
State Income Taxes 
Other 

Total Expense 

$316 
10 
(1) 

351 
1 

$228 
13 
3 

35̂  
2 

$325 36̂  $244 37̂  

$274 2S% 
13 2 
2 

$289 27% 

include: 
The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Dec. 27, 
1996 

Deferred Tax Assets 
Productivity/Restructuring Charges $ 154 
Employee Benefit Plans 
Alternative Minimum Tax Credits 
Other 

Total 

Deferred Tax Liabilities 
Accelerated Depreciation 
Other 

Tctal 

Net Deferred Tax Liabilities 

206 
5 

269 

634 

2.685 
259 

2.944 

$2,310 

Dec. 29, 
1995 

220 
209 
93 
274 

796 

2.684 
176 

2.860 

$2,064 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 5. INCOME TAXES. Continued. 

CSXT and its subsidiaries are included in the consolidated federal 
income tax return filed by CSX. The consolidated federal mcome tax expense or 
benefit is allocated to CSXT and its subsidiaries as though CSXT had filed a 
separate consolidated return. 

Examinations of the federal income tax returns of CSX and its 
principal subsidiaries have been completed through 1990. Returns for 1991-1993 
are currently under examination. Management believes adequate provision has 
been made for any adjustments thai might be assessed. 

NOTE 6. RELATED PARTIES. 

Cash and cash equivalents at December 27. 1996 and December 29, 1995. 
includes $250 million and $677 million, respectively, representing amounts due 
from CSX for CSXT's participation in the CSX cash management plan. Under this 
plan, excess cash is advanced to CSX for investment and CSX makes cash funds 
available to its subsidiaries as needed for use in their operations. CSX is 
committed to repay all amounts due on demand should circumstances require The 
companies are charged for borrowings or compensated for investments based on 
returns earned by the plan portfolio. 

During 1994. CSXT entered into a loan agreement with Customized 
Transportation. Inc. (CTI). a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSX. whereby CTI 
borrowed $40 million at prevailing interest rates from CSXT. On March 1. 1996 
the loan was sold at book value to another CSX affiliate. 

During 1992. CSXT entered into an agreement with CTRC to sell, on a 
revolving basis, without recourse, all existing accounts receivable to CTRC. In 
1993. this agreement was amended to sell only freight accounts receivable to 
CTRC. As of December 27. 1996 and December 29. 1995. CSXT had sold $644 million 
and $603 million, respectively, of accounts receivable to CTRC. 

During 1994, CSXT repaid the remaining formal long-term borrowings 
from CSX outstanding at December 31. 1993. No long-term borrowings from CSX 
were outstanding during either 1996 or 1995. Interest expense on borrowings 
from CSX was $3 million in 1994. 

During 1989. CSXT's pension plan for salaried employees was merged 
with the CSX Pension Plan, and all assets of CSXT's plan were transferred to the 
merged plan. Since the plans were merged. CSX has allocjted to CSXT a portion 
of the net pension expense for the CSX Pension Plan based on CSXT's relative 
level of participation in the merged plan, which considers the assets and 
personnel previously in the CSXT plan. The allocated expense from the CSX 
Pension Plan amounted to $32 million in 1996. $26 million in 1995 and $42 
million in 1994. During 1996. CSXT also received $113 million in pension 
assets. $70 million after-tax. from CSX through a capital contribution. 

• 22 -

70 



CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 6. RELATED PARTIES. Continued. 

Included m Matenals. Supplies and Other expense are amounts related 
to a management service fee charged by CSX, data processing related charges from 
CSX Technology. Inc.(CSX Technology), and the reimbursement, under an operating 
agreement, from CSX Intermodal. Inc. (CSXI). for costs incurred by CSXT related 
to intermodal operations. The management service fee charged by CSX represents 
compensation for certain corporate services provided to CSXT. These services 
include, but are not limited to. development of corporate policy and long-range 
strategic plans, allocation of capital, placement of debt, maintenance of 
employee benefit plans, internal audit and tax administration. The data 
processing related charges are compensation to CSX Technology for the 
development, implementation and maintenance of computer systems, software and 
associated documentation for the day to-day operations of CSXT. CSX Technology 
and CSXI are wholly-owned subsidiaries of CSX. Materials. Supplies and Other 
expense includes net expense of $212 million. $202 million and $203 million in 
1996. 1995 and 1994. respectively, relating to the above arrangements. 

CSXT entered into operating lease agreements with CSXI in October 1991 
and December 1992 under which i t agreed to lease 3.400 rebuilt coal gondola cars 
through March 2006 and 65 locomotives through May 2008. respectively. Effective 
March 1, 1996. the operating leases were terminated and CSXT purchased the cars 
and locomotives from CSXI for $164 million, an amount approximating CSXI's net 
book value. In conjunction with this transaction, CSXT assumed $145 million in 
long-term debt secured by the equipment and $19 million of advances payable from 
CSXI to CSX. CSXT repaid the $19 million advances due to CSX in December 1996. 

In March 1996, CSXT entered into a loan agreement with CSX Insurance 
Company (CSX Insurance), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSX. whereby CSXT may 
borrow up to $100 million from CSX Insurance. The loan is payable m full on 
demand. At December 27. 1996, $90 million was outstanding under the agreement. 
Interest on the loan is payable monthly at .25* over the LIBOR rate, and was 
5.84* at December 27. 1996. Interest expense incurred for the fiscal year ended 
December 27. 1996 was $4 million relating to this loan agreement. 

During 1988, CSXT participated with Sea-Land Service. Inc. (Sea-Land), 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSX. in four sale-leaseback arrangements. Under 
these arrangements. Sea-Land sold equipment to a third party and CSXT leased the 
equipment and assigned the lease to Sea-Land. Sea-Land is obligated for all 
lease payments and other associated equipment expenses. If Sea-Land defaults on 
its obligations, under the arrangements CSXT would assume the asset lease rights 
and obligations of $131 million at December 27. 1996. 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 7. PROPERTIES. 

Transportation 
Road 
Equipment 

Non Transportation 

Total 

Cost 

$ 9.308 
4.220 

13.528 
275 

$13,803 

December 27. 1996 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

$2,619 
1.427 

4.046 
7 

$4,053 

Net 

$6,689 
2.793 

9.482 
268 

$9,750 

December 29. 1995 

Transportation 
Road 
Equipment 

Non Transportation 

Total 

Cost 

$ 9.157 
3.829 

12.986 
246 

$13,232 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

$2,620 
1.417 

4.037 
6 

$4,043 

Net 

$6,537 
2.412 

8.949 
240 

$9,189 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

•NOTE 8. CASUALTY. ENVIRONMENTAL AND OTHER RESERVES. 

Activity relating to casualty, environmental and other reserves 
foilows: 

Casualty(a) Environmental Separation (a) 
Reserves(b) Reserves(a) Liabilities(c) Total 

Balance Dec. 31. 1993 $ 379 $ 131 $ 622 $1,132 
Charged to Expense 

$ 622 $1,132 

and Other Additions 164 32 - • • 196 
Payments and Other 

32 196 

Reductions (184) (23) (228)(d) (435) 

Balance Dec. 30. 1994 359 140 394 893 
Charged to Expense 

140 394 893 

and Other Additions 179 22 33 234 
Payments and Other 

22 234 

Reductions (174) (25) (51) (250) 

Balance Dec. 29, 1995 364 137 376 877 
Charged to Expense 
and Other Additions 116 16 132 
Payments and Other 
Reductions (151) (36) (26) (213) 

Balance Dec. 27. 1996 $ 329 $ 117 $ 350 $ 796 

(a) Balances include current portion of casualty and environmental reserves and 
separation liabilities, respectively, of $135 million. $20 million, and $45 
million at December 27, 1996. $147 million. $20 million and $27 million at 
December 29. 1995 and $133 million. $20 million and $14 million at 
December 30. 1994. 

(b) Casualty reserves are estimated based upon the first reporting of an 
accident or personal injury to an employee. Liabilities for accidents are 
based upon field reports and liabilities for personal injuries are based 
upon the type and severity of the injury and the use of current trends and 
historical data. 

(c) Separation liabilities include $318 million at December 27, 1996. $344 
million at December 29. 1995 and $376 million at December 30, 1994 related 
to productivity charges recorded in 1991 and 1992 to provide for the 
estimated costs of implementing workforce reductions, •improvements in 
productivity and other cost reductions. The remaining liabilities are 
expected to be paid out over the next 20 to 25 years. 

(d) Includes the transfer of $156 million in 1994 to a separation-related 
pension ooligation, representing the future cost of pensions for certain 
train crew employees impacted by the buyout of trip-based compensation 
provided for in the 1992 productivity charge. 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 9. LONG-TERM DEBT. 
Average 

Type and Interest Rates Dec. 27. Dec. 29, 
Maturity Dates at Dec. 27, 1996 1996 1995 

Equipment Obligations 
(1997-2011) 8X $ 711 $ 427 
Mortgage Bonds 
(1998-2003) 4S 76 76 

Other Obligations 
(1997-2021) 6% 176 184 

Total 7% 963 687 
Less Debt Due Within One Year 77 74 

Total Long-Term Debt $ 886 $ 613 

CSXT has long-term debt maturities for 1997 through 2001 aggregating 
$77 million. $80 million, $89 million. $69 million and $60 million, 
respectively. 

A portion of the properties and certain other assets of CSXT and its 
subsidiaries are pledged as security for various long-term debt issues. 

NOTE 10. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS. 

Fair values of the company's financial instruments are estimated by 
reference to quoted prices from market sou ces and financial institutions, as 
well as other valuation techniques. Long-term debt is the only financial 
instrument of the company with a fair value significantly different from its 
carrying amount. .At December 27. 1996. the fair value of long-term debt, 
including current maturities, was $989 million, compared with a carrying amount 
of $963 million. At December 29. 1995. the fair value of long-term debt, 
including current maturities, was $720 million, compared with a carrying amount 
of $687 million. The fair value of long-term debt has been estimated using 
discounted cash flow analyses based upon the company's current incremental 
borrowing rates for similar types of financing arrangements. 

NOTE 11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS. 

Pension Plans 

CSX and its subsidiaries, including CSXT. sponsor cefined benefit 
pension plans principally for salaried employees. The plans provide eligible 
employees with retirement benefits based principally on years of service and 
compensation rates near retirement. Annual contributions to the plans are 
sufficient to meet the minimum funding standards set forth in the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. as amended. See Note 6 for the 
allocated pension expense from the CSX Pension Plan. 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Mirions of Dollars) 

NOTE 11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS. Continued. 

Savings Plans 

CSXT maintains savings plans for virtually all full-time salaried 
employees and certain employees covered by collective bargaining agreements of 
CSXT and subsidiary companies. Eligible employees may contnbute from 1* to 15* 
of their annual compensation in i * multiples to these plans. CSXT matches 
eligible employees' contributions in an amount equal to the lesser of 50* of 
each participating employee s contribution or 3* of their annual compensation. 
In addition. CSXT contributes fixed amounts for participating employees covered 
by certain collective bargaining agreements. Expense for these plans was $15 
million for 1996 and $22 million for each of the years 1995 and 1994. 

Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans 

In addition to the CSX defined benefit pension plans. CSXT 
participates with CSX and other affiliates in two defined benefit post-
retirement plans which cover most full-time salaried employees. One plan 
provides medical benefits and the other provides life insurance benefits. The 
post-retirement medical plan is contributory, with retiree contributions 
adjusted annually, and contains other cost-sharing features such as deductibles 
and coinsurance. The net benefit obligation for the medical plan anticipates 
future cost-sharing changes consistent with the company's expressed intent to 
increase retiree contribution rates annually in line with expected medical cost 
inflation rates. The life insurance plan is non-contributory. 

The company's current policy is to fund the cost of the post-
retirement medical and life insurance benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis, as in 
prior years. The amounts recorded for the plans in CSXT's statement of 
financial position are as follows: 

Medical Plan Life Insurance Plan 
(at Valuation Date) (at Valuation Date) 

Sep̂- 30. Dec. 29. Sept. 30. Dec. 29, 
1996 1995 1996 1995 

Accumulated Post-Retirement 
Benefit Obligation: 
Retirees $168 $155 $55 $63 
Fully Eligible Active Participants 17 13 2 2 
Other Active Participants 20 20 1 1 

Accumulated Post-Retirement 
Benefit Obligation 205 

Unrecognized Prior Service Cost 6 
Unrecognized Net(Loss) Gain (41) 
Claim Payments, Oct. 1 through Year-End (5) 

Net Post-Retirement Benefit Obligation 
at Year-End !12 ! ! i 

(a) In 1996 the company changed the measurement date for valuing its post-
retirement benefit obligation to September 30. The change in measurement date 
had no effect on 1996 or pnor years' net expense for post-retirement benefits, 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS. Continued 

Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans. Continued 

to, expense for post-retirement benefits was $22 million $22 million 
S e m Oh 159§-,̂ 995 and 1994, respectively. The net pSst retiremenf^ 
benefit obligation was determined using the assumption that the health care cost 
hv'5nn£'̂ n/°' ""̂ ^̂"'̂  Pl'I!' 1996-1997. decreasing griduallj to 5 5* 
KLlth r.?p rlTf'f'l^r^'^ l^'^ ^^'J^ thereafter. A 1* increase in the assumed 
hfn^V/^r? ^ ^ f ^ ̂ ^̂ ^ "̂ ^̂ ^̂  increase.the accumulated post-retirement 
benefit obligation for medical plans as of December 27. 1996 by $14 million and 
"!LP°'^H'f ̂"̂ "̂  ^̂ "̂ ^̂ ^ 1996 by $2 million The disciunj ?ate 
¥or^9S6lnd'S'an5\'M^^ ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' 
Other Plans 

n.,mK.. «̂  ̂ "̂ ^̂  collective bargaining agreements, the company participates in a 
number of union-sponsored, multi-employer benefit plans. Payments to these 
plans are made as part of aggregate assessments generally based on number of 
employees covered, hours worked, tonnage moved or a combination thereof The 

muUi-employer plans generally allocate funds received 
from part CIpating companies to various health and welfare benefit plans and 
E^^^^wVl^"!^ Current information regarding such allocations has not beer 
provided by the administrators. Total contributions of $142 million $148 
and 1994̂  million, respectively, were made to these plans in i996, 1995 

nnr̂ ^̂ c ^^'^^IH officers and key employees of CSXT participate in stock 
purchase, performance and award plans of CSX. CSXT is allocated its share of 
any cost to participate in these plans. 

NOTE 12. SUMMARY OF COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES. 

Lease Commitments 

?̂ases equipment under agreements with terms up to 21 years 
Non-cancelable, long-term leases generally include provisions for maintenance 
and options to purchase at fair value and to extend the terms At December 27 
lyyb. minimum equipment rentals under non-cancelable operating leases totaled 
?SSo°'']1'oî ^̂ i?̂ ^̂  1̂ 97. $164 million for 1998, $147 million for 
1999, $129 million for 2000. $122 million for 2001 and $1 billion thereafter. 

Rent expense on equipment operating leases, including net daily rental 
charges on railroad operating equipment of $205 million. $218 million and $220 
l?oln 1996, 1995 and 1994. -espectively, amounted to $366 million in 1996. 
$390 million in 1995 and $392 million in 1994. 

Purchase Commitment 

CSXT entered into agreements during 1993 and 1996 to purchase 380 
locomotives. These large orders cover normal locomotive replacement needs 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. CONTINUED 

(All Tables in Millions of Dollars) 

NOTE 12. SUMMARY OF COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES. Continued. 

for 1994 through 1997 and introduced alternating current traction technology to 
the locomotive fleet. CSXT has taken delivery of 50 direct current and 255 
alternating current locomotives through December 27. 1996. The remaining 75 
alternating current units will be delivered in 1997. 

Other Cormiitments 

During 1995, CSXT entered into an agreement with a major 
telecommunications vendor to supply and manage its telecoirmumcations needs 
through May 2005. As discussed in Note 2 - Restructuring Charge, the agreement 
was amended in 1996 to significantly reduce the service period, mcrease 
contractual payment amounts over the revised service period, and relieve the 
vendor of obligations to replace certain telecommunications technology. The 
amended agreement provides for a revised termination date of June 30, 1998. and 
requires minimum payments totaling $56 million over the remaining service 
period. 

Contingent Liabilities and Long-Term Operating Agreements 

CSXT and its subsidiaries are contingently liable individually and 
jointly with others as guarantors of long-term debt and obligations principally 
related to leased equipment, joint ventures and joint facilities. These 
contingent obligations were immaterial to the company's results of operations 
and financial position at December 27, 1996. 

CSXT has various long-term railroad operating agreements that allow 
for exclusive operating nghts over various railroad lines. Under these 
agreements. CSXT is obligated to pay usage fees of approximately $9 million 
annually. The terms of these agreements range from 30 to 40 years. 

CSXT is a party to various proceedings involving private parties and 
regulatory agencies related to environmental issues. CSXT has been identified 
as a potentially responsible party (PRP) at approximately 105 environmentally 
impaired sites that are or may be subject to remedial action under the Federal 
Superfund statute (Superfund) or similar state statutes. A number of these 
proceedings are based on allegations that CSXT, or its predecessor railroads, 
sent hazardous substances to the facilities in question for disposal. Such 
proceedings arising under Superfund or similar state statutes can involve 
numerous other waste generators and disposal companies and seek to allocate or 
recover costs associated with site investigation and cleanup, which could be 
substantial. 

CSXT is involved in a number of administrative and judicial 
proceedings and other cleanup efforts at approximately 270 sites, including 
sites addressed under the Federal Superfund statute or similar state statutes, 
at which i t is participating in the study and/or cleanup of alleged 
environmental contamination. The assessment of the required response and 
remed.al costs associated with many sites is extremely complex. Cost estimates 
are based on information available for each site, financial viability of other 
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NOTE 12. SUMMARY OF COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES. Continued 

PRPs. where available, and existing technology, laws and regulations. CSXT's 
best estimates of the allocation method and percentage of liability when other 
PRPs are involved are based on assessments by consultants, agreements among 
PRPs. or determinations by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency or other 
regulatory agencies. 

At least once each quarter. CSXT reviews its role, i f any. with 
respect to each such location, giving consideration to the nature of CSXT's 
alleged connection to the location (e.g.. generator, owner or operator), the 
extent of CSXT's alleged connection (e.g., volume of waste sent to the location 
and other relevant factors), the accuracy and strength of evidence connecting 
CSXT to the location, and the number, connection and financial position of other 
named and unnamed PRPs at the location. The ultimate liability for remediation 
can be difficult to determine with certainty because of the number and 
creditworthiness of PRPs involved. Through the assessment process. CSXT 
monitors the creditworthiness of such PRPs in determining ultimate liability. 

Based upon such reviews and updates of the sites with which i t is 
involved, CSXT has recorded, and reviews at least quarterly for adequacy, 
reserves to cover estimated contingent future environmental costs with respect 
to such sites. The recorded liabilities for estimated future environmental 
costs at December 27. 1996 and December 29. 1995 were $117 million and $137 
million, respectively. These recorded liabilities include amounts representing 
CSXT's estimate of unasserted claims, which CSXT believes to be immaterial. The 
liability has been accrued for future costs for all sites where the company's 
obligation is probable and where such costs can be reasonably estimated. The 
liability includes future costs for remediation and restoration of sites as well 
as any significant ongoing monitoring costs, but excludes any anticipated 
insurance recoveries. The majority of the December 27. 1996 environmental 
liability is expected to be paid out over the next five to seven years, funded 
by cash generated from operations. 

The company does not currently possess sufficient information to 
reasonably estimate the cmounts of additional liabilities, i f any. on some sites 
until completion of future environmental studies. In addition, latent 
conditions at any given location could result in exposure, the amount and 
materiality of which canrot presently be reliably estimated. Based upon 
information currently available, however, the company believes that its 
environmental reserves are adequate to accomplish remedial actions to comply 
with present laws and -̂egulations. and that the ultimate liability for these 
matters will not materially affect its overall results of operations and 
financial condition. 

Legal Proceedings 

A number of legal actions, other than environmental, are pending 
against CSXT in which claims are made in substantial amounts. While the 
ultimate results of environmental investigations, lawsuits and claims involving 
CSXT cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not currently expect 
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NOTE 12. SUMMARY OF COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES, Continued 

that these matters w i l l have a material adverse effect on the consolidated 
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the company 

NOTE 13. QUARTERLY DATA (Unauditea). 

1996 

Operating Revenue 
Operating Income 
Net Earnings 

1st 2nd(a) 3rd 4th 

$1,195 $1,255 $1,211 $1,248 
182 269 224 251 
107 164 133 173 

1995 

1st 2nd(b) 3rd 4th 

$1,194 $1,211 $1,191 $1,223 
196 21 217 227 
114 9 138 147 

Operating Revenue 
Operating Income 
Net Earnings 

(a) In the second quarter of 1996, the company changed its earnings 
presentation to exclude real estate activities from operating revenue 
and expense. These activities are now included in other income in the 
consolidated statement of earnings. Amounts for prior quarters have 
been restated to conform to the new presentation. 

(b) The company recorded a $196 million pretax restructuring charge in the 
second quarter of 1995 to recognize the coftc Gasoci?t.Pd with a 
contractual agreement with a major telecommumcî tions vendor to 
replace, manage and technologically enhance its existing private 
telecommunications network. The charge included a $163 million write­
down of technologically obsolete telecommunications assets and 
provisions for employee separations. The restructuring charge reduced 
net earnings by $121 million. 
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CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
MANAGEMENT'S NARRATIVE ANALY3IS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

CSXT posted record operating income of $926 million in 1996 8* above 
1995's comparable S857 million. The results are primarily due to strong 
performances by the coal and auto business units, continued selective rate 
increases and ongoing cost control efforts. 

Improved pricing and volume strength combined tc produce operating 
revenue of S4.9 billion, a 2* increase over 1995. 

CSXT COMMODITIES BY CARLOADS AND REVENUE 

Automotive 
Chemicals 
Minerals 
Food and Consumer 
Agncultural Products 
Metals 
Forest Products 
Phosphates and Fertilizer 
Coal 

Total 

Other Revenue 

Total Operating Revenue 

Carloads Revenue 
(Thousands) (Millions of DolT 

1996 1995 1996 1995 

367 357 $ 520 $ 503 
408 406 719 700 
428 414 379 375 
167 179 199 207 
254 280 323 336 
277 301 290 291 
443 456 472 464 
511 512 279 282 

1.711 1.678 1.584 1.523 

4,566 4,583 4.765 4.681 

144 138 

$4,909 $4,819 

Shipments of coal. CSXT's major conmodity, remained strong in 1996. 
with total coal volume increasing to 163.6 million tons vs. 158.5 million tons 
m 1995. Total merchandise traffic of 2.9 million carloads remained level with 
1995. Chemical traffic remained strong. co.Tiparable to the 1995 level, due to 
steady demand for plastic production. Driven by strong demand for trucks and 
sport utility vehicles, the automotive market experienced a 3* increase in 
carloads and a like increase in revenues in 1996. 

A late harvest caused gram shipments to be less robust than in the 
pnor year. This resulted in a 9* decrease in carloads and a 4* decrease 1n 
revenues for agncultural products. Demand for phosphates and fertilizer 
remained solid, Carloads were level with 1995. while revenue decreased 1*. 

Throughout the year, CSXT continued its emphasis on cost control. 
Despite bad weather earlier in the first quarter and a 20* rise in the average 
price of diesel fuel, rail operating expense rose only 1* over 1995, excluding 
the 1995 second-quarter charge. 
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MANARFMrKiT-c TRANSPORTATION. INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
wwbtMENT S NARRATIVE ANALYSIS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. CONTINUED 

(PITS) rpJi'to2"?°̂ "5 efforts of the company's Performance Improvement Teams 
resulted in mnrp ̂ nc?^l4^'J"^^ °̂  ""̂'̂  5106 million. PIT initiatives also 
well armamSnce Of waT ' locomotive and car repair, as 

$1 86 bin̂ oS°̂ n̂ ŜQr''T ^̂ P̂̂''̂^ increased 2* tc $1.89 billion, vs. 
strike . Mmnn r;n?̂ - ,^^^^^agement successfully negotiated, without a 

fnngl'ben^f5?s oTelTnl l e l i ^ ^ r ^ ' ' ' " ^ ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ^ -

OTHER MATTERS 

rnmK-inn ^S^^ Corporatioii IS negotiating the final details of a transaction to 
system' ofscŜ Sns'wn̂ h'Jnrf̂ ¥!:T̂ .̂ °"̂ ';̂ ' operations into ?Se S rail iĴ ŝ ussions with Norfolk Southern Corporation are expected to l«ad to a 

ra° f'JlS'r TnluTf.'.l ^^^^ Conrail system between the two ?lma?niSg ma or'° ' 

l5??t?Sn1t^Jo°Sd???Ss.^'"' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' -S^^^ ^^ris^l^Xlll 
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PART I 

Item 1. Business. 

and 

Item 2. Properties, 

GENERAL - Norfolk Southern Corporation (Norfolk Southern) was 
incorporated on July 23, 1980, under the laws of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia. On June 1, 1982, Norfolk Southern acquired control cf two 
major operating railroads, Norfolk and Western Railway Company (NW) and 
Southern Railway Company (Southern) in accordance with an Agreement of 
Merger and Reorganization dated as of July 31, 1980, and with the 
approval of the transaction by the Interstate Commerce Commission (ICC) 

I (now the Surface Transportation Board (STB>). 

Effective December 31, 1990, Norfolk Southern trans erred a l l 
the common stock of NW to Southern, and Southern's name was -jh-nged to 
Norfolk Southern Railway Conpany (Norfolk Southern Railwa-') . A.s'of 
December 31, 1996, a l l the common stock of NW (100 percent voting 
control) was owned by Norfolk Southern Railway, and a l l the common stock 
of Norfolk Southern Railway and 16.1 percent of i t s voting preferred 
stock (resulting in 94.8 percent voting control) was owned directly by 
Norfolk Southern. 

On June 21, 1985, Norfolk Southern acquired control of North 
American Van Lines, Inc. and i t s subsidiaries (NAVL), a diversified 
motor carrier. In accordance with an Acquisition Agreement dated May 2, 
1984, and with the approval of the tramsaction by the ICC, Norfolk 
Southern acquired a l l the issued amd outstau^.ding common stock of NAVL. 
During 1993, NAVL underwent a restructuring (see discussion on page 7) 
designed to enhance i t s opportunities to return to profi t a b i l i t y . 

Unless indicated otherwise, Norfolk Southern and i t s 
subsidiaries are referred to collectively as NS. 

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF CONRAIL INC. - On October 24, 1996, 
in response to the October 15, 1996, announcement that Conrail Inc. 
(Conrail) had entered into a merger agreement with CSX Corporation, liC 
commenced an all-cash tender offer for a l l the Comnon Stock and 
Series A ESOP Convertible Junior Preferred Stock of Conrail 
(collectively. Shares), including in each case the associated Common 
Stock Purchase Rights. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements on page 76 for additional details. 

On February 11, 1997, NS acquired 8.2 million Shares of 
Conrail stock (approximately 9.9 percent of the then outstanding Conrail 
Common Stock), representing the approximate maximum number NS could buy 
without triggering Conrail's anti-takeover defenses, at a cost of 
$115 per Share, or $943 million in the aggregate. The purchase was 
finamced through issuamce of commercial paper backed by a portion of the 
revolving debt capacity under the credit f a c i l i t y obtained in connection 
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with the proposed acquisition of Conrail. These Shares have been placed 
in a voting trust and under certain circumstances might have to be sold 
at a loss. 

On February 12, 1997, NS commenced a second tender offer for 
the remaining Shares and has notified Conrail of i t s intention to 
conduct a proxy contest in connection with Conrail's 1997 Annual Meeting 
of shareholders, currently scheduled for December 19, 1997, seeking, 
among other things, to remove certain of the current members of the 
Conrail Board and to elect a new slate of nominees designated by NS. 

Pursuant to an amendment to the merger agreement between CSX 
and Conrail announced on March 7, 1997, CSX has offered to purchase a l l 
Shares for $115 per Share in cash and CSX i s permitted to enter into 
negotiations with other parties, including NS, concerning the 
acquisition of the securities or assets, or concessions relating to the 
assets or operations, of Conrail. NS and CSX are negotiating a 
comprehensive resolution of the issues confronting the eastern railroads 
based on the proposal submitted by NS to both CSX and Conrail on 
February 24, 1997. Such a resolution could involve a joint acquisition 
of Shares by NS and CSX. However, unless and until such negotiations 
are successfully concluded, NS intends to continue in effect i t s tender 
offer for a l l Shares not owned by NS. 

For additional information concerning NS' pending tender 
offer for Shares not owned by NS, reference i s made to NS' Tender Offer 
Statement on Schedule 14D-1, together with the exhibits thereto, 
i n i t i a l l y f i l e d with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
February 12, 1997, as amended. 

RAILROAD OPERATIONS - As of December 31, 1996, NS' railroads 
operated approximately 14,300 miles of road in the states of Alabam.*, 
Florida, Georgia, I l l i n o i s , Indiana, Iowa, Kentucky, Louisiana, 
Maryland, Michigan, Mississippi, Missouri, New York, North Carolina, 
Ohio, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia and West 
Virginia, and the Province of Ontario, Canada. Of this total, 
12 094 miles are owned with the balance operated under lease or trackage 
rights; most of this total are main line track. In addition, i t s 
railroads operate 10,800 miles of passing, industrial, yard and side 
tracks. 

NS' railroads have major leased lines between Cincinnati, 
Ohio, and Chattanooga, Tennessee, and in the State of North Carolina. 

The Cincinnati-Chattanooga iease, covering about 335 miles, 
expires in 2026, and i s subject to an option to extend the lease for 
an additional 2 5 years, at terms to be agreed upon. 

The North Carolina leases, covering approximately 3 30 miles, 
expire'^ by their terms at the end of 1994. Although a lease extension 
agreement was approved by the boards of both Norfolk Southern and the 
North C a r o u L S i l r o a d Lmpany (NCRR) and by the stockholders of NCRR 
the U S D i s t r i c t Court in Raleigh ruled that there was no quorum at the 
stockholders' meeting and enjoined the parties from performing under the 
extension agreement. NCRR has suits pending against Norfolk Southern 
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and various subsidiaries in federal court in Raleigh to enforce rights 
under the expired leases and at the STB to seek the establishment of 
terms and conditions of NS' railroads' continued use, including interim 
and long-term compensation. Also, certain NCRR stockholders earl i e r had 
filed four separate, and s t i l l pending, derivative actions challenging 
the adequacy of the rental terms in the extension agreement. NS' 
railroads presently are operating over the le-;ed lines under the 
requirement.3 of federal law, and w i l l continue to do so until the matter 
has been rewcived through agreement or a decision by the STB 
establishing reasonable conditions or permitting discontinuance of such 
operations, rvhatever the ultimate resolution of the litigation, i t i s 
not expected to have a material effect on NS' consolida-ed financial 
statements. 

• u ̂  ^^^^^ carry raw materials, intermediate products and 
finished goods pri.marily in the Southeast ard Midwest and to and from 
the rest of the United States and parts of Canada. These lines also 
transport overseas freight through several Atlantic and Gulf Coast 
ports. Atlantic ports served by NS include: Norfolk, Virginia; 
Morehead City, North Carolina; Charleston, South Carolina; Savannah and 
Brunswick, Georgia; and Jacksonville, Florida. Gulf Coas^ porS^served 
include: Mobile, Alabama, and New Orleans, Louisiana. 

. , , . The lines of NS' railroads reach most of the larger 
industrial and trading centers of the Southeast and Midwest with the 
exception of those in central and southem Florida A t ^ ; 
rMnio^^'.^^'^.^^'i**"^' "^'l^'P^iS' St. Louis, Kansas City (Missouri), 
S i k ^ I n ^ n ? ^ ^ " ^ ^ ^ ^ ' ^ i ' Buffalo, Norfolk, CharlesLn, Sava^^aA and 
f t J l a H ^ i l ^^K^ leading centers originating and terminating 
t S r ? ? o r i d a la^t°Li^^ p^"?^- -<i<iition, a haulage arrangement wi?h 
the Florida East Coast Railway allows NS' railroads to provide single-
ime service to and from south Florida, including the port c i t i e s ?f 
Miami, West Palm Beach and Port Lauderdale. The system's l ines l l l o 
J ! n ? . I f " ^ individual industries, mines (in westem Virginia, eastern 
Kentucky and southem West Virginia) and businesses located in smaller 
communities m i t s service area. The t r a f f i c corridors carrying the 
heaviest volumes of freight include those from the Appalachian coal 

Virginia ar.d Kentucky to Norfolk and Sandusky, 
Ohio; Buffalo to Chicago and Kansas City; Chicago to Jacksonville (via 
Cincinnati, Chattanooga and Atlanta); and Washington, D.C./Hagerstown, 
Maryland, to New Orleans (via Atlanta and Birmingham). 

Buffalo, Chicago, Hagerstown, Jacksonville, Kansas City 
Memphis, New Orleans and St. Louis are major gateways for 
mt e r t e r r i t o r i a l system t r a f f i c . 

NS' railroads and other railroads have entered into service 
interruption agreements, effective December 3 0 1994, providing 
indemnities to parties affected by a strike over specified industry 
issues. I f NS were so a^fectea i t could receive daily indemnities 
from non-affected parties; i f parties other than NS were affected, NS 
could be required to pay indemnities to those parties. I f NS were 
required to pay the maximum amount of indemnities required of i t under 
these agreements--an event considered unlikely at this time--such 
l i a b i l i t y should not exceed approximately $85 million. 
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MOTOR CARRIER OPERATIONS - DOMESTIC OPERATIONS - NAVL's 
p r i n c i p a l t r a n s p o r t a t i o n a c t i v i t y i s the domestic, i r r e g u l a r route 
common and contract carriage ot used household goods and special 
commodities between points m the Unit.-d States. NAVL also operates as 
an i n t r a s t a t e c a r r i e r of property i n 29 states. Prior to i t s 
r e s t r u c t u r i n g i n 1993, NAVL's domestic motor c a r r i e r business was 
organized i n t o three primary divisions: Relocation Services (RS) 
spe c i a l i z i n g i n r e s i d e n t i a l relocation of used household goods; High 
Value Products (HVP) specializing i n o f f i c e and i n d u s t r i a l relocations 
and transporting exhibits; and Commercial Transport (CT) spec i a l i z i n g m 
the t r a n s p o r t a t i o n of truckload shipments of general commodities. In 
1993 NAVL underwent a restructuring involving termination of the 
CT Divisi o n and sale of the operations of Traii-Star. Inc. (Tran-Star) , 
NAVL's r e f r i g e r a t e d trucking subsidiary. In 1993, NAVT:. discontinued 
CT's operations, transferred some parts of CT's business to other 
d i v i s i o n s and began shilling CT's assets tnat were not needed m NAVL's 
other operations. The sale of Tran-Star's operations was completed on 
December 31, 1993. 

During 1996, the RS and HVP divisions conducted operations 
through a network of over 400 agents at approximately CSO locations i n 
the United States. Agents are l o c a l moving and storage companies that 
provide NAVL w i t h such services as s o l i c i t a t i o n , packing and warehousing 
i n connection w i t h the movement of household goods and specialized 
products NAVL's future domestic operations are expected to be 
conducted p r i n c i p a l l y through the RS and HVP di v i s i o n s . 

Customized Logistics Services (CLS) was established i n 1993 
as an operating u n i t of the HVP Division. CLS' business i s to focus 
NAVL'S resources to respond to a v a r i e t y of customer needs for 
integrated l o g i s t i c s services. The services include emergency parts 
order f u l f i l l m e n t , time-definite transportation and i n - t r a n s i t merge 
programs ( d e l i v e r i n g an entire order, merged from multiple manufacturing 
points, to a customer at one time). 

FOREIGN OPERATIONS - NAVL's foreign operations are conducted 
through the RS and HVP Divisions and through foreign subsidiaries, 
including North American Van Lines Canada, Ltd. The Canadian subsidiary 
provides motor c a r r i e r service f o r the transportation of ^ i ^ ^ ^ 
goods and specialized commodities between most points m Canada through 
a network of approximately 150 agent locations. During 1996, c e r t a i n 
administrative functions related to the Canadian operations were 
t r a r s f e r r e d to NAVL's Fort Wayne, Indiana, headquarters. 

NAVL's int e r n a t i o n a l operations consist p r i m a r i l y of 
forwarding used household goods to and from the United states and 
between f o r e i g n countries through a network of approximately 3 60 foreign 
agents and representatives. NAVL's int e r n a t i o n a l °P«"^;;°2!t?r 
s t r u c t u r a l l y aligned with the services provided by i t s domestic 
ope^aSng d i v i s i o n s . A l l i n t e r n a t i o n a l household goods operations and 
related s u b s i d i a r i e s i n Alaska and Canada are assigned to the 
RS Div i s i o n The remaining i n t e r n a t i o n a l operations, which include 
subs d i ^ r t e s i n l^e United States, Germany and the 
invol"-d i n the transportation of selected general and ^.pecialized 
commodities and are assigned to the HVP Division. 
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T R I P L E CROWN OPERATIONS - U n t i l A p r i l 1993, N o r f o l k 
Southern ' s in termodal s u b s i d i a r y . T r i p l e Crown S e r v i c e s , I n c . ( T C S ) , 
o f f e r e d in tennoda l s e r v i c e u s i n g R o a d R a i . e r ( R e g i s t e r e d Trademark) (RT) 
equipment and domest ic c o n t a i n e r s . R o a d R a i l e r ( R T ) u n i t s a r e e n c l o s e d 
vans which can be p u l l e d over highways i n t r a c t o r - t r a i l e r c o n f i g u r a t i o n 
and over the r a i l s by locomot ives . On A p r i l 1, 1993, the b u s i n e s s , name 
and operat ions of TCS were t r a n s f e r r e d to T r i p l e Crown S e r v i c e s Company 
(TCSC) , a p a r t n e r s h i p i n which s u b s i d i a r i e s of N o r f o l k Southern and 

C o n r a i l a r e equal p a r t n e r s . R o a d R a i l e r ( R T ) equipment owned or l e a s e d by 
TCS (which was renamed TCS L e a s i n g , I n c . ) i s opera ted by TCSC. Because 
NS i n d i r e c t l y owns o n l y 50 p e r c e n t of TCSC, the revenues of TCSC a r e not 
c o n s o l i d a t e d w i t h the r e s u l t s of NS. TCSC o f f e r s door- to -door 
intermodal s e r v i c e u s i n g R o a d R a i l e r ( R T ) equipment and domest ic 
c o n t a i n e r s i n the c o r r i d o r s p r e v i o u s l y s e r v e d by TCS as w e l l as s e r v i c e 
to the New York and New J e r s e y markets v i a C o n r a i l . Major t r a f f i c 
c o r r i d o r s i n c l u d e those between New York and C h i c a g o , Chicago amd 
A t l a n t a , and A t l a n t a emd New Y o r k . 

TRANSPORTATION OPERATING REVENUES - NS' t o t a l t r a n s p o r t a t i o n 
o p e r a t i n g revenues were $4.8 b i l l i o n i n 1996. Revenue, shipments And 
revenue y i e l d by p r i n c i p a l t r a m s p o r t a t i o n o p e r a t i n g revenue sources f o r 
the pas t f i v e y e a r s a r e s e t f o r t h i n the f o l l o w i n g t a b l e : 

Year Ended December 31, 
Principal Sources of 
Transportation Operating 
Revenues 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

(Revenues in mil l ions, shipments in thousands, revenue y i e l d in dollars per shipments) 

COAL 
Revenues 

% of total revenues 
Shipments 

% of total shipments 
Revenue Yie ld 

$ 1,304.7 
27.4% 

1,309.6 
26.5% 

$ 996 

$ 1,267.8 
27.2% 

1,266.8 
26.2% 

$ 1,001 

S 1,290.2 
28.1% 

1,274.2 
27.2% 

$ 1.013 

$ 1,239.2 
27.8% 

1,208.7 
26.4% 

$ 1.025 

S 1,324.1 
28.7% 

1,291.9 
28.2% 

S 1.025 

CHEMICALS 
Revenues $ 555.9 $ 536.5 

% of total revenues 11.7% 11.5% 
Shipments 378.6 368.3 

% of total shipments 7.7% 7.6% 
Revenue Yie ld $ 1,468 $ 1,457 $ 1 

534.7 
11.7% 

370.7 
7.9% 

,442 

$ 499.0 
11.2% 

341.6 
7.5% 

$ 1,461 

$ 498.9 
10.8% 

327.4 
7.1% 

S 1,524 

PAPER/FOREST 
Revenues $ 513.0 $ 537,3 $ 521.8 $ 522.2 $ 517.2 

% of total revenues 10.8% 11.5% 11.4% 11.7% 11.2 
Shipznents 433.2 459.1 464.2 466.3 465.4 

% of total shipments 8.9% 9.5% 9.9% 10.2% 10.1% 
Revenue Yie ld S 1,171 $ 1,170 $ 1,124 $ 1,120 $1,111 

AUTOMOTIVE 
Revenues $ 488.7 $ 449.1 S 429.0 
% of total revenues 10.2% 9.6% 9.4% 

Shipments 354.3 328.4 317.2 
% of total shipments 7.2% 6.8% 6.8% 

Revenue Yield $ 1,379 S 1,368 $ 1,352 $ 1 

425 
9 

317. 
6. 

340 

8 
5% 
8 
9% 

$ 1 

391. 
8. 

287. 
6. 

361 

6 
5% 
7 
3% 
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Year Ended December 31, 

Princip a l Sources of 
Transportation Operating 
Revenues 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

(Revenues i n m i l l i o n s , shipments i n thousands, revenue y i e l d i n d o l l a r s per shipment) 

AGRICULTURE 
Revenues $ 393.3 $ 393.7 $ 379.5 S 357.0 $ 344.4 
% ' o f ' t o t a l revenues 8.2% 8.4% 8.3% 8.0% 7.5% 

Shipments 376.3 391.1 382.5 359.1 352.4 
% of t o t a l shipments 7.6% 8.1% 8.2% 7.9% 7.7% 

Revenue Yiel d S 1,045 S 1.007 $ 992 S 994 3 977 

METALS/CONSTRUCTION 
Revenues 358.0 $ 353.1 $ 334.2 S 310.9 $ 289.4 
% of t o t a l revenues 7.5% 7.6% 7.3% 7.0% 6.3% 

Shipments 
% of t o t a l shipments 

364.9 372.3 371.3 339.6 312.8 
7.4% 7.7% 7.9% 7.4% 6.8% 

Revenue Yiel d $ 981 3 948 $ 900 $ 915 $ 925 

INTERMODAL 
(T r a i l e r s , Containers and 
RoadRailers) 
Revenues 

$ 487.4 $ 474 3 $ 428.7 $ 373.6 $ 343.5 
I ' o r t o t a l revenues 10.2% 10.2% 9.3% 8.4% 7.5% 
Shipments 1.331.0 1,262.6 1,127.3 994.7 916.2 
% of t o t a l shipments 27.0% 26.2% 24.0% 21.7% ^0.0% 

Revenue Y i e l d $ 366 $ 376 $ 380 $ 376 $ 375 

OTHER INTERMODAL RELATED* 
Revenues 
% of t o t a l revenues 

Total Railway Operating 
Revenues 

Total Railway Shipments 

18.2 $ 67.9 
0.4% 1.5% 

$4,101.0 $4,011.8 $3,918.1 $3,745.9 $3,777.0 
4,552.9 4,448.6 4,307.4 4,027.8 3,953.8 

MOTOR CARRIER** ^ , 
Revenues $ 669.0 $ 656.2 $ 663.2 $ 714.2 $ 829.6 
% of t o t a l revenues 14.0% 14.0% 14.5% 16.0% 18.0% 

Shipments (domestic) 383.1 381.1 379.3 5 0.2 6 .0 
% of t o t a l shipments 7.7% 7.9% ^ ° * , 

Revenue Y i e l d $1,746 $ 1,722 

Total Transportation ^ . , ... . ^-nc c 
operating Revenues $4,770.0 $4,668.0 5 4,581.3 S 4.460.1 S 4,606.6 

Total Shipments 4,936.0 4,829.7 4.686.7 4.578.0 4,584.8 

Note: Revenues previously reported as "other railway revenues' ( p r i n c i p a l l y 

switching and demurrage) have been aUocated to revenues reported for each 

commodity group. 
Shipments include general merchandise and coal r a i l carloads intermodal r a i l 
and RoadRailer(RT) u n i t s , and domestic motor c a r r i e r shipments. 

* See discussion on page 8 regarding TCSC revenues. 
** See discussion on page 7 regarding motor c a r r i e r restructuring. 
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COAL TRAFFIC - Coal, coke and iron ore--most of which i s 
bittuninous coal--is NS' railroads' principal commodity gr^^up. They 
originated 116.8 million tons of coal, coke and iron ore in 1996 and 
handled a total of 130.2 million tons. Originated tonnage increased 
2 percent from 114.2 million tons in 1995, and total tons handled 
increased 4 percent from 125.1 million tons in 1995. Revenues from 
coal, coke and iron ore account for about 27 percent of NS' total 
transportation operating revenues. 

The following taQsle shows total coal, coke and iron ore 
tonnage originated on line, received from connections and handled for 
the past five years: 

Tons of Coal, Coke and Iron Ore (Millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

116.8 114.2 114.8 111.9 117.9 
13 .4 10.9 11.1 6.1 6.5 

130.2 125.1 125.9 118.0 124.4 

Originated 
Received 

Handled 

Of the 116.8 million tons of coal, coke amd iron ore 
originated on NS' railroads' lines in 1996, the approximate breakdown by 
origin state was as follows: 

Origin State Millions of Tons 

West Virginia 40.7 
Virginia 35.4 
Kentucky 26.8 
Alabauna 5.4 
I l l i n o i s 5.1 
Tennessee 1.8 
Indiana 0.9 
Ohio 0.5 
New York 0.2 

Total 116.8 

Of this originated coal, coke amd iron ore, approximately 
26.9 million tons moved for export, principally through NS' pier 
f a c i l i t i e s at Norfolk (Launberts Point), Virginia; 19.7 million tons 
moved to domestic and Canadian steel industries; 62.3 million tons of 
steaun coal moved to e l e c t r i c u t i l i t i e s ; amd 7.9 million tons moved to 
other industrial and miscellameous users. 

NS' railroads moved 8.7 million tons of originated coal, coke 
and iron ore to various docks on the Ohio River, amd 3.6 million tons to 
various Lake Erie ports. Other than coal for export, v i r t u a l l y a l l coal 
handled by NS' railroads was terminated in states situated east of the 
Mississippi River. 
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Total coal handled through a l l system ports in 1996 was 
41.7 million tons. Of this total, 71 percent moved through the pier 
f a c i l i t i e s at Lamberts Point. In 1996, total tonnage handled at 
Launberts Point, including coastwise t r a f f i c , was 29.5 million tons, e 
2 percent increase from the 2S.9 million tons handled in 1995. 

The quantities of NS export coal handled through Launberts 
Point for the past five years were as follows: 

Export Coal through Launberts Point 
(Millions of tons) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Originated 26.3 25.4 23.9 24.6 30.8 
Handled 26.4 25.5 24.1 24.9 31.2 

See the discussion of coal t r a f f i c , by type of coal, in 
Part I I , Item 7, "Mamagement's Discussion and Analysis," on page 37. 

MERCHANDISE RAIL TRAFFIC - The merchandise t r a f f i c group 
consists of Intermodal and five major commodity groupings: 
Paper/Forest; Chemicals; Automotive; Agriculture; and 
Metals/Construction. Total merchandise revenues in 1996 were 
$2.8 b i l l i o n , a 2 percent increase over 1995. Merchandise carloads 
handled in 1996 were 3.24 million, compared with 3.18 million handled in 
1995, am increase of 2 percent. 

Intermodal results, for 1993 amd later, r e f l e c t the effect of 
the formation, in April 1993, of TCSC, a partnership between NS and 
Conrail subsidiaries (see also page 7). This partnership provides 
RoadRailer(RT) service previously offered by a wholly owned subsidiary 
of NS. Because NS owns only 50 percent of TCSC, i t s revenues are not 
consolidated. NS' intermodal revenues include only revenues for r a i l 
service NS provides the partnership. 

In 1996, 106.2 million tons of merchandise freight, or 
approximately 68 percent of total merchamdise tonnage handled by NS, 
originated on line. The balamce of merchamdise t r a f f i c was received 
from connecting carriers (mostly railroads, with some truck, water 
and highway as well), usually at i n t e r t e r r i t o r i a l gateways. The 
principal interchange points for NS-received t r a f f i c included Chicago, 
Memphis, New Orleans, Cincinnati, Kansas City, Detroit, Hagerstown, 
St. Louis/East St. Louis amd Louisville. 

Revenues in four of the six market groups comprising 
merchandise t r a f f i c iit?)roved in 1996 over 1995. The biggest gains were 
in Automotive, up $39.6 million; Chemicals, up $19.4 million; and 
Intermodal, up $13.1 million. 

See the discussion of merchamdise r a i l t r a f f i c by commodity 
group in Part I I , Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis," on 
page 37. 
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MOTOR CARRIER TRAFFIC - Motor carrier revenues increased 
2 percent to $669.0. million in 1996, primarily due to gains in the 
HVP Division. In 1995, motor carrier revenues were $656.2 million, 
down 1 percent from 1994, as gains in the HVP Division were offset by 
reductions in RS. 

DOMESTIC OPERATIONS are conducted through NAVL's RS and HVP 
divisions. In 1996, total domestic shipments for these divisions were 
383,137, up 0.5 percent from 1995. 

RS - Domestic shipments of used household goods tramsported 
by the RS Division f a l l into three market categories. Approximately 
52 percent of the domestic shipment volume comes from the sale of moving 
services to individual consumers. Another 38 percent comes from 
corporations and other businesses that pay for the relocation of their 
employees. The remaining 10 percent i s derived from military, 
government and other sources. Total domestic RS Division shipments in 
1996 represented 27 percent of the NAVL domestic motor car r i e r shipments 
transported by the two primary divisions. Total domestic revenues from 
this division were down 2 percent, compared with 1995, and represented 
40 percent of total revenues from operations. 

HVP - The HVP Division specializes in providing 
transportation services in less-them-truckload (LTL) amd truckload (TL) 
quantities of sensitive products. These products are divided into the 
following categories: office furniture and equipment, exhibits amd 
displays, electronic equipment, industrial machinery, commercial 
relocation, LTL furniture and selected general commodities. Total 
HVP Division shipments tramsported in 1996, including TL amd LTL, 
represented 73 percent of the NAVL domestic motor carrier shipments 
tramsported by the two primary divisions. Revenues from this division 
were up 5 percent from 1995 levels and represented 47 percent of total 
revenues from operations. 

FOREIGN OPERATIONS include NAVL's Camadian subsidiary. North 
Americam Van Lines Camada, Ltd., as well as operating subsidiaries in 
England amd Germany. Foreign operations involving the tramsportation of 
used household goods and selected general and specialized coiranodities 
generated revenues of $86.0 million in 1996, up 5 percent from 1995. 
Revenues from foreign operations represented 13 percent of NAVL's total 
revenues. 
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RAIL OPERATING STATISTICS - The fo l l o w i n g table sets f o r t h 
c e r t a i n s t a t i s t i c s r e l a t i n g to NS' r a i l r o a d s ' operations f o r the past 
f i v e years: 

Year Ended December 31, 

1995 1994 1953 1996 1992 

Revenue ton miles 
( b i l l i o n s ) 

Freight t r a i n miles 
traveled (millions) 

Revenue per ton mile 
Revenue tons per t r a i n 
Revenue ton miles 
per man-hour worked 

Percentage r a t i o of 
railway operating 
expenses to railway 
operating revenues 

129 . 8 

49 .4 

126.6 

48.5 

122.3 111.6 

43 . 3 

107.6 

41.1 46.0 
$0.0316 $0.0317 $0.0320 $0.0336 $0.0351 
2,625 2,611 2,655 2,577 2,618 

2, 764 

71.6 

2, 679 

73.5 

2, 579 

73.4 

2, 304 

75.6 

2, 184 

75.5 

FREIGHT RATES - I n 1996, NS' r a i l r o a d s continued t h e i r 
r e l i a n c e on p r i v a t e contracts amd exempt p r i c e cjuotes as t h e i r 
predominamt p r i c i n g mechanisms. Thus, a major p o r t i o n of NS' 
r a i l r o a d s ' f r e i g h t business i s not economically regulated by the 
government. I n general, maxjs.fet forces have been substitu t e d f o r 
government regulation and now .ire the primary- determinant of r a i l 
service prices. 

In 1996, NS' r a i l r o a d s were found by the STB to be "revenue 
adequate" based on res u l t s for the year 1995. A r a i l r o a d i s "revenue 
adequate" under the applicable law when i t s r e t u r n on net investment 
exceeds the r a i l industry's composite cost of c a p i t a l . 

The revenue adequacy measure i s one of several factors 
considered by the STB when i t i s c a l l e d upon t o rul e on the 
reasona±»leness of regulated rates. 

Pricing and service f l e x i b i l i t y afforded by the Motor 
Car r i e r Act of 1980 and the Household Goods Trimsportation Act of 1980 
has r e s u l t e d i n NAVL's increased enqphasis on innovative p r i c i n g a c t i o n 
i n order to remain conpetitive. Since 1980, NAVL has increasingly 
operated as a contract c a r r i e r . As of December 31, 1396, domestic 
contract carriage agreements accounted f o r the fo l l o w i n g percentage of 
shipments: RS Division, 31 percent amd HVP Division, 69 percent. 
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PASSENGER OPERATIONS - Regularly scheduled passenger 
operations on NS' r a i l r o a d s ' l i n e s consist of Amtrak t r a i n s operating 
between Alexamdria amd New Orleans, and between Charlotte and Selma, 
North Carolina. Former Amtrak operations between East St. Louis and 
Cen t r a l i a , I l l i n o i s , were discontinued by Amtrak on November 3, 1993. 
Commuter t r a i n s continued operations on the NS l i n e between Manassas 
and Alexandria under contract w i t h two tra n s p o r t a t i o n commissions of 
the Commonwealth of V i r g i n i a , providing for r e n t a l and fo r 
reimbursement of r e l a t e d expenses incurred by NS. During 1993, a 
lease of the Chicago to Manhattan, I l l i n o i s , l i n e to the Commuter Rail 
D i v i s i o n of the Regional Transportation Authority of Northeast 
I l l i n o i s replaced an agreement under which NS had provided commuter 
r a i l service f o r the Authority. 

NONCARRIER OPERATIONS - Norfolk Southern's noncarrier 
subsidiaries engage p r i n c i p a l l y i n the a c q u i s i t i o n and subsequent leasing 
of coal, o i l , gas and timberlands, the development of commercial r e a l 
estate and the leasing or sale of r a i l property and equipment. I n 1996, no 
such noncarrier subsidiary or industry segment grouping of noncarrier 
s u b s i d i a r i e s met the requirements for a reportable business segment set 
f o r t h i n Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 14. 
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RAILWAY PROPER'.Y: 

EQUIPMENT - As of December 31, 1996, NS owned or leased the 
following u n i t s of equipment: 

NuiT'ber of Units 

Owned* Leased Total 
Capacity 

of Equipment 

Type of Equipment 

Locomotives: 
M u l t i p l e purpose 
Switching 
A u x i l i a r y u n i t s 

1,974 
119 
55 

0 
0 
0 

1, 974 
119 
65 

(Horsepower) 
6, 149,850 

174,450 
0 

Total locomotives 2,158 0 2,158 6,324,300 

Freight Cars: 
Hopper 
Box 
Covered Hopper 
Gondola 
Flat 
Caboose 
Other 

24,933 
19,976 
12,489 
24.170 
4, 078 
2.n 

1,741 

41 
428 

2,272 
105 
819 
0 
4 

24,974 
20,404 
14,761 
24,275 
4,897 

231 
1,745 

(Tons) 
2,643,019 
1,584,306 
1,549,737 
2,584,134 

352,762 
0 

119,598 

Total f r e i g h t cars 87,618 3,669 91,287 8,833,556 

Other: 
Work equipment 
Vehicles 
Highway t r a i l e r s 
and containers 

RoadRailers(RT) 
Miscellaneous 

6, 959 
3,698 

2, 348 
923 

1,518 

5 
0 

3,181 
0 

1,199 

6, 964 
3, 698 

5,529 
923 

2,717 

Total other 15,446 4, 385 19,831 

* Includes r a i l r o a d equipment leased to outside p a r t i e s and r a i l r o a d 
equipment operated by NS' r a i l r o a d s that i s subject t o equipment 
t r u s t s and c a p i t a l i z e d leases. 
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The following table indicates the number and year of purchase 
for locomotives and freight cars owned at December 31, 1996: 

Year Built 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 
1986-
1991 

1980-
1985 

1979 & 
Before T o t a l 

Locomotives: 
Number of 

u n i t s 120 125 25 31 55 452 426 
Percent of 

f l e e t 5.6 5 .8 1.2 1.4 2.6 21.0 19.7 

924 2,158 

42.7 100.0 

F r e i g h t c a r s : 
Number of 

u n i t s 871 932 778 930 
Percent of 

f l e e t 1.0 1.1 0 .9 1.1 

607 5,520 10,210 67,770 87,618 

0.7 6.3 11.7 77 .2 100.0 

The average age of the freight car f leet at December 31, 
1996, was 22.3 years. During 1996, 7,485 freight cars were re t i red . As 
of December 31, 1996, the average age of the locomotive f l ee t was 
15.4 years. During 1996, 105 locomotives, the average age of which was 
24.4 years, were ret ired. Since 1988, more tham 23,000 coal cars have 
been rebodied. As a re su l t , the remaining serviceaUaility of the freight 
car f l ee t i s greater than may be inferred from the high percentage of 
freight cars bu i l t in e a r l i e r years. 

Ongoing freight car and locomotive maintenance prograuns are 
intended to ensure the highest standards of safety, r e l i a b i l i t y , 
customer sat i s fact ion and equipment marketability. In past years, the 
bad order ra t io ref lected the storage of certain types of cars which 
were not in high demand. The rat io has declined more recently as a 
resul t of a disposition prograan for underutilized, unservicead^le amd 
over-age revenue cars. In th i s connection, an orderly disposit ion of 
17,000 freight cars, beg\jn in October 1994, was substamtially con^lete 
at the end of 1996. 

Annual Average Bad Order Ratio 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Freight Cars (excluding cabooses): 
NS R a i l 4.8% 
A l l Class I rai lroads 5.0* 

5.8% 
6.0* 

6.7% 
7.3 

7.3% 
7.1 

6% 
5 

Locomotives: 
NS Ra i l 4.5 4.7 4.7 4.3 4.4 

• I n 1996 amd 1995, the industry bad order ratio was as of June 1. 
Prior years' industry ratios were based on a monthly average. 
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TRACKAGE - A l l NS trackage i s standard gauge, and the r a i l in 
approximately 95 percent of the main line trackage (including f i r s t , 
second, third and branch main tracks, a l l excluding trackage rights) 
ranges from 100 to 140 pounds per yard. Of the 22,369 miles of tr&ck 
maintained as of December M , 1996, 15,877 were laid with welded r a i l . 

The density of t i a t f i c on running tracks (main line trackage 
plus passing tracks) during 1996 was as follows: 

Gross tons of 
freight carried 
per track mile Track miles Percent 

(Millions) of running tracks* of total 

0-4 4,837 30 
5-19 4,682 29 
20 amd over 6,529 41 

16,048 100 

* Excludes trackage rights. 

The following taible summarizes certain information about NS' 
track roadway additions and replacements during the past five years: 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Track miles of rail installed 401 403 480 574 660 
Miles of track surfaced 4,686 4,668 4,760 5,048 5,690 
New crossties installed (millions) 1.9 2.0 1.7 1.6 1.9 

MICROWAVE SYSTEM - The NS microwave system, consisting of 
6,960 radio path miles, 398 active stations amd 5 passive repeater 
stations, provides communications between most operating locations. The 
microwave system i s used principally for voice communications, VHF radio 
control c i r c u i t s , data and facsimile transmissions, t r a f f i c control 
operations, AEI data transmissions amd relay of intelligence from 
defective equipment detectors. 

TRAFFIC CONTROL - Of a total of 12,762 road miles operated by 
NS, excluding trackage rights over foreign lines, 5,400 road miles are 
governed by centralized t r a f f i c control systems (of which 230 miles are 
controlled by data radio from 14 microwave s i t e locations) and 
2,600 road m.iles are equipped for automatic block system operation. 

COMPUTERS - Data processing f a c i l i t i e s connect the yards, 
terminals, transportation offices, rolling stock repair points, sales 
offices and other key system locations to the central computer complex 
in Atlanta, Ga. Operating and t r a f f i c data are compiled and stored to 
provide customers with information on their shipments throughout the 
system. Data processing f a c i l i t i e s are capable of providing current 
information on the location of every train and each car on line, as well 
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as related waybill and other train and car movement data. Additionally, 
these f a c i l i t i e s afford substantial capacity for, and are u t i l i z e d to 
a s s i s t ii-anagement in the ptrformance of, a wide variety of functions and 
services, including payroll, car and revenue accounting, b i l l i n g , 
material management a c t i v i t i e s and controls, and special stuaies. 

OTHER - The railroads have extensive f a c i l i t i e s for support 
of operations, including freight depots, car construction shops, 
maintenance shops, office buildings, and signals and communications 
f a c i l i t i e s . 

MOTOR CARRIER PROPERTY: 

REAL ESTATE - NAVL owns amd leases real estate in support of 
i t s operations. Principal real estate holdings include NAVL's 
headquarters complex and warehouse and vehicle maintenance f a c i l i t i e s in 
Fort Wayne, Indiana, vehicle maintenance f a c i l i t i e s in Fontama, 
California, and terminal f a c i l i t i e s in Gramd Rapids, Michigan, and 
Great F a l l s , Montana. NAVL also leases f a c i l i t i e s throughout the 
United States for sales offices, maintenamce f a c i l i t i e s and for 
warehouse, terminal and distribution center operations. 

EQUIPMENT - NAVL r e l i e s extensively on independent 
contractors (owner-operators) who supply the power equipment (tractors) 
used to pull NAVL t r a i l e r s . Agents also provide a substamtial portion 
of NAVL's equipment needs, particularly for the tramsportation of 
household goods, by furnishing tractors amd t r a i l e r s on eit ar a 
permanent or am intermittent lease basis. 

As of December 31, 1996, agents and owner-operators together 
supplied 3,438 tractors, representing 97 percent of the U.S. power 
equipment operated in NAVL service. Also as of December 31, 1996, NAVL 
owned 2,976 t r a i l e r units, representing 52 percent of the U.S. t r a i l e r 
fleet in NAVL service. The remaining 48 percent was provided mainly by 
agents and owner-operators. Agents amd owner-operators also provided 
1,058 straight trucks, or 97 percent, of such units in NAVL service. 

NAVL has am extensive prograun for the repair and maintenance 
of i t s t r a i l e r equipment. In 1996, approximately 12,920 work orders 
were completed at NAVL's f a c i l i t y in Fort Wayne. As of December 31, 
1996, the average age of t r a i l e r equipment in the NAVL fleet was 
B.4 years. 

COMPUTERS - NÂ ^ r e l i e s extensively on data processing 
f a c i l i t i e s for shipment planning amd dispatch functions as well as 
shipment tracing. Data processing capaQjilities are also u t i l i z e d i n 
revenue processing functions, driver and agent account settlement 
a c t i v i t y , and internal accounting amd record keeping service. 

ENCUMBRANCES - Certain railroad equipment i s subject to the 
prior l i e n of equipment financing obligations aunounting to approximately 
$593.4 million as of December 31, 1996, amd $545.4 million at 
December 31, 1995. In addition, a portion of NS' properties i s subject 
to liens securing, as of December 31, 1996, and 1995, approximately 
$50.9 million axid $77.2 million of mortgage debt, respectively. 
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Many of the tractors u t i l i z e d in NAVL service are purchased 
by NAVL from manufacturers and resold to agents and owner-operators 
under a NAVL-sponsored financing prograun. At December 31, 1996, NAVL 
had $13.9 million in such tractor contracts receivaible. This program 
allows NAVL to generate the funds necessary to purchase the tractors and 
to r e s e l l them under favorable financing terms. The equipment i s sold 
under conditional sales contracts with the agents and owner-operators. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES - Capital expenditures for road, 
ecfuipment and other property for the past five year.=; were as follows: 

Capital Expenditures 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

(In millions of dollars) 
Transportation property 
Road $ 437. 8 $ 385.7 $ 384.6 $417.9 S 426. 5 
Equipment 332 . 1 344.3 245.9 240 . 5 281. 3 

Other property 26 . 1 33.4 82.4 10 .8 8 . 3 

Total $ 796. 0 $ 763.4 $712.9 $ 669.2 $ 716. 1 

Capital spending and maintenamce prograuns are and have been 
designed to assure the a b i l i t y to provide safe, efficient and relieUsle 
tramsportation services. For 1997, NS i s plamning $792 million of 
capital spending, of which $781 million w i l l be for railway projects and 
$11 million for motor carrier property. Looking further ahead, total 
r a i l and motor carrier spending i s expected to be similar to 1995 amd 
1996 levels. A substantial portion of future capital spending i s 
expected to be funded through internally generated cash, although debt 
financing w i l l continue as the primary funding source for equipment, 
acquisitions. 

Acquisition of a l l or part of Conrail (see page 4) could 
cause the reallocation of already-plamned capital spending and/or 
additional capital spending. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS - Compliance with federal, state and 
local laws amd regulations relating to the protection of the environment 
i s a principal NS goal. To date, such conpliance has not affected 
materially NS' capital additions, earnings, liquidity or competitive 
position. 

See the discussion of "Environmental Matters' in Part I I , 
Item 7, "Management's Discussion amd Analysis" on page 37, amd in 
Note 15 to the Consolidated Finamcial Statements on page 76. 

EMPLOYEES - NS employed am average of 25,830 employees in 
1996, compared with an average of 26,944 in 1995. The approximate 
average cost per employee during 1996 was $45,173 in wages amd $17,772 
in employee benefits. Approximately 74 percent of these employees are 
represented by various la±>or organizations. 
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As of the end of 1996, NS had negotiated labor agreements 
wi t h a l l of i t s unions, except the American Train Dispatchers, which 
represents about 200 employees The accords with the 12 other union 
organizations, which include compensation settlements i n l i n e w i t h other 
major i n d u s t r i e s , w i l l not be due fo r change u n t i l a f t e r January 1, 
2000. * 

GOVERJNMENT REGULATION - I n add i t i o n to environmental, safety, 
s e c u r i t i e s and other regulations generally applicad^le to a l l businesses, 
NS' r a i l r o a d s are subject to regul a t i o n by the STB, which succeeded the 
ICC on January 1, 1996. The STB has j u r i s d i c t i o n over some rates, 
routes, conditions of service, and the extension or aba.idonment of r a i l 
l i n e s . The STB also has j u r i s d i c t i o n over the consolidation, merger or 
a c q u i s i t i o n of c o n t r o l of and by r a i l common c a r r i e r s . The Department 
of Transportation regulates c e r t a i n track and mechamical equipment 
standards. 

The r e l a x a t i o n of economic regulation of r a i l r o a d s , begun 
over a decade ago by the ICC under the Staggers Rail Act of 1980, i s 
expected t o continue under the STB. Thus i t appears that a d d i t i o n a l 
r a i l business w i l l be exempted from r e g u l a t i o n i n the future. 
S i g n i f i c a n t exenT>tions are TOFC/COFC ( i . e . . "piggyback") business, r a i l 
boxcar t r a f f i c , lumber, manufactured s t e e l , automobiles and c e r t a i n bulk 
commodities such as sand, gravel, pulpwood and wood chips for paper 
manufacturing. Tramsportation contracts on regulated shipments, which 
no longer r e q u i r e regulatory approval, e f f e c t i v e l y remove those 
shipments from r e g u l a t i o n as w e l l . Over 80 percent of NS' f r e i g h t 
revenues come from e i t h e r exempt t r a f f i c or t r a f f i c moving under 
t r a n s p o r t a t i o n contracts. 

For motor c a r r i e r operations conducted by NAVL, the 
Department of Transportation and the STB are the p r i n c i p a l regulatory 
e n t i t i e s . The STB exercises j u r i s d i c t i o n over the r e l a t i o n s h i p between 
c a r r i e r s and owner-operators, amd c a r r i e r practices amd common c a r r i e r 
rates r e l a t i n g t o the tramsportation of household goods. The primary 
focus of the Department of Transportation i s on d r i v e r q u a l i f i c a t i o n and 
safety standards, including maucimum t r a i l e r length amd width. 

COMPETITION - There i s continuing strong cotrpetition aunong 
r a i l , water amd highway c a r r i e r s . Price i s usually only one f a c t o r of 
importance as shippers and receivers choose a transport mode ar.d 
s p e c i f i c hauling compamy. Inventory carrying costs, service 
r e l i a b i l i t y , ease of handling and the desire to avoid loss amd damage 
during t r a m s i t are increasingly important considerations, e s p e c i a l l y f o r 
higher valued f i n i s h e d goods, machinery amd consumer products. Even f o r 
raw m a t e r i a l s , semi-finished goods amd work-in-process, users are 
in c r e a s i n g l y s e n s i t i v e t o tramsport arramgements which minimize problems 
at successive production stages. 
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NS' primary r a i l competitor the CSX system; both operate 
throughout much of the same t e r r i t o r y . Other rai l r o a d s also operate i n 
parts of the t e r r i t o r y . NS also competes w i t h motor c a r r i e r s , water 
c a r r i e r s and w i t h shippers who have the a d d i t i o n a l option of handling 
t h e i r own goods i n p r i v a t e carriage. Consummation of the proposed 
merger agreem.ent between Conrail and CSX (see page 4) could r e s u l t i n a 
serious imbalance i n r a i l competition i n the East--an outcome NS i s 
r e s i s t i n g vigorously on a nximber of f r o n t s and that the negotiations 
with CSX could prevent. 

Certain cooperative strategies between r a i l r o a d s (such as the 
TCSC partnership involving NS and Conrail, see page 7) and between 
railroads and motor c a r r i e r s enable c a r r i e r s to compete more e f f e c t i v e l y 
i n s p e c i f i c markets. 

NA\Tj continues to face strong competition due to deregulation 
and overcapacit • i n the industry that w i l l keep p r o f i t s at a modest 
l e v e l . While service remains a key issue, many shippers now place 
greater emphasis on price. For the RS Di v i s i o n , contract carriage and 
volume discount programs dominate the corporate r e l o c a t i o n segment, amd 
guaranteed p r i c e options are common t o the i n d i v i d u a l consumer segment. 
Contract carriage agreements are also u t i l i z e d extensively by the 
HVP D i v i s i o n to meet the service and p r i c e requirements of i t s 
customers. 

Item 3 . Legal Proceedings. 

Conrail. On October 15, 1996, Conrail Inc. ("Conrail") and 
CSX Corporation ("CSX") announced an agreement to merge, i n connection 
with which CSX announced i t s i n t e n t i o n to commence a m u l t i - t i e r tender 
o f f e r f o r shares of Conrail stock i n r e t u r n for cash and shares of CSX 
stock. 

On October 23, 1996, NS amnounced i t would make a competing, 
all-cash tender o f f e r f o r a l l shares of Conrail stock; on the same 
date, NS, Atlamtic A c q u i s i t i o n Corporation (a wholly owned 
Pennsylvania subsidiary of NS) and a Conrail stoc)cholder who i s an NS 
employee (such p a r t i e s together, the " P l a i n t i f f s " ) f i l e d a complaint 
against Conrail amd i t s d i r e c t o r s amd against CSX (such p a r t i e s 
together, the "Dei«?ndamts") i n the United States D i s t r i c t Court f o r 
the Eastern D i s t r i c t of Pennsylvania. P l a i n t i f f s sought, aunong other 
things, c e r t a i n declaratory and i n j u n c t i v e r e l i e f and alleged various 
breachn of f i d u c i a r y duty amd v i o l a t i o n s of c e r t a i n federal 
s e c u r i t i e s laws. The D i s t r i c t Court set a November 12 hearing date--
two days p r i o r to the date then set f o r a Special Meeting at which 
Conrail stoc)cholders were to be asked to approve an eunendment to the 
A r t i c l e s of Incorporation that u l t i m a t e l y would be necessary to permit 
CSX t o acquire s u f f i c i e n t shares of Conrail stock v i r t u a l l y to assure 
approval of t h a t merger. 
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On October 30, 1996, P l a i n t i f f s amended the complaint. In 
addi t i o n to the al l e g a t i o n s c i t e d i n the o r i g i n a l complaint, the 
amended complaint alleged, eunong other things, that provisions i n the 
merger agreement between Conrail and CSX, which p r o h i b i t the Conrail 
Board from redeeming the r i g h t s issuable under a Conrail-adopted 
r i g h t s plan (Conrail's "Poison P i l l " ) and from amending or otherwise 
taking f u r t h e r a c t i o n w i t h respect to the Conrail r i g h t s plan, are 
u l t r a v i r e s under Pennsylvania law and c o n s t i t u t e a reach of the 
Conrail d i r e c t o r s ' f i d u c i a r y duties of l o y a l t y e.nd care; th a t the 
tender o f f e r materials d i s t r i b u t e d by Conrail ana v,SX misrepresented 
key terms of the Conrail r i g h t s plan necessary to an understanding of 
the e f f e c t s of that plan; that the provisions of the merger agreement 
between Conrail and CSX which p r o h i b i t the Conrail d i r e c t o r s from 
wit.hdrawing t h e i r recommendation that Conrail stockholders accept and 
approve the proposed CSX transaction and from terminating the merger 
agreement between Conrail and CSX for a period of 180 days from the 
date of execution of tha t agreement are u l t r a vire«5 under Pennsylvania 
law and c o n s t i t u t e a breach of the Conrail d i r e c t c s ' f i d u c i a r y cuties 
of l o y a l t y and care; and that CSX has knowingly p a r t i c i p a t e d i n che 
i l l e g a l conduct of Conrail amd i t s d i r e c t o r s . I n the aunended 
complaint. P l a i n t i f f s sought c e r t a i n declaratory and i n j u n c t i v e r e l i e f 
i n a d d i t i o n t o that sought pursuant to the o r i g i n a l complaint. 

On November 1, P l a i n t i f f s requested that the D i s t r i c t Court 
temporarily e n j o i n the Defendants from taking, or i n c e r t a i n instamces 
to require them t o take, c e r t a i n actions, including taking the steps 
necessary to prevent a " D i s t r i b u t i o n Date" from occurring under the 
Conrail r i g h t s plan. At the hearing on November 4 t o hear arguments 
concerning P l a i n t i f f s ' motion, Conrail advised t h i t i t s d i r e c t ' r s 
e a r l i e r that day had adopted a r e s o l u t i o n d e f e r r i \g the "Distr. u t i o n 
Date' under t h a t plan. 

As a r e s u l t of Conrail's amnouncement that i t s Special 
Meeting had been rescheduled from November 14, the D i s t r i c t Court 
moved i t s hearing from November 12 to November 18. At tha t hearing. 
P l a i n t i f f s also sought t o e n j o i n , among other things, CSX from 
acquiring shares pursuamt t o the CSX o f f e r . On November 19, 1996, the 
D i s t r i c t Court denied P l a i n t i f f s ' motion f o r preliminary i n j u n c t i v e 
r e l i e f . 

On December 5, 1996, Defendamts f i l e d an amswer and 
counterclaim a l l e g i n g , among other things, t o r t i o u s interference w i t h 
contractual r e l a t i o n s h i p s amd requesting, among other things, damages. 
NS believes t h a t the counterclaim i s without merit and on December 20, 
1996, f i l e d a Motion to Dismiss the coiinterclaim f o r f a i l u r e to state 
a claim pursuant t o Rule 12(b) of the Federal Rules of C i v i l 
Procedure. 
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On December 17, 1996, the D i s t r i c t Court held a hearing to 
consider P l a i n t i f f s ' Motion for a Preliminary I n j u n c t i o n as to 
P l a i n t i f f s ' claims ( i ) that Defendants' stated i n t e n t i o n not to 
convene the special meeting of the Company's stockholders scheduled 
fo r December 23, 1996, co n s t i t u t e d a breach of f i d u c i a r y duty; and 
( i i ) that Defendants' stated i n t e n t i o n successively to postpone the 
vote of Company stockholders scheduled for December 23, 1996, u n t i l 
such stockholders submit to Defendants' w i l l c o n s t i t u t e d fraudulent 
and fundamentally u n f a i r conduct. At the conclusion of the hearing, 
the D i s t r i c t Court issued an order enjoining Defendants from f a i l i n g 
to convene, and/or from postponing, and/or from adjourning the 
Pennsylvania Special Meeting scheduled for Monday, December 23, 1996, 
by reason of the Conpany, or i t s nominees' not having received 
s u f f i c i e n t proxies to assure approval of the proposal set f o r t h i n the 
Company's "Notice of Special Meeting of Shareholders" and i n the 
Conpany's proxy materials to "opt-out" of Subchapter E. 

On January 2, 1997, P l a i n t i f f s f i l e d a Motion for 
Preliminary I n j u n c t i o n and a Motion for P a r t i a l Summary Judgment i n 
the D i s t r i c t Court. I n t h e i r Motion for P a r t i a l Summary Judgment, 
P l a i n t i f f s requested am order s t a t i n g that consummation of the CSX 
F i r s t Offer caused a "Control Transaction" with respect to the Company 
to occur under the Pennsylvania Control Transaction Law and created 
j o i n t and several l i a b i l i t y among the members of the Control 
Tramsaction Group to pay at lea s t $110 cash per Share to each 
demanding Company stockholder. I n t h e i r Motion f o r Preliminary 
I n j u n c t i o n , P l a i n t i f f s requested that the D i s t r i c t Court enjoin 
Defendamts, and a l l persons a c t i n g i n concert wit h them, from seeking 
to enforce or r e q u i r i n g conpliamce with, the No Negotiation Provision, 
as extended, and to en j o i n Defendants from convening the Pennsylvania 
Special Meeting u n t i l ten business days a f t e r Compamy stockholders 
receive notice of the D i s t r i c t Court's r u l i n g on P l a i n t i f f s ' Motions 
f o r Preliminary I n j u n c t i o n aiid P a r t i a l Summary Judgment. On 
Januairy 8, 1997, P l a i n t i f f s f i l e d a Supplemental Motion for 
Preliminary I n j u n c t i o n requesting that Defendants be enjoined from 
convening the Pennsyivamia Special Meeting u n t i l ten business day.^ 
a f t e r Coirpany stockholders received notice of the D i s t r i c t Court's 
f i n a l judgment on the Pennsyivamia Control Transaction Law issue. 
Such motions were denied on January 9, 1997. 

On Jamuary 28, 1997, the Third C i r c u i t issued am order 
consolidating the pending appeals and s e t t i n g a b r i e f i n g schedule and 
an o r a l argument f o r February 25, 1997; the decision of the D i s t r i c t 
Court was affirmed on March 7. 
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Pursuant to an amendment to the merger agreement between CSX 
and Conrail announced on March 7, 1997, CSX has offered to purchase a l l 
shares of Conrail for $115 per Share in cash and CSX i s permitted to 
enter into negotiations with other parties, including NS, concerning the 
acquisition of the securities or assets, or concessions relating to the 
assets or operations, of Conrail. NS and CSX are negotiating a 
comprehensive resolution of the issues confronting the eastern railroads 
based on the proposal submitted by NS to both CSX amd Conrail on 
February 24, 1997. Such a resolution could involve a joint acquisition 
of shares of Conrail by NS and CSX. However, unless and until such 
negotiations are successfully concluded, NS intends to continue in 
effect i t s tender offer for a l l shares of Conrail not owned by NS. 

The effect of these negotiations on the described legal 
proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. 

This matter has been reported previously by NS in Part I I , 
Item 1, of i t s Form 10-Q Report for the quarter ending September 30, 
1996. 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security 
holders during the fourth quarter of 1996. 
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Executive Officers of the Registrant. 

Norfolk Southern's officers are elected annually by the Board 
of Directors at i t s f i r s t meeting held after the annual meeting of 
stockholders, and they hold office until their successors are «>lected. 
There are no family relationships among the officers, nor any 
arrangement or understanding between any officer and any other person 
pursuant to which the officer was selected. The following table sets 
forth certain information, as of March 1, 1997, relating to these 
officers: 

Naune, Age, Present Position 

David R. Goode, 56, 
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer 

James C. Bishop, J r . , 60, 
Executive Vice President-Law 

R. Alan Brogam, 56, Executive 
Vice President-Transportation 
Logistics (and President-North 
Americam Van Lines, Inc.) 

L. I . Prillaunan, 53, Executive 
Vice President-Marketing 

Stephen C. Tobias, 52, 
Executive Vice President-
Operations 

Henry C. Wolf, 54, Executive 
Vice President-Finamce 

Business Experience during 
past 5 Years 

Present position since September 
1992; prior thereto was 
President. 

Present position since March 1, 
1996; prior thereto was Vice 
President-Law. 

Present position since December 
1992; prior thereto was 
Vice President-Quality 
Mamagement. 

Present position since October 
1995. Served as Vjje President-
Properties from December 1992 to 
October 1995, ar.a prior thereto 
was Vice President and Controller, 

Present posi».ion since July 1994. 
Served as Senior Vice President-
Operatious from October 1993 to 
July 19:̂ 4, Vice President-
Strategic Planning from December 
1992 CO October 1993, amd prior 
thereto was Vice President-
Tramsportation. 

Present position since June 1993; 
prior thereto was Vice President-
Taxation. 

Williaun B. Bales, 62, Senior 
Vice President-International 

Present position since October 
1995. Served as Vice President-
Coal Marketing from August 1993 
to October 1995, amd prior 
thereto was Vice President-Coal 
and Ore Traffic. 
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Name, Age, Present Position 
Business Experience during 

past 5 Years 

Paul N. Austin, 53, Vice 
President-Personnel 

Present position since June 1994. 
Served as Assistant Vice 
President-Personnel from February 
1993 to June 1994, and prior 
thereto '.vas Director 
Conpensation. 

John F. Corcoran, 56, Vice 
President-Public Affairs 

Present position since March 1992. 

David A. Cox, 60, Vice 
President-Prop*»-ties 

Prese.it position since December 
19J5; prior thereto was Assistant 
Vice President-Industrial 
Development. 

Thomas L. Finkbiner, 44, 
Vice President-Intermodal 

Present position since August 1993. 
Served as Senior Assistamt Vice 
President-International and 
Intermodal from April to August 
1993, and prior thereto was 
Assistant Vice President-
International amd Intermodal. 

Robert C. Fort, 52, Vice 
President-Public Relations 

Present position since December 
1996; prior the-eto was Assistant 
Vice President-Public Relations. 

John W. Fox, J r . , 49, Vice 
President-Coal Marketing 

Present position since October 
1995. Served as Assistamt Vice 
President-Coal Marketing from 
August 1993 to October 1995, and 
prior thereto was General Mamager 
Eastem Region. 

Thomas J . Golian, 63, 
Vice President 

Present position since October 
1995. Served as Executive 
Assistant to the Chairman, 
President and CEO from April 1993 
to October 1995, and prior 
thereto was Special Assistant to 
the President. 

James L. Gramum, 60, Vice 
President-Public Affairs 

Present position since March 1992. 

James A. Hixon, 43, Vice 
President-Taxation 

Present position since June 1993; 
prior thereto was Assistant Vice 
President-Taoc Counsel. 
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Name, Age, Present Position 
Business Experience during 

past 5 Years 

Jon L. Manetta, 58, Vice 
President-Transportation & 
Mechanical 

Harold C. Mauney, Jr., 58, 
Vice President-Operations 
Planning and Budget 

Donald W. Mayberry, 53, Vice 
President-Research emd Tests 

Present p o s i t i o n since December 
1995. Served as Vice President-
Transportation from June 1994 to 
December 1995, Assistant Vice 
President-Transportation from 
October 1993 to June 1994, 
Assistant Vice President-
Strategic Planning from January 
to October 1993, and p r i o r 
thereto was Director J o i n t 
F a c i l i t i e s and Budget. 

Present p o s i t i o n since December 
1996; p r i o r thereto was Vice 
President-Quality Management. 

Present p o s i t i o n since December 
1995; p r i o r thereto was Vice 
President-Mechanical. 

James W. McClellan, 57, Vice 
President-Strategic Planning 

Kathryn B. McQuade, 40, 
Vice President-Internal Audit 

Present p o s i t i o n since October 
1993; p r i o r thereto was Assistant 
Vice President-Corporate 
Plauining. 

Present p o s i t i o n since December 
1992; p r i o r thereto was Director-
Income Tauc Administration. 

Charles W. Moorman, 45, Vice 
Pres ident-Informat ion 
Technology 

Present p o s i t i o n since October 
1993. Served as Vice President-
Employee Relations from December 
1992 to October 1993, amd p r i o r 
thereto was Vice Presidtnt-
Personnel amd Labor Relations. 

P h i l l i p R. Ogden, 56, Vice 
Pres ident-Engineering 

Present p o s i t i o n since December 
1992; p r i o r thereto was Assistant 
Vice President-Maintenamce. 

John P. Rathbone, 45, Vice 
President and Con t r o l l e r 

Present p o s i t i o n since December 
1992; p r i o r thereto was Assistant 
Vice President-Internal Audit. 

Williaun J. Romig, 52, Vica 
President and Treasurer 

Present p o s i t i o n since A p r i l 1992; 
p r i o r thereto was Assistant Vice 
Pres ident - Finamce. 
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Naune, Age, Present Position 
Business Experience during 

past 5 Years 

Donald W. Seale, 44, Vice 
President-Merchandise 
Marketing 

Robert S. Spenski, 62, Vice 
President-Labor Relations 

Rashe W. Stephens, J r . , 55, 
Vice President-Quality 
Management 

William C. Wooldridge, 53, 
Vice President-Law 

Dezora M. Martin, 49, 
Corporate Secretary 

Present position since August 1993. 
Served as Assistant Vice 
President-Sales and Service from 
May 1992 to August 1993, and 
prior thereto was Director-
Metals, Waste emd Construction. 

Present position since June 1994; 
prior thereto was Senior 
Assistant Vice President-Labor 
Relations. 

Present position since December 
1996. Served as Assistamt Vice 
President-Pviblic Affairs from 
February 1993 to December 1996, 
and prior thereto was Director, 
EEO and Manpower Plamning. 

Present position since March 1996; 
prior thereto was General 
Counsel-Corporate. 

Present position since / ^ r i l 1995. 
Served as Assistant Corporate 
Secretary-NS from October 1993 to 
April 1995, and prior thereto was 
Assistant Corporate Secretary-
Pi amning. 
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PART I I 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Stock and Related 

Stockholder Matters. 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
STOCK PRICE AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION 

(Unaudited) 

The common stock of Norfolk Southem Corporation, owned by 
50,748 stockholders of record as of December 31, 1996, i s traded on the 
New York Stock Exchange with the symbol NSC. The following table shows 
the high and low sales prices amd dividends per share, by quarter, for 
1996 and 1995. 

Quarter 

1996 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 

Market prica 
High $ 88 $ 89-7/8 $ 91-3/4 $ 96-5/8 
Low - 76-3/8 80 78-3/8 84-5/8 

Dividends par share $ 0.56 $ 0.56 $ 0.56 $ 0.56 

1995 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 

Market price 
High $ 68-1/8 $ 68-1/2 $ 77-3/8 $ 81-5/8 
Low 60-1/2 62-3/4 67-1/8 72-1/4 

Dividends per share $ 0.52 $ 0.52 $ 0.52 $ 0.52 
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Item 6 Selected Financial Data, 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
ELE'/EN-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW 

1993 - 1996 
Page One 

1996 1995 1994 

($ in millions, except per share 

1993(1) 

eunounts) 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS: 
Transportation operating 
revenues: 
Railway operating 
revenues 

Motor carrier operating 
revenues 

Total transportation 
operating revenues 

Tramsportation operating 
expenses: 
Railway operating 
expenses 

Motor car r i e r operating 
expenses 

Special charge 

Total tramsportation 
operating expenses 

Income from 
operations 

Other income - net 
Interest expense on debt 

Income before income 
tauces 

Provision for income taucea 

Income before 
accounting chamges 

Cumulative effect of 
accounting changes 

Net income 

$ 4,101.0 

669.0 

4,770.0 

2,936.1 

636.9 

3,573.0 

1,197.0 

115.6 
115.7 

1.196.9 

426.5 

770.4 

$ 770.4 

$ 4,011.8 

656.2 

4,668.0 

2,950.0 

631.7 

3,581.7 

1,086.3 

141.8 
113.4 

1,114.7 

402.0 

712.7 

$ 712.7 

$ 3,918.1 

663 .2 

4,581.3 

2,874.8 

641.1 

3,515.9 

1,065.4 

85.2 
101.6 

1,049.0 

381.2 

667.8 

$ 667.8 

$ 3,745.9 

714.2 

4,460.1 

2,830.6 

769.1 

3,599.7 

860.4 

136.8 
98.6 

898.6 

349.9 

548.7 

223.3 

$ 772.0 
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Selected Financial Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
ELEVEN YEAR FINANCIAL RF/IEW 

1993 - 1996 
Page Two 

1996 1995 1994 

($ in millions, except per share 

6.09 
2.24 

39.79 

$ 
$ 

5 .44 
2 . 08 

37.42 

4 . 90 
1.92 

35.19 

$11,416.4 $10,904.8 $10.^87.8 

PER SHARE DATA: 
Earnings $ 
Dividends $ 
Stockholders' equity at 
year end $ 

FINANCIAL POSITION: 
Total assets 
Total long-term debt, 
including current 
maturities $ 1,856.3 $ 1,639.0 $ 1,619.8 

Stockholders' equity $ 4,977.6 $ 4,829.0 $ 4,684.8 

OTHER: 

Capital expenditures $ 796.0 $ 763.4 $ 712.9 

Average number of shares 
outstanding (thousands) 126,457 130,996 136,301 

Number of stockholders at 
year end 50,748 53,401 52,442 

Average number of employees: 
Rail 23,361 21,488 24,710 
Nonrail 2,46? 2,456 2,458 

Total 25,830 26,944 27,168 

1993(1) 

amounts) 

$ 5.54 
$ 1.86 

$ 33.36 

$10,519.8 

$ 1,595.2 
$ 4,620.7 

$ 669.2 

139,414 

51,884 

;L5 331 
3,773 

29,304 

(1) 1993 results include a $54 raillio.i increase in the provision for income taxes 
reflecting a 1% increase in the federal income ':ax rate, which reduced net 
income by $54 million, or $0.39 per s! re. 19f/3 motor carrier expenses include 
a $50 million restructuring charge for the dif.position of two NAVl businesses. 
The cumulative effect of accounting changes increased 1993 earnings by 
$223 million, or $1.60 per ̂ hare. The change in accounting for income taxes 
increased ne' income by $467 million, with a corresponding reduction in deferred 
taxes. The chamges i r accounting for postretirement and postemployment benefits 
decreased net income by $244 million. 
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Item 6 Selected Financial Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIPJIIES 
ELEVEN-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW 

1989 - 1992 
Page One 

1992 1991(2) 1990 

($ in millions, except per share 

1989 

aunounts) 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS: 
Transportation operating 
revenues: 
Railway operating 
revenues 

Motor c a r r i e r operating 
revenues 

Total tramsportation 
operating revenues 

Transportation operating 
expenses: 
Railway operating 
expenses 

Motor c a r r i e r operating 
expenses 

Special charge 

Total tramsportation 
operating expenses 

Income from 
operations 

Other income - net 
Interest expense on debt 

Income before income 
tauces 

Provision for income taxes 

Income before 
accounting chamges 

Cumulative effect of 
accounting chamges 

Net income 

$ 3,777.0 

829.6 

4,606.6 

2,850.8 

869.3 

3,720.1 

886.5 

97.8 
109.0 

875.3 

317.6 

557.7 

557.7 

$ 3,654.0 

797.3 

4,451.3 

2,862.2 

797 .1 
680.0 

4,339.3 

112 .0 

131.3 
9?/. 7 

143.6 

113.9 

29.7 

29.7 

$ 3,786.0 

831.0 

4,617.0 

2,969.4 

839.5 

3,808.9 

808.1 

145.3 
78.0 

875.4 

319.3 

556.1 

556.1 

$ 3,694.1 

841.9 

4,536.0 

2,864.4 

846. ? 

3,710.8 

825.2 

158.2 
50.7 

932.0 

326.5 

606.2 

606.2 
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Selected Financial Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
ELEVEN-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW 

1989 - 1992 
Pace Two 

1992 1991 (2) 1990 1989 

($ i n m i l l i o n s , except per share amounts) 

PER SHARE DATA: 
Earnings 
Dividends 
Stockholders' equity at 
year end 

$ 
$ 

$ 

3 .94 
1.80 

30.16 

$ 0.20 
$ 1. 60 

$ 28.64 

$ 3 .43 
$ 1. 52 

$ 31.57 

$ 
$ 

$ 

3.48 
1.38 

30.44 

FINANCIAL POSITION: 
Total assets 
Total long-term debt, 
including current 
m a t u r i t i e s 

Stockholders' equity 

$10,400.5 

$ 1,648.9 
$ 4,232.6 

$10,148.1 

$ 1,389.2 
$ 4,093.4 

$10,523.0 

$ 1,125.2 
$ 4,911.9 

$10,244.3 

$ 841.1 
$ 5,168.6 

OTHER: 

Capital expenditures $ 716.1 $ 713.4 $ 696.9 651.7 

Average number of shares 
outstanding (thousands) 141,459 147,759 162,095 174,370 

Niimber of stockholders at 
year end 51,200 53,725 56,187 61,630 

Average number of employees: 
Rail 
Nonrail 

25,650 
4,485 

27,366 
4, 586 

28,697 
4,584 

29,667 
4,645 

Total 30,135 31,952 33,281 34,312 

(2) 1991 transportation operating expenses include a $680 mi l l ion spec ia l charge, 
primari ly comprised of costs for labor force reductions and the write-down of 
the goodw.ll portion of NS' investment in NAVL. This charge reduced net income 
by S498 m i l l i o n , or $3.37 per share. 
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
ELEVEN-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW 

1986 - 1988 
Page One 

1988 1987(3) 1986 

($ in millions, except per share aunounts) 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS: 
Transportation operating 
revenues: 
Railway operating 
revenues $ 3,616.6 $ 3,335.6 $ 3,327.8 

Motor c a r r i e r operating 
revenues 845.0 777.2 748.6 

Cumulative effect of 
accounting changes 

Total transportation 
operating revenues 4,461.6 4,112.8 4,076.4 

Tramsportation operating 
expenses: 
Railway operating 
expenses 2,679.7 2,652.8 2,665.9 

Motor c a r r i e r operating 
expenses 836.6 734.5 708.5 

Special charge -- 620.4 

Total tramsportation 
operating expenses 3,516.3 4,007.7 3,374.4 

Income from 
operations 945.3 105.1 702.0 

Other income - net 108.4 232.9 215.8 
Intsrest expense on debt 53.1 58.5 61.8 

Income before income 
taxes 1,000.6 279.5 856.0 

Provision for income taixes 365.5 107.1 337.3 

Income before 
accounting changes 635.1 172.4 518.7 

Net income $ 635.1 $ 172.4 $ 518.7 
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Item 6. Se lec ted F i n a n c i a l Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
ELEVEN-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW 

1986 - 1988 
Page Two 

1988 1987(3) 1986 

($ in m i l l i o n s , except per share amounts) 

PER SHARE DATA: 
Earnings $ 
Dividends $ 
Stockholders ' equity at 

year end $ 

3.51 
1.26 

28.74 

$ 0.91 
$ 1.20 

$ 26.48 

$ 2.74 
$1 .13-1/3 

$ 26.78 

FINANCIAL POSITION: 
T o t a l a s s e t s $10,059.1 
T o t a l long-term debt, 

i i c l u d i n g current 
m a t u r i t i e s $ 780.9 

Stockholders ' equity $ 5,152.6 

$ 9,831.6 

$ 795.0 
$ 4,979.4 

$ 9,752.4 

$ 891.3 
$ 5,070.8 

OTHER: 

C a p i t a l expenditures $ 528.8 $ 562.9 $ 698.4 

Average number of shares 
outstanding (thousamds) 181,038 189,464 189,217 

Number of s tockholders at 
year end 64,974 68,121 65,832 

Average number of employees: 
R a i l 
Nonra i l 

30,330 
4,209 

32,563 
3,539 

34,857 
3,440 

T o t a l 34,539 36,102 38,297 

= ======== — — — — — — 

(3) 1987 transportation operating expenses include a $620 million special charge 
principally related to railroad restructuring costs. This charge reduced net 
income by $352 million, or $1.86 per share. 
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Item 6. Selected F .ncial Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Table of Graphs 

Included with the 
Eleven-Year Financial Review 

The following financial information appears as three (3) separate 
graphs with the Eleven-Year Financial Review in the 1996 Norfolk Southern 
Corporation Annual Report to Stockholders. 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

INCOME FROM RAILWAY 
OPERATIONS 
(Railway operating 
revenues less 
railway operating 
expenses) 
($ millions) $1,164.9 $1,095 4* $1,043.3 $915.3 $926.2 $791.8*** 

RETURN ON EQUITY 
(Net income divided 
by average 
stockholders' 
equity) 15.7% 15.4%* 14.4% 13.7%** 13.4% 11.1%*** 

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE 
(dollars) $2.24 $2.08 $1.92 $1.86 $1.80 $1.60 

* Excludes $33.6 million ($20.4 million after-tax) charge for early 
retirement prograun. 

* Excludes the cvimulative effects of required accounting chamges and the 
prior yaars' effect of the federal income taix increase. 

* Excludes special charge. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations. 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIAilES 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

The following discussion and analysis (vfhich--with the exception of "Proposed 
Acquisition of Conrail'--is identical to what i s contained in the Corporation's 1996 
Annual Report to Stockholders) should be .-ead in conjunction with the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and Notes beginning o.i page 56 and the Eleven-Year Financial 
Review beginning on page 30. 

SUMMARIZED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

1996 Compared with 1595 

Net income in 1996 was a record $770.4 million, an increase of 8%. However, 
results in 1995 were affected by a $33.6 million early retirement charge, which reduced 
net income by $20.4 million. 

Absent the effects of that charge, 19:̂ 6 net income was up 5%. The improvement was 
due to increased operating income, reflecting higher railway operating revenues, up 2%, 
and generally f l a t railway operating expenses, up less than 1% (excluding the early 
retirement charge), which more than compensated for decreased nonoperating income. 
Included in 1995 nonoperating income was a $30.5 million gain from the p a r t i a l 
redenption of a real estate partnership interest. Interest expense on debt was up 2%, a 
result of interest expense on $200 million of new debt issued in September 1996 (see 
Note 6 on page 65). 

Record earnings per share of $6.09 for 1996 were up 12% (9%, excluding the 
effects of the early retirement charge). The greater improvement in earnings per share 
compared with net income was the resu l t of the stock purcnase program, which was 
suspended on October 23, 1996 (see Note 13 on page 75). 

1995 Compared wich 1994 

Net income in 1995 was $712.7 million, up 7%. Excluding the 1995 early retirement 
charge, net incoma rose 10%. Increases in both operating income and nonoper:.ting income 
were p r i n c i p a l l y responsible fo'- the improvement. The increase in nonoperating income 
primarily resulted from the $30.5 million partnership gain and a $24.3 million increase 
in gains from sale of properties and investments (see Note 2 on page 62). 

Interest expense on debt was up 12%, largely a result of higher rates of interest 
on comnercial paper debt. Earnings per share of $5.44 for 1995 were up 11% (14%, 
excluding the effects cf the early retirement charge). 

DETAILED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Railway Operating Revenues 

Railway oparating revenues were $4.1 b i l l i o n in 1996, compared with $4.0 b i l l i o n 
in 1995 and $3.9 b i l l i o n i n 1994. The $89.2 million improvement in 1996, compared with 
1995, was*the resu l t of improvements in a l l market groups except paper/forest and 
agriculture. The $93.7 million improvement in 1995, compared with 1994, was primarily 
attributable to increases in the intermodal, automotive and metals/construction market 

groups. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

The following table presents a three-year comparison of revenues by market group. 

RAILWAY OPERATING REVENUES BY MARKET GROUP 
($ in mi l l ions) 

1996 1995 1994 

Coal 
Chemicals 
Paper/forest 
Automotive 
Agricul ture 
Metals /construct ion 
Intermodal 

Tota l 

$ 1,304.7 $ 1,267.8 $ 1,290.2 
555.9 
513.0 
488.7 
393.3 
358.0 
487.4 

536.5 
537.3 
449.1 
393.7 
353.1 
474.3 

534.7 
521.8 
429.0 
379.5 
334.2 
428.7 

$ 4,101.0 $ 4,011.8 $ 3,918.1 

Note: Revenues previously reported as "Other railway revenues* 
(principally switching and denturrage) have Iseen reclassified 
into aach of th« commodity groups. 

In 1996. increases in coal, automotive, intermodal sind chemicals traffic offset 
decreases in the remaining narket groups. For 1995 improvements in automotive, 
agriculture, metals/construction and intermodal traffic offset declines in the other 
groups. The t r a f f i c volume gains in both years accounted for most of the revenue 
improvement as shown in the table below. Average revonue per unit rose in both 1996 and 
1995 due to moderate rate increases. 

RAILWAY OPERATING REVENUE VARIANCE ANALYSIS 
Increases (Decreases) 

($ in millions) 

1996 vs. 1995 1995 vs. 1994 

Traffic volume 
Revenue per unit 

Total 

$ 72.6 
16.6 

$ 39.2 

$ 62.6 
31.1 

$ 93.7 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

Coal t r a f f i c volume increased 4%, and revenues increased 3% in 1996. primarily 
due to increased u t i l i t y and export coal tonnage. Coal revenues represented almost 
of total railway operating revenues in 1996, and 90% of coal shipments orwinated on 
NS' lines. Coal t r a f f i c volume declined 1%, and revenues were down 2% in 1995, compared 
with 1994, as coal tonnage by type remained r e l a t i v e l y stable. 

TOTAL COAL, COKE AND IRON ORE TONNAGE 
(In millions of tons) 

U t i l i t y 
Export 
Steel 
Other 

Total 

1996 1995 1994 

74.7 70.3 71.6 
27.0 25.8 25.2 
20.6 22.1 21.6 
7.9 6.9 7.5 

130.2 125.1 125.9 
S Z X S s 

Note: Certain prior year amounts have been r e c l a s s i f i e d to 
conform to the current year presentation. 

U t i l i t y coal t r a f f i c increased 6% in 1996, compared with 1995. Several u t i l i t y 
customers in the NS service region shifted more generation to co a l - f i r e d Pl^nts^ as 
^ny nucLar power plants experienced downtime. In addition, NS gained market share at 
<;everal Southeastern u t i l i t i e s . 

In 1995 u t i l i t y coal t r a f f i c decreased s l i g h t l y due to moderate we!»ther 
throughout mû h of the NS service region during the f i r s t half of the year and to 
sSstaSed periods of maximum generation from several Southeastern nuclear power plants. 
P a r t i a l l y mitigating these declines were increased shipments of both NS- and foreign-
Une-originated, low-sulfur coal related to u t i l i t i e s ' compliance with Phase I of the 
Clean Air Act Amendments, which took effect on January 1, 1995. 

The near^erm outlook for u t i l i t y coal i s positive, as a s i g n i f i c a n t number of 
the mines served by NS produce coals that s a t i s f y both Phase I and the more stringent 
Phase n retirements, Shich take effect on January 1, 2000. ^ - - ' ^ ^ ^ ' ^ ' ^ T t ' l L 
tiahter r e s t r i c t i o n s on nitrous oxide particulate emissions, as proposed by the 
^ K r o L e n t a r P r o t e c t i o n Agency, could impose added cost burdens on some coal-fired 

' ' ^ " " " u t i l i t i e s in the Southeast, NS' largest steam coal marJcet, are expected to 
increase t i e J r demand for Central Appalachian coal. U t i l i t y deregulation i s l i k e l y to 
a?fect the s t r u c k and development of that market. S p e c i f i c a l l y , i t i s widely 

V . S . u t i l i t i e s w i l l h a ^ gr« 

c ™ ' ; r s L : : h l t ° : ; r : ^:d o r t h r u ^ r ! : : d i i g L and from the southeastern tr.s., 
and r e s L i a n c e by environmentalists and the high cost of adding new l i n e capacity could 
and resistance oy en ..^tain i s the outlook for demand for Central Appalachian 
deter I t s ^eve opment^ ^^e Midwest I s I I I delivered co.t of Western coal tends to be 
i : : i r S^w^ver i s e^Sec« t ^ participate in the movement of any Western coal that 

displaces N f-°"f ' i i ^ ^ i ^ d 5% m 1996, compared with 1995. as NS benefited 

Export " ^ " ^ J ,o I t a l y and greater metallurgical shipments to 
from ^ " - " " ^ f ^ ; " ^ ^ e d i c e ^ s ^ s i d i e s to German coal producers that enhanced the 
r o S ^ ^ r ^ i ^ e n ^ f o f J . " c^:?. increased exports of U.S. coal to B r a z i l also contributed 
to the improvement. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

Export coal t r a f f i c increased 2% in 1995, benefiting from the continued recovery 
of European steel production. Demand frcm other parts of the world also improved 
Brazil, Belgium, France, Romania and Japan took increased amounts of NS coal In 
addition, NS began handling metallurgical coal for steel production in Mexico 
Congestion and high barge rates on the Mississippi River caused an increase in 
movements over NS' coal piers in Norfolk, Va. 

Metallurgical coal exports are expected to experience slight to modest growth 
through the year 2000, as continued reductions in European government subsidies to coal 
producers should benefit NS-served exporters. A gradual decline is projected in the 
long term, as new steel-making technologies replace those requiring =oking coal. Demand 
for export steam coal is expected to increase, and NS is working to increase i t s 
participation in this market. 

Steel coal domestic traffic was down 7%, as aggressive producer pricing of higher 
volatile metallurgical coals not located on NS' lines resulted in a loss of t r a f f i c . In 
1995, t r a f f i c was up 2% due to completion of extended coke oven work at one f a c i l i t y 
and continued strong demand for domestic coke for making steel. Advanced technolog-es 
that allow production of steel with l i t t l e or no coke could cause this market to 
decline slowly over the long term. However, NS could participate in the movement of 
non-coking coal used by technologies such as pulverized coal injection. 

Other coal traffic, primarily steam coal shipped to manufacturing plants, 
increased 14% in 1996, con^jared with 1995, reflecting gains from other modes of 
transportation and more seasonal weather conditions in 1996. Traffic volume declined 8% 
in 1995, compared with 1994, resulting from lower demand for in-plant use of 
electricity due to mild weather. In addition, some industries have switched to nctural 
gas as a fuel source. This market i s expected to remain stable in coming years, as 
growth through innovative packaged delivery services offsets losses from natural gas 
conversions. 

COAL 
(Shown as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stockholders) 

This group comprises u t i l i t y coal, export coal, domestic 
metallurgical coal, industrial coal, coke amd iron ore. 

($ in millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

$1,304.7 $1,267.8 $1,290.2 $1,239.2 $1,324.1 $1-57.5 

MERCHANDISE t r a f f i c volume in 1996 decreased slightly, coit?>ared with 1995, as 
increases in automotive, intermodal and chemicals traffic were more tham offset by 
declines in '.:he remaining conntodity groups. However, increased average revenues for 
most commodity groups resulted in a 2% improvement in revenues In 1995, merchandise 
traffic volume increased 5%, driven by increases in intermodal, automotive and 
agriculture t r a f f i c . Merchandise revenues in 1995 increased 4%, compared with 1994. 

CHEMICALS t r a f f i c and revenues grew 3% and 4%, respectively, for 1996. Fertilizer 
and plastics markets strengthened during 1996, which resulted in increased t r a f f i c and 
revenues for these two groups. In addition, the harsh winter resulted in greater 
movements of liquid petroleum gas, and industrial chemicals remained strong throughout 
the year. These 1996 results compared favorably with relatively flat carloads and 
revenues in 1995, as increases for general chemicals were overshadowed by weakness in 
the plastics and f e r t i l i z e r markets. The chemicals market group is expected to continue 
to show moderate growth through 1997, as NS expands its Thoroughbred Bulk Distribution 
f a c i l i t i e s and chemicals production nationwide is expected to increase 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

CHEMICALS 
(Shown as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stockholders) 

This group comprises f e r t i l i z e r s , sulfur and related chemicals, 
petroleum products, chlorine and bleaching compounds, plastics, 

industrial chemicals, chemical wastes and bulk products. 
($ in millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

$ 555.9 S 536.5 $ 534.7 $ 499.0 $ 498.9 S 476.7 

PAPER/FOREST t r a f f i c and revenues each declined 5% in 1996, due to the overall 
downturn in the paper and forest products industry. Early in 1995, the paper industry 
enjoyed record price levels and associated volumes, but growth slowed and inventories 
of paper products swelled i n late 1995 and into 1996. To correct the inventory 
problems, many large paper producers operated m i l l s well below capacity and shut down 
mills to balance capacity with demand. This compares to a 1% decrease in volume and <t 
3% increase i n revenues for 1995. Paper and pulpwood products t r a f f i c i n 1995 was about 
even with 1994, while lumber t r a f f i c suffered from weak housing s t a r t s . These markets 
are expected to begin a sli g h t turnaround by mid-1997. 

PAPER/FOREST 
(Shown as a Graph i n the Annual Report to StocJcholders) 

This group con^irises lumber and wood products, pulpboard and 
paper products, wood f ibe rs , woodpulp, s::rap paper and clay. 

($ i n millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

513.0 $ 537.3 $ 521.8 S 522.2 $ 517.2 $ 495.6 

AUTOMOTIVE t r a f f i c rose 8%, and revenues increased 9%, both the highest i n this 

ers 
group's history. Auto parts provided the majority of the growth as volume increased 
21% while vehicle t r a f f i c in.rreased 3%. NS opened two just-in-time (JIT) r a i l cent 
at Hagerstown, Md., and near Buffalo, N.Y., i n 1996 for d i s t r i b u t i o n of vehicle parts 
for GM Also, GM awarded NS another JIT r a i l center to be constructed m 1997 near 
Dayton' Ohio. These three centers are expected to handle over 23,000 carloads annually 
by 1998 1996 also marked the f i r s t time i n several years that a l l NS-served assembly 
plants were on-line. GM's Wentzville, Mo., assembly plant returned to production early 
in ^he year a f t e r a two-year retooling, and GM's Doraville, Ga., plant returned midyear 
from a one-year retooling. In 1996, BMW's new plant at Greer, S.C., reached f u l l 
production I n 1995, automotive t r a f f i c increased 4%, and revenues were up 5%. Strong 
production at selected plants that produce popular cars and trucks mitigated the 
effects of several plants' being shut down or operated at reduced capacity 

Good market growth i s expected m 1997, supported by the new JIT r a i l centers 
f u l l production levels at exis t i n g plants, the start of production at the new Mercedes 
plant i n Tuscaloosa. Ala., and the expansion of Toyota's plant i n Georgetown. Ky^ 
Supporting long-term growth. Ford awarded NS a 12-year contract i n 1996 to handle 
approximately 3 m i l l i o n new vehicles annually throL-gh ^our mixing centers to be b u i l t 
in 1997 When operational i n 1998, NS expects to increase i t s motor vehicle business 
with Ford by 60%. In addition, Toyota's new Princeton, Ind., truck plant may add to 
1998 1999 t r a f f i c For the automotive industry as a whole, annual production increases 
ar*! forecast through 2002, as transplants bring production to North America, exports 
continue to r i s e and the Mexican and Canad^yi economies improve. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

AUTOMOTI\/E 
(Shown as a Graph in the Ar:iual Report to Stockholders) 

This group comprises finished vehicles for BMW, Chrysler, Ford, General Motors, Honda, 
Isuzu, Jaguar, Land Rover, Mazda, Mitsubishi, Nissan, Saab, Subaru, Suzuki, Toyota and 

Volkswagen, and parts for Chrysler, Ford, General Motors and Toyota. 
($ in millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

$ 488.7 $ 449.1 $ 429.0 $ 425.8 $ 391.6 $ 310.6 

AGRICULTURE traffic declined 4% and revenues were flat m 1996. Despite strong 
demand for feed grains in the Southeast, grain traffic suffered, as poor crops and 
strong export demand left NS receivers competing for limited supplies. Slight average 
revenue growth occurred, resulting primarily from longer hauls, as receivers reached 
farther west for grain supplies. In 1995, agriculture traffic rose 2%, and revenues 
increased 4%, due to higner grain shipments from the Midwest to the Southeast poultry 
industry. 

Moderate growth is expected in 1997, us 1996 crops should provide abundant 
supplies throughout the year, and demand from the poultry market for feed grain 
continues to grow. Also for 1997, a ful l year of new lousiness is expected from two feed 
mills which were ramping up production in 1996, and from a new major grain elevator 
located on a line purchased during 1996 from Conrail. 

AGRICULTURE 
(Shown as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stoclcholders) 

This group comprises grain, soybeans, wheat, corn, animal and poultry feed, food oils, 
flour, beverages, canned goods, sweeteners and consumer products. 

($ in millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

$ 393.3 $ 393.7 $ 379.5 $ 3S7.0 $ 344.4 $ 342.5 

METALS/CONSTRUCTION traffic declined 2%, but revenues were up 1% for 1996. 
Construction carloads t e l l behind in early 1996 due to inclement veather and were flat 
the rest of the year; however, higher average revenues more than offset the volume 
decline. In the metals market, NS' shipments remained strong due to a healthy domestic 
steel market, which has added capacity through imqproved efficiency at integrated mills 
and new mini-mills. In 1995, metals/construction traffic was up slightly, and revenues 
increased 6%, as increases in the steel and aluminum markets were somewhat offset by 
reduced demand for construction products. 

Moderate growth iz expected for 1997. New steel production f a c i l i t i e s in Decatur, 
Ala., and Memphis, Tenn., are expected to contribute to growth in late 1997. Although 
construction starts are expected to decrease in 1997 versus 1996, projects already 
begxin, such as at the Chesapeake Bay Bridge Tunnel, the opening of new cement terminals 
and the expansion of various on-line plants, are expected to produce moderate growth 
for constiuction in 1997 and beyond. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

METALS/CONSTRUCTION 
(Shown as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stockholders) 

This group comprises s t e e l , aluminum products, machinery, scrap metals, cement, 
aggregates, b r i c k s , minerals and municipal wastes. 

($ in mil l ions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

$ 358.0 $ 353.1 $ 334.2 $ 310.9 $ 289.4 $ 288.6 

INTERMODAL traffic volume increased 5% and revenues increased 3%, both reaching 
record levels in 1996, driven by increased domestic container and Triple Crown Services 
Company (TCSC) volume. 

EMP, the container equipment-sharing arrangement with Union Pacific and Conrail, 
contributed significantly to domestic growth. International container volume declined 
onl, slightly, despite an industry slowdown that began in the spring and lasted until 
the f a l l . NS' overall market share improved slightly due to new international business 
and the continued domestic container and TCSC growth. 

Intermodal volume rose 12%, and revenues increased 11% in 1995. Although 
intermodal traffic levels nationwide declined in 1995, NS intermodal achieved record 
levels of volume, revenues and profitability, led by container shipments in both 
domestic and international service. 

During 1995, a seven-year agreement with Hanjin Shipping Company was signed under 
which NS will handle nearly a l l of Hanjin's international container business in NS' 
territory east of the Mississippi River. 

EMP contributed significantly to domestic growth. Almost a l l the increase n 
international container business was attributable to new services, thereby increasing 
NS' market share. Domestic business also was augmented by growth in the trucking 
segment, as both truckload and less-than-truckload companies increased their use of NS 
intermodal. Additionally, intermodal marketing cotapanitss increased their business on 
NS. 

NS' intermodal volume is expected to remain strong, resulting from continued 
domestic container and TCSC volume growth and the recovery in the international market. 
Higher wages in the trucking industry may encourage shippers to use NS' intermodal and 
TCSC networks. In addition, growth of iteamship companies' use of Suez Canal services 
may have a positive in?>act on int«mat..onal container shipments into and out of 
Southeast ports. 

INTERMODAL 
(Shown as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stockholders) 

This group handles trailers, containers and Triple Crown (RT) equipment tendered by 
intermodal marketing companies, international ste&«nship lines and truckers. 

($ in millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1?93 1992 1991 

$ 487.4 $ 474.3 $ 128.7 $ 391.8 $ 411.4 $ 382.5 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finamcial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (conti.iued) 

Railway Operating Expenses 

Railway operating expenses in 1996 decreased slightly; however, 1995's expense,'* 
inclua3d a $33.6 million charge for an early retirement program (see Note 10 on 
page C ) . Excluding that early retirement charge, railway operating expenses increased 
1%, despite a 2% increase in traffic volu-Tie. Railway operating expenses in 1995 were 
up 3% (up 1% excluding the ear.,.y retirement charge) on a 3* increase in traffic 
volume. 

As a result, the NS railway operating ratio, which measures the percentage of 
railway revenues consumed by expen.-.'s*., was a record 71.6 in 1996, compared with 73.5 
(72.7 excluding the early retirement charge) in 1995 and 73.4 in 1994. NS' railway 
operating ratio continues to be the best among the major railroads in the United 
States. 

The following table shows the changes in railway operating expenses summarized by 
major classifications. 

RAILWAY OPERATING EXPENSES 
Increases (Decreases) 

($ in mil lions) 

1996 vs. 1995 1995 vs. 1994 

Conpensation .-md benefits $ (81.3) * $ 108.9* 
Materials, services and rents 5.9 (41.9) 
Depreciation 18.5> 14.7 
Diesel fuel 43.6 1.5 
Casualties and other claims 2.0 (13.7) 
Other (3.0) 5.7 

Total $ (13.9) $ 75.2 

•Includes the $33.6 million sarly retirement charge in 1995. 

COMPENSATION PiND BEi'IEFITS, which represents about half of total railway operating 
expenses, decreased 5% in 1996 and increased 8>, in 1995. Excluding the 1995 early 
retirement charge, compensation and benefits .expenses were down 3% in 1996 jind up 5% in 
1995. 

The 1996 decrease (excluding the effect of the 1995 early retirement charge) was 
principally attributable to: (1) reduced en?)loyment resulting from the 1995 early 
retirement program and productivity improvements due to ongoing reductions ir* train 
crew sizes and train effiriexicies and (2) lower costs foi fringe Ijenefits, principally 
medical costs for salaried employees. These decreases were somewhat offset hy increa.<'*s 
attributable to higher volume and increased wage rates rcisulting from new 1 Abor 
agreements. 

The 1995 increase was primarily a result of: (1) higher wages; (2) increased 
performance-based compensation accruals, particularly those linked to che market price 
of NS stock, which rose nearly $19 per sharo in 1995; and (3) higher health care costs 
for agreement enployees. 

As of the end of 1996, NS had negotiated labor agreentents with a l l of i t s iinions, 
except the American Train Dispatchers which represents alaout 200 employees. The accords 
with the 12 other union organizations, which include coirpensation settlements in line 
with other major industries, will not be due for change until after January 1, 2000. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

MATERIALS, SERVICES AND RENTS includes items used for the maintenance of the 
r a i l r o a d s ' l i n e s , s t r u c t u r e s and equipment; the costs of services viJrchased from 
outside c o n t r a c t o r s , including the net costs of ope.-ating j o i r . t (o;.- leased) f a c i l i t i e s 
w i t h other r a i i r o a d s ; and the net cost of equipment r e n t a l s . This category of expenses 
increased 1% ;n 1996 and decreased 6% i n 1995. 

The increase m 1996 r e s u l f i d from higher i itermodal expenses due to increased 
i/olume, as w e l l as higher equipment rent costs, that more than off.set lower locomotive 
and car repa i r costs. 

Equipment re n t s , which represent the cost to NS of using equipment (Mostly 
f r e i g h t cars) owned by other r a i l r o a d s or p r i v a t e owners, less the rent paid t o NS fo r 
the use of i t s equipment, were up 10% m 1996. This increase was due to a v a r i e t y of 
fa c t o r s , i n c l u d i n g increased intermodal container t r a f f i c , lower receipts from short-
'>;e:m leases of locomotives to various r a i l r o a d s and increased f r e i g h t car leases to 
meet customer requirements. These increased costs were somewhat o f f s e t by lower net 
costs f o r m u l t i l e v e l equipment. 

Locomotive r e p a i r costs continued t o be reduced as a r e s u l t of the replacement of 
cider ar.its w i t h newer ones. NS expects t o acquire 120 new locomotives i n 1997. Freight 
car r e p a i r costs continued to b e n e f i t from the e f f e c t s of i n i t i a t i v e s launched i n 1995 
to improve asset u t i l i z a t i o n that r e s u l t e d i n the re-engineeiing of maintenance 
pr a c t i c e s , f a c i l i t a t i n g the closure of two r e p a i r f a c i l i t i e s i n 1995 and the 
d i s p o s i t i o n of 17,000 excess f r e i g h t cars, which was s v o s t a n t i a l l y completed i n 1996. 

The decrease i n "Materials, services and r e n t s ' i n 1995 r e f l e c t e d i n i t i a l r e s u l t s 
from the i n i t i a t i v e s t o improve asset u t i l i z a t i o n , as w e l l as reduced locomotive r e p a i r 
costs and lower net equipment r e n t a l expense. The reduction i n equipment rents i n 1995 
was due to the short-term leasing of c e r t a i n older locomotives t o other r a i l r o a d s and 
the deregulation of c a r - h i r e rates among r a i l r o a d s , which began i n 1994. These 
favorable r e s u l t s were somewhat o f f s e t by increased expenses r e l a t e d to the 12% growth 
i n intermodal t r a f f i c . 

DEPRECIATION expense (see Note 1, 'Properties,' on page 60 f o r NS' depreciation 
p o l i c y ) was up 5% i n 1996 and 4% i n 1995. Both increases were due to property 
a d d i t i o n s , r e f l e c t i n g s u b s t a n t i a l l e v e l s of c a p i t a l spending over the l a s t several 
years. 

DIESEL FUEL costs rose 23% i n 1996, but were up less than 1% i n 1995. The 
incr-ase m 1996 was due to a 20% increase i n the average p r i c e per ga l l o n , as prices 
reached l e v e l s unseen since 1991 during and f o l l o w i n g the Persian Gulf C r i s i s . 
Consumption was up 3% on a s i m i l a r increase i n carloadings. The 1995 increase was 
p r i m a r i l y due to a small increase i n the average p r i c e per g a l l o n . 

CASUALTIES AND OTHER CLAIMS ( i n c l u d i n g estimates of costs r e l a t e d t o personal 
i n j u r y , property damage and environmental matters) increased 2% i n 1996, but declined 
10% i n 1995. I n 1996, higher accruals f o r environmental remediation costs more them 
o f f s e t reduced accruals f o r personal i n j u r y l i a b i l i t i e s and the e f f e c t s of a 
nonrecurring l i a b i l i t y insurance premium refund. The 1995 decrease was p r i m a r i l y 
a t t r i b u t a b l e t o environmental costs i n 1994 associated w i t h a tankcar leak. 

The l a r g e s t component of "Casualties and other claims' i s personal i n j u r y 
expense. NS continued to be n e f i t from a reduction i n the number of reportable i n j u r i e s 
i n 1996; however, as i n p r i o r years, much of that b e n e f i t was o f f s e t by an increase i n 
the cost of t h i r d - p a r t y i n j u r y claims and by the continuing costs associated w i t h the 
handling of non-accidental "occupational* claims. NS continues t o work a c t i v e l y t o 
reduce the r i s k of a l l accidents. 

The r a i l i n d u s t r y remains uniquely susceptible to l i t i g a t i o n i n v o l v i n g job-
r e l a t e d a c c i d e n t e l i n j u r y and occupational claims because of an outmoded law, the 
Federal FjnployCiS' L i a b i l i t y Act (FELA), o r i g i n a l l y passed i n 1908 and applicable only 
to r a i l r o a d s . This law, which rovers employees' claims f o r on-the-job i n j u r i e s , 
prrmotes an a d v e r s a r i a l claim settlement environment and produces r e s u l t s that are 
unpredictable and i n c o n s i s t e n t , at f a r greater cost to the r a i l i n d u s t r y than the 
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no-fault workers' compensation system to which non-rail competitors are universally 
subject. The railroads have been unsuccessful so far in efforts to persuade Congress to 
replace FELA with a no-fault workers' compensation system. 

OTHER expenses were down 2% in 1996, but were up 4% m 1995. The 1995 increase 
was due to higher sales, use and franchise taxes. 

NS expects to complete work to make its software year-2000 compliant by the end 
of 1998. I t is anticipated that the total cost of conversion w i l l not be material to 
NS' financial statements. 

Motor Carrier Resultc 

Motor carrier operating income was $32.1 million in 1996, compared with 
$24.5 million in 1995 and $22.1 million in 1994. In 1996 ?ind 1995, because certain 
expenses were below original estimates, $4.1 million and $3.9 million, respoctively, 
of reserves related to a former division were reversed. The on-going operat:ons, 
coit?>rising Relocation Services (RS) and High Value Products (HVP) , produced operating 
income of $28.0 million in 1996, $20.6 million in 1995, and $22.1 million in 1994. 

The following table presents a three-year comparison of revenues by division. 

MOTOR CARRIER OPERATING REVENUES BY DIVISION 
($ in millions) 

1996 1995 1994 

Relocation Services $ 304.0 $ 310.9 $ 325.5 
High Value Products 365.0 345.3 337.7 

Total $ 669.0 $ 656.2 $ 663.2 

RS' revenues depend on four primary segments of household goods transportation: 
corporate, individual, military <md intemational shipments. RS' revenues decreased 2% 
in 1996 and 4% in 1995. In 19P6, domestic shipments declined 4% due to weakness in a l l 
segments, and intemational shipments were down 1%. However, these decreases were 
somewhat offset by a 3% gain in average revenue per shipment. The total numJaer of 
industrywide moves of domestic household goods increased about 2% in 1996; over the 
previous six years, i t had declined aibout 1% per year on average. 

In 1995, international business was up 6% and domestic corporate account business 
was up 5%. However, these increases were more than offset by lower volume in individual 
and military business. Average revenue per shipment improved about 3%. There are six 
major van lines in this market, amd conpetition is likely to ; emain intense. 

HVP's main line of business i s the distribution of office products, sensitive 
eguipment, and exhibits and displays. A Customized Logistics Se.rvices (CLS) segment 
provides integrated logistics services. A Blanketwrap segment provides specialized 
handling of uncai'toned truckload freight. Two intemational subsidiaries provide HVP 
and logistics services in Europe. HVP's revenues increased 6% in 1996 and 2% in 1995. 
Traditional HVP business, Blanketwrap, CLS and International, a l l experienced growth 
with their major customers in 1996 and 1995. During 1996, CLS business grew by nearly 
11%, due to new customer programs and expamsion of the emergency parts service 
business. In 1995, gains in the major business segments were partially offset by a 
decrease in a i r freight revenues due to the rationalization of certain service centers. 
Continued growth in the CLS segment is possible, as more shippers look to sophisticated 
logi.'.tics providers like NAVL to provide integrated supply chain management to reduce 
overall shipping and handling costs. 
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Motor carrier operating expenses as a percentage of revenues were 95.8%, 96.9% 
and 96.7% m 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, excluding the reversals related to a 
former division. The improvement i n 1996 was pa r t l y due to a favorable appeals decision 
on certain aspects of a legal claim that was reserved in 1992. Also, the CLS segment 
reduced i t s costs as i t moved out of the start-up phase of several of i t s logistics and 
parts d i s t r i b u t i o n progreims. The increase i n the 1995 operating r a t i o was due, in large 
measure, co custs associat'»d with closing operations m Panama and discontinuing 
certain subsidiary operations i n Canada. Both of these moves were completed i n order to 
streamline operations and reduce costs over the long term. The costs of these programs 
offset ot.hcr gains m operating efficiency, primarily achieved in the HVP d i s t r i b u t i o n 
operations. I.itense competition i n the motor carrier industry is l i k e l y to keep margins 
at a modest level and w i l l require carriers to continue to focus on cost reductions. 

Income Taxej 

Income tax expense i n 1996 was $426.5 m i l l i o n for an effective rate of 35.6%, 
compared with an effective rate of 36.1% i n 1995 and 36.3% i n 1994. 

The effective rates i n 1996 and 1995 were below the statutory federal and state 
rates as a result of investments i n corporate-owned l i f e insurance and coal-seam gas 
properties and from favorable adjustments upon f i l i n g the prior year tax returns. In 
addition, 1996 benefited from favorable adjustments resulting from settlement of 
federal income tax years 1990-1992. The effective rate i n 1994 also was below the 
statutory federal and state rates due to favorable adjustments resulting from 
settlement of federal income tax years 1988 amd 1989, an adjustment to the valuation 
allowance for deferred tax assets and a favorable adjustment upon f i l i n g the 1993 tax 
return. .Deferred tax expense was am unusually l»lih portion of t o t a l tax expense in 
1994. A corresponding reduction i s reflected i n 19?4'i current tax expense for the 
effects of expenditures that af f e c t book e r j -^A accounts i n d i f f e r e n t years, primarily 
in the areas of compensation, motor carrier rvstructurinr' and property. 

Accounting Changes and New Accounting Pronouncements 

As discussed i n Note 1 imder *Required Accounting Changes' on page 60, effective 
January 1, 1996, NS adopted Statemert of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, 
"Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be 
Disposed O f (SFAS 121), which had no material effect on NS' financial statements. 

On October 10, 1996, the AICPA issued Statement of Position 96-1, "Environmental 
Remediation L i a b i l i t i e s ' (SOP 96-1), which i s effective for f i s c a l years beginning 
after December 15, 1996. SOP 96-1 provides guidance with respect to recognition and 
measurement of environmental remediation l i a b i l i t i e s and disclosure of such l i a b i l i t i e s 
in financial statements. SOP 96-1 i s not expected to have a material effect on NS' 
financial statements. 
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FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

FINANCIAL CONDITION refers to the assets, l i a b i l i t i e s and stockholders' equity of 
an organization (see Consolidated Balance Sheets on page 57). LIQUIDITY refers to the 
ability of am organization to generate adequate amounts of cash, princi. a l l y from 
operating results or through borrowing power, to meet its short-term and long-term cash 
requirements (see Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows o- page 58). CAPITAL RESOURCES 
refers to the ability of an organization to raise funds through the sale of either debt 
or equity (stock) securities. 

($ in millions) 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 

Cash and short-term 
investments $403.4 S329.0 $306.7 $258.2 $378.1 

Current assets to 
current l i a b i l i t i e s 1.2 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.2 

Debt-to-total 
capitalization 27.6% 25.9% 26.2% 27.4% 29.8% 

Return on average 
stockholders' equity 15.7% 15.4%* 14.4% 13.7%* 13.4% 

•Excluding unusual items: In 1995, the early retirement charge; and, in 1993, the 
cumulative effects of required accounting chamges and the prior years' effect of 
the federal income tax rate increase. 

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES, NS' principal source of liquidity, 
decreased $32.7 million, or 3%, in 1996 and increased $93.1 million, or 8%, in 1995. 
Since the consolidation in 1982, cash provided by operating activities has been 
sufficient to fund dividend requirements, debt repayments and a significamt portion of 
capital spending. The decrease in 1996 was largely attributable to lun^-sum wage 
payments associated with labor contract settlements amd higher income tauc payments 
related to the settlement of federal income tauc years 1990-1992. The improvement in 
1995 was primarily a result of increased income from operations (excluding the early 
retirement charge, a non-cash item) and improved billing and collection of receivables. 

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATIONS 
(Sho%m as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stoc]cholders) 

($ in millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

$:.,204.7 $ 1,237.4 $1,144.3 $ 874.6 $ 958.2 $ 762.4 
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CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES decreased 6% i n 1996, and was up 16% i n 1995, 
Property add i t i ons account f o r most of the spending i n t h i s category. 

The f o l l o w i n g tables show c a p i t a l spending, t r a c k and equipment s t a t i s t i c s f o r 
the past f i v e years . 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 

(Also Shown as a Graph i n the Annual Report to Stockholders) 

($ i n m i l l i o n s ) 1996* 1995* 1994 1993 1992 

Road $437.8 $385.7 $384 .6 $417.9 $426.5 
Equipment 332.1 344.3 245.9 240.5 281.3 
Other property 26.1 33.4 82.4 10.8 8.3 

Tota l $796.0 $763 .4 $712.9 $669.2 $716.1 

• I n c l u d e s non-cash equipment expenditures o f $107.8 m i l l i o n i n 
1996 and $104.5 m i l l i o n i n 1995 (see Note 6 on page 65) . 

TRACK STRUCTURE STATISTICS (CAPITAL AND MAINTENANCE) 

Track miles of 
r a i l i n s t a l l e d 

Miles of t r a ck 
sur faced 

New c ros s t i e s 
i n s t a l l e d 
( m i l l i o n s ) 

1996 

401 

4, 686 

1.9 

1995 

403 

4, 668 

2.0 

1994 1993 

480 574 

4,760 5,048 

1.7 1.6 

1992 

660 

5,690 

1.9 

AVERAGE AGE OF RAILWAY EQUIPMENT 

(Years) 

Freight cars 
Locomotives 
Retire d 

locomotives 

1996 

22.3 
15.4 

24.4 

1995 

22.0 
15.7 

22.6 

1994 

21.9 
15.8 

23.6 

1993 

21.3 
15.1 

24.7 

1992 

20.9 
14.5 

24.0 

Since 1988, NS has rebodied about 23,000 coal cars and plans to continue that 
program, although a t a slower r a t e , i n 1997. This work, performed at NS' Roanoke Car 
Shop, converts hopper cars i n t o high-capacity s t e e l gondolas or hoppers. As a r e s u l t , 
the remaining service l i f e of the f r e i g h t car f l e e t i s greater than may be i n f e r r e d 
from the increasing average age shewn i n the t a b l e above. 

E f f o r t s t o hold down c a p i t a l spending w h i l e increasing business are ongoing as NS 
seeks to maximize u t i l i z a t i o n of i t s assets. I n t h i s connection, NS began an ord e r l y 
d i s p o s i t i o n of approximately 17,000 f r e i g h t cars i n October 1994. This was 
s u b s t a n t i a l l y completed i n 1996 w i t h t o t a l proceeds of $92 m i l l i o n included i n 
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"Property sales and other transactions' in the 1996 and 1995 Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows. In 1996 and 1995, this line item also reflected proceeds from large land 
sales (see Note 2 on page 62). 

For 1997, NS is planning $792 million of capital spending, of which $781 million 
is for railway projects and $11 million is for motor carrier property. Barring 
unforeseen events and excluding any capital spending related to the proposed Conrail 
transaction (see "Proposed Acquisition of Conrail'), total capital spending is expected 
to continue to be similar to 1995 and 1996 levels. 

In 1994, large borrowings on corporate-owned l i f e insurance, reflected m 
"Investment sales and other transactions' in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 
offset much of the use of cash for property additions in that year. 

CASH USED FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES declined 20% in 1996 and 3% in 1995. The 
reduction in 1996 resulted from amounts received in connection with the issuance of 
$200 million principal amount of medium-term notes (see Note 6 on page 65). The 
reduction in 1995 was primarily attributable to lower debt repayments; 1994 had 
included the maturity of a large mortgage. 

On January 22, 1997, NS filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a shelf 
registration statement on Form S-3 covering the issuance of up to $1.25 billion 
principal amount of debt or equity secur-_ies. 

Cash spent to purchase and retire stock was $389.4 million in 1996, 
$338.2 million in 1995 and $344.8 million in 1994. On October 23, 1996, NS announced 
that the share purchase program had been suspended (see also Note 13 on page 75) . 

CUMUL»̂ .TIVE PURCHASES OF STOCK 
(Shotm as a Graph in the Annual Report to Stoclcholders) 

($ in millions) 

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991 

$3,250.5 $2,865.4 $2,531.5 $2,181.8 $2,041.9 $1,862.8 

Hedging Activities 
As discussed under "Capital Leases* in Note 6 on page 65, NS has made limited use 

of interest rate swaps in connection with certain equipment financings. 

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF CONRAIL 

As discussed in Note 15 on page 76, NS commenced an all-cash tender offer for a l l 
Shares of Conrail Inc. (Conrail), on OctoJoer 24, 1996, in response to the October 15, 
1996, announcement that Conrail had entered into a merger agreement with CSX. 

On February 11, 1997, NS acquired 8.2 million shares cf Conrail stock 
(approximately 9.9%), representing the approximate maucimvjn number of Shares NS can buy 
without triggering Conrail's current anti-takeover defenses, at a cost of $115 per 
Share, or $943 million in the aggregate. The purchase was financed with commercial 
pape. backed by a portion of the debt commitments secured for the transaction. These 
Shares have been placed in a voting trust and under certain circumstances might have to 
be sold at a loss. 

131 



51 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

On February 12, 1997, NS commenced a second tender o f f e r for the remaining Shares 
and has n o t i f i e d C onrail of i t s i n t e n t i o n to conduct a proxy contest i n connection w i t h 
Conrail's 1997 Annual Meeting of shareholders, c u r r e n t l y scheduled for December 19, 
1997, seeking, among other things, to remove c e r t a i n of the current members of the 
Conrail Board and to e l e c t a new s l a t e of nominees designated by NS. 

Pursuant t o an amendment to the merger agree.ment between CSX and Conrail 
announced on March 7, 1997, CSX has o f f e r e d t o purchase a l l Shares for $115 per Share 
i n cash and CSX i s permitted to enter i n t o negotiations w i t h other p a r t i e s , i n c l u d i n g 
NS, concerning the a c q u i s i t i o n of the s e c u r i t i e s or assets, or concessions r e l a t i n g to 
the assets or operations, of Conrail. NS and CSX are n e g o t i a t i n g a comprehensive 
r e s o l u t i o n of the issues confronting the eastern r a i l r o a d s based on the proposal 
submitted by NS to both CSX and Conrail on February 24, 1997. such a r e s o l u t i o n could 
involve a j o i n t a c q u i s i t i o n of Shares by NS and CSX. However, unless and u n t i l such 
negotiations are s u c c e s s f u l l y concluded, NS intends to continue i n e f f e c t i t s tender 
o f f e r f o r a l l Shares not owned by NS. 

For a d d i t i o n a l i n f o r m a t i o n concerning NS' pending tender o f f e r for Shares not 
owned by NS, reference i s made to NS' Tender Offer Statement on Schedule 14D-1, 
together w i t h the e x h i b i t s thereto, i n i t i a l l y f i l e d w i t h the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on February 12, 1997, as amended. 

NS expects f u t u r e cash flows of the combined e n t i t y would be s u f f i c i e n t t o 
service and r e t i r e the a c q u i s i t i o n and r e l a t e d debt. However, as a r e s u l t of the 
proposed t r a n s a c t i o n and the r e l a t e d debt comroitments, NS has been placed on the c r e d i t 
watch l i s t of two major r a t i n g agencies. Furthermore, i n connection w i t h the 
a c q u i s i t i o n of 8.2 m i l l i o n Shares, some of NS' debt r a t i n g s have already been 
downgraded. 

ENVIRONMENTAL r-IATTERS 

NS i s subject t o various j u r i s d i c t i o n s ' environmental laws and regula t i o n s . I t i s 
NS' p o l i c y to record a l i a b i l i t y where such l i a b i l i t y or loss i s probable and can be 
reasonably e.stimated. Claims, i f any, against t h i r d p a r t i e s f o r recovery of clean-up 
costs incurred by NS are r e f l e c t e d as receivables i n the balance sheet and are not 
netted against the associated NS l i a b i l i t y . Environmental engineers p a r t i c i p a t e i n 
ongoing evaluations of a l l i d e n t i f i e d s i t e s , anf^--after consulting w i t h counsel--amy 
necessairy adjustments t o i n i t i a l l i a b i l i t y estimates are made. NS also has established 
an Environmental P o l i c y Council, composed of senior managers, to oversee and i n t e r p r e t 
i t s environmental p o l i c y . 

Operating expenses f o r environmental p r o t e c t i o n t o t a l e d approximately $25 m i l l i o n 
i n 1996 and are a n t i c i p a t e d t o increase somewhat i n 1997. Capital expenditures f o r 
environmental p r o j e c t s amounted t o approximately $6 m i l l i o n i n 1996 and are expected to 
be at the saune l e v e l i n 1997. As of Decerriber 31, 1996, NS' balance sheet included a 
reserve f o r environmental exposures i n the amount of $53 m i l l i o n (of which $12 m i l l i o n 
i s accounted f o r as a c u r r e n t l i a b i l i t y ) , which i s NS' estimate of the probable costs 
based on a v a i l a b l e i n f o r m a t i o n at 111 i d e n t i f i e d locations. On that date, nine s i t e s 
accounted f o r $19 m i l l i o n of the reserve, and no i n d i v i d u a l s i t e was considered to be 
materia l . NS a n t i c i p a t e s t h a t much of t h i s l i a b i l i t y w i l l be paid out over f i v e years; 
however, some costs w i l l be paid out over a longer period. 
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At mamy of the 111 locations, certain NS subsidiaries, usually in conjunction 
with a number of other parties, have been identified as potentially responsible parties 
by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or similar state authorities under the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, or 
comparable state statutes, which often impose joint and several l i a b i l i t y for clean-up 
costs. 

At one such site, the EPA alleged in 1995 that The Alabama Great Southern 
Railroad Con^jany (AGS), a subsidiary of NS' r a i l subsidiary, is responsible, along with 
several other entities believed to be financially solvent, for past and future clean-up 
and monitoring costs at the Bayou Bonfouca NPL Superfund site located m Slidell, La. 
The EPA bases i t s claim of NS' responsibility primarily on the alleged activities in 
the 1880s of a company not at the time owned or controlled by an NS r a i l subsidiary, 
but acquired in 1916. Liability has been contested. Because the aunount of l i a b i l i t y 
that the EPA may assert against NS or AGS is not known., the materiality of such amount 
to NS' financial position, results of operation or liquidity in a particular quarter or 
year cannot be assessed at this time. The EPA has indicated that i t has expended or 
expects to expend a total of approximately $130 million at the site. 
With respect to )cnown environmental sites (whether identified by NS or by the EPA ir 
comparable state authorities), estimates of NS' ultimate potential financial exposure 
for a given si t e or in the aggregate for a l l such sites are necessarily imprecise 
because of the widely varying costs of currently available clean-up techniques, the 
likely development of new clean-up technologies, the difficulty of determining in 
advance the nature and full extent of contamination and each potential participamt's 
share of any estimated loss (amd that participamt's ability to bear i t ) and evolving 
statutory and regulatory standards governing l i a b i l i t y . 

The risk of incurring environmental l i a b i l i t y — f o r acts and omissions, past, 
present amd future--is inherent in the railroad business. Some of the commodities, 
particularly those classified as hazardous materials, in NS' tr a f f i c mix cam pose 
special risks that NS and i t s subsidiaries work diligently to minimize. In addition, 
several NS subsidiaries own. or have owned in the past, land holdings used as operating 
property, or which are leased or may have been leased amd operated by others, or held 
for sale. Because certain conditions may exist on these properties related to 
environmental problems that are latent or undisclosed, there can be no assurance that 
NS will not incur l i a b i l i t i e s or costs with respect to one or more of them, the amount 
and materiality of which cannot be estimated reliably now. Moreover, lawsuits and 
claims involving these and other now-unidentified environmental sites and matters are 
likely to arise from time to time. The resulting l i a b i l i t i e s could havs a significant 
effect on financial -rontition, results of operations or liquidity in a particular year 
or quarter. 

However, based on ir.s assessments of the facts emd circxunstances now known and, 
after consulting with its l^gal counsel. Management believes that i t has recorded the 
probable costs laased on available information for those environmental matters of which 
the Corpora^ion i s aware. Further, Mamagement believes that i t i s unlikely that any 
identified iriatters, either individually or in aggregate, w i l l have a material adverse 
effect on NS' financial position, results of operations or liquidity. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, (continued) 

INFLATION 

Generally accepted accounting principles require the use of historical cost in 
preparing financial statements. This approach disregards the effects of inflation on 
the replacement cost of property. NS, a capital-intensive company, has approximately 
$14 billion invested in such assets. The replacement cost of these assets, as well as 
the related depreciation expense, would be substantially greater than the amounts 
reported on thf basis of historical cost. 

TRENDS 

- Utility Deregulation--The potential deregulation of the electrical u t i l i t y industry 
is expected to increase competition aunong electric power generators; deregulation in 
time would permit wholesalers and possibly retailers of electric power to sell or 
purchase increasing quantities of power to or from far-distant generators. The 
effects of deregulation on NS and on its patrons caurmot be predicted with certainty; 
however, NS serves a number of efficient power producers and is woj .king diligently 
to assure that i t s customers remain competitive in this evolving environment. 

FELA--NS and the r a i l industry are continuing their efforts to replace the FELA with 
no-fault workers' compensation laws comparaUale to those covering eirployees in other 
industries. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations and other sections of this Annual Report contain forward-looking statements 
that are based on current expectations, estimates and projections. These statements are 
not guarantees of future perfoi-mamce and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions 
that are diffi c u l t to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and result?^, may differ 
materially from what is expressed in such forward-looking stateroent'i. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

1996 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA 

(Unaudited) 

Three Months Ended 

March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 

(I n m i l l i o n s of d o l l e r s except per share amounts) 

Transportation 
operating revenues $1,161.5 $1,217.3 $1,211.3 $1,179.9 

Income from operations 261.0 310.5 315.7 309.8 
Net income 168.1 199.5 202.3 200.5 
Earnings per share $ 1.31 $ 1.57 $ 1.61 $ 1.60 

1995 

Tramsportation 
operating revenues 

Income from operations 
Net income 
Earnings per share 

$1,138.7 
249.1 
170.7 

$ 1.29 

$1,190.2 
290.1 
181.2 

$ 1.38 

$1,183.9 
292.1 
183.9 

$ 1.40 

$1,155.2 
255.0 
176.9 

$ 1.37 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

Index to Financial Statements: 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
As of December 31, 1996 and 1995 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994 

Consolidated Statements of Changes iu 
Stockholders' Equity 

Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994 

Notes to Consolidatec'. Financial Statements 

Independent Auditors' Report 

Page 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

79 

The Index to Consolidated Finamcial Statement Schedule appears in 
Item 14 on page 81. 
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Item 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statements of Income 

Years ended December 31, 

Transportation operating revenues: 
Railway 
Motor carriar 

'''otal transportation operating revenues 

Transportation operating expenses: 
Railway: 
Compensation and benefits (Note 10) 
Materials, services and rents 
Depreciation 
Diesel fuel 
Casualties and other claims 
Other 

Total railway operating expenses 
Motor carrier 

Total transportation operating expenses 

Income from operations 

Other income - net (Note 2) 
Interest expense on d«bt (Not* 5) 

Income before income taxes 

Provision for income taxes (Note 3) 

Net income 

Earnings per share (Note 13) 

1996 1995 1994 

($ in millions 
except earnings per share) 

$ 4,101 .0 $ 4,011 .8 $ 3,918 . 1 
669 .0 656 .2 663 .2 

4,770 .0 4,668 .0 4, 581 .3 

1,398 .7 1,480 .0 1, 371 .1 
624 .4 618 .5 660 .4 
407 .9 389 .0 374 .3 
233 .4 189 .8 188 .3 
123 .4 121 .4 135 .1 
148 .3 151 .3 145 .6 

2,936 .1 2,950 .0 2, 874 .8 
636 .9 631 .7 641 .1 

3,573 .0 3,581 .7 3,515 .9 

1,197 .0 1, 086 .3 1,065 .4 

115 .6 141 .9 85 .2 
115 .7 113 .4 101 .6 

1,196 .9 1,114 .7 1,049 .0 

426 .5 402 .0 381 .2 

$ 770 .4 $ 712 .7 $ 667 .8 

6.09 5.44 4.90 

See accompamying notes to consolidated financial scataments. 
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I t e m 8. F i . n a n c i a l S ta t emen t s and Supplementary Da ta , ( c o n t i n u e d ) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

As of December 31, 

Assets 
Current assets : 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Short-'•.erm investments 
Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful 
accounts of $16.3 m i l l i o n and $19.1 m i l l i o n , 
respectively 

Materials and supplies 
Deferred income taxes (Note 3) 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 

Investments (Note 4) 
Properties less accumulated depreciation (Note 5) 
Other assets (Note 15) 

Total assets 

L i a b i l i t i e s and stockholders' equity 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s : 
Short-term debt (Note 6) 
Accounts payable (Note 7) 
Income and other taxes 
Other current l i a b i l i t i e s (Note 7) 
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 6) 

Total current l i a b i l i t i e s 

Long-term debt (Note 6) 
Other l i a b i l i t i e s (Note 9) 
Minority i n t e r e s t s 

Deferred income taxes (Note 3) 

Total l i a b i l i t i e s 

Stockholders' equity: 
Common stock $1.00 per share par value, 
450,000,000 shares authorized; 
issued 132,350,009 shares and 
136,285,530 shares, respectively 

Other c a p i t a l 
Retained income 

Less treasury stock at cost, 7,252,634 shares 

Tot-Ill stockholders' equity 

Total l i a b i l i t i e s and stockholders' equity 

132.4 
462.1 

4,403.7 

(20.6) 

4,977 . 6 

$ 11,416.4 

1996 1995 

($ i n m i l l i o n s ) 

S 209 2 S 67 7 
194 2 261 3 

704 3 703 5 
63 0 61 7 

158 9 144 7 
127 2 103 9 

1,456 8 1,342 8 

274 7 231 7 
9, 529 1 9,258 8 

155 8 71 5 

$ 11,416 4 $ 10,904 8 

$ 44 0 $ 45 2 
708 9 732 8 
178. 7 190 8 
202. 7 151 3 
56. 0 85 7 

1,190. 3 1,205 8 

1, 800 3 1,553 3 
987 1 965 5 
49 5 52 2 

2,411 6 2,299 0 

6,438 8 6,075 .8 

136.3 
430.9 

4,282.4 

(20.6) 

4,329.0 

$ 10,904.8 

See accompanying notes to consolidated f i n a n c i a l statements. 

138 



58 

I t em 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements auid Supplementary Data, (cont inued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
C o n s o l i d a t e d Statements o f Cash Flows 

Years ended December 3 1 , 
1996 1995 1994 

($ i n m i l l i o n s ) 

Cash flows from operating a c t i v i t i e s : 
Net income 
Reconciliation of net income to 
net cash provided by operating a c t i v i t i e s : 
Special charge payments 
Depreciation 
Deferred income taxes 
Nonoperating gains and losses on 
properties and investments 

Changes in assets and l i a b i l i t i e s 
affecting operations: 
Accounts receivable 
Materials and supplies 
Other current assets 
Current l i a b i l i t i e s other than debt 
Other - net 

Net cash provided by 
operating a c t i v i t i e s 

Cash flows from investing a c t i v i t i e s : 
Property additions 
Property sales and other transactions 
Investments 
Investment sales and other transactions 
Short-term investments - net 

Net cash used for investing a c t i v i t i e s 

Cash flows from financing a c t i v i t i e s : 
Dividends 
Common stock issued - net 
Purchase and retirement of conmon stock 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 
Debt repayments 

Net cash used for financing a c t i v i t i e s 

Net increase (decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents: 
At beginning of year 

At end of year 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information 
Cash paid during the year for: 

Interest (net of aunounts capitalized) 
Income taxes 

770.4 

(18.0) 
429.2 
97.1 

(56.8) 

(0.8) 
(1.3) 
(9.1) 
(5.5) 
(0.5) 

1,204. I 

(688.2) 
131.1 
(82.0) 
37.8 
65.6 

(535.7) 

(283.7) 
28.6 

(389.4) 
209.6 
(92.6) 

(527.5) 

141.5 

67.7 

$ 209.2 

712.7 

(29.3) 
413.5 
66.7 

(71.8) 

28.1 
0.2 
1.4 
84.2 
31.7 

$ 127.5 
$ 324.1 

1,237.4 

(658.9) 
129.5 
(67.1) 
36.9 
(8.3) 

(567.9) 

(273.5) 
19.1 

(338.2) 
7.6 

(73.8) 

(658.8) 

10.7 

57.0 

$ 67.7 

$ 119.4 
$ 282.9 

667.8 

(41.9) 
403.8 
112.7 

(17.0) 

(12.9) 
8.4 

(17.8) 
55.5 
(14.3) 

1,144.3 

(712.9) 
86.1 
(58.7) 
272.0 
(74.4) 

(487.9) 

(262.7) 
9.8 

(344.8) 
41.4 

'123.6) 

(679.9) 

(23.5) 

80.5 

$ 57.0 

$ 114.3 
$ 226.4 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Item 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDI.ARIES 
C o n s o l i d a t e d Sta tements o f Changes m S t o c k h o l d e r s ' E q u i t y 

Common 
S tock 

Other 
C a p i t a l 

R e t a i n e d 
Income 

($ i n m i l l i o n s ) 

Treasury 
Stock "otal 

Balance December 31, 1993 
Net income - 1994 
Dividends on common stock 

$1.92 per share 
Purchase and retirement of 
common stock 

Other 

$ 145.7 $ 417.1 

(5.5) 
0.2 

(16.3) 
9.6 

$ 4,078.5 
667.8 

(262 .7) 

(327.8) 
(1.2) 

$ (20.6) $ 4,620.7 
667.8 

(262.7) 

(349.6) 
8.6 

Balance December 31, 1994 
Net income - 1995 
Dividends on common stock 

$2.08 per share 
Purchase and retirement of 
common stock 

Other 

140.4 

(4.8) 
0.7 

410.4 

(14.3) 
34.8 

4,154.6 
712 .7 

(273.5) 

(314.8) 
3.4 

(20.6) 4,684.8 
712.7 

(273.5) 

(333.9) 
38.9 

Balance December 31, 1995 
Net income - 1996 
Dividends on common stock 

$2.24 per share 
Purchase and ret i r e m e n t of 

coirenon s t o c k 
O t h e r 

136.3 

(4.6) 
0.7 

430.9 

(14.8) 
46.0 

4,282.4 
770.4 

(283.7) 

(365.7) 
0.3 

(20.6) 4,829.0 
770.4 

(283.7) 

(385.1) 
47.0 

Balance December 31, 1996 132.4 462.1 $ 4,403.7 

See accompanying notes to consolidated f i n a n c i a l statements. 

$ (20.6) $ 4,977.6 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION PdZi SUBSIDIARIES 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

The following notes (which—with the exception of Note 16--are identical to those 
contained in the Corporation's 1996 Annual Report to Stockholders) are an integral part 
of the consolidated financial statements. 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Description of Business 

Norfolk Southern Corporation i s a Virginia-based holding company engaged 
principally in the transportation of freight by r a i l , primarily in the Southeast and 
Midwest, and the operation of a motor carrier providing household moving and 
specialized freight handling services in the United States and Canada. The consolidated 
financial statements include Norfolk Southern Corporation (Norfolk Southern) and its 
majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries (collectively NS). The major subsidiaries 
are Norfolk Southern Railway Company and North American Van Lines, Inc. (NAVL). All 
significant intercompany balamces and transactions have been eliminated in 
consolidation. 

Rail freight consists of raw materials, intermediate products and finished goods 
classified in the following market groups: coal, paper/forest, chemicals, automotive, 
agriculture, metals/construction and intermodal. All groups are approximately equal in 
size based on revenues except for coal, which accounts for almost one third of total 
railway operating revenues. Ultimate destinations for some of the freight and a portion 
of the coal shipped are outside the United States. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires Mamagement to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets amd l i a b i l i t i e s , the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liaibilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

Cash Equivalents 

"Cash equivalents' are highly liquid investments purchased three months or less 
from maturity. 

Investments 

Marketable equity and debt securit.es are reported at amortized cost or fair 
value depending upon their classification as held-to-maturity, trading or available-
for-sale securities. At December 31, 1996 and 1995, a l l "Short-term investments,' 
consisting primarily of United States government and federal agency securities, were 
designated as available for sale. Accordingly, imrealized gains and losses, net of 
taxes, are recognized in "*Stoc)cholders' equity.' 

Materials amd Supplies 

"Materials and supplies,' consisting mainly of fuel o i l and items for maintenance 
of property and equipment, are stated at average cost. The cost of materials and 
supplies expected to be used in capital additions or improvements is included in 
"Properties.' 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Properties 

"Properties' are stated principally at cost and are depreciated using group 
depreciation. Rail is primarily depreciated on the basis of use measured by gross ton 
miles. The effect of this method is to depreciate these assets over 42 years on 
average. Other properties are depreciated generally using the straight-line method over 
estimated service lives at annual rates that range from 1% to 25%. In 1996, the overall 
depreciation rate averaged 2.8% for roadway and 4.1% for equipment. NS capitalizes 
interest on major capital projects during the period of their construction. Maintenance 
expense is recognized when repairs are performed. When properties, other than land and 
non-rail assets, are sold or retired in the ordinary course of business, the cost of 
the assets, net of sale proceeds or salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation 
rather than recognized through income. Gains and losses on disposal of land and non-
r a i l assets are included in other income (see Note 2). 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is recognized proportionally as a shipment moves from origin to 
destination. 

Earnings Per Share 

The number reported as "Earnings per share' in any period i s con5)uted by dividing 
net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstamding during that 
period. Decreases in the numlDer of shares outstanding are the result of stock purchase 
programs as descri]3ed in Note 13. 

Required Accounting Chamges 

1996 -- Effective January 1, 1996, NS adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Strndards No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-
Lived Assets to be Disposed Of (SFAS 121) . SFAS 121 establishes the accoxmting and 
reporting requirements for recognizing and measuring iin>airment of long-lived assets 
either to be held amd used or to i>e held for disposal. SFAS 121 did not have a material 
effect on NS' financial statements. 

In October 1995, the FASB issued Statement No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation' (SFAS 123) . This standard, effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 1995, defin«»s a fair-value-based method of accounting for stock-based 
compensation plams. However, the standard also allows measurement of compensation cost 
using the intrinsic-value-)oased method of account ng prescribed in Accounting 
Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (APB 25) . Compamies that choose to retain APB 25 for 
measurement purposes are required to provide certain additional footnote disclosures. 
NS has elected to continue recording stock-based condensation costs based on APB 25 and 
to provide additional disclosures. 
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Item 8. F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

OTHER INCOME - NET 

1996 1995 

($ in millions) 

1994 

Interest income $ 22 .5 $ 27 .9 $ 25 .5 
Royalties from coal 58 .8 58 .6 61 .0 
Gains from sale of properties 

and investments 56 .8 41 .3 17 .0 
Gain from p a r t i a l redenption of 

partnership interest -- 30 .5 
Rental income 20 .1 20 .8 19 .6 
Corporate-owned l i f e 

insurance - net 5 6 7 .1 7 .7 
Other interest expense (31 1) (2^ .5) (19 7) 
Non-rail depletion and depreciation (11 0) (10 2) (11 6) 
Taxes on nonoperating property (8 4) (6 9) (8 2) 
Other - net 2 3 (3 8) (6 1) 

Total $ 115 6 $ 141 8 $ 85 2 
MM S S 

3. INCOME TAXES 

Provision for Income Tauces 

Current: 
Federal 
State 

Total current taxes 

Deferred: 
Federal 
State 

Total deferred taxes 

Provision for income taxes 

1996 

$ 287.8 
41.6 

329.4 

79.2 
17.9 

97.1 

$ 426.5 

1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 282.6 
52.7 

335.3 

57.8 
8.9 

66.7 

$ 402.0 

1994 

$ 226.4 
42.1 

268.5 

99.0 
13.7 

112.7 

$ 381.2 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

3. INCOME TAXES (continued) 

Reconciliation of Statutory Rate to Effective Rate 

Total income taxes as reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Income d i f f e r 
from the amounts computed by applying the statutory federal corporate tax rate as 
follows: 

1996 

Amount % 

1995 

Amount 

1994 

Amount % 

Federal income tax 
at statutory rate 

State income taxes, net 
of federal tax benefit 

Corporate-owned 
l i f e insurance 

Other - net 

Provision for 
income taxes 

Intemal Revenue Service (IRS) Reviews 

($ i n millions.' 

418.9 35 .0 $ 390.1 35 .0 5 367.2 35 0 

38.6 3 .2 40.0 3 .6 36.1 3 4 

(15.4) (1 3) (17.0) (1 5) (10.5) (1 0) 
(15.6) (1 3) (11.1) (1 0) (11.6) (1 1) 

426.5 35 6 $ 402.0 36 1 $ 381.2 36 3 
s x a t s s = = a == S S S X 9 X S X S S s x x x s x x s 

Consolidated federal income tax retums have been examined and Revenue Agent 
Repot ts have been received for a l l years up to and including 1992. The consolidated 
federal income tax returns for 1993 ar>d 1994 are being audited by the IRS. Management 
believes that adequate provision has been made lot ̂ u,y additional taxes and interest 
thereon that might arise as a result of those examinations. 

Tax Benefit Leases 

In January 1995, the United States Tax Court issued a preliminary decision that 
would disallow some of the taoc benefits a subsidiary of NS purchased from a t h i r d party 
pursuant to a safe harbor lease agreement i n 1981. Mamagement continues to believe that 
NS ultimately should incur no loss from this decision, loecause the lease agreement 
provides for f u l l indemnification i f amy such disallowamce i s sustained. 

Deferred Tax Assets and L i a b i l i t i e s 

Certain items are reported i n different periods for financial reporting and 
income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets amd l i a b i l i t i e s were recorded i n recognition 
of these differences. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

3. INCOME TAXES (continued) 

The tax e f f e c t s of temporary differences that give r i s e to s i g n i f i c a n t portions 
of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax l i a b i l i t i e s were as follows: 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

($ in n i l l i o n s ) 
Deferred tax assets: 
Reserves, including casualty and 

other claims $ 172.0 S 189.3 
Enqjloyee benefits 187.5 196.1 
Retiree health and death benefit 

obligation 147.4 148.3 
Taxes, including state and property 179.7 170.3 
Other 79.8 59.1 

Total gross deferred 
tax assets 766.4 763.1 

Less valuation allowance (2.1) (1.5) 

Net deferred tauc assets 764.3 761.6 

Deferred tax l i a b i l i t i e s : 
Property (2,902.9) (2.821.5) 
Other (114.1) (94.4) 

Total gross deferred 
tax l i a b i l i t i e s (3,017.0) (2,915.9) 

Net deferred tax l i a b i l i t y (2,252.7) (2,154.3) 
Net current deferred 

tax assets 158.9 144.7 

Net long-term deferred 
tax l i a b i l i t y $ (2,411.6) $ (2,299.0) 

mmmmsmxmmu s s x s s s s s s z 

Except for amounts for *rtiich a valuation allowance is provided. Management 
believes the deferred tax assets w i l l be realized- The net change in the total 
valuation allowamce was a $0.6 million increase for 1996, a $0.1 million increase for 
1995 and a $9.5 million decrease for 1994. 
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I t e m 8. F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s and S u p p l e m e n t a r y D a t a , ( c o n t i n u e d ) 

INVESTMENTS 

Corporate-owned l i f e insurance 
a t net cash surrender value 

Marketable e q u i t y s e c u r i t i e s 
Other 

T o t a l 

5. PROPERTIES 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

($ i n m i l l i o n s ) 

$ 211.5 
6.4 

56.8 

$ 274.7 

$ 175.2 
5.2 

51.3 

$ 231.7 

Transportation property: 
Road 
Equipment 

Other property 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 

Net p r o p e r t i e s 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

($ i n m i l l i o n s ) 

$ 8,488.7 
4,848.0 

591.2 

13,927.9 
4,398.8 

$ 9,529.1 

$ 8,235.7 
4,775.7 

573.7 

13,585.1 
4,326.3 

$ 9,258.8 

C a p i t a l i z e d I n t e r e s t 

Total i n t e r e s t cost incurred on debt i n 1996, 1995 and 1994 was $127.6 m i l l i o n , 
$127.4 m i l l i o n and $119.4 m i l l i o n , r e s p e c t i v e l y , of which $11.9 m i l l i o n , $14.0 m i l l i o n 
and $17.8 m i l l i o n was c a p i t a l i z e d . 

6. DEBT 

Commercial Paper Program 

NS' commercial paper debt t o t a l e d $516.1 m i l l i o n amd $518.0 m i l l i o n as of 
December 31, 1996 and 1995, r e s p e c t i v e l y . 

Commercial paper debt i s due w i t h i n one year, but $500 m i l l i o n has been 
c l a s s i f i e d as long-term because N has the a b i l i t y through a r e v o l v i n g c r e d i t back-up 
f a c i l i t y t o convert t h i s o b l i g a t i o n i n t o longer term debt. NS intends t o refinance the 
commercial paper e i t h e r by issuing a d d i t i o n a l commercial paper or by r e p l a c i n g 
commercial paper notes w i t h long-term debt. 

The c r e d i t f a c i l i t y provides f o r i n t e r e s t on borrowings at p r e v a i l i n g rates and 
contains customary f i n a n c i a l covenants, inc l u d i n g an i n i t i a l minimum net worth 
requirement of $4.0 b i l l i o n . 

I n connection w i t h the tender o f f e r to purchase up t o 8.2 m i l l i o n shares of 
Conrai l stock, NS has arranged f o r a d d i t i o n a l commercial paper debt (see Note 15). 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

6. DEBT (crr,i.inued) 

Short-Term Debt 

Commercial paper notes 
Other notes 

Subsidiaries' credit lines 

Total 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 16.1 
27 .2 
C.7 

$ 44.0 

$ 18.0 
27.2 

S 45.2 

Shelf Registration 

In 1991, NS filed with the Securities and Excharr- Commission a shelf 
registration statement on Form S-3 covering the issuance of up -.o $750 million 
principal amount of unsecured debt securities. Through the end of 1996, $700 million 
principal amount of debt has been issued and sold under this shelf registration. These 
notes are not redeemable prior to maturity amd are not entitled to any sinking fund. 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

9% notes issued March 1991, due 
March 1, 2021 

7.875% notes issued February 1992, 
due February 15, 2004 

7.4% notes issued September 1996, 
due September 15, 2006 

7.22% notes issued September 1996, 
due September 15, 2006 

Total 

($ in millions) 

$ 250 

250 

100 

100 

$ 700 

$ 250 

250 

$ 500 

Capital Lease Obligations 

During 1996 amd 1995, an NS r a i l subsidiary entered into capital leases covering 
new locomotives. The related capital lease obligations totaling $107.8 million in 1996 
and $104.5 million in 19<»5 were reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as debt 
and, because they were non-cash transactions, were excluded from the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows. The lease obligations carry am average stated interest rate 
of 6.5% for those entered into in 1996 and 8.4% for those entered into in 1995. All 
were converted to variable rate obligations using interest rate swap agreements. The 
interest .-ates on these obligations are based on the six-month London Interbank Offered 
Rate and are reset every six months with changes in interest rates accoxmted for as an 
adjustment of interest expense over the terms of the leases. As a result, NS is exposed 
to the market risk associated with fluctuations in interest rates. To date, while such 
rate fluctuations have been nominal, their effects have been favorable. Counterparties 
to the interest rate swap agreements are major financial institutions believed by 
Management to be credit-worthy. NS' use of interest ate swaps has been limited to 
those discussed above. 
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Item 8 F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

6. DEBT (continued) 

Long-Term Debt 

Decemtjer 31, 
1996 1995 

Railroad equipment obligations at an 
average rate of 7.9% maturing to 2009 

Notes at an average rate of 8.1% 
maturing to 2021 

Commercial paper classified as long-term 
debt at an average rate of 5.4% 

Capitalized leases at an average rate of 
5.9% maturing to 2015 

Other debt at an average rate of 8.7% 
maturing to 2015 

Total long-term debt 

Less: Current maturities 

Long-term debt less current 
maturities 

Long-term debt matures as follows: 
1998 
1999 
2000 
2001 

2002 and subsequent years 

Total 

($ in millions) 

$ 396.4 

700.0 

500.0 

197.0 

62.9 

1,856.3 

56.0 

$ 1,800.3 

$ 114.6 
127.2 
57.7 
51.8 

1,449.0 

;J 1,800.3 

$ 444.6 

500.0 

500.0 

100 .9 

93.5 

1,639.0 

85.7 

$ 1,553.3 

A substantial portion of NS' properties and certain investments in affiliated 
companies are pledged as collateral for much of the secured debt. 
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Item 8 F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

7. CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable: 
Accounts and wages payable 
Casualty and other claims 
Vacation l i a b i l i t y 
Equipment rents payable - net 
Other 

Total 

Other current l i a b i l i t i e s : 
Prepaid aunounts on forwarded traffic 
Accrued acquisition costs (Note 15) 
Interest payable 
Retiree health and death benefit 

obligation (Note 11) 
Other 

Total 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 349.6 
199.6 
76.8 
60.9 
22.0 

$ 385.2 
197.4 
74.4 
62.0 
13.8 

$ 708.9 $ 732.8 
= = S S S X X S s s s x x x 

$ 62.7 $ 69.7 
60.7 --
38.9 42.8 

23.7 25.3 
16.7 13 .5 

$ 202.7 
MMMMjimmm 

$ 
S X 

151.3 
x x s x x x 

8. LEASE COIMMITMENTS 

NS i s comnitted under long-term lease agreements, which expire on various dates 
-hrough 2067, for equipment, lines of road and other property. Future minimum lease 
pa.yroents are as follows: 

Operating Leases Capital Leases 

($ in millions) 

$ 1997 
1998 
1999 
2000 
2001 

2002 amd subsequent years 

Total 
Less imputed interest 
on capital leases at an 
average rate of 7.4% 

Present value of mininnun 
lease payments included 
in debt 

$ 64.4 
56, 
42, 
35, 
33, 

643 

$ 875.6 

28.6 
28.6 
28.6 
28.5 
28.0 
143.1 

285.4 

88.4 

S 197.0 
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I tem 8. F i n a n c i a l S ta tements and Supplementary Data , (cont inued) 

8. LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued) 

Operating Lease Expense 

Minimiim rents 
Contingent rents 

Total 

1996 

77.4 
38.3 

115.7 

1995 

($ in mil l ions) 

$ 67.8 $ 
36.0 

103.8 

1994 

56.1 
45 .4 

101.5 

9. OTHER LIABILITIES 

Casualty amd other claims 
Net pension obligation (Note 10) 
Retiree health amd death benefit 

obligation (Note 11) 
Other 

Total 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

($ in millions) 

$ 274.2 
89.2 

306.6 
317.1 

$ 987.1 

$ 286.5 
102.2 

307.4 
269.4 

$ 965.5 

10. PENSION PLANS 

Norfolk Southem and certain subsidiaries have defined t>enefit pension plans that 
principally cover salaried employees. Pension benefits are t>ased primarily on years of 
creditable service with NS and con?>ensation rates near retirement. Contributions to Lhe 
plans are made on the basis of not less than the minimum funding standard.^ set forth in 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. Assets in the plans 
consist mainly of common stoclcs. 

Pension Cost (Benefit) Components 

Service cost-benefits earned 
during the year 

Interest cost on projected 
benefit obligation 

Actual return on assets in plans 
Net amortization amd deferral 

Net pension benefit 
Cost of early retirement benefits 

Total 

1996 1995 1994 

($ in millions) 

$ 14 5 $ 11.5 $ 12 5 

69 6 68.0 62 6 
(174 9) (263.4) (17 0) 
85 4 177.0 (62 8) 

(5 4) (6.9) (4 7) 
-- 23.4 --

$ (5 4) $ 16.5 s (4 7) 

150 



70 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

10. PENSION PLANS (continued) 

Pension cost i s determined based on an actuarial valuation that re f l e c t s 
appropriate assun^tions as of the beginning of each year. The funded status of the 
plans i s determined using appropriate assumptions as of each year end. A summary of the 
major assumptions follows: 

1996 1995 1994 

Discount rate for determining 
funded status 

Future salary increases 
Return on assets in plans 

7.75% 
5.25% 

9% 

7.25% 
6% 
9% 

8.50% 
<% 
9% 

The funded status of the plans and the amounts reflected in the accompanying 
balamce sheets were as follows: 

December 31, 

1996 1995 

Funded 
Plams 

Unfunded 
Plams 

Funded 
Plans 

Unfunded 
Plans 

($ in millions) 
Actuarial present value of 

laenefit ob.Mgations: 
Vested ben<*fits $ 784.3 
Non-vested benefits 8.1 

Accumulated benefit 
obligation 792.4 

Effect of expected future 
salary increases 68.9 

Projected loenefit 
obligation 861.3 

Fair value of assets in plams 1,191.0 

Funded status 329.7 

58.9 

58.9 

5.6 

64.5 

(64.5) 

$ 812.5 
6.6 

819.1 

115.3 

934.4 
1,088.8 

154.4 

51.7 
0.3 

52.0 

11.5 

63.5 

(63.5) 

Unrecognized i n i t i a l 
net asset 

Unrecognized (gain) loss 
Unrecognized prior 
service cost 

Net pension l i a b i l i t y 
included in the 
Isalance sheets 

(29.4) 
(336.9) 

(11.8) 

21.0 

2.7 

(35.9) 
(169.2) 

(12.8) 

$ (48.4) $ (40.8) $ (63.5) 

21.5 

3.3 

(38.7) 

Early Retirement Program in 1995 

During 1995, NS completed a volxmtary early retirement prograun for certain 
salaried employees. The principal benefit for those who participated in thi.s program 
was enhanced pension benefits, which are reflected in the accumulated benefit 
obligation. The charge for the 272 employees who accepted the offer i s included in 
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Item 8. F inanc ia l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

10. PENSION PLANo (continued) 

"Compensation and b e n e f i t s ' expense and t o t a l e d $33.6 m i l l i o n ( i n c l u d i n g $8.3 m i l l i o n 
r e l a t e d to pos t re t i r ement bene f i t s other than pensions) . 

401(k) Plans 

Norfolk Southern and certain subsidiaries provide 401(k) savings plans for 
employees. Under the plans, NS matches a portion of employee contriburions, subject to 
applicable limitations. NS' expenses under these plans were $8.1 million, $7.0 million 
and $5.1 million in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. 

11. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN P£NSIONS 

Norfolk Southern and certain subsidiaries provide specified health care and death 
benefits to e l i g i b l e r e t ired employees and thei r dependents. Under the present plans, 
which may be amended or terminated at NS' option, a defined percentage of health care 
expenses i s covered, reduced by any deductibles, co-payments, Medicare payments and, in 
some cases, coverage provided by other group insurance policies. The cost of such 
health care coverage to a retiree may be determined, in part, by the retiree's years of 
creditable service with NS prior to retirement. Death benefits are determined based on 
various factors, including, in some cases, s a l a r y at time of retirement. 

NS continues to fund benefit costs p r i n c i p a l l y on a pay-as-you-go basis. However, 
in 1991, NS established a Voluntary Employee Beneficiary Association (VESA) account to 
t\md a portion of the cost of future health care benefits for r e t i r e e s . NS las t made a 
corporate contribution of $10 million i n 1994 to the VEBA. 

Effect i v e Jamuary 1, 1994, NS amended the attribution period for postretirement 
health care benefits. The amendment generally provides for benefits to be determined 
ratably over a 10-year period t>ased on creditable service commencing at age 45, or from 
date of hire i f employment began after age 45. The amendment reduced the accumulated 
postretirement health care benefit obligation by $90 million, which w i l l be amortized 
as a reduction in annual cost on a pro rata basis over a six-year period. 

A summary of the postretirement benefit cost follows: 

Service cost-benefits 
attributable to service 
during the year 

Interest cost on accxunulated 
postretirement benefit 
obligation 

Actual return on plam assets 
Net amortization and deferral 

1996 1995 

($ i n millions) 

11.1 $ 10.2 

1994 

$ 14.5 

25-1 
(13.7) 
(5.2) 

28.6 
(17.6) 

0.9 

25.0 

(14.6) 

Net postretirement 
benefit cost $ 17.3 $ 22.1 $ ?4.9 

Cost of early retirement 
benefits — 8.3 — 

Total $ 17.3 
X S X X X S S X 

$ 30.4 $ 24.9 
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I tem 8 F i n a n c i a l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

11 . POSTRETirxEMErn- BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (continued) 

, ' ^ ^ ^ J ° ^ ^ ° ^ i r ^ 9 t a b l e sets f o r t h these p l a n s ' t o t a l accumulated pos t r e t i r emen t 
b e n e f i t o b l i g a t i o n , r e c o n c i l e d w i t h the accrued pos t re t i rement b e n e f i t o b l i g a t i o n : 

December 31, 
1996 1995 

Health 
Care 

Benefits 
Death 

Benefits 

Health 
Cart' 

Benef:ts 
Death 

Benefits 

Accumulated p o s t r e t i r e -
merjt b e n e f i t o b l i g a t i o n : 
Retirees 
F u l l y e l i g i b l e a c t i v e 
p l a n p a r t i c i p a n t s 

Other a c t i v e plan 
p a r t i c i p a n t s 

$ 170.2 

23.0 

46.4 

($ i n m i l l i o n s ) 

$ 83.1 $ 225.6 

7.2 23.9 

12.1 52.7 

$ 83.8 

8.0 

12.8 

T o t a l 
Plan assets a t f a i r value 

239.6 
85.8 

102.4 302.2 
72.1 

104.6 

.'unded s t a t u s 

Unrecognized loss (gain) 
Unrecognized p r i o r 
s e r v i c e cost (loenefit) 

(153.8) 

(23.7) 

(47.7) 

(102.4) 

(2.6) 

(0.1) 

(230.1) 

59.4 

(61.5) 

(104.6) 

4.1 

Accrued p o s t r e t i r e ­
ment b e n e f i t 
o b i i g a t i o n $ (225.2) $ (105.1) 

z x s s s s s x 
$ (232.2) $ (100.5) 

For measurement purposes, a 10.4% increase i n the per capita cost of covered 
health care benefits was assumed for 1997. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually 
to an ultimate rate of 5.5% and remain at that level for 2005 and thereafter. Tho 
health care cost trend rate has a significant e f f e c t on the amounts reported i n the 
financial statements. To i l l u s t r a t e , increasing the assumed trend rates by one 
percentage point i n each year would increase the accumulated postretirement Isenefit 
obligation as of December 31, 1996, by about $27 m i l l i o n and the aggregate of the 
service and in t e r e s t cost components of net postretirement benefit cost for the year 
1996 by about 54 m i l l i o n . 

The weighted-average discount rate used i n determining the accumulated 
postretirement benefit obligation, the salary increase assumption amd the long-term 
rate of return on plan assets are the same as those used for the pension plams (see 
table of rate assumptions i n Note 10) . 

The VEBA t r u s t holding the plam assets i s not expected to loe subject to federal 
income taxes, as the assets are invested e n t i r e l y i n trust-owned l i f e insurance. 

Under c o l l e c t i v e bargaining agreements, NS and certain subsidiaries participate 
m a multi-employer benefit plan, which provides certain postretirement health care and 
l i f e insurance benefits to e l i g i b l e union employees. Premiums under t h i s plan are 
expensed as incurred and amounted to $3.6 m i l l i o n , $3.7 ..dllion and $4.8 m i l l i o n i n 
1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

12. LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN 

Under the stockholder-approved Long-Term Incentive Plan, a committee of non-
employee directors of the Board may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights 
(SARs) and performance share units (PSUs), up to a maximxim 17,675,000 shares of Norfolk 
Southern common stoclc. Options may be granted for a term not to exceed 10 years but may 
not be exercised prior to the f i r s t anniversary of the datt. of grant. Options are 
exercisable at the f a i r market value of Norfolk Southern Coi.imon Stoclc on the date of 
grant. 

The plan also permits the payment--on a current or a deferred basis and in cash 
or i n stock--of dividend equivalents on shares of common stoclc covered by options or 
FSl's granted af t e r December 31, 1989, i n an aunoimt commensurate with dividends paid on 
common stock. Tax absorption payments, in an aunount estimated to equal the f<»deral and 
state income taxes applicable to shares of common stock issued subject to a share 
retention agreement, also are authorized. 

Plan participants surrendered, without cash or other consideration, a l l 
outstanding SARs granted after 1988 because of regulations issued by the Securities and 
Exchange Conanission i n 1991. Future grants of SARs are not anticipated at this time. 
SARs outstanding as of each year end were: 32,648 i n 1996; 46,562 i n 1995; and 74,519 
in 1994. 

Accounting Method 

NS applies APB Opinion 25 and related interpretations i n accotmting for awards 
made under the plan. Accordingly, SARs, PSUs, tauc absorption and dividend equivalents 
result i n charges to earnings, while stock options have no effect on earnings. 
Compensation costs were $35.4 m i l l i o n , $42.9 m i l l i o n and $14.3 m i l l i o n for 1996, 199L 
and 1994, respectively. Had compensation cost been determined based on SFAS 123 using 
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, net income would have been reduced no more than 
$10 m i l l i o n i n each year. 

Based on current and amt.'cipated use of stock-based compensation, i t i s not 
envisioned that the effect of SFAS 123's accounting provisions would be material i n any 
future period. 
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Item 8. Finamcial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

12. LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (continued) 

Stock Option A c t i v i t y 

Balance 12/31/93 
Granted 
Exercised 
Surrendered for SAR 
Cancelled 

Balance 12/31/94 
Granted 
Exercised 
Surrendered for SAR 
Cancelled 

Balance 12/31/95 
Granted 
Exercised 
Surrendered for SAR 
Cancelled 

Balance 12/31/96 

Option Shares 

2,895,407 
703,750 
(93,383) 

(7,472) 

3,498,302 
718,250 

(656,743) 
(13.440) 

(3./50) 

3, 542,619 
685,000 

(549,581) 
(5,000) 

(46,859) 

3,626,179 

Weighted Average 
Exerc i se Pr ice 

$ 47.44 
72.94 
35.37 
26.63 

52.94 
62.50 
43.82 
23.94 
69.46 

56.66 
78.06 
53.87 
22.25 
58.85 

$ 61.15 

Except for those granted during the year, a l l outstanding options were 
exercisable at December 31. The difference between the weighted average exercise prices 
for a l l outstanding options amd those exercisable at December 31 was not significamt. 

Stock Options Outstanding 

Exercise Price 

Range 
Weighted 
Average 

Number Weighted Average 
Outstanding Remaining 
at 12/>l/96 Contractual Life 

$ 22.25 
33.06 to 
56.44 to 
78.06 

42.75 
72.94 

$ 22.25 
38 . 84 
64.63 
78.06 

$ 22.25 to $ 78.06 $ 61.15 

56,620 
747 359 

2,149,200 
673,000 

3,626,179 

0.9 years 
3.3 years 
6.8 years 
9.1 years 

6.4 years 

Perforroamce Share Units 

PSUs were added to the Long-Term Incentive Plan as approved in 1989 and iunended 
in 1995 PSUs entitle participants to earn sl-^ares of common stock at the end of a 
three-year performance cycle based upon achievement of certain predetermined corporate 
performamce goals. PSU grants and grant-date fair values were 200,400 and $78.06 in 
1996; 252,500 and $62.50 in 1995; and 163,000 and $72.94 in 1994, respectively. Shares 
earned and issued may be subject to share retention agreements and held by NS for up to 
five years. 
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Item 8. F inanc ia l Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

12. LONG-TE.RM INCENTIVE PLAN (continued) 

Shares A v a i l a b l e and Issued 

Shares of stock a v a i l a b l e f o r f u t u r e grants or issued m connection w i t h a l l 
fea tures of the Long-Term Incen t ive Plan were as f o l l o w s : 

A v a i l a b l e f o r f u t u r e 
grants 12/31 

Shares of common 
stock issued 

1996 

6,325,584 

690,872 

1995 

7,143,126 

807,760 

1994 

2,060,796 

190,060 

13. STOCK PURCHASE PROGRAMS 

Since 1987, the Board of Di r e c t o r s has authorized the purchase and retirement of 
up to 95 m i l l i o n shares of common stock. Purchases under the programs have been made 
w i t h i n t e r n a l l y generated cash, and w i t h proceeds from the sale of commercial paper 
notes and from the issuance of long-term debt. 

Since the f i r s t purchases i n December 1987 amd through October 22, 1996, NS had 
purchased and r e t i r e d 68,545,000 shares of i t s common stock under these programs at a 
cost of $3.2 b i l l i o n . 

On October 23, 1996, NS announced that the stock purchase program had been 
suspended (see also Note 15). Future purchase decisions are dependent on the outcome of 
the proposed Conrail a c q u i s i t i o n , the economy, cash needs and a l t e r n a t i v e investment 
o p p o r t u n i t i e s . 

14. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The f a i r values of "Cash and cash e q u i v a l e n t s , ' "Short-term investments,' 
"Accounts receivable,- "Short-term debt' and "Accounts payable' approximate c a r r y i n g 
values because of the short m a t u r i t y of these f i n a n c i a l instruments. 

The f a i r value of long-term "Investments' approximated $353 m i l l i o n and 
$297 m i l l i o n a t December 31, 1996 and 1995, r e s p e c t i v e l y (see Note 4 for c a r r y i n g 
values of "Investments'). The f a i r value of corporate-owned l i f e insurance approximates 
c a r r y i n g value. Quoted market p r i c e s were used t o determine the f a i r value of 
marketable e q u i t y s e c u r i t i e s which are recorded a t f a i r value. Marketable s e c u r i t i e s 
r e f l e c t $3.4 m i l l i o n and $3.5 m i l l i o n of unrealized h o l d i n g gains at December 31, 1996 
and 1995, r e s p e c t i v e l y . Underlying net assets were used t o estimate the f a i r value of 
other investments; however, i f any such investment was s o l d a f t e r the end of the year, 
i t s sale p r i c e determined i t s f a i r value for these purposes. 

The f a i r value of "Long-term debt,' i n c l u d i n g c u r r e n t m a t u r i t i e s , approximated 
$1.95 b i l l i o n a t December 31, 1996, and $1.77 b i l l i o n a t DecemJoer 31, 1995. The f a i r 
values of debt were estimated based on cpioted market p r i c e s or discounted cash flows 
using current i n t e r e s t rates f o r debt w.Lth s i m i l a r terms, company r a t i n g and remaining 
m a t u r i t y (see Note 6 f o r c a r r y i n g values of "Long-term de b t ' ) . The f a i r value of 
i n t e r e s t r a t e swaps i s immaterial. 
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I t e m 8. F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s and Supplementary D a t a , ( c o n t i n u e d ) 

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Proposed A c q u i s i t i o n of Conra i l 

On October 23, 1996, NS announced i t s i n t e n t i o n t o commence an a l l - c a s h tender 
o f f e r for a l l shares of Co n r a i l Inc. ( C o n r a i l ) , a Pennsylvania corporation. On October 
24, 1996, A t l a n t i c A c q u i s i t i o n Corporation, a Pennsylvania corporation and a wholly 
owned subsidiary of NS, o f f e r e d to purchase a l l outstanding shares of Conrail's common 
stock and Series A ESOP Convertible Junior Preferred Stock ( c o l l e c t i v e l y , the Sha^res), 
in c l u d i n g , i n each case, the associated Common Stock Purchase Rights, at a p r i c e of 
$100 per Share--approximately $9.1 b i l l i o n i n the aggregate. Shares tendered i n the 
o f f e r or acquired i n any subsecjuent merger would be held i n a v o t i n g t r u s t pending 
re g u l a t o r y approval by the STB. The o f f e r followed the October 15 announcement t h a t 
C o n r a i l had entered i n t o a merger agreement w i t h CSX Corporation (CSX), whereby Conrail 
stockholders would receive $92.50 i n cash per Share f o r up t o 40 percent of t h e i r 
Shares and receive CSX common stock f o r the balance of t h e i r Shares. On November 6, 
1996, CSX and Co n r a i l announced that CSX had raised the cash p o r t i o n of i t s o f f e r t o 
SllO per Share and l e f t unchanged the r a t i o pursuant t o which c e r t a i n C o n r a i l 
stoc)cholders would receive shares of CSX common stock. On November 8, 1996, NS 
announced t h a t i t had increased i t s a l l - c a s h o f f e r to $110 per Share--approximately 
$10.0 b i l l i o n i n the aggregate. On Decemlaer 19, 1996, CSX and Conrail announced t h a t 
CSX was adding p r e f e r r e d stock ( c o n v e r t i b l e i n t o CSX common stock) to i t s o f f e r - - a 
f e a t u r e s a i d t o be worth $16 per Share. On December 20, NS increased i t s a l l - c a s h o f f e r 
to $115 per Share--approximately $11 b i l l i o n i n the aggregate--and on January 13, 1997, 
NS announced Lhat i t would o f f e r t o purchase up t o 8.2 m i l l i o n Shares (aprr-oximately 
9.9%), the approximate maximum numJoer of Shares NS cam buy without t r i g g e r i n g Conrail's 
c u r r e n t a n t i - t a k e o v e r defenses, f o r $115 per Share, i f C o n r a i l stoc)cholders disapproved 
at a sp e c i a l meeting c e r t a i n management reconsnendations designed t o f a c i l i t a t e the 
merger w i t h CSX. 

At t h a t s p e c i a l meeting on Jamuary 17, 1997, Conrail stockholders d i d disapprove 
those recommendations. Accordingly, on Jamuary 22, 1997, NS amended i t s pending a l l -
cash tender o f f e r by reducing the number of Shares sought t o 8.2 m i l l i o n ; on February 
11, 1997, i t acquired 8.2 m i l l i o n Shares f o r a t o t a l of $943 m i l l i o n , pursuamt t c t h a t 
aimended o f f e r . These Shares have been placed i n a v o t i n g t r u s t and under c e r t a i n 
circumstances might have to be s o l d at a loss. The Conrail board repeatedly has 
a f f i r m e d i t s commitment to a mtrger w i t h CSX. 

On February 12, 1997, NS commenced a second tender o f f e r f o r the remaining 
Shares. NS' second tender o f f e r i s conditioned upon, among other things, the v a l i d 
tender of a t l e a s t Shares s u f f i c i e n t , w i t h those already owned by NS, t o c o n s t i t u t e a t 
le a s t a m a j o r i t y of the Shares on a f u l l y d i l u t e d basis. Subchapter 25F of 
Pennsylvania's Business Corporation Law not being a p p l i c a b l e t o the o f f e r , C onrail's 
Rights Agreement (or poison p i l l ) having been redeemed or otherwise made i n a p p l i c a b l e 
to NS' tender o f f e r , the merger agreement between CSX and Co n r a i l having been 
terminated i n accordance w i t h i t s terms or otherwise, amd other conditions. NS has 
received a favorable o p i n i o n from the STB regarding the use of a v o t i n g t r u s t and has 
obtained s u f f i c i e n t f i n a n c i n g commitments (see below). 

The STB has proposed a schedule f o r hamdling Co n r a i l c o n t r o l a p p l i c a t i o n s which 
could r e s u l t i n an STB de c i s i o n i n l a t e 1997 or e a r l y 1998. I f the STB does not approve 
NS' a p p l i c a t i o n or i f NS deems any conditions imposed by the STB too onerous, NS would 
have the r i g h t and o b l i g a t i o n t o s e l l a l l Shares held i n the v o t i n g t r u s t . Such a 
d i s p o s i t i o n could r e s u l t i n a s i g n i f i c a n t loss. 

Through December 31, 1996, NS had incurred $76 m i l l i o n of costs associated w i t h 
the proposed a c q u i s i t i o n . These costs, most of which are debt commitment fees, are 
r e f l e c t e d i n the Consolidated Balamce Sheet i n "Other assets' and, f o r the p o r t i o n 
accrued, i n "Other c u r r e n t l i a b i l i t i e s ' (se-i Note 7). 

See also Note 16. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

15. COMMITMaiTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 

Debt Commitments 

In connection with the proposed acquisition of Conrail, NS has secured debt 
commitments suftrcient for the tender offer and subsequent merger. The commitments 
expire on August 1, 2 997, except for a portion of a revolving credit f a c i l i t y expiring 
on August 1, 1998. The toual commitment fees will approximate $200 million i f the 
entire f a c i l i t y is used. At December 31, 1996, $57 million of commitment fees had been 
incurred. 

In connection with the purchase of the 8.2 million Shares, NS arranged for 
additional commercial paper debt in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1.0 billion. All 
or part of this amount could be refinanced either by issuing additional commercial 
paper or through drawing on the debt commitment that has been arranged in connection 
with the all-cash $115 per share tender offer for a l l Shares. 

Lawsuits 

Norfolk Southern and certain subsidiaries are defendants in numerous lawsuits 
relating principally to railroad operations. While the final outcome of these lawsuits 
cannot be predicted with certainty, i t is the opinion of Management, after consulting 
with its legal counsel, that the amount of NS' ultimate l i a b i l i t y will not materially 
affect NS' consolidated financial position. 

Environmental Hatters 

NS is subject to various jurisdictions' environmental laws and regulations. I t is 
NS' policy to record a l i a b i l i t y where such liaibility or loss is probable and can be 
reasonably estimated. Claims, i f any, against chird parties for recovery of clean-up 
costs incurred by NS are reflected as receivabivss in the balance sheet and are not 
netted against the associated NS l i a b i l i t y . Environmental engineers participate in 
ongoing evaluations of a l l identified sites, amd'-after consulting with counsel--any 
necessary adjustments to i n i t i a l l i a b i l i t y estimates are made. NS also has established 
an Environmental Policy Council, con^csed of senior managers, to oversee amd interpret 
its environmental policry. 

As of December 31, 1996, NS' balamce sheet included a reserve for environmental 
exposures in the amount of $53 million (of which $12 million is accounted for as a 
current l i a b i l i t y ) , which is NS' estimate of the probable costs at 111 identified 
locations based on available information. On that date, nine sites accounted for 
$19 million of the reserve, amd no individual site was considered to be material. 
NS anticipates that the majority of this l i a b i l i t y w i l l be paid out over five years; 
however, some costs w i l l be paid out over a longer period. 

At many of the 111 locations, certain NS subsidiaries, usually in conjunction 
with a number of other parties, have been identified as potentially responsible parties 
by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or similar state authorities under the 
Com.prehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, or 
con^arable state statutes, which often impose joint and several l i a b i l i t y for clean-up 
costs. 

With respect to known environmental sites (whether identified by Nf: or by the EPA 
or comparable state authorities), estimates of NS' ultimate potential financial 
exposure for a given site or in the aggregate for a l l such sites are necessarily 
imprecise because of the widely varying costs of currently available cJean-up 
techniques, the likely development of new clean-up technologies, the difficulty of 
determining in advance the nature and full extent of contamination amd each potential 
participamt' s share of any estimated loss (amd that participamt' s ability to bear it) 
and evolving statutory and regulatory standards governing l i a b i l i t y . 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, (continued) 

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued) 

The r i s k of incurring environmental l i a b i l i t y - - f o r acts and omissions, past, 
present and future--is inherent in the railroad business. Some of the commodities, 
p a r t i c u l a r l y those c l a s s i f i e d as hazardous materials, in NS' t r a f f i c mix can pose 
special r i s k s that NS and i t s subsidiaries work diligently to minimize. In addition, 
several NS subsidiaries own, or have owned in the past, land holdings used as operating 
property, or which are leased or may have been leased and operated by others, or held 
for sale. Because certain conditions may exi s t on these properties related to 
environmental problems that are latent or undisclosed, t.here can be no assurance that 
NS w i l l not incur l i a b i l i t i e s or costs with respect to one or more of them, the amount 
and materiality of which cannot be estimated r e l i a b l y now. Moreover, lawsuits and 
claims involving these and other now-unidentified environmental s i t e s and iriatters are 
l i k e l y to a r i s e from time to time. The resulting l i a b i l i t i e s could have a sig n i f i c a n t 
effect on finan c i a l condition, results of operations or l i q u i d i t y i n a particular year 
or cjuarter. 

However, based on i t s assessments of the facts and circumstances now known and, 
after consulting with i t s legal counsel. Management believes that i t has recorded the 
probable costs based on available inf ormation for t.-iose environmental matters of which 
the Corporation i s aware. Further, Ma]»«»~T.rnt believes that i t i s unlikely that any 
identi f i e d matters, either individually or in aggregate, w i l l have a material adverse 
effect on NS' financial position, results of operations or l i q u i d i t y . 

Change-in-Control Arrangements 

Norfolk Southern has compensation agreements with officers and certain key 
employees, which become operative only upon a change in control of the Corporation, as 
defined m those agreements. The agreements provide generally for payments based on 
compensation at the time of a covered individual's involuntary or other specified 
termination and for certain other benefits. 

Capital Expenditure Commitment 

In connection with a long-term transportation contract entered into during 1996, 
NS has committed to construct and operate four motor vehicle d i s t r i b u t i o n centers. 
These f a c i l i t i e s are scheduled for completion i n 1998. 

Debt Guarantees 

As of December 31, 1996, certain Norfolk Southem subsidiaries are contingently 
l i a b l e as guarantors with respect to $50.7 m i l l i o n of indebtedne.'js of related e n t i t i e s . 

16. bVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT-CONRAIL 
DEVELOPMENTS (UNAUDITED) 

Pursuant to an amendment to the merger agreement between CSX and Conrail 
announced on March 7, 1997, CSX has offered to purchase a l l Shares for $115 per Share 
in cash and CSX i s permitted to enter into negotiations with other parties, including 
NS concerning the acquisition of the s e c u r i t i e s or assets, or concessions relating to 
the assets or operations, of Conrail. NS and CSX are negotiating a comprehensive 
resolution of the issues confronting the eastem railroads bused on the proposal 
submitted by NS to both CSX and Conrail on February 24, 1997. Such a resolution could 
involve a :oint acquisition of Shares by NS and CSX. However, unless and u n t i l such 
negotiations are successfully concluded, NS intends to continue in effect i t s tender 
offer for a l l Shares not owned by NS. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Norfolk Southern Corporation: 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Norfolk Southern Corporation 
and subsidiaries as listed in the index in Item 8. In connection with our audits of the 
consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the consolidated financial 
statement schedule listed in Item 14(a)2. These consolidated financial statements and 
this consolidated financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements and this consolidated financial statement schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the aunount.*! i.nd disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accouncing principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating ti.e overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a rea.scnable basis 
for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, 
in a l l material respects, the financial position of Norfolk Southern Corporation amd 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 
1996, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our 
opinion, the related consolidated financial statement schedule, K len considered in 
relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents 
fairly, in a l l material respects, the infonnation set forth therein. 

I s i KPMG Peat Marwick LLP 

Norfolk, Virginia 
January 28, 1997, except as to the second and third paragraphs of Note 15, 
of Februari 12, 1997 

which are as 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting 

and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

PART I I I 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant, 

Item 11. Executive Conipensation. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners 

and M«magement. 

emd 

Item 13. Certain Relationships amd Related Transactions. 

In accordance with General Instruction G(3), the information 
'tailed for by Part I I I i s incorporated herein by reference from Norfolk 
Southern's def i n i t i v e Proxy Statement, to be dated April 1, 1997, for 
the Norfolk Southern Annual Meeting of StocJcholders to be held on 
May 8, 1997, which definitive Proxy Statement w i l l be f i l e d 
electronically with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A. The 
information regarding executive officers called for by Item 401 of 
Regulation S-K i s included i n Part I hereof beginning on page 25 under 
"Executive Officers of the Registrant.' 
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Item 14 

(a) 

PART IV 

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule, and Reports on 

Form 8-K. 

The following documents are fi l e d as part of this report: 

1. Index to Consolidated Financial Statements: 

Consolidated Statements of Income 
Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
As of December 31, 1996 and 1995 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994 

Consolidated Statements of Chamges in 
Stockholders' Equity 

Years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Independent Auditors' Report 

Page 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

79 

2. Financial Statement Schedule: 

The following consolidated financial statement schedule 
should be read in connection with the consolidated financial 
statements: 

Page 

88 

Index to Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule 

Schedule I I - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

Schedules other than the one l i s t ed above are omitted either 
because they are not recjuired or are inapplicable or because 
the information i s included in the consolidated f inanc ia l 
statements or related notes. 
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Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule, and Reports on 

Form 8-K. (continued) 

Exhibits 

Exhibit 
Number Description 

3 Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws -

3(i) The Restated A r t i c l e s of Incorporation of Norfolk 
Southern Corporation are incorporated herein by 
reference from Exhibit 3(i) to Norfolk Southern's 
1995 Annual Report in Form 10-K. 

3 ( i i ) The Bylaws of Norfolk Southem Corporation, as 
amended July 23, 1996, are incorporated herein 
by reference from Norfolk Southern's Form 10-Q 
report for the quarter ended September 30, 1996. 

4 Instruments Defining the Rights of Security 
Holders, Including Indentures -

In accordance with Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of 
Regulation S-K, copies of instruments of Norfolk 
Southern Corporation amd i t s subsidiaries with respect 
to the rights of holders of long-term debt are not 
f i l e d herewith, or incorporated by reference, but w i l l 
be furnished to the Commission upon request. 

10 Material Contracts -

(a) The Supplementary Agreement, entered into as 
of January 1, 1987, between the Trustees of the 
Cincinnati Southern Railway and The Cincinnati, 
New Orleans and Texas Pacific Railway Compamy 
(the l a t t e r a wholly owned subsidiary of Norfolk 
Southern Railway) - extending amd amending a Lease, 
dated as of October 11, 1881 (both the Lease and 
Supplementary Agreement, formerly incorporated by 
reference from Exhibit 10(b) to Southern's 1987 
Annual Report on Form 10-K) - i s incorporated herein 
by reference from Exhibit 10(a) to Norfolk Southern's 
1994 Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Management Compensation Plams 

(b) The Norfolk Southern Corporation 
Management Incentive Plan, as amended effective 
January 1, 1996, i s incorporated herein by reference from 
Exhibit 10(b) to Norfolk Southern's 1995 Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. 
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^^I^^^^^S' F'inancial Statement Schedule, and Reports on 

Form 8-K. (continued) 

Exhibit 
Number Description 

(c) The Norfolk Southern Corporation 
Executive Manageme.it Incentive Plan, e f f e c t i v e 

i t ^ ' t t V r } n , ^ ^ ^ ^ t ' i ^^°^Pora t ed herein by reference from 
ôS F o ^ 10-K Southern's 1995 Annual Report 

(d) The Norfolk Southern Corporation 
Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended e f f e c t i v e 

PvhTS''^ ?n;,.!^!^'M^%^?u°''^°"''^^ reference from 
E x h i b i t 10(d) to Norfolk Southern's 1995 Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. 

(e) The Norfolk Southern Corporation Officers' 
Deferred Compensation Pian i s incorporated 
herein by reference from Exhibit 10(g) to 
Norfolk Southern's 1993 Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

( f ) The Dire c t o r s ' Deferred Fee Plan of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation, as amended e f f e c t i v e May 9 
1996, i s incorporated herein by reference from 
E x h i b i t 10(f) to Norfolk Southern's Form 10-Q Report 
f o r the quarter ended June 30, 1996. 

(g) The Norfolk Southern Corporation Directors' 
R e s t r i c t e d Stock Plan e f f e c t i v e January 1, 1994, 
i s incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 99 
to Norfolk Southern's Form S-8 f i l e d e l e c t r o n i c a l l y 
on January 26, 1994. 

(h) Form of Severance Agreement, dated as of 
June 1, 1996, between Norfolk Southem 
Corporation amd c e r t a i n executive o f f i c e r s 
( i n c l u d i n g those defined as "named executive 
o f f i c e r s ' and i d e n t i f i e d i n the Corporation's 
Proxy Statement f o r the 1997 Annual Meeting of 
Stocldiolders) i s incorporated herein by reference 
from E x h i b i t 10 to Norfolk Southern's Form 10-Q 
Report f o r the quarter ended June 30, 1996. 

( i ) Norfolk Southern Corporation Supplemental 
(formerly. Excess) Benefit Plan, as amended January 28 
1997, w i t h such amendment to be e f f e c t i v e as of January 1 
1996, subject to receipt of I n t e r n a l Revenue Service 
approval of a coordinating provision i n the Retirement 
Plan of Norfolk Southern Corporation and P a r t i c i p a t i n g 
Subsidiary Compamies, i s f i l e d herewith. 
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Item 14. Exhibits, Finamcial Statement Scheaule, and Reports on 

Form 8-K. (continued) 

Exhibit 
Number Description 

(j) The Norfolk Southern Corporation Directors' 
Charitable Award Program, effective February 1, 1996, 
is incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(j) 
to Norfolk Southern's Form 10-Q Report for the 
cjuarter ended June 30, 1996. 

(k) The Norfolk Southem Corporation Directors' 
Pension Plan, as amended effective June 1, 1996, 
is incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(k) 
to Norfolk Southern's Form 10-Q Report for the 
quarter ended June 30, 1996. 

(1) The Norfolk Southem Corporation Directors' 
Deferred Stock Unit Program, effective May 9, 1996, 
i r incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(1) 
to Norfolk Southern's Form 10-Q Report for the 
quarter ended June 30, 1996. 

(m) The Excess Long-Term Disadaility Plan of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation amd Participating 
Si'bsidiary Compamies, effective October 1, 1995, 
i s incorporated herein hy reference from 
Exhibit 10 (m) to Norfolk Southem's Form 10-Q Report 
for the quarter ended June 30, 1996. 

11 Statement re: Coir5>utation of Per Share Eamings. 

12 Stateme.1t re: Computation of Ratio of Eamings to 
Fixed Ciiarges. 

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant. 

23 Consents of txpert.? and Counsel -

Consent of Indepei.dent Auditors. 

27 Financial Data Schedule. 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K. 

No reports on Form 8-K were f i l e d for the three 
months ended December 31, 1996. 

(c) Exhibits. 

The Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K 
as l i s t e d in Item 14(a)3 are f i l e d herewith or 
incorporated herein by reference. 
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Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule, and Reports on 

Form 8-K. (continued) 

Exhibit 
Number Description 

(d) Financial Statement Schedules. 

Financial statement schedules and separate 
financial statements specified by this Item are 
included in Item 14(a)2 or are otherwise not 
required or are not applicable. 
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POWER OF ATTORNEY 

Each person whose signature appears below under "SIGNATURES" 
hereby authorizes Henry C. Wolf and James C. Bishop, Jr., or either of 
them, to execute in the name of each such person, and to f i l e , any 
amendment to this report and hereby appoints Henry C. Wolf and 
James C. Bishop, Jr., or either of them, as attorneys-in-fact to sign on 
his or he-, tehalf, individually and in each capacity stated below, and 
to f i l e , amy amd a l l aunendments to this report. 

SIGNATLTIES 

Pursuan': to the requirtsments of Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Norfolk Southern Corporation has duly 
caused this report to be signed on i t s behalf by the undersigned, 
thereunto duly authorized, on this 25th day of March, 1997. 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION 

By I s i David R. Goode 

(David R. Goode, Chairmam, President and 
Chief Executive Officer) 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchamge Act 
of 1934, this report has been signed .below cn this 25th day of March, 
1997, by the following persons on behailf of Norfolk Southern Corporation 
and in the capacities indicated. 

Signature T i t l e 

I s i David R. Goode 

(David R . Goode) 

I s l Henry C . Wolf 

(Henry C . Wolf) 

I s l John P. Rathbone 

(Joh-i P. Rathbone) 

I s l Gerald L. Baliles 

Chairmam, President amd Chief 
Executive Officer amd Director 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

Executive Vice President-Finance 
(Principal Financial Officer) 

Vice President amd Controller 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

Director 
(Gerald L. Balil e s ) 
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Signature T i t l e 

I s l Carroll A. Caunpbell, Jr. 

(Carroll A. Campbell, Jr.) 

(Gene R. Carter) 

I s l L. E. Coleman 

(L. E. Coleman) 

I s l T. Marshall Hahn, J r . 

(T. Marshall HaOin, Jr.) 

I s l Landon H i l l i a r d 

(Landon Hilliard) 

I s / E. B. Leisenring, J r . 

(E. B. Leisenring, Jr.) 

I s / Arnold B. McKinnon 

(Arnold B. McKinnon) 

I s l Jame Margaret O'Brien 

(Jane Margaret O'Brien) 

I s l Harold W. Pote 

(Harold W. Pote) 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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Schedule I I 
Page 1 of 2 

Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries 

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 
Years Ended December 31, 1994, 1995 and 1996 

(In millions of dollars) 

Additions charged to 

Beginning Other Ending 
Balance Expenses Accounts Deductions Balance 

Year ended December 31, 1994 

Valuation allowance (included 
net in deferred tax 
l i a b i l i t y ) for deferred tax 
assets $ 10.9 $ — $ -- $ 9.5 $ 1.4 

Casualty and other claims 
included in other 
l i a b i l i t i e s $ 321.2 $ 120.2 $ 2.5 (1) $138.9 (2) $305.0 

Current portion of casualty 
and other claims included 
in accounts payable $ 185.1 $ 49.9 $163.7 (1) $ 207.5 (3) $ 191.2 

Year ended December 31, 1995 

Valuation allowamce (included 
net in deferred tax 
l i a b i l i t y ) for deferred tauc 
assets $ 1.4 $ -- $ 0.1 $ -- $ 1.5 

Casualty and other claims 
included i n other 
l i a d ) i l i t i e s $ 305.0 $ 99.5 $ 3.1 (1) $ 121.1 (2) $ 286.5 

Current portion of casualty 
and other claims included 
ir; accounts payable $ 191.2 $ 63.6 $ 172.6 (1) $ 230.0 (3) $ 197.4 

(1) Includes revenue overcharges provided through charges to operating revenues, and 
transfers from other accounts. 

(2) Payments and r s c l a s s i f i c a t i o n s to/from accounts payable. 

(3) Payments and r e c l a s s i f i c a t i o n s to/from other l i a b i l i t i e s . 

(continued) 

169 



89 

Norfolk Southern Corporation and Subsidiaries 

Schedule I I 
Page 2 of 2 

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 
Years Ended December 31, 1994, 1995 and 1996 (continued) 

(In millions of dollars) 

Beginning 
Balance 

Additions charged to 

Other 
Expenses Accounts Deductions 

Ending 
Balance 

Year ended December 31, 1996 

Valuation allowance (included 
net in deferred tax 
liability) for deferred tax 
assets 

Casualty and other claims 
included in other 
l i a b i l i t i e s 

Current portion of casualty 
and other claims included 
in accounts payable 

1.5 

$ 286.5 

$ 197.4 

$ 0 . 6 $ $ -- $ 2.1 

$115.4 $ 4.0(1) $131.7(2) $ 274.2 

$ 61.4 $157.2(1) $216.4(3) $199.6 

(1) Includes revenue overcharges provided through charges to operating revenues, and 
transfers from other accounts. 

(2) Payments and reclassifications to/from accounts payable. 

(3) Payments and reclassifications to/from other l i a b i l i t i e s . 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

Electronic 
Submission 
Exhibit 
Number Description 

Page 
Number 

10(i) Norfolk Southern Corporation Supplemental 
(formerly. Excess) Benefit Plan. 91-95 

11 Statement re: Computation of Per Share Earnings. 96-97 

12 Statement re: Computation of Ratio of Earnings 
to Fixed Charges. 98 

21 Subsidiaries of Norfolk Southern Corporation. 99-101 

23 Consent of Independent Auditors, 102 

27 Financial Data Schedule (This exhibit i s 
required to be submitted electronically 
pursuant to the rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchamge Commission amd 
sh a l l not be deemed f i l e d for purposes of 
Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 
or Section 18 of the Securities Exchemge 
Act of 1934). 103 

Exhibits 10 (i) and 27 are not included in copies assembled for public 
dissemination. I f you have a need for this type of information, we w i l l be 
pleased to send i t to you. Write to: 

Office of Corporate Secretary 
Norfolk Southern Corporation 

Three Commercial Place 
Norfolk, Virginia 23510-9211 
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EXHIBIT 10(i), Page 1 of 5 

SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFIT PLAN 
OF 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION 
AND 

PARTICIPATING SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
(as last aunended January 28, 1997) 

ARTICLE I. INTRODUCTION 

This Supplemental Benefc Plam ("Plam"), formerly the Excess Benefit Plam, 
was established by Norfolk Southern Corporation effective June 1, 1982, 
("Effective Date") to provide retirement benefits to el i g i b l e eitployees in 
excess of those provided for by the Retirement Plan of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation amd Participating Subsidiary Companies. This Plan i s the 
successor to and supersedes, as of the Effective Date, the following plans: 

Excess Benefit Plan of Norfolk and Western Railway Company , 
Southern Railway System Supplemental Retirement Plam 
Norfolk and Western Railway Company Executives Contingent 

Compensation Plan Pension Resolution 

ARTICLE I I . DEFINITIONS: 

NSC Norfolk Southern Corporation, a Virginia 
corporation. 

Pension 
Committee 

The Pension Committee of the Board of Directors 
of NSC. 

Retirement 
Plan 

Retirement Plam of Norfolk Southem Corporation 
and Participating Subsidiairy Coirpanies. 

Member A person entitled to participate in the 
Retirement Plam. 

Participating Each subsidiary or a f f i l i a t e d compamy of NSC 
Subsidiary which i s a Participating Subsidiary in the 

Retirement Plam s h a l l automatically participate 
in the Plan. 

Participamt A Member of the Retirement Plan who i s eligible 
to participate under Article I I I . 

Deferred 
Compensation 

Amounts the receipt of which a Participant elects 
to defer under the: 

Deferred Compensation Plan of Norfolk a.nd Western , 
Railway Compamy 

Southern Railway System Executive, General or 
Middle Mamagement Incentive Plam 
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SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFIT PLAN OF EXHIBIT 10 ( i ) . Page 2 of 5 
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Norfolk Southern Corporation Management Incentive 
Plan 

Norfolk Southern Corporation Executive Management 
Incentive Plan 

Norfolk Southern Corporation Officers' Deferred 
Con^>ensation Plam 

NW Pension Resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Resolutions Norfolk amd Western Railway Company at i t s 

meetings held on January 23, 1968, June 24, 1969, 
November 25, 1969, January 26, 1971, and April 23, 
1974, authorizing the respective payments of 
additional pension benefits to five Members. 

Average Final Conpensation as defined in Article I I of the 
Coitqpensation Retirement Plan. 

ARTICLE I I I . ELIGIBILITY 

1. The following Members of the Retirement Plan shall be eligible to 
participate in the Plan on or after the Fffective Date: 

(a) Any Member of the Retirement Plan whose benefit computed under 
A r t i c l e VI of the Retirement Plam without regard to the maximum 
limitation on benefits imposed by Section 415 of the Internal 
Revenue Code exceeds such maucimum limitation on benefits; 

(b) Any Member of the Retirement Plam whose benefit computed under 
A r t i c l e VI of the Retirement Plam disregards amounts of Deferred 
Compensation in the computation of his Average Final 
Condensation; 

(c) Any Member of the Retirement Plan entitled to receive a pension 
benefit, in excess of the benefit computed under the provisions 
of the Retirement Plam, pursuant to an NW Pension Resolution; 

(d) Any Member of the Retirement Plan entitled to receive a pension 
benefit, in excess of the benefit computed under the provisions 
of the Retirement Plan, pursuant to a resolution adopted by the 
Board of Directors of NSC; 

(e) Any Member of the Retirement Plam whose Compensation exceeds the 
limitation contained in Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal 
Revenue Code; 

(f) Any Member protected by the Pension Benefits Standard Act of 
Canada whose benefit computed under Article VI of the Retirement 
Plam exceeds $60,000; or 
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(g) Any Member of the Retirement Plan entitled to receive a pension 
benefit in excess of the benefit computed under the provisions 
of the Retirement Plan, pursuant to the provisions of any 
agreement between a Participant and NSC providing benefits upon 
"Termination" of a Participant's enployment following a "Change 
in Control" (as the terms "Termination" and "Change in Control" 
are defined in any such agreement). 

2. Any participant of the Excess Benefit Plan of Norfolk and Western 
Railway Company or the Southern Railway System Supplemental Retirement 
Plam or any individual covered by the Norfolk and Western Railway 
Conpany Executives Contingent Compensation Plan Pension Resolution, 
dated September 24, 1968, shall become a Participant on the Effective 
Date. 

ARTICLE IV, SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFIT 

1. A Participant shal l , upon retirement under the Retirement Plan, be 
entitled to receive a monthly benefit equal to the excess of 

(a) the monthly benefit under A r t i c l e VI of the Retirement Plan i f 
such benefit had been computed 

(i ) without regard to the limitation imposed by Section 
415 of the Internal Revenue Code amd provided for in 
Section 1 of A r t i c l e VII of the Retirement Plan; 

( i i ) without regard to the limitation of Compensation 
imposed by Section 401(a) (17) of the Intemal Revenue 
Code; 

( i i i ) without regard to the $60,0C0 limitation on benefits 
payaJale to Members protected by the Pension Benefits 
Stamdard Act of Cauiada; 

(iv) by including in the calculation of Average Monthly 
Final Compensation aunounts of Deferred Compensation, 
i f amy; 

(v) by including service credits and applying any offsets 
provided for under amy NW Pension Resolution, i f amy; 
and 

(vi) by including the service credits amd conpensation to 
which a Participant i s entitled pursuamt to the 
provisions of any agreement providing the benefits 
described in A r t i c l e I I I , Section Kg), hereof; and 
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( v i i ) by excluding the Additional Retirement Benefit 
provided under Article VI of the Retirement Plan, as 
set forth in Schedule A of the Retirement Plan, over 

(b) the monthly benefit actually payable under the Retirement Plan. 

2. A Participant s h a l l , upon retirement under the Retirement Plan, be 
entitled to receive a monthly benefit, in excess of the benefit 
otherwise payable under the Retirement Plan amd in addition to any 
amount payable pursuant to Section 1 of this A r t i c l e IV, in an amount 
so provided by a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of NSC, 
i f any. 

3 . Any survivorship option which has been elected or i s in force under 
A r t i c l e V I I I of the Retirement Plan at the time of a Participant's 
death s h a l l be deemed to have been elected or be in force under this 
Plan. 

4. The payment of excess benefits under the Plan shall be made in a 
mamner consistent with the provisions of the Retirement Plan, amd 
s h a l l continue for the saune period of time. 

ARTICLE V. nmmi 

The benefits under the Plan shall be paid in cash from the general 
funds of NSC or i t s Participating Subsidiary, amd no special or separate 
fund s h a l l be established or other segregation of assets made to assure 
such payments. Nothing contained in the Plam shall create or be construed 
to create a trust of amy kind. To the extent that any person acquires a 
right to receive payments under the terms of the Plam, such right s h a l l be 
no greater tham the right of am unsecured creditor of NSC or i t s 
Participating Subsidiary. 

ARTICLE VI. ADMINISTRATION 

1. The Plam s h a l l be administered by the Pension Conmittee, which i s 
conposed of three or more NSC directors appointed by the NSC Board who 
are not e l i g i b l e to participate in the Plan amd who s h a l l serve at the 
pleasure of the Board. Each member of the Pension Committee, while 
serving as such, s h a l l be considered to be acting in his capacity as a 
director of NSC. 

2. The Pension Committee shall from time to time adopt rules and 
regulations determined to be necessary to ensure the effective 
iitplementation of the Plan, 
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3. The Pension Committee shall have the power to interpret the Plan. Any 
disputed question arising under the Plan, including gijestions of 
construction and interpretation, shall be determined conclusively and 
f i n a l l y by the Pension Committee. 

ARTICLE VII, RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS 

1. Participants in the Plan s h a l l have only those rights in respect of 
the Plan s p e c i f i c a l l y set forth herein. 

2. This Plan shall not be deemed to constitute a contract between NSC or 
any Participating Company and any Participant or surviving spouse of a 
deceased Participant, nor s h a l l i t be construed to be consideration 
for or an inducement or condition of the employment of any 
Participant. Nothing containet* ' , i t̂ n̂ s h a l l be deemed to give amy 
Participant the right to continued employment. 

3. Benefits payable hereunder sh a l l not be subject in any manner to 
anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, 
encumbrance, or charge, and any attenpt to accomplish any of these 
mentioned acts shall be void. Benefits shall not be subjected to 
attachment or oth_»r legal process or debts of the retired Participant 
or surviving spouse. 

ARTICLE V I I I ^ AMENDMENTS AND TERMINATIONS 

The Plan may be amended at any time, amd retroactively, i f deemed 
necessary or appropriate, by any proper officer of NSC to effect changes 
which are, in his or her sole discretion, mini.'iterial, substantively 
administrative, or necessary to comply with statutory or other legally 
mandated requirements, amd the implementation of which does not result in a 
material cost to NSC. 

The Board or Directors of NSC, in i t s sole discretion, may at amy time 
modify or aunend amy provisions of the Plam or may suspend or terminate the 
Plan, in whole or in part, but no such action shall retroactively impair or 
other-wise adversely affect the rights of amy person to benefits under the 
Plan which have accrued prior to the date of such action, as determined by 
the Pension Committee. 

I s / Paul N. Austin 

P. N. Austin 
Vice President Persormel 
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EXHIBIT 11 PAGE 1 of 2 

t NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
COMPUTATION OF PER SHARE EARNINGS 

(In millions except per ;;hare aunounts) 

1996 1995 1994 

Computation for Statements of Income 

Net income per statements of income $ 770.4 $ 732.7 $ 667.8 

' '.•'«iahted average number of shares 
outstanding 126.5 131.0 136.3 

Primary earnings per share S 6.09 $ 5.44 $ 4.90 

Additional Primary Conputation 

Net income per stauements of income $ 770.4 $ 712.7 $ 667.8 

Adjustment to weighted average number 
of shaures outstamding: 

Weightsvd average number of shares 
outstamding per primary 
computation adaove 

Dilutive effect of outstanding 
o^;tions, stock appreciation 
rights (SARs) amd performance 
share units (PSUs) (as determined 
by the application of the 
treasury stock method) (1) 

126.5 

1.5 

131.0 

1.3 

136.3 

1.1 

Weighted average number of 
shares outstamding, as 
adjusted 128.0 132,3 137.4 

Primary earnings per share, 
as adjusted (2) $ 6.02 $ 5.39 $ 4,86 

s x s s s s s s 

(1) See Note 12 of Note to Consolidated Finamcial Statements 
for a description of the Long-Term Incentive Plam. 

cn page 73 

(2) These calculation!! are submitted in accordamce with Regulation S-K 
item 601(b) (11) a? though not required by footnote 2 to paragraph 14 of 
APE Opinion No. l i ' because they result in dilution of less tham 
3 percent. 
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NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
COMPUTATION OF PER SHARE EARNINGS 

(In millions except per share amounts) 

19:6 1995 1994 

Fully Diluted Computation 

Net income per statements of income 

Adjustment to increase earnings 
to requisite level to earn 
maximum PSUs, net of tax effect 

Net income, as adjusted 

Adjustment to weighted average 
number of shares outstamding, as 
adjusted for additional primary 
calculation: 

Weighted average number of 
shares outstanding, as 
adjusted per additional 
primary conputation on page 1 

Additional dilutive effect of 
outstamding options amd SARs 
(as determined by the 
application of the treasury 
stock method using period 
end market price) 

Additional shares issuable at 
maximum level for PSUs 

Weighted average number of 
shares, as adjusted 

$ 770.4 $ 712.7 $ 667.8 

95.6 55,3 93.0 

866.0 $ 768.0 $ 760.8 

128.0 

0.1 

0,1 

128,2 

132.3 

0.3 

0.1 

132,7 

137.4 

0.1 

137,5 

Ful ly diluted eamings 
per share (3^ 6.76 5,79 5,53 

(3) The.'.e calculations are submitted in accordance with Regulation S-K 
item 601(b)(11) although they are contrary to paragraph 40 of 
ipB Opinion No, 15 because they produce an anti-dilutive result. 
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EXHIBIT 12 PAGE 1 of 1 

NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES 

(.<Iillions of Dollars) 

1996 

EARNINGS 

Income before income 
taxes as reported 

Add: 
Total interest expenses 
(as detailed below) 

Income (loss) of 
p a r t i a l l y owned 
ent i t i e s (1) 

Subsidiaries' preferred 
dividend requirement 

186,4 

1.1 

2.5 

Income before income 
tauces, as adjusted $1,386.9 

FIXED CHARGES 

Interest expense on debt $ 115.7 
Other interest expense 38,9 
Calculated interest 
portion of rent expense 31,3 

Total interest 
expenses 186,4 

Capitalized interest 11,9 
Subsidiaries' preferred 
dividend requirement 
on a pretaix basis 4,1 

Total fixed charges $ 202.4 

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO 
FIXED CHARGES 6,85 

Year ended December 31 

1995 1994 1993 

$1,196.9 $1,114.7 $1,049.0 $ 898.6 

174.9 

0.1 

2.6 

30.0 

174,9 

14,0 

159.9 

0.6 

2.7 

160.7 

(2.6) 

2.7 

$ 113.4 $ 101.6 $ 98,6 
31,5 31.8 38,7 

26.5 

159,9 

17 .8 

23.4 

160,7 

21,7 

4,1 4,2 4,3 

$ 193,0 $ 181,9 $ 186.7 

1992 

$ 875.3 

161,6 

2.0 

2.7 

$1,292,3 $1,212.2 $1,059.4 $1,041,6 

6.70 6,66 5.67 

$ 109.0 
33.0 

19.6 

161.6 

17.9 

4.2 

$ 183.7 

5.67 

(1) Includes the distributed income of 20%-49% owned entities, net of equity recorded 
in undistributed income and the minority income of consolidated entities which have 
fixed charges. 

The computations do not include $0.3 million of interest expense related to 
$7.8 million of debt guaramteed for a less than 50% owned entity. 
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EXHIBIT 21 PAGE 1 of 3 

NAME AND STATE OF INCORPORATION OF SUBSIDIARIES 
OF NORFOLK SOUTHERN CORPORATION 

AS OF MARCH 1, 1997 

Agency Media Services, Inc., Indiana 
Atlantic Acquisition Corporation, Pennsylvania 
Atlantic Investment Company, Delaware 
Norfolk Southern Properties, Inc., Virginia 
Norfolk Southern Railway Company, Virginia 
North American Van Lines, Inc., Delaware 
NS Crown Services, Inc., Virginia 
NS Fiber (Dptics, Inc., Virginia 
NS Transportation Brokerage Corporation, Virginia 
Pocadiontas Development Corporation, Kentucky 
Pocahontas Land Corporation, Virginia 
TCS Leasing, Inc., Oklahoma 

Norfolk Southern Railway Company subsidiaries: 
Airforce Pipeline, Inc., North Carolina 
Alabauna Great Southern Railroad Conpany, The; Alabama 
Atlantic and East Carolina Railway Conpamy, North Carolina 
Caunp Lejeune Railroad Conpany, North Carolina 
Central of Georgia Railroad Conpany, Georgia 
Chesapeake Western Railway, Virginia 
Cincinnati, New Orleans amd Texas Pacific Railway Conpany, The; 
Ohio 

Citico Realty Company, Virginia 
Georgia Southern amd Florida Railway Company, Georgia 
High Point, Randleman, Asheboro and Southern Railroad 
Company, North Carolina 

Interstate Railroad Conpany, Virginia 
Lamberts Point Barge Conpamy, Inc., Virginia 
Memphis and Charleston Railway Conpamy, Mississippi 
Mobile amd Birmingham Railroad Conpany, Alabama 
Norfolk and Portsmouth Belt Line Railroad Conpany, Virginia 
Norfolk and Westem Railway CoTrpany. Virginia 
North Carolina Midland Railroad Conpany, The; North Carolina 
Rail Investment Conpamy, Delaware 
Shenamdoah-Virginia Corporation, Virginia 
South Westem Rail Road Compamy, The; Georgia 
Southern Rail Terminals, Inc., Georgia 
Southern Rail Terminals of North Carolina, Inc., North Carolina 
Southern Region Coal Transport, Inc., Alabama 
Southern Region Materials Supply, Inc., Georgia 
Southern Region Motor Transport, Inc., Georgia 
State University Railroad Conpamy, North Carolina 
Tennessee, Alabama & Georgia Railway Company, Delaware 
Tennessee Railway Company, Tennessee 
Virginia amd Southwestern Railway Compamy, Virginia 
Yadkin Railroad Compamy North Carolina 
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Norfolk Southern Properties, Inc. subsidiaries: 
Alexandria-Southern Properties, Inc., Virginia 
Arrowood-Southern Company, North Carolina 
Arrowood Southern Executive Park, Inc., North Carolina 
Carlyle CA Corporation, Virginia 
Carlyle Development Corporation, Virginia 
Charlotte-Southern Corporation, North Carolina 
Charlotte-Southern Hotel Corporation, North Carolina 
Lambert's Point Docks, Incorporated, Virginia 
NS-Charlotte Tower Corporation, North Carolina 
Nickel Plate Improvement Conpany, Inc., The; Indiana 
NKPI Management, Inc., Indiama 
Norfolk Southern Industrial Development Corp., Virginia 
NS Gas Properties, Inc., Virginia 
NS Gas Properties, I I , Inc., Virginia 
Sandusky Dock Corporation, Virginia 
Southern Region Industrial Realty, Inc., Georgia 
Virginia Holding Corporation, Virginia 

North American Van Lines, Inc. domestic subsidiaries: 
A Five Star Forwarding, Inc., Delaware 
A Three Rivers Forwarding, Inc., Indiama 
Alaska USA Van Lines, Inc., Indiana 
Americas Quality Vam Lines, Inc., Indiama 
City Storage & Transfer, I n c , Colorado 
Fleet Insurance Management, Inc., Indiama 
FrontRunner Worldwide, Inc., Delaware 
Great F a l l s North Americam, Inc., Montama 
Move Mamagement Services, Inc,, Indiama 
NACAL, Inc., California 
NALOG, Inc., Delaware 
NAVTRANS Container Lines, Inc., Flor ida 
NAVTRANS Intemational Freight Forwarding, Inc., Indiama 
NorAm Forwarding, Inc., Indiama 
North Americam Distribution Systems, Inc., Indiama 
North American Forwarding, Inc., Indiana 
North American Logistics, Ltd., Indiama 
North American Moving & Storage, Inc., Indiama 
North Americam Tramsport Insuramce Conpamy, Indiama 
North Americam Vam Lines of Texas, Inc., Texas 
Relocation Mamagement Systems, Inc., Delaware 
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North American Van Lines, Inc. foreign subsidiaries: 
Cavalier Moving & Storage Co. Ltd., Canada 
Cold Lake Moving & Storage Ltd., Alberta 
Curry Moving & Storage Ltd., Ontario 
midi-Data Logistik GmbH, Germany 
NAVTRANS International Speditions GmbH, Germany 
North American Van Lines Ltd., United Kingdom 
North American Van Lines Canada Ltd., Canada 
North American Van Lines (Alberta) Ltd., Alberta 
North American Van Lines (Atlantic) Ltd., Nova Scotia 
Star Storage Ltd., Mamitoba 
Tru-Flite Transportation Systems Inc., Canada 
Westlake Moving & Storage, Ltd,, Ontario 
Westmount Moving & Storage, Inc, (Denwmagement Et 

Entreposage Westmount), Quebec 
153 843 Canada Inc., Camada 

NOTE: Of the above subsidiaries, each of which i s more than 50% owned, only 
Norfolk Southern Railway Conpamy amd Norfolk amd Western Railway Compamy meet 
the Commission's "significant subsidiary" test. 
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EXHIBIT 23 PAGE 1 of 1 

CONSENT OF TNDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The Board of Directors 
Norfolk Southem Corporation: 

We consent to incorporation by reference in Registration Statements 
Nos, 33-44188, 33-61317, 33-556, 33-52031, and 33-57417 on Form S-8 
and Registration Statements Nos. 33-33595 and 333-20203 on Form S-3 of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation of our report dated January 28, 1997, 
except as to the second and third paragraphs cf Note 15, which are as 
of February 12, 1997, relating to the consolidated balamce sheets of 
Norfolk Southern Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1996 
amd 1995, amd the related consolidated statements of income, chamges 
in stoc)cholders' equity, amd cash flows amd the related consolidated 
finamcial statement schedule for each of the years in the three-year 
period ended December 31, 1996, which report appears in the 
December 31, IS 96 amnual report on Form 10-K405 of Norfolk Southem 
Corporation. 

/s/ KPMG Peat Marwick LLP 

Norfolk, Virginia 
March 25, 1997 
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PART I 

Item 1. Business, 

and 

Item 2, Properties. 

GENERAL - Norfolk Southern Railway Conpany (Norfolk Southern 
Railway) was incorporated in 1894 under the name Southern Railway 
Conpany (Southern) in the Commonwealth of Virginia amd, together with 
i t s consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, NS R a i l ) , i s primarily 
engaged in the tramsportation of freight by r a i l , 

On June 1, 1982, Southern amd Norfolk and Western Railway 
Compamy (Norfolk amd Westem) becaune subsidiaries of Norfolk Southern 
Corporation (NS), a transportation holding conpany. Effective 
Decem±>er 31, 1990, NS transferred a l l the common stock of Norfolk and 
Western to Southern, amd Southern's naune was changed to Norfolk 
Southern Railway Compamy, Accordingly, a l l the common stock of Norfolk 
and Western, which i s i t s only voting security, i s owned by Norfolk 
Southern Railway, and a l l the common stock of Norfolk Southern Railway 
(16,668,997 shares) i s owned direct l y by NS. NS common stock i s 
publicly held amd l i s t e d on the New York Stock Exchamge. 

There remain issued and outstanding as of December 31, 1996, 
1,197,027 shares of Norfolk Southern Railway's $2.60 Cumulative 
Preferred Stock, Series A (Series A Stock), of which 1,096,907 shares 
were held by other tham subsidiaries. The Series A Stock i s entitled 
to one vote per share, i s nonconvertible, amd i s traded on the New York 
Stock Exchange. 

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF CONRAIL BY NS - On October 24, 1996, 
in response to the October 15, 1996, announcement that Conrail Int. 
(Conrail) had entered into a merger agreement with CSX Corporation, NS 
commenc ed an all-cash tender offer for a l l the Conrmon Stock amd Seriec A 
ESOP Convertible Junior Preferred Stock of Conrail (collectively. 
Shares), including in each case the associated Common Stock Purchase 
Rights. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 61 
for additional deta i l s . 

On February 11, 1997, NS acquired 8.2 million Shares of 
Conrail stock (approximately 9,9 percent of the then out.'itanding Conrail 
Common Stock) , representing the approximate i.iaocimum number NS could buy 
without triggering Conrail's anti-takeover defenses, at a cost of 
$115 per Share, or $943 million in the aggregar*:. The purchase was 
financed through issuance of commercial paper backed by a portion of the 
revolving debt capacity under the credit f a c i l i t y obtained in connection 
with the proposed acquisition of Conrail. These Shares have been placed 
in a voting trust amd under certain circumstances might have to be sold 
at a loss, 
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On February 12, 1997, NS commericed a second tender offer for 
the remaining Conrail Shares and has notified Conrail of i t s intention 
to conduct a proxy contest in connection with Conrail's 1997 Annual 
Meeting of shareholders, currently scheduled for December 19, 1997, 
seeking, aunong other things, to remove certain of the current members of 
the Conrail Board and to elect a new slate of nominees designated by NS, 

Pursuant to an amendment to the merger agreement between CSX 
and Conrail announced on March 7, 1997, CSX has offered to purchase a l l 
Shares for $115 per Share in cash and CSX i s permitted to enter into 
negotiations with other parties, including NS, concerning the 
acquisition of the securities or assets, or concessions relating to the 
assets or operations, of Conrail. NS and CSX are negotiating a 
conprehensive resolution of the issues confronting the eastern railroads 
based on the proposal submitted by NS to both CSX and Conrail on 
February 24, 1997. Such a resolution could involve a joint acquisition 
of Shares by NS and CSX. However, unless and until such negotiations 
are successfully concluded, NS intends to continue in effect i t s tender 
offer for a l l Shares not owned by NS. 

For additional information conceming NS' pending tender 
offer for Shares not owned by N£, reference i s made to NS' Tender Offer 
Statement on Schedule 14D-1, together with the exhibits thereto, 
i n i t i a l l y f i l e d with the Securities amd Focchamge Commission on February 
12, 1997, as amended. 

PREFERRED STOCK PURCHASE PROGRAM - In June 1989, NS amnounced 
i t s intention to purchase up to 250,000 shares of Norfolk Southern 
Railway's Series A Stock during the subsequent two-year period. Since 
then, NS extended the stock purchase prograun through 1996. As of 
December 3l, 1996, NS had purchased 176,608 shares of Series A Stock at 
a total cost of $6.7 million. Consequently, as of December 31, 1996, 
NS held 94.8 percent of the voting stock of Norfolk Southern Railway, 

OPERATIONS - As of December 31, 1996, NS Rail operated 
approximately 14,300 miles of road in the states of AladDama, Florida, 
Georgia, I l l i n o i s , Indiama, Iowa, Kentuc)cy, Louisiana, Maryland, 
Michigan, Mississippi, Missouri, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, 
Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Tennessee, Virginia amd West Virginia, 
and the Province of Ontario, Camada, Of this total, 12,094 miles are 
owned with the balamce operated under lease or trackage rights; most of 
this total are main line track. In addition, i t operates 10,800 miles 
of passing, industrial, yard amd side tracks. 

NS Rail has n\ajor leased lines between Cincinnati, Ohio, and 
Chattanooga, Tennessee, amd in the State of North Carolina. 

The Cincinnati-Chattamooga lease, covering about 33 5 miles, 
expires in 2026, and i s subject to an option to e.x'cend the lease for an 
additional 25 years, at terms to be agreed upon. 

The North Carolina leases, covering approximately 3 30 miles, 
expired by their terms at the end of 1994 Although a lease extension 
agreement was approved by the boards of tooth NS amd the North Carolina 
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Railroad Conpany (NCRR) and by the shareholders of NCRR, the 
U.S. D i s t r i c t Court in Raleigh ruled that there was no quorum at the 
stoclcholders' meeting, and enjoined the parties from performing under 
the extension agreement. NCRR has suits pending against NS amd various 
subsidiaries in federal court in Raleigh to enforce rights under the 
expired leases and at the STB to seek the establishment of terms amd 
conditions of NS Rail's continued use, including interim and long-term 
conpensation. Also, certain NCRR stockholders e a r l i e r had fi l e d four 
separate, amd s t i l l pending, derivative actions challenging the 
adequacy of the rental terms in the extension agreement. NS Rail i s 
presently operating over the leased lines under the requirements of 
federal law, and w i l l continue to do so until the matter has been 
resolved through agreement or a decision by the STB establishing 
reasonaible conditions or permitting discontinuance of such operations. 
Whatever the ultimate resolution of the li t i g a t i o n , i t i s not expected 
to have a material effect on NS Rail's consolidated finamcial 
statements, 

NS Rail's lines carry raw materials, intermediate products 
and finished goods primarily in the Southeast and Midwest amd to amd 
from the rest of the United States amd parts of Camada. These lines 
also tramsport overseas freight through several Atlantic and Gulf Coast 
ports, Atlamtic ports served lay NS Rail include: Norfolk, Virginia; 
Morehead City, North Carolina; Charleston, South Carolina; SavannaUi and 
Brunswick, Georgia; and Jacksonville, Florida, Gulf Coast ports served 
include: Mobile, Alabama, amd New Orleams, Louisiana. 

NS Rail's lines reach most of the larger industrial amd 
tradina centers of the Southeast amd Midwest, with the exception of 
those in central amd southem Florida. Atlamta, Birminghaun, New 
Orleans, Menphis, St. Louis, Kansas City (Missouri), Chicago, Detroit, 
Cincinnati, Buffalo, Norfolk, Charleston, Savamnah amd Jacksonville aure 
aunong the leading centers originating amd terminating freight t r a f f i c 
on the system. In addition, a haulage arrangement with the Florida 
East Coast Railway allows NS Rail to provide single-line service to amd 
from south Florida, including the port c i t i e s of Miami, West Palm Beach 
and Fort Lauderdale. The system's lines also reach mamy individual 
industries, mines (in westem Virginia, eastem KentucJcy amd southerr 
West Virginia) and businesses located in smaller communities in i t s 
service area. The t r a f f i c corridors carrying the heaviest volumes of 
freight include those from the Appalachian coal fields of Virginia, 
West Virginia amd Kentuclcy to Norfolk amd Sandusky, Ohio; Buffalo to 
Chicago amd Kansas City; Chicago to Jacksonville (via Cincinnati, 
Chattamooga amd Atlamta); amd Washington, D.C./Hager.stown, Marylamd, to 
New Orleans (via Atlanta and Birmingham), 

Buffalo, Chicago, Hagerstown, Jacksonville, Kamsas City, 
Menphis, New Orleams and St. Louis are major gateways for 
i n t e r t e r r i t o r i a l system t r a f f i c , 

NS Rail and other railroads have entered into service 
interruption agreements, effective December 30, 1994, providing 
indemnities to parties affected by a strike over specified industry 
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